

Ces Journal of Childhood, Education & Society

Volume 5 Issue 2 July 2024

ISSN: 2717-638X

Journal of Childhood, Education & Society

Volume 5 • Issue 2

July 2024

Editor in Chief Mehmet Toran, Ph.D., Istanbul Kultur University, Türkiye

Associate Editors

 Adrijana Višnjić Jevtić, Ph.D., University of Zagreb, Croatia Aileen Garcia, Ph.D., University of Missouri, USA
Carmen Huser, Ph.D., Early Childhood Australia, Australia Eleonora Teszenyi, Ph.D., The Open University, UK Ibrahim H. Acar, Ph.D., Ozyegin University, Türkiye Mesut Saçkes, Ph.D., Balıkesir University, Türkiye Mine Gol-Guven, Ph.D., Boğaziçi University, Türkiye Stamatios Papadakis, Ph.D., The University of Crete, Greece

Assistant Editor

Fatma Büşra Aksoy-Kumru, Ph.D., The University of Edinburgh, UK Kerem Avci, Ph.D., Hacettepe University, Türkiye Taibe Kulaksiz, Ph.D., Heidelberg University of Education, Germany

Editorial Board

Ahmet Simsar, Ph.D., Sharjah Education Academy, United Arab Emirates Lasse Lipponen, Ph.D., University of Helsinki, Finland Alicje Renata Sadownik, Ph.D., Western Norway University of Applied Sciences, Norway Maelis Karlsson Lohmander, Ph.D., University of Gothenburg, Sweden Anikó Vargáné Nagy, Ph.D., University of Debrecen, Hungary Maide Orcan, Ph.D., Mugla Sitki Kocman University, Türkiye Aysel Tufekci, Ph.D., Gazi University, Türkiye Marcruz Yew Lee Ong, Ph.D., Saint Francis University, Hong Kong Betty Liebovich, Ph.D., Goldsmiths University of London, UK Martha Allexsaht-Snider, Ph.D., University of Georgia, USA Burcu Unlutabak, Ph.D., John Hopkins University, USA Maryam S. Sharifian, Ph.D., James Madison University, USA Carolyn Brockmeyer Cates, Ph.D., State University of New York Purchase College, USA Mehmet Mart, Ph.D., Necmettin Erbakan University, Türkiye Ebru Aydın Yüksel, Ph.D., Istanbul Kultur University, Türkiye Michael F. Kelley, Ed.D., Arizona State University, USA Elif Karsli, Ph.D., University of South Carolina, USA Mustafa Yasar, Ph.D., Cukurova University, Türkiye Noelia Sánchez-Pérez, Ph.D., University of Zaragoza, Spain Elsa Lucia Escalante Barrios, Ph.D., Universidad del Norte, Colombia Ersoy Erdemir, Ph.D., Bogazici University, Türkiye Ozcan Dogan, Ph.D., Hacettepe University, Türkiye Francesca Zanatta, Ph.D., University of East London, UK Paulette A. Luff, Ph.D., Anglia Ruskin University, UK Eva Mikuska, Ph.D., University of Portsmouth, UK Pekka Mertala, Ph.D., University of Jyväskylä, Finland Gulsah Ozturk, Ph.D., Federation University Australia, Australia Ramazan Sak, Ph.D., Van Yuzuncu Yil University, Türkiye Hasina Banu Ebrahim. Ph.D., University of South Africa. South Africa Riza Ozdemir, Ph.D., Zonguldak Bulent Ecevit University, Türkiye Heidi Kloos, Ph. D., University of Cincinnati, USA Sabina Savadova, Ph.D., The University of Edinburgh, UK Ibrahim Halil Diken, Ph. D., Anadolu University, Türkiye Sharolyn Pollard-Durodola, Ph.D., University of Nevada Las Vegas, USA Ikbal Tuba Sahin-Sak, Ph.D., Van Yuzuncu Yil University, Türkiye Sharon L. Raimondi, Ph.D., University at Buffalo, USA Jesús Paz-Albo, Ph.D., King Juan Carlos University, Spain Sonnur Isitan, Ph.D., Balikesir University, Türkiye Jie Gao, Ph.D., University College London, UK Sultan Kilinc, Ph.D., Syracuse University, USA Jolyn Blank, Ph.D., University of South Florida, USA Tim Rohrmann, Ph.D., University of Applied Science and Arts Hildesheim, Germany Kathy Cabe Trundle, Ph.D., Utah State University, USA Tony Bertram, Ph.D., Centre for Research in Early Childhood, UK Ken Blaiklock, Ph.D., Unitec Institute of Technology, New Zealand Yan Zhu, Ph.D., University College London, UK Konstantina Rentzou, Ph.D., University of Ioannina, Greece Yasin Ozturk, Ph.D., Trabzon University, Türkiye Kristin M. Gagnier, Ph.D., Johns Hopkins University, USA Yuwei Xu, Ph.D., University College London, UK Kyunghwa Lee, Ph.D., University of Georgia, USA Zsuzsa Millei, Ph.D., Tampere University, Finland

Language Editor

Fetiye Erbil, Bogazici University, Türkiye

Editorial Assistants

Gizem Alvan, Bogazici University, Türkiye Helena Biškup, University of Zagreb, Croatia Isminur Yilar, Harvard University, USA Serbest Ziyanak, Ph.D., Van Yuzuncu Yil University, Türkiye

Publisher: Journal of Childhood, Education and Society Publishing Manager: Dr. Mehmet Toran

Editorial Office: Istanbul Kültür University, Faculty of Education, Basin Ekspres Campus, 34303 Küçükçekmece/ Istanbul-Türkiye

e-mail: <u>editor@j-ces.com</u> Phone: +902124984131 Cover Page Picture: Diren Toran (3 years old-2019)

Publication Type: Published triennially, peer-reviewed, open-access academic journal.

WEB: https://www.j-ces.com/index.php/jces/index, DOI: https://doi.org/10.37291/2717638X.202452

ISSN: 2717-638X

Journal of Childhood, Education & Society

Volume 5 • Issue 2 July 2024

CONTENTS

RESEARCH ARTICLES	
Children's everyday lifeworlds out of school, in Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore: Family, enrichment activities, and local communities	
Nicola Yelland, Anita Kit-Wa Chan & Clare Bartholomaeus	161-175
A systematic review on factors influencing the development of children's creativity	
Zaina Smare & Mohamed Elfatihi	176-200
Looking beyond enrollment rates: The long-term influence of preschool science curricula on children's science achievement	
Mesut Saçkes & Kathy Cabe Trundle	201-209
Describing the play of three-year-old children in the home context	
Petra Varttinen, Päivi Pihlaja & Piia af Ursin	210-225
Developing professional ethical care through co-creation in ECEC in Norway: A qualitative study	
Anne Synnøve Brenne & Ingvild Åmot	226-237
The effect of Philosophy for Children (P4C) activities on the development of moral perception and social rules of preschool children	
Ummuhan Unal & Gokhan Gunes	238-255
Caregiver involvement in support services for a child with hearing loss?	
Hülya Ceren Tutuk & Hasan Gürgür	256-269
Child citizenship and participation: Bottom-up level change from professional conversations with children	
Marilyn Casley, Jennifer Cartmel, Kerry Smith, Patrick O'Leary, Natalie Reyes Bernard	270-282
Engagement of science process skills for teaching science concepts in early childhood	
Lintle Maraisane, Loyiso Jita & Thuthukile Jita	283-293
REVIEW ARTICLES	
From IT to I-It: Digitalization, datafication, automation, and the teacher-student relationship	
Pekka Mertala	294-304

Children's everyday lifeworlds out of school, in Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore: Family, enrichment activities, and local communities

Nicola Yelland¹, Anita Kit-Wa Chan², Clare Bartholomaeus³

Abstract: Children's everyday lives beyond school need to be considered holistically, in a way which moves beyond time use. In this article we draw on our adaptation of Sarah Pink's (e.g. 2012) video re-enactment methodology for considering children's out-ofschool lifeworlds with Year 4 children (9 and 10 years old) in the global cities of Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore. The data presented and discussed here was part of a larger Global Childhoods Project with children in the three global cities of Melbourne, Hong Kong, and Singapore. We use video re-enactment methodology to 'think with', to open up lines of inquiry and create conversations about children's lives in and between the cities. Through these we consider the specifics of each city context, as well as socioeconomic and sociocultural contexts and factors that may impact differently on children's everyday lifeworlds out-of-school within the same city. In order to focus the scope of the article, we consider family routines, enrichment activities and local communities, as aspects that we find useful to reflect on when exploring what children's lives look like, in and across locations. We focus on these as we are interested in how they might add to the complexities of thinking about children in each location. We move between thinking about the re-enactments themselves and broader literature to explore children's out-of-school lifeworlds in the three cities, painting a picture of children's lives and considering the contexts which make particular activities and practices possible and desirable.

Introduction

Article History

Received: 13 December 2023 Accepted: 03 March 2024

Keywords

Video re-enactment methodology; Children's lifeworlds; Children's outof-school activities; Family; Enrichment activities; Community

The data reported in this paper is drawn from a project entitled Global Childhoods: Lifeworlds and educational success in Australia and Asia which was designed to explore and better understand children's lifeworlds and their orientations to educational success in three global cities: Melbourne, Hong Kong, and Singapore. Schutz (1964) has suggested that the lifeworld is the taken for granted everyday experiential world of individuals. The project sought to explore children's lifeworlds inside and outside of school in the three cities. To do this, we drew on four data collection sources: a video re-enactment methodology in the children's homes (see Yelland et al., 2023), class ethnographies that were constructed over the period of a week at two times in the year, a learning dialogues activity (Yelland & Bartholomaeus, 2021) where the children responded to prompts about their learning and goals for their schooling experience, and a student survey with 643 respondents (see Lee et al., 2023) all derived from their classrooms. The Project' took a multidimensional view of children's lives, researching with children, teachers, and parents, drawing on conversations, direct responses to our questions, and our observations, to explore perspectives and contexts of children's everyday lifeworlds.

We resonated with the (new) sociology of childhoods theoretical framing of childhood from a

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the <u>CC BY- NC- ND</u> license.

^{*} The project was approved by the Flinders University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (Australia) (Project No. 7926), the Department of Education and Training (Victoria, Australia) (Project ID No. 2018_003827), NTU Institutional Review Board (Nanyang Technological University, Singapore) (IRB-2018-04-033), and Ministry of Education (Singapore) (Request No.: RQ95-18(10)). The Principal Investigator transferred from Flinders University to the University of Melbourne during the project, where the research was approved (Ethics ID: 1853465/1). An additional ethical review was not required by the Education University of Hong Kong as approval was already granted from the Principal Investigator's university in Australia to cover all three cities.

¹ University of Melbourne, Faculty of Education, Melbourne, Australia, email: nyelland@unimelb.edu.au, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3096-5845

² Education University of Hong Kong, Department of Social Sciences & Policy Studies, Hong Kong, email: ORCID: <u>akwchan@eduhk.hk</u>, <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5805-8948</u>

³ University of Melbourne, Faculty of Education, Melbourne, Australia, email: <u>dare.bartholomaeus@unimelb.edu.au</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9843-8390</u>

sociological, rather than the traditional psychological, perspective. In viewing childhood as a social construction, we feel it is necessary to consider children's social and cultural milieu and their active construction of their own identities in their own unique contexts (Prout & James, 1997). The field of childhood studies draws on this original work and has tended to focus on social constructions of childhood and children's agency (Spyrou, 2018). In the Global Childhoods Project, we were wanting to involve the children in collecting data on their own lives. We were interested in how the children viewed their lives as we attempted to consider some of the contributing elements to them. We were also conscious that our data collection constituted only one part of the context of their lifeworlds incorporating data directly from the participants and we began with the learning dialogues (Yelland & Bartholomaeus, 2021) and followed with the re-enactments. Our methodology included engaging directly with the children about their experiences and we also included methods that are broader than their own perceptions about themselves (survey and classroom ethnographies). Thus, the data collection in each of the cities took place in Year 4 classrooms in schools, and we also went into the homes and communities with seven children to re-enact their activities, routines and family events when they were not in school. We did this because traditionally, educational success is determined by considering the performance of children in high stakes tests that occur in schools. We wanted to consider and reflect on broader aspects of their activities and performance, and this meant investigating their lifeworlds beyond school.

We use, the concept of lifeworlds to explore children's everyday lives at home, in school, and in their communities (Yelland et al., 2008). We also consider lifeworlds in the plural to explore the multiplicity and diversity of children's lives, extending on from previous writing about the singular lifeworld (see Lee et al., 2023). These everyday experiences include the taken for granted actions and activities that are socially and culturally embedded in their lives. We think that explicating them for study enables a holistic picture of children's lifeworlds and orientations to educational success that is more detailed than simply putting a numeric value on their performance in school in three curriculum areas (Mathematics, Science and Language) that are characteristic of high stakes tests content areas.

The learning dialogues and re-enactments were regarded as data where the children's voices about their learning experiences was collected directly with them. They also provided an opportunity to uncover aspects of children's lifeworlds which had hitherto only been considered in a minimal way, thus making them visible for analyses. We were not only interested in what they were doing out of school but how these experiences might connect with the processes of schooling in any way. For example, we pondered if children's everyday lives at home and in communities, were as closely structured into routines and timetable options as we saw in schools. By engaging in conversations with children around what constituted their everyday lives out of schools we were able to further build narratives of their lifeworlds that reflected the diverse nature and capacity of the children.

Pink and Leder Mackley (2014) emphasised that in order, "...to research everyday ethnography we need to be 'in there' and part of the very flow of life that we are researching" (p 146). Originally, Pink (2012) conceptualised re-enactments as an in-situ technique where (adult) participants were filmed as they explain their daily routines. We needed to modify the process since the young children needed a lot more prompting and structure to have conversations about what they were engaging in, supported by their parents. We trialled this approach in 2015 and this facilitated the documentation of the children's everyday lifeworlds that enabled us to describe their routines after school and at weekends by recording their descriptions and explanations about them. Pink and Leder Mackley (2014) contends such re-enactments 'bridge the gap between representation and action. It involves doing, imagining, and representing and thus invites us to ask questions about what it is then that we are seeking to access..." (p153)

Overview

Children's lives outside of school are often considered in relation to time use and participation in particular activities (e.g., Mullan, 2020; Rees, 2017). These studies are useful in thinking about the key activities undertaken by children and the proportions of time allocated to them. However, more research is needed which considers children's lives holistically, paying attention to the flows of everyday life and

connections between activities.

Sarah Pink developed the video re-enactment methodology to explore everyday life, including in relation to energy use (e.g., Pink, 2012; Pink & Leder Mackley, 2014). The video re-enactment methodology asks people to literally re-enact their everyday routines, sparking memories and reflections, but also contributing more sensory experiences and understandings. We adapted this methodology to explore Year 4 (9-10-year-old) children's out-of-school lifeworlds at home, in school, and in their communities in the global cities of Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore (see Yelland et al., 2023, for a detailed description of the adapted re-enactments methodology).

Elsewhere we have written narratives drawing on the re-enactments and detailing a day in the life of children in Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore (e.g., Bartholomaeus et al., 2023). In this article we think differently with the re-enactments, exploring aspects of children's lives in more detail and in relation to each other. Importantly, we also situate these out-of-school lifeworlds in the context of each global city, while maintaining a consideration of diversity within each location. To do this we deliberately position city statistics and data next to our re-enactments, considering the broader contexts alongside individual children's lifeworlds. From our research we can see that children's out-of-school lifeworlds are made up of many overlapping aspects, such as family, homework, tutoring, enrichment activities, leisure activities, and local communities. In order to focus the scope of this article, we concentrate on family, enrichment activities, and local communities. These are three aspects that particularly interest us here when thinking within and across the three locations, and have arisen as focus points from our conversations in our international research team. Focusing on three aspects also allows us some depth in our discussions, rather than a broader overview focus of many aspects and activities.

There is limited writing about children's out-of-school lifeworlds in Hong Kong and Singapore, with attention often focused instead on homework, tutoring, and academic performance in high-stakes tests (some important work has been conducted in these areas, e.g., Tam & Chan, 2011; Tan, 2017, 2019). While these aspects are important in the context of these locations, there is much more to children's lives than these. In some ways there is more consideration of children's lifeworlds holistically in Melbourne, although school is also often a focus. Our work here then seeks to add more depth and richness to understandings of children's lives in the locations.

Here we first provide contextual information regarding each global city before exploring why reenactments were a useful source of data and some of the themes from the data (Braun & Clark, 2006). We then focus on three themes in more detail and discuss family routines, the types of enrichment activities participated in, and the impact of local communities on the geography of the activities in the children's everyday lifeworlds. More specifically, we consider family in terms of the family members children spend time with (parents, siblings, and extended family members, particularly grandparents) and the things they do together, enrichment activities in terms of both extra-curricular school activities and organised activities outside of school, and local communities with a particular focus on mobility, considering travel to school and the location of their activities within their neighbourhoods and beyond.

The Contexts of Children's Lifeworlds in Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore

The descriptions regarding the contexts of each global city constitute important background context information to think about children's lifeworlds in each of the locations. We also include mention of schooling as this has implications for the amount of time children have outside of school and impact on some potential connections between school and home.

Hong Kong

Hong Kong has been a Special Administrative Region of China since 1997. The total land size of Hong Kong's islands is 1113.76 square kilometres (Lands Department, 2021). In the 2021 Census, Hong Kong had a population of 7.4 million (over 7.3 million Usual Residents and nearly 80,000 Mobile Residents – people staying outside of Hong Kong, including for work) (Census and Statistics Department, 2021). Children aged 5-14 years old made up 7.8% of the population (578,844 children) (Census and Statistics

Department, 2021), meaning it has the smallest percentage of children in our three focus locations. Statistics available at the 0-14 year age group show that 92.6% are listed as having Chinese ethnicity (Census and Statistics Department, 2021). Cantonese is the predominant language in Hong Kong, with 88.2% of the total population aged 5 years and over speaking Cantonese at home, although English and Putonghua (Mandarin) are also common as either usual languages or another spoken language used at home (58.7% English and 54.2% Putonghua) (Census and Statistics Department, 2021). Of the total population, 61.7% were born in Hong Kong, with this increasing to 91.6% for birth-14-year olds (Census and Statistics Department, 2021).

Most children in Hong Kong attend public sector schools for six years in primary school and six years in secondary school (GovHK, 2022). Whole-day primary schools in Hong Kong start at approximately 8:00am or 8:40am and finish at approximately 3:40pm. Children may have optional extra-curricular activities after school which are organised by the school. The school year runs from approximately early September to early July the following year, with schools required to offer 190 school days each school year.

Melbourne

Naarm (more commonly referred to as Melbourne, which we use here) is located on the unceded lands of the Kulin Nation in the state of Victoria in Australia. Greater Melbourne has a land size of 9992.6 square kilometres (Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS], 2022b), much larger than Hong Kong and Singapore. In the 2021 Census, Greater Melbourne had a population of 4.9 million, of which just over 600,000 (12.3%) were 5-14 years old (ABS, 2022a). 82.7% of 5–14-year-old children in Greater Melbourne were born in Australia, with others born in countries including India, New Zealand, and China (ABS, 2022b). Just over a third of the total population of Greater Melbourne (34.6%) had both parents born in Australia (ABS, 2022a). English only was used at home for 61.1% of the total population of Greater Melbourne, with other languages including Mandarin and Vietnamese (ABS, 2022a).

Schooling is compulsory for 6-17 year olds, where most children attend primary school for Preparatory to Year 6, then secondary school from Year 7 to Year 12. Primary school generally runs from 9-3:30pm weekdays. The school year follows the calendar year and consists of four terms of approximately 10 weeks each.

Singapore

Singapore is an island city. It has the smallest land size of the three locations at 728.6 square kilometres (Singapore Land Authority, 2021). The Singapore population in the 2020 Census was 4.04 million, consisting of 3.52 million citizens and 0.52 million permanent residents (there were also an additional 1.64 million non-residents) (Department of Statistics Singapore, 2021a). Children 5-14 years old made up 10.0% of the population (405,130 children) (Department of Statistics Singapore, 2021a). The ethnic composition of 5–14-year-old children as described in the Census was Chinese (68.1%), Malays (15.9%), Indians (11.8%), and others (4.2%) (Department of Statistics Singapore, 2021a). Most children (86.4% of 349,975) were born in Singapore, with others born in places including Malaysia, Mainland China, and India. The most frequent language spoken at home for 5–14-year-old children was English (74.5%), with most also speaking another language at home, such as Mandarin (Department of Statistics Singapore, 2021a).

In Singapore, school consists of 6 years of primary and 4-5 years of secondary school, where students can participate in the Express Course, Normal (Academic) Course, or Normal (Technical) Course (Ministry of Education [MOE], 2022a). Primary schools in Singapore start at 7:30am or later, and tend to finish at around 1:30pm or 1:40pm. The school year follows the calendar year and runs for four terms of 10 weeks each. After school Co-Curricular Activities (CCAs) are organised by schools and are viewed as a key part of children's holistic development. CCAs are 'strongly encouraged' by the Ministry of Education at the primary school level, and are compulsory at the secondary school level (MOE, 2022b).

Children's everyday lifeworlds out of school, in Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore:...

Method

Researching Children's Out-of-school Lifeworlds Using the Video Re-Enactment Methodology

As stated in the introduction and overview, we draw on Sarah Pink's (e.g., Pink, 2012; Pink & Leder Mackley, 2014) video re-enactment methodology to research children's everyday lifeworlds outside of school (see Yelland et al., 2023). Thinking with the concept of lifeworlds allows for a more holistic and nuanced understanding of children's lives, which includes (but is more than) everyday practices, activities, and experiences, drawing connections between different aspects. Re-enactments allow for a consideration of the everyday practices in children's lifeworlds. They also help to consider what makes activities possible and desirable for children, thinking through sociological, geographical, and cultural perspectives.

Discussions during re-enactments prompt the recollection of memories and details which may not be available in more conventional talking methods, such as interviews. People are then filmed as they reenact their everyday activities, in a process where the research is co-created by participants and researchers as a re-presentation of their everyday lives (Pink & Leder Mackley, 2014). While Pink developed the reenactment methodology for use with adults, we have found this useful to adapt for our research with children exploring their everyday out-of-school lifeworlds (for a more detailed discussion of this, see Yelland et al., 2023). However, Leder Mackley, Pink, and Moroşanu (2015) conducted some research with children as part of their work on home energy use, where children's re-enactments of their energy use helped them to explore in sensory ways their practices and experiences. Apart from this, to our knowledge, the video re-enactment methodology developed by Pink has not been used in research with children, although we are familiar with child-led tours and 'walk along' interviews with children (e.g., Loebach & Gilliland, 2010). The video re-enactments allow for further reflection as children literally re-enact their everyday routines and activities, sparking memories and sensory experiences.

Participants

Teachers who participated in the classroom ethnographies were asked to identify possible children whose families might be agreeable to allowing us to conduct the re-enactments with them. We had originally sought to include four children in each of the locations (two from each school involved in the ethnographies), although it proved to be difficult to find families who were willing to participate, due to privacy concerns associated with filming. Depending on the individual schools and locations, we also suggest this may have been related to the distance families lived from the school, whereby lengthy journeys on public transport were evident in Hong Kong and Singapore. Ultimately, a total of seven children were involved, all of whom were given pseudonyms: Siu Keung, Mei Mei, Andrew, and Charlotte in Hong Kong (from two schools), Madison and Seb in Melbourne (from the same school), and Ashley in Singapore. Parents were asked to discuss participation in the re-enactments with their child prior to taking part, to ensure they were happy to be involved in the research. All children participating had written parental consent. The day of the week was chosen by parent(s) in consultation with the researcher(s), to allow for the re-enactments to fit in with the children's lives.

The re-enactments were conducted in slightly differently forms in each of the three locations, due to a mixture of local conditions and specific family requirements. This reflects other research with children and young people that occur in different locations (e.g., Burningham et al., 2020). The re-enactment methodology as detailed above was largely followed in Hong Kong, where children were filmed as they re-enacted their regular activities after school for that day. The children in Melbourne did not re-enact each activity they participated in, as they often became more interested in discussing their activities and views in conversation with us. We view this in the context of their individual lifeworlds but also it became evident that children growing up in Melbourne may have been more familiar with being asked about their views. Finally, in Singapore still photography was used when re-enacting activities due to parental concern over privacy when videoing. The need for this modification potentially limited the depth of this re-enactment, as we were not able to record the full process of the re-enactment or our discussions in relation to the activity log for later analysis.

The re-enactments were conducted by local members of the research team in each location: the first and third author in Melbourne, the second author in Hong Kong, and another researcher on the project in Singapore. The language used reflected the locations and specific families, with English used for the reenactments in Melbourne and Singapore, and Cantonese in Hong Kong. The Hong Kong video and audio recordings were translated into English, and English captions were added to the edited re-enactment videos for sharing within the research team.

Results and Discussion

Family Composition

Family was central to the children's out-of-school lifeworlds in each location. Parents were highly involved in their children's lives, as might be expected of children at this age and in these locations. In this section we reflect on the family composition and their routines and interactions. This includes between the children with their parents and siblings, as well as ritualised family time and connections with extended family. We explore these through examples from our re-enactments with children in each location, as well as the broader contextual literature. Rather than being explicitly focused on differences between children in the locations, we are interested in considering children's family lives in each location.

For contextual background, it is useful to briefly consider some of the broader data around children and families, as well as living arrangements, in each of the locations. Hong Kong has an ageing population and low birth rate, with the 2021 Census indicating that 78.9% of households included no children under 15 years old (Census and Statistics Department, 2021). 13.1% of households had one child, 7.1% had two children, and 0.9% had three or more children (Census and Statistics Department, 2021). 1.4 was the average number of children in domestic households with children aged under 15 (Census and Statistics Department, 2021). In terms of housing, flats and units are most common, in the form of occupied private residential flats (45.0%), public rental housing units (30.1%), and subsidised sale flats (15.4%) (Census and Statistics Department, 2021). The median floor area of domestic households was 40m² and just under half of households were owned by their occupants (Census and Statistics Department, 2021).

In Melbourne, the 2021 Census showed that 39.0% of family households had children under 15 years old (family households do not include single person households) (ABS, 2022b). Of those family households with children under 15, these were mainly two parent families (83.3%), with fewer one parent families (16.7%) (ABS, 2022b). The average number of children per family with children in Greater Melbourne was 1.8 (ABS 2022a). Data from the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (LSAC) indicates that in Australia, the participating 8–11-year-olds were most likely to live with one sibling (over 40%) or two or more siblings (just under half), with few not living with siblings (under 10%) (Australian Institute of Family Studies, 2017). In Australia, most children live in detached houses, with mortgages and home ownership high (Warren, 2018). The average floor area of new houses built in Greater Melbourne was 247m² (in both 2012 and 2021) (ABS, 2022c), with no clear statistics for total houses in Greater Melbourne.

The 2020 Census in Singapore indicated that just under half (47.7%) of households were married couple-based families with children (Department of Statistics Singapore, 2021b). Families are most likely to have two children (measured as number of children born per resident ever-married female = 2.04 children) (Department of Statistics Singapore, 2021a). Most homes are owner-occupied (87.9%) and Housing Development Board (Housing Development Board, nd) flats are the most common form of housing (78.7%) (Department of Statistics Singapore, 2021b). The floor area of household residences varies, where in 2021 three quarters of households had a floor area larger than 60m² (including 24.0% of households having a floor area of more than 120m²) (Department of Statistics Singapore, nd).

Family Composition: Parents, Siblings and Routines

All the children participating in the re-enactments lived with their mother and father, and at least one sibling (one child in each city had two siblings: Siu Keung, Seb, and Ashley). In Hong Kong, the children in the re-enactments lived in a flat in a private residential housing estate (Andrew and Siu Keung), a four-storey house (Charlotte), and a public housing estate (Mei Mei); in Melbourne they lived in in detached houses, one in a one storey home (Madison) and the other in two storeys (Seb); and in Singapore in condominium housing (Ashley).

Andrew in Hong Kong, lived with his mum, dad, and younger sister in a private residential flat which the family owned. Andrew followed a well structure regime planned by his parents which focussed on academic activities. His father directed him back to his homework when he got distracted and also revised the content of the homework with Andrew for about 15 minutes every night, with the reason being given that this would strengthen his learning. At the same time, they also showed that they were able to relax in leisure activities as he was allowed to spend a significant amount of time on electronic devices over the weekend, and watched various types of shows on his mobile phone on the car journey home from school. While Andrew had previously played traditional (non-electronic) games at home with his sister, and occasionally his parents, his leisure interests were focused on his mobile phone where he had the choice of what he was doing. Andrew's family had two family rituals. One was watching a Hong Kong sitcom together after dinner each weeknight from 8pm-8:30pm. The other was a bedtime talk routine where Andrew and his sister spoke with their parents on their parents' bed for about 15 minutes each night. This event seemed to be intended to foster their close relationship with each other and they indicated that they would talk about anything that the children brought up in conversation. Originally, they played games and riddles but they indicated that more recently it had shifted to conversations about what happened at school.

The three other children in Hong Kong also ate dinner together as a family, and Siu Keung and Mei Mei played games with their siblings, although Siu Keung often spent time by himself. Mei Mei and her family went out for yum cha for two hours on Sundays and spent the rest of the day shopping and walking around the city, while Siu Keung's family had yum cha with the grandparents, similarly on Sunday for two hours. Siu Keung's family sometimes went out for a walk or to visit the library or the club house, and Charlotte also often went for a walk with her parents around their neighbourhood. Mei Mei sometimes went to the market to shop for food with her mum and brother after school, walking around, eating snacks, and playing in the park. For Siu Keung, his father was away for work most of the week, so Siu Keung enjoyed watching television with him on Saturdays when he was home. Finally, Siu Keung and Charlotte attended church with their families at weekends.

In Melbourne, Seb's family had a regular Friday night dinner at the local pub, watching Australian rules football there during the season. On Saturdays they also had family dinner night at home and accompanied this with watching a movie. During the week there was less routine associated with eating dinner. His mum said they tried to eat with as many family members as possible, depending on who was home at the time and not playing sport. They also needed to walk their puppy so this was also a common activity for the family to do together. Both of Seb's parents travelled for work and his dad was often away from home. Seb shared a bedroom with his younger brother, but had his own 'playroom' where he built Lego models and displayed his sporting medals, which he proudly shared during the re-enactment. While Seb had two siblings, he spoke mostly about engaging in leisure activities alone (frequently building Lego models, reading books, and playing Minecraft on his iPad). This may partly be because Seb and his siblings participated in many sporting activities and were not always home at the same time. Seb also spent a lot of accompanying his siblings to sports, spending time travelling in the car and waiting at the different venues.

Also in Melbourne, Madison's family similarly had a regular Friday night dinner with her family (take out) and a family dinner and movies on Saturdays or Sundays, and dinner during the week was also eaten together. Weekends were for family time, and included a drive, or a weekend away. Madison also watched and discussed the nightly news with her parents, and had a snack and chat after school with family members. She was close to her older brother and she spoke about doing different activities with him. She also sometimes walked the dog with her family.

Ashley in Singapore also spent time with her family. She particularly spent time every day with one of her sisters, eating lunch, playing card games, reading books, and watching television. As with most of

the other children in the re-enactments, Ashley ate dinner with her family every night and the family spent time together at weekends.

Connections with Extended Family

Frequent connections with extended family are common in Hong Kong and Singapore. In Hong Kong, although multi-generational co-residence is uncommon because of the small living spaces, grandparents are an important source of informal social support to families, especially in childcare (Chen et al., 2022). Research in Singapore also indicates close intergenerational relationships (Narayanankutty & Dommaraju, 2023) and Singapore has a Proximity Housing Grant available to people buying a resale flat to live with or near their parents/child (Housing & Development Board, nd). Such frequent connections with extended family are less common in Australia, although this varies, with some grandparents providing childcare and a small number of grandparents living with grandchildren (Baxter & Warren, 2016).

In Hong Kong, Andrew had close connections to his extended family. They used to visit his maternal grandmother several times a week for dinner as they live close to each other, but this has reduced to two dinners a week (Monday and Saturday) due to Andrew's increasing academic load. One of these dinners is on Saturday night where they also see his mum's siblings and their children, where he mostly plays video games and phone games with his cousins. They visit his paternal grandmother each Friday for dinner. Mei Mei's family visited their grandparents about twice a month (on Sundays), and Siu Keung's family had yum cha with the grandparents on Sundays. Perhaps rather than spending time with grandparents or extended family, Charlotte spent extensive time in her community with her neighbours, which we discuss further in the local communities section below.

In Melbourne, Seb was looked after by his grandmother after school on Mondays, and was picked up from school on the other days by a 'nanny' (relative), which is unusual in Melbourne. This meant he saw extended family due to care arrangements. Otherwise, his mum said they generally had little time for extended family due to their involvement in sports, even though her parents and her partner's family lived in Melbourne. She indicated that they would have more time for extended family now that Seb's football season had finished. Madison and her family in Melbourne did not mention extended family during our visit. Similarly, Ashley and her family in Singapore also did not mention extended family, which is unusual in the context of Singapore.

Our discussions here indicate that the family routines that children experience is of primary importance at this age. Families often had regular routines of eating dinner together and engaging in activities such as watching television, going for walks, going shopping and/or going to church. All the children had siblings, although some seemed to spend more time together than others. Connections with extended family was particularly important in Hong Kong as shown in the re-enactments process, reflecting the broader literature regarding the topic.

Enrichment Activities

Enrichment activities are generally considered to be organised activities for children which are related to cultivating social and cultural capital and developing skills. This framing is common in Hong Kong and Singapore, but in Melbourne such activities are more likely to be viewed as leisure. However, the concept of enrichment is well established in Western countries, for example, in the well-known work of Lareau in the US (2011). Enrichment classes may also involve practise at home outside of lessons, as well as competitions and events. Academic tutoring is generally not viewed as enrichment as it more explicitly relates to academic improvement. Importantly, these activities may be enjoyed by children regardless of how they may, or may not be categorised by adults, and may be 'chosen' by parents or children. Which activities might be possible or desirable also needs to be considered, with opportunities differing not only by location, but also by class and cultural orientations, finances, and other factors.

In Hong Kong, enrichment activities constitute a prominent part of children's everyday lifeworlds outside of school, with children potentially trying out multiple activities to build their portfolio of experiences. Middle-class parents ,in particular, seem to be keen to enroll their children in Englishspeaking, competitive, public or private schools (Karsten, 2015). Many parents are eager to cultivate valuable social and cultural skills in their children, and hence increase their competitiveness in a globalized economy (Choi, 2016; Karsten, 2015). Parents are likely to enroll their children in multiple enrichment activities to develop them broadly, rather than focusing on excelling in a smaller number of activities.

In Singapore, parents are also often keen to enroll their children in many non-academic enrichment activities. Tan (2017) suggests that while children who have parents with higher incomes have more access to these activities, regardless of class status most parents desire their children to participate in enrichment and tuition activities, in order to have a 'competitive edge' (p. 324). Some parents may also view participation in enrichment activities as important to help their child gain acceptance into elite schools (Tan, 2017).

In Melbourne, and Australia more broadly, the term enrichment is less common, as organized outof-school activities such as sports and music tend to be viewed as leisure. However, as Skattebol and Redmond (2019) write, in the context of Australia, such out-of-school activities still 'have positive benefits for the development of the kinds of soft skills and longer-term aspirations that are valued in neoliberal society' (p. 77). Children are likely to participate in fewer, more focused activities, which are generally things they enjoy and choose, and which are related to the contexts of their families and neighbourhoods (including access to opportunities and financial limitations, see Skattebol and Redmond, 2019). However, it would seem that some families may be more purposeful in enrolling their children in these and some children in Melbourne/Australia may participate in activities due to parents' desires.

Extra-curricular Activities

In Hong Kong and Singapore, primary school students frequently participate in extra-curricular activities or what might also be called enrichment activities organized by schools and taking place at the schools. Hong Kong schools provide optional extra-curricular activities, in association with clubs and groups which are classified into five types: academic, sports, art, interest, and social services (Education Bureau, n.d.). In Singapore, students can choose CCAs from four groups: Clubs and Societies, Physical Sports, Uniformed Groups, and Visual and Performing Arts (MOE, 2022b). These classes are held for 2-3 hours once a week, although students may participate in more than one. Melbourne does not have such a structured approach to extra-curricular activities, although schools may provide some optional activities. One Australian study indicates that nearly a quarter of 10-11-year-olds participated in art/music/performance and/or team sports run as extracurricular activities provided by their school, although this was less common than participation in similar activities outside of the school (Rioseco, Baxter, and Warren, 2018).

In Hong Kong, Charlotte had two extra-curricular activities at school for one hour each: English Drama (Tuesdays 3:40-4:40 pm) and creating technology (coding) (Thursdays 3:40-4:40 pm). Andrew, who attended the same school, had football on Tuesdays and Thursdays, and ping pong on Wednesdays (all from 3:40-5:45 pm). Siu Keung, who attended a different school, had extra-curricular activities of school choir (Monday 3:40-4:30 pm), Olympic Maths (Thursday 3:40-5.00 pm), and occasionally athletic training (Friday, finished by 5:30pm). Finally, Mei Mei had leadership training (Tuesday 1:45-5 pm) and study club (Thursday 3:45-4:45 pm)

The narrated photo re-enactment with Ashley in Singapore showed that she had CCA at school on Tuesday and Friday from approximately 2:30-5:30 pm (i.e., 3 hours each), one of which was for music. Neither Madison nor Seb in Melbourne mentioned extra-curricular activities related to their school.

Out-of-school enrichment and organized activities

Alongside their school extra-curricular activities (as discussed above), the children in Hong Kong participated in several out-of-school enrichment activities. Charlotte participated in Boys' Brigade Hong Kong (Saturday 2:00-4:30 pm), piano and drum lessons (Sunday 9:30-10.30), and church activities, including coding (Sunday 1:00-1:30 pm). Along with this, there may also be practice and homework

required, although Charlotte only did this occasionally, practicing piano and drums on Wednesdays for 15 minutes before dinner if she had finished her homework. Andrew, who attended the same school as Charlotte, had only one enrichment activity outside of school (tennis class on Sundays from 6 to 8 pm), although participated in other sports in school extra-curricular activities.

Outside of school Siu Keung had a piano lesson (Tuesday for 30 minutes) and he practiced piano on other days (Monday free time might include practicing piano and 15-30 minutes practice before lunch on Sundays), and a swimming lesson (Sunday after lunch for 1 hour). What might be taken from this example is that Siu Keung was enthusiastic about playing and practicing the piano, and excitedly showed us this activity during the re-enactment. Mei Mei, who attended the same school, had two one-hour swimming lessons (Thursday and Saturday), a community-based activity (cookery, handcraft, community service) (every second or third Friday until 8 pm, and Brownies (Saturday) 2-4 pm.

In Singapore, Ashley's out-of-school enrichment activities included a ballet class (1 hour on Mondays) and she practiced playing the drums for half an hour on Wednesdays and Thursdays, a musical instrument she chose to play (she initially was learning piano).

As previously stated, in Melbourne, organized activities such as those outlined above are generally not thought of in terms of being enrichment activities but instead are more likely to be viewed as leisure. Seb had swimming training and competitions on a regular basis throughout the year and also played Australian rules football in winter (games on Sundays). He mentioned he would like to add another sport (cricket) to his summer schedule but his mum's comments seemed to indicate that she was less keen for him to do this. Seb also had a one hour weekly piano lesson on Sundays and practiced alone for ten minutes a day. Madison similarly had sport and music interests, although these were more hobbies and ones she had not spent much time undertaking. She had basketball training and matches once a week each (Monday and Saturday respectively) and half hour swimming lessons (Wednesdays) and guitar lessons (Tuesdays).

Our overview of the approaches to enrichment activities in the three locations provides examples of what the specific children were engaged in from the re-enactments conversations. It highlights important contextual information about what is encouraged within each city as well as provides some reflections on the diversity in the activities of children in the same city. School-based enrichment activities are essentially compulsory in Singapore and are often regarded as an extension of the offerings in the school curriculum. Children in Hong Kong tend to participate in a broad range of enrichment activities, trying out different activities to seek what they like and might be good at before. The children in the re-enactments highlight some of the different forms these enrichment activities may take, where they are chosen in collaboration with parents but may be organized by their school or outside group or organization. Children in Melbourne are more likely to participate in such organized activities and regard them as being for leisure. Overall. sports and music seemed to be the most popular across the cities.

Local communities

In this section we reflect on children's out-of-school activities in relation to their local communities, with a particular focus on mobility as this arose as a major topic discussed in each of the re-enactments. Here we focus on travel to school and location of activities.

Travel to school

Travel to school, and the distance lived from school, are important aspects of children's being able to establish connections in their local communities. In Hong Kong the public primary education system is divided into 18 school districts, which can be further sub-divided into smaller school zones, which are known as 'school nets'. The Primary One Admissions System prioritises students with specific tiebreakers (such as children of school staff and siblings of school) and district residents over those with no tiebreakers and non-district residents. However, parents and their children could also apply for 'discretionary places' in competitive, popularly sought-after schools in other districts which might be a considerable distance from their homes (Wu, 2020). Entry to these schools is completed by interview (Wu, 2020). The 2021 Census shows that 66.1% of primary school students attended a school in the same district in which they lived

(Census and Statistics Department, 2021). 35.7% of primary school students primarily walked to school, indicating these were at a close distance from their homes, while others travelled using various forms of bus or railway, with few travelling by private car/passenger van (8.5%) (Census and Statistics Department, 2021).

In the state of Victoria where Melbourne is located, government schools are zoned, meaning children often attend schools in their local neighbourhoods, although private schools may require further travel. Parents may base their choice of school on aspects relating to convenience, whether other family members already attend the school, and academic and/or religious reasons (Warren, 2016). Despite school zoning, children in Victoria are most often driven to school by car, even when living within 2km of school (Department of Education and Training, 2019).

Singapore has a complex primary school enrolment system, based on factors including distance from school and alumni status of family members, as well as whether children are Singapore Citizens, Permanent Residents, or international students. Census data indicates that 43.0% of pre-primary and primary school children did not require transport to school, whereas 22.0% travelled by car/taxi/private hire car, 20.1% by public transport (train or bus), and 14.9% by other modes (Department of Statistics Singapore, 2021b).

For the children in the re-enactments in Hong Kong, the two children at the subsidised public school, were driven to school. Andrew's journey took 25 minutes by car, with his father driving. Charlotte's journey took 40-45 minutes with her mum doing the driving. The long travel time being due in part to having to drop off other children from the neighbourhood, although their house was still situated some 25km away from the school. Siu Keung took the bus with his grandmother most days (which she said was for safety), and this took almost 20 minutes, while Mei Mei had a 6-7 minute walk with her mum, but was increasingly walking by herself now she was in Primary 4. In Melbourne, both Madison and Seb had a short 10 minute walk home, Madison walking with her older brother or a parent, and Seb walking home with his younger brother from the same school and older sister from the nearby high school, along with an adult (most often a 'nanny' who was a relative). Finally, in Singapore Ashley took a 15-20 minute bus ride home by herself or with her sister.

Location of activities

In thinking about children's local communities, we also explore the locations of their enrichment and organised activities, tuition, and leisure outside of the home. Karsten's (2015) research with middle-class families in Hong Kong highlights that children access activities in a range of locations and settings – with school, the local neighbourhood, and other neighbourhoods seeming to be prominent. Research in Australia has highlighted the importance of neighbourhoods for access to activities, where some children miss out on due to lack of suitable activities in the communities in which they live (Skattebol & Redmond, 2019).

We are particularly interested in Charlotte's frequent engagement with her neighbours in Hong Kong. While Charlotte attended a school some distance away from her home, her out-of-school activities were based in the local neighbourhood and she had many social connections with neighbours. Charlotte lived in a gated community where, to enter the housing estate where she lived, cars had to go through a security check. Charlotte's parents thus viewed this as a safe community for her to visit her neighbours, often riding her bicycle around the neighbourhood and dropping in on friends. As mentioned earlier, Charlotte's family did not seem to spend time with their extended family and their social circle was more centred on their neighbours. Charlotte's other activities were also close to her house, such as attending church in the neighbourhood, going to Boys' Brigade on Saturdays which was 3 kms away, and attending Sunday piano and drum lessons at teacher's house which was a 5–10-minute drive away.

Also, in Hong Kong, Andrew attended a variety of activities, some close to home (such as English tuition at a centre nearby) and others relatively far away (such as private tennis tuition with a friend on Sunday evenings). Andrew's father often drove him to activities, such as his extra-curricular school sports,

with his father noting that attendance at some of these activities was only possible if parents can transport their children. Siu Keung's activities were more focused on the local neighbourhood (perhaps partly because the family did not have a car), such as attending 'Sunday School' and mass service at the church at his school and attending private piano lessons in a shop near his home. His knowledge of his neighbourhood was well demonstrated when his mum asked him to take the second author to the train station after the re-enactment. Similarly, Mei Mei's family did not have a car and she walked to places or travelled by bus. She went to swimming lessons nearby, although this required a short bus ride which she sometimes took with her brother without their mum, although other children also travelled there. Mei Mei had keys to the family's flat and knew how to open the front security doors. She also attended community activities, including Brownies and community classes, as mentioned above.

Both children in Melbourne appeared familiar with their neighbourhood and attended activities which were close to home, and walkable by themselves. For both children this may have reflected the relative privilege of their neighbourhood and being able to have other activities nearby. Seb's family usually had dinner at the local pub on Friday, with Seb pointing in the direction of the pub as we walked home from school during his re-enactment. He also attended piano lessons which were a five-minute walk away, although travel to sports were often by car. Madison also had activities in her local community, attending a 'Fun Club' at the local library and an after-school care at her school, both for an hour once a week. Seb and Madison also sometimes accompanied a family member when taking their dog for a walk around their local community.

Ashley's activities in Singapore were more home based, including her Chinese tuition on Sundays when the teacher came to her home, which is common in Singapore.

Our consideration of local communities and children's physical mobility offers some interesting points on which to reflect. All of the children spent some time in their neighbourhoods, whether it was walking to school or other places, attending local enrichment or tuition activities, and/or visiting neighbours. However, access to transport impacted on what they could do beyond their local neighbourhoods. For example, in Hong Kong Andrew and Charlotte were driven to school and other activities by their parents. In contrast, Siu Keung's and Mei Mei's families did not have cars and therefore their activities were generally based closer to home. Children generally had little independent mobility, with only Mei Mei and Ashley mentioning travelling to school without an adult or older family member, and Mei Mei also taking public transport to swimming lessons with her younger brother and others without a parent. Most of the children demonstrated knowledge of their local communities, able to point things out to us on their journeys home from school or sharing other local knowledge of the areas in which they lived.

Conclusions and Reflections

In this article we have offered a broad (literature based) and more focussed (video re-enactments) consideration of children's out-of-school lifeworlds in the global cities of Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore. In particular, we have focused on three aspects of children's lives (family routines, enrichment activities, and the role of local communities in their activities) in order to consider the nuances and reflect on the complexities of thinking about children's everyday lives in each location. We suggest the use of the modified video re-enactments methodology, alongside the activity logs, have been useful to extend the existing time use research about what children do outside of school, as our focus enables a more detailed and nuanced consideration of individual children's lives in their communities. We also note the usefulness of including contextual data to situate the lifeworlds of the participating children. This is particularly important when considering what is possible and desirable within each location, such as what might be the expectations around enrichment activities and the contexts of children's local neighbourhoods. While our re-enactments were with a small number of children, including only one in Singapore, they were able to illuminate some aspects of children's lifeworlds in ways that other research approaches have not. This is particularly important in the context of Hong Kong and Singapore, where research more often focuses on children in terms of their academic activities.

Children's everyday lifeworlds out of school, in Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore:...

We have offered a consideration of the three locations and explored the lifeworlds of children within them, rather than starkly comparing and contrasting. By drawing on both broader data and the reenactments, we have been able to show some common themes and patterns within each location. While children in Hong Kong and Singapore may generally lead more 'scheduled lives' (Karsten, 2015) than children in Melbourne, this is clearly related to the socio-economic contexts in which they live, and it was evident that they took different forms for individual children. The ways in which school, extra-curricular activities, and enrichment activities are set up and made available are also important when considering children's lifeworlds, as we have demonstrated throughout the article. We have also tried to retain a consideration of diversity *within* each location. Sometimes this diversity can be lost when discussing multiple locations, as information is reduced to more simple explanations. The children in the reenactments in Hong Kong attended two quite different schools, and this has already highlighted some potential differences in their out of school lives, such as access to activities, car travel, and the CCAs that may be available in different schools.

Importantly, we have also noted several similarities between locations. For example, all of the children spent considerable time with family members including their siblings, although some more than others. Most of the children engaged in activities relating to sports and music, although these differed in terms of time spent on them and intensity (e.g. competitiveness). While not wanting to suggest a universal childhood, these findings do highlight the significance of age with regard to what shapes children's lifeworlds, and how age is considered within each of the locations.

Finally, what our project has also shown is that it is invaluable to have an international team of researchers situated in each location being investigated when conducting a project like this (see also Yelland and Saltmarsh, 2013). An international team is essential for understanding context and for local knowledge, including language and cultural nuances. Within the research team we were able to have many conversations about interesting similarities and points of difference amongst the locations, often sparked by the contents of each re-enactment. Such discussions have also enabled each of us to reflect on our own assumptions about the locations in which we live and are most familiar with, when we have found it necessary to look at research to support (or counter) our generalisations and claims about what is 'common' in our city. We suggest continuing conversations such as these, extending thinking about children's lifeworlds within and across locations.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: We thank and acknowledge the children and families involved in the video re-enactments, as well as Nanthini Karthikeyan for conducting the re-enactment in Singapore and Tevin Shuhan Fang for her work translating the re-enactment recordings from Cantonese to English and creating the edited videos in Hong Kong.

Authors' contributions: All authors contributed to the data collection and writing of this paper in an equal partnership.

Disclosure Statement: The authors report there are no competing interests to declare.

Funding: This work was supported by the Australian Research Council under Grant number DP180100325.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The project was approved by the Flinders University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (Australia) (Project No. 7926), the Department of Education and Training (Victoria, Australia) (Project ID No. 2018_003827), NTU Institutional Review Board (Nanyang Technological University, Singapore) (IRB-2018-04-033), and Ministry of Education (Singapore) (Request No.: RQ95-18(10)). The Principal Investigator transferred from Flinders University to the University of Melbourne during the project, where the research was approved (Ethics ID: 1853465/1). An additional ethical review was not required by the Education University of Hong Kong as approval was already granted from the Principal Investigator's university in Australia to cover all three cities.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Mehmet Toran through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2022a). 2021 Census all persons QuickStats: Greater Melbourne. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/census/find-census-data/quickstats/2021/2GMEL</u>
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2022b). 2021 census of population and housing: General community profile: Greater Melbourne. https://www.abs.gov.au/census/find-census-data/community-profiles/2021/2GMEL
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2022c). New houses being built on smaller blocks. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/articles/new-houses-being-built-smaller-blocks</u>
- Australian Institute of Family Studies. (2017). Introduction and overview of LSAC data. In K. Day (Ed.), *The longitudinal study of Australian children: Annual statistical report 2016* (pp. 1-10). Melbourne: Australian Institute of Family Studies.
- Bartholomaeus, C., Chan, A. K. W., Yelland, N., Karthikeyan, N., & Soo, L. M. J. (2023). Everyday out-of-school lifeworlds look like this: Children's activities in three global cities. In I-F. Lee, S. Saltmarsh, & N. Yelland (Eds.), *Childhood, learning & everyday life* in three Asia-Pacific cities: Experiences from Melbourne, Hong Kong and Singapore (pp. 107-133). Springer.
- Baxter, J., & Warren, D. (2016). Grandparents in their young grandchildren's lives. In K. Day (Ed.), *The longitudinal study of Australian children Annual statistical report 2015* (pp. 13-40). Australian Institute of Family Studies.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Burningham, K., Venn, S., Hayward, B., Nissen, S., Aoyagi, M., Hasan, M. M., Jackson, T., Jha, V., Matter, H., Schudelg, I. & Yoshida, A. (2020). Ethics in context: Essential flexibility in an international photo-elicitation project with children and young people. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 23(1), 7-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2019.1672282</u>

Census and Statistics Department. (2021). 2021 Population Census: Main results. Hong Kong.

- Chen, M., Chen, Q., Lo, C. K. M., Kelley, S. J., Chan, K. L., & Ip, P. (2022). Attitudes toward grandparental involvement in Hong Kong: A trend analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(16), 9858. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19169858</u>
- Choi, K. W. Y. (2016). On the fast track to a head start: A visual ethnographic study of parental consumption of children's play and learning activities in Hong Kong. *Childhood: A Global Journal of Child Research*, 23(1), 123-139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0907568215586838</u>
- Department of Education and Training. (2019). *Victorian child health and wellbeing survey: Summary findings 2017*. East Melbourne: Department of Education and Training.
- Department of Statistics Singapore. (2021a). Census of Population 2020 statistical release 1: Demographic characteristics, education, language and religion. Singapore.
- Department of Statistics Singapore. (2021b). Census of Population 2020 statistical release 2: Households, geographic distribution, transport and difficulty in basic activities. Singapore.
- Department of Statistics Singapore. (n.d.). Resident households by household size and floor area of residence. https://tablebuilder.singstat.gov.sg/table/TS/M810751

Education Bureau. (n.d.). Guidelines on extra-curricular activities in schools. Hong Kong.

- GovHK. (2022). Hong Kong: The facts: Education. Hong Kong.
- Housing & Development Board. (n.d.). Proximity Housing Grant (Families). https://www.hdb.gov.sg/residential/buying-a-flat/flat-andgrant-eligibility/couples-and-families/proximity-housing-grant-families
- James, A., Jenks, C., & Prout, A. (1998). Theorizing childhood. Polity Press.
- Karsten, L. (2015). Middle-class childhood and parenting culture in high-rise Hong Kong: On scheduled lives, the school trap and a new urban idyll. *Children's Geographies*, *13*(5), 556-570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2014.915288</u>
- Lands Department. (2021). Hong Kong geographic data (as at October 2021). <u>https://www.landsd.gov.hk/en/resources/mapping-information/hk-geographic-data.html</u>
- Lareau, A. (2011). Unequal childhoods: Class, race, and family life (2nd ed.). University of California Press.
- Leder Mackley, K., Pink, S., & Moroşanu, R. (2015). Knowing the world through your body: Children's sensory experiences and making of place. In A. Hackett, L. Procter, & J. Seymour (Eds.), *Children's spatialities: Embodiment, emotion and agency* (pp. 21-38). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lee, I-F., Saltmarsh, S., & Yelland, N. (Eds.)/ (2023). Childhood, learning & everyday life in three Asia-Pacific cities: Experiences from Melbourne, Hong Kong and Singapore. Springer.
- Loebach, J., & Gilliland, J. (2010). Child-led tours to uncover children's perceptions and use of neighborhood environments. Children,

Children's everyday lifeworlds out of school, in Hong Kong, Melbourne, and Singapore:...

Youth and Environments, 20(1), 52-90. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7721/chilyoutenvi.20.1.0052

Ministry of Education. (2022a). Education statistics digest 2022. Singapore: MOE.

Ministry of Education. (2022b). Overview of Co-Curricular Activities (CCAs). <u>https://www.moe.gov.sg/education-in-sg/our-programmes/cca/overview</u>

Mullan, K. (2020). A child's day: A comprehensive analysis of change in children's time use in the UK. Bristol University Press.

- Narayanankutty, S., & Dommaraju, P. (2023). Grandparenting and intergenerational solidarity in Singapore. *Journal of Population and Social Sciences*, 31. <u>https://doi.org/10.25133/IPSSv312023.016</u>
- Pink, S. (2012). Situating everyday life: Practices and places. Sage.
- Pink, S., & Leder Mackley, K. (2014). Re-enactment methodologies for everyday life research: Art therapy insights for video ethnography. *Visual Studies*, 29(2), 146-154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1472586X.2014.887266</u>
- Prout, A., & James, A. (1997). A new paradigm for the sociology of childhood?: Provenance, promise and problems. In A. James & A. Prout (Eds.), Constructing and reconstructing childhood: Contemporary issues in the sociological study of childhood (pp. 7-33). The Palmer Press.
- Rees, G. (2017). Children's views on their lives and well-being: Findings from the Children's Worlds project. Springer.
- Rioseco, P., Baxter, J., & Warren, D. (2018). Kids' care and activities before and after school. In D. Warren, & G. Daraganova (Eds.), Growing up in Australia – The longitudinal study of Australian children, annual statistical report 2017 (pp. 87-98). Australian Institute of Family Studies.
- Schutz, A. (1964). Studies in social theory. Martinus Nijhoff.
- Singapore Land Authority. (2021). Statistics: Total land area of Singapore. https://www.sla.gov.sg/newsroom/statistics
- Skattebol, J., & Redmond, G. (2019). Troubled kids? Locational disadvantage, opportunity structures and social exclusion. Children's Geographies, 17(1), 76-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2018.1487031</u>
- Spyrou, S. (2018). Disclosing childhoods: Research and knowledge production for a critical childhood studies. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Tam, V. C. W., & Chan, R. M. C. (2011). Homework involvement and functions: Perceptions of Hong Kong Chinese primary school students and parents. *Educational Studies*, 37(5), 569-580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2010.539788</u>
- Tan, C. (2017). Private supplementary tutoring and parentocracy in Singapore. Interchange: A Quarterly Review of Education, 48(4), 315-329. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10780-017-9303-4
- Tan, C. (2019). Comparing high-performing education systems: Understanding Singapore, Shanghai, and Hong Kong. Routledge.
- Warren, D. (2016). Parents' choices of primary school. In K. Day (Ed.), *The Longitudinal Study of Australian Children Annual statistical* report 2015 (pp. 153-172). Australian Institute of Family Studies.
- Warren, D. (2018). Children's housing experiences. In D. Warren, & G. Daraganova (Eds.), *Growing Up in Australia The longitudinal study of Australian Children, annual statistical report 2017* (pp. 9-24). Australian Institute of Family Studies.
- Wu, M-J. (2020). Predicting outcomes of school-choice policies using district characteristics: Empirical evidence from Hong Kong. Journal of School Choice: International Research and Reform, 14(4), 633-654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15582159.2020.1773742</u>
- Yelland, N., & Bartholomaeus, C. (2021). Towards learning dialogues as data: Researching children's lifeworlds in global cities. Qualitative Research Journal, 21(4), 394-407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ORJ-10-2020-0141</u>
- Yelland, N., & Saltmarsh, S. (2013). Ethnography, multiplicity and the Global Childhoods Project: Reflections on establishing an interdisciplinary, transnational, multi-sited research collaboration. *Global Studies of Childhood*, 3(1), 2-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.2304/gsch.2013.3.1.2</u>
- Yelland, N., Bartholomaeus, C., & Chan, A. (2023). Exploring children's out-of-school lifeworlds: Video re-enactments with children in three global cities. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 23(4), 385-396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2022-0157</u>
- Yelland, N., Cope, B., & Kalantzis, M. (2008). Learning by design: Creating pedagogical frameworks for knowledge building in the 21st century. Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 36(3), 197-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13598660802232597</u>

A systematic review on factors influencing the development of children's creativity

Zaina Smare¹, Mohamed Elfatihi²

Abstract: No one can deny that creativity is essential for survival and a key skill for prosperity in the 21st century. In an era where the skill of creativity is the pathway to development, it is crucial that we nurture children's creativity to better prepare them for academic, professional, and personal success. Systematic reviews on factors that could support or impede children's creativity is scarce. The present review was conducted to fill this gap. Major electronic databases were searched and studies meeting predetermined selection criteria were analyzed. The search yielded 55 studies published between 2010 to 2022 in English. We classified influencing factors into four types: individual, family, educational, and socio-cultural factors. We concluded by discussing recommendations for parents, educational stakeholders and researchers.

Article History Received: 28 December 2023 Accepted: 26 March 2024

Keywords Creativity; Development; Children; Factors; Systematic review

Electricity is not only present in a magnificent thunderstorm and dazzling lightning, but also in a lamp; so also, creativity exists not only where it creates great historical works, but also everywhere human imagination combines, changes, and creates anything new" (Vygotsky, 1930/1967, cited in Smolucha, 1992, p. 54)

Introduction

Creativity is one of the finest and highest skills and abilities that are needed to face the challenges and the uncertainties of the rapidly changing world of 21st century (Beghetto, 2021; United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), 2022). It is regarded as a vital skill in today's world and recognized as a key competency by international organizations such as the Organisation for Economic Development (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 2004, 2008, 2018, 2022) and World Economic Forum (World Economic Forum, 2016, 2018). According to the World Economic Forum (2016), around 65% of today elementary school children will be employed in professions that have not been created yet. Frey and Osborne (2017) add that jobs which need a high level of creativity are not likely to be automated in the present era. This is because AI can only generate artificial creativity that lacks many features such as authenticity and problem finding (Runco, 2023). Therefore, specific focus should be placed on nurturing creativity especially in children.

The Concept of Creativity

Forming a single universally accepted definition of creativity is a difficult task as the construct is multidimensional, encompassing cognitive, personality-related, and environmental factors (Metwaly et al., 2021). However, even though creativity is defined in various ways, there is a consistent emphasis on two elements that are fundamental in its description: originality and usefulness (Runco & Jaeger, 2012). Originality refers to the production of ideas that are new compared to other ideas currently available whereas usefulness characterizes ideas that have value. Beghetto and Glăveanu (2020) argue that this standard definition of creativity that emphasizes novelty and usefulness is overly product-oriented and does not appear to encompass the full construct.

Plucker and colleagues (2004) suggested the following definition in an attempt to represent and bring

¹ Ibn Zohr University, Faculty of Letters and Human Sciences, Morocco, email: <u>zaina.smare@edu.uiz.ac.ma</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9962-9359</u>

² Ibn Zohr University, Faculty of Letters and Human Sciences, Morocco, email: <u>elfatihimohamed@gmail.com</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5309-0877</u>

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

together diverse views found in the literature: creativity is "the interaction among aptitude, process, and environment by which an in dividual or group produces a perceptible product that is both novel and useful as defined within a social context" (p. 90). This definition is seemingly becoming more popular in the field (Batey, 2012; Beghetto et al., 2015). It takes into consideration the different perspectives found in other conceptions such as person and product. It is also in strong accordance with social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) which highlights the dynamic interplay and interaction among personal attributes, behaviors and environment while also acknowledging the active role of the person (Bandura, 2001).

Paul Torrance who is called the 'father of creativity' developed Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking (TTCT) based on Guilford's (1967) concept of divergent thinking to measure a person's capacity to produce different and original ideas to find a solution to a problem. These tests are one of the most popular tests in creativity research used to measure creative thinking, and they were translated into more than 35 languages (Millar, 2002). The test is based on measuring divergent thinking as conceptualized by Guilford (1967). Guilford views divergent thinking as a thought process used to produce various ideas to address a problem. This process is based on four sub-skills or sub-facets namely fluency, originality, elaboration and flexibility. Fluency is the ability to generate a great number of ideas to address a problem. Originality is defined as the ability to generate creative ideas different from those of others. Elaboration refers to the ability to develop ideas by adding details. Flexibility is described as the ability to produce a variety of ideas and solutions across various categories and different points of view.

It is important to note that two well-known frameworks have directed understanding and study of creativity. The first framework is the Four Ps of Creativity (Rhodes, 1961), in which creativity is structured in terms of Person, Product, Process and Press. Person refers to the individual or the creator who produces the creative product. Process are the steps or ways the creator follows to produce original ideas. Press is the environment around the creator, like school, family or culture that influence how they think and create. Product is the creative outcome or result of a creative process. The second framework is the Four Cs Model proposed by Kaufman and Beghetto (2009) which delineates four constructs that distinguish various degrees of creativity. It should be highlighted that it is inaccurate to describe creativity in people in terms of existence or non-existence (Dilekçi & Karatay, 2023). This is because creativity is present at various levels in everyone. Kaufman and Beghetto point out four levels of creativity (Beghetto & Kaufman, 2007, 2014; Kaufman & Beghetto, 2009). With respect to children, Little-c and Mini-c can be observed and nurtured. Figure 1 summarizes the descriptions of each level.



Figure 1. The Four Cs Model of Creativity (Beghetto & Kaufman, 2007, 2014; Kaufman & Beghetto, 2009) In relation to creativity development, the environment or press plays a significant role. The first theories and models of creativity focused on the person and the measurement of individual attributes related to creativity using psychological or psychometric approaches; however; more recent views and theories put emphasis on the role of the contextual factors that influence the ability to think creatively (Gomes et al., 2016; Henriksen et al., 2016; Shalley et al., 2004). Indeed, creativity does not emerge in a vacuum, rather it occurs within and is shaped by the social context. Sawyer (2006) and Wilson (2009) emphasize that the skill can be nurtured or stifled within the community in which the individual lives. An individual who is in an environment where creative ideas are not encouraged will find it difficult to be creative, whereas an individual who lives in an environment that promotes creative thinking is more likely to be a creative thinker (Kaufman, 2009).

Creativity in Childhood

Childhood is the golden age of creativity (Gardner, 2008). Each child has the ability to think creatively (Lee & Kemple, 2014) and to demonstrate and develop their creativity (Craft, 2002). However, if creativity is not encouraged in childhood, the likelihood of having adults equipped with this skill is low (Kaufman, 2018). Neurologically, the first years of life are very critical for developing the skill when the brain is still wiring (Eliot, 1999). As Shonkoff and Phillips (2000) indicated, the brain's capacity to develop and cope with environmental changes is more powerful during early childhood compared to other stages of life. Nevertheless, though children are endowed with a natural instinct to create, there is a need for an environment that supports creativity to develop in the early years of childhood (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). That is to say, creativity can be influenced by not only genetic factors, personality characteristics, cognitive capability, but also the surrounding environment, with the environment being a significant factor (Kandler et al., 2016; Velázquez et al., 2015). Korzynski, Paniagua, and Rodriguez-Montemayor (2019) add that creativity is not only a personal attribute but also a social phenomenon.

Present Study

To the best of our knowledge, there is no systematic review on the factors influencing the development of children's creativity. Existing systematic reviews focus on themes such as obstacles and opportunities for educators in promoting children's creativity in online learning environments (Maslin et al., 2023), how interventions, trainings and programs can foster creativity from an early age (Alves-Oliveira et al., 2021; Ruiz-del-Pino et al., 2022), creating a framework to explain how children are creative using complex dynamic systems theory (Kupers et al., 2019) and how digital technologies influence the development of young children's creativity (Fielding & Murcia, 2022). One systematic review investigated the role of context in developing adolescents' creativity (Zanden et al., 2020).

Systematic analysis of factors that might facilitate or hinder children's creativity is therefore scarce. A systematic review in this area is much needed to help understand the factors related to children's creativity development. The current review aims to fill this gap. A clear understanding of the factors that foster or impede the promotion of children's creativity would help parents, educational policy makers and teachers establish a supportive environment for nurturing creativity. Instead of asking a child at home or in the classroom to be creative, we need to provide them with an encouraging and an appropriate environment that can stimulate their creativity. Therefore, in line with the purpose of the current review, this study sets out to answer one research question: What factors influence the development of children's creativity?

These factors which are based on the findings of previous empirical studies were identified and categorized as effective recommendations discussed later.

It is important to clarify that this systematic review does not present a meta-analysis but rather aims to provide a comprehensive synthesis of the literature on factors influencing children's creativity. While meta-analyses statistically combine data from multiple studies, our systematic review aims to provide a thorough narrative synthesis of relevant literature.

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

Method

Once the research question was formulated, systematic and explicit methods were employed to identify, choose and critically analyze pertinent research findings from major educational databases. Clear criteria for inclusion were formulated to specify which studies to choose for the review. The studies included are:

- studies on individual, family, educational and social-cultural factors that influence the development of children's creativity
- published between 2010 and 2022
- empirical
- published in English
- published in peer reviewed journals

Including individual, family, educational, and socio-cultural factors ensures a holistic understanding of creativity development in children. Focusing on empirical studies published between 2010 and 2022 ensures the incorporation of recent literature while maintaining relevance to contemporary insights and trends in understanding creativity development in children. Moreover, limiting the review to English publications enhances accessibility, making the findings valuable to a wider audience. Inclusion of peer-reviewed journals ensures the reliability and credibility of the reviewed literature.

Our inclusion criteria were designed to review studies that contribute to understanding the factors influencing children's creativity, including those published in journals with a broader disciplinary focus. By including these more general journals, we aimed to ensure a comprehensive review of the literature, encompassing diverse perspectives and insights that contribute to understanding the development of children's creativity.

The exclusion criteria for the current systematic review are as follows:

- Studies focusing on adult populations or individuals outside the specified age range.
- Non-empirical studies (e.g., literature reviews, theoretical papers).
- Non-English language publications.
- Studies published before 2010.
- Studies unrelated to factors influencing children's creativity
- Non-peer-reviewed research.
- Studies lacking methodological rigor (e.g., significant flaws).

Data Collection

An extensive search for relevant studies was conducted in February 2023 and was based on different sources in order to include all the relevant studies in the review. The search process involved the use of various search databases, including ERIC (Education Resources Information Center), Taylor & Francis, Scopus, Web of Science, Springer Link, ScienceDirect and Jstore in addition to the search engine Google Scholar. Key journals specialized in studies on creativity and children such as Creativity Research Journal, Journal of Creative Behavior, Thinking Skills and Creativity, Psychology of Aesthetics Creativity and the Arts, Early Child Development and Care and Journal of Child and Family Studies were also searched. We also examined the reference lists of the articles identified to find additional pertinent studies. Studies were considered eligible if they met all the outlined inclusion criteria. Figure 2 provides a summary of the primary stages involved in gathering data for the systematic review.

A systematic review on factors influencing the development...



Figure 2. Steps in collecting data for the systematic review

To ensure the selected studies met the inclusion criteria, we engaged in the process of selecting relevant studies as illustrated in Figure 3. In the first stage, we removed 400 irrelevant studies by meticulously reading the title of the retrieved studies, after which 3839 studies remained. Subsequently, in the second stage, we excluded, unpublished papers, review articles, theses and commentaries and studies that did not have children as samples, resulting in the removal of an additional 3778 articles with 65 remaining. During the last stage, we conducted a comprehensive search to locate the full text of the remaining 55 articles used in this systematic review.



Figure 3. Selection process of studies in systematic review

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

Data Analysis

Following the compilation of pertinent studies, we tried to create a descriptive overview of these studies. To achieve this, we formulated a coding scheme for the purpose of scrutinizing the studies for specific characteristics in alignment with the review's purpose. We systematically extracted and documented the subsequent details from each empirical study:

- Year of publication
- Country
- Journal
- Type of factors
- Major findings

The extracted data was organized and recorded within a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. The coding process was created based on Creswell's design of qualitative analysis (2016). Table 1 is an example illustrating how the studies were classified based on the established coding system.

Table 1. Example of the coding scheme of the selected studies for analysis

Study	Journal	Country	Type of factors	Major findings
(Vong et al., 2020)	Creativity Research Journal	China	Individual Family	Boys scored higher than girls in three domains: originality, fluency, and imagination. Children who didn't have siblings exhibited higher levels of creativity in fluency and originality compared to those with siblings, though this difference wasn't observed in imagination.
(Cantero et al., 2016)	Creativity Research Journal	Spain	Maternal sensitivity had a significant, direct, p Spain Family self-esteem, and a direct negative impact on sh significantly influence creativity	
(Zhang et al., 2020)	Thinking Skills and Creativity	China	Individual Educational	The findings indicated a positive correlation between students' creative thinking and their perception of teacher support. Particularly, the influence of perceived teacher support on divergent thinking was stronger in boys than in girls.
(Massonnié et al., 2019)	Frontiers in Psychology	United Kingdom	Educational	The findings demonstrated that classroom noise did not enhance children's creativity; instead, some adverse effects of the noise were noticed.
(Leikin & Tovli, 2014)	Creativity Research Journal	Russia	Socio cultural	Bilingual children consistently achieved high scores in convergent thinking from an early age, and maintained stable cognitive abilities throughout their development.

Results and Discussion

This section presents a discussion of the key results in the present systematic review. Then recommendations for parents, educational stakeholders and future research are formulated based on our review insight.

The review identified 55 studies with the majority (n=26) published in the leading journals on creativity research namely Thinking Skills and Creativity (n=17), Creativity Research Journal (n=5) and Journal of Creative Behaviour (n=4). For each article, we examined which factors were predominant to determine in which column the study fits best. Table 2 provides a summary of the results regarding the main factors investigated in the sample of studies we analyzed. The table serves as a quick reference, emphasizing the multifaceted nature of creativity development in children and the varying influences present across various socio-cultural contexts.

Table 2. A list of all the selected studies

Study	Country	Individual factors	Educational factors	Family factors	Socio cultural factors
(Massonnié et al., 2019)	UK		Х		
(Dong et al., 2022)	China			Х	

is systematic review on factors influencing the development	А	systematic ı	review on	factors	influencin	g the	develo	pment.
-------------------------------------------------------------	---	--------------	-----------	---------	------------	-------	--------	--------

(Shah & Gustafsson, 2020)	UK	Х	Х		
(Moghadam & Razavi, 2022)	Iran		Х		
(Castillo-Vergara et al., 2018)	Chile	Х	Х	Х	
(Albar & Southcott, 2021)	Australia		Х		
(Gong et al., 2020)	China	Х	Х	Х	
(Setiyowati et al., 2019)	Indonesia			Х	
(Zhang et al., 2020)	China	Х	Х		
(Craft et al., 2013)	UK		Х		
(Roppola & Whitington, 2014)	Australia		Х		
(Murcia et al., 2020)	Australia		Х		
(Tang et al., 2022)	China			Х	
(Lu et al., 2022)	China			Х	
(Pang et al., 2020)	China			Х	
(Liang et al., 2021)	China	Х	Х	Х	
(Shi et al., 2021)	China			Х	
(Zhang et al., 2018)	China	Х		Х	
(Vong et al., 2020)	China	Х		Х	
(Zbainos & Tziona, 2019)	Greece		Х		
(Van Hooijdonk et al., 2020)	Netherlands		Х		
(Schoevers et al., 2019)	Netherland		Х		
(Willemsen et al., 2020)	Netherland	Х			
(Üret & Ceylan, 2021)	Turkey		Х		
(Tekin et al., 2012)	Turkev		Х		
(Cetin & Ata, 2020)	Turkey			Х	
(Celume et al., 2019)	France		Х		
(Guignard et al., 2016)	France	Х			
(Kyritsi & Davis, 2021)	Scotland		Х		
(Kim & Park, 2020)	Korea			Х	
(Huh & Lee, 2019)	Korea		Х		
(Momeni et al., 2017)	Iran		Х		
(Wei & Lee, 2015)	Taiwan	Х	Х		Х
(Liao et al., 2018)	Taiwan		Х		
(Wei & Dzeng, 2013)	Taiwan	Х			Х
(Ibán et al., 2020)	Spain		Х		
(Cantero et al., 2016)	Spain	Х		Х	
(López-Martínez & Lorca Garrido, 2021)	Spain	Х			
(Alfonso-Benlliure & Santos 2016)	Spain	X			
(Krumm Filippetti et al. 2018)	Argentina	<u>x</u>			
(Krumm Lemos et al. 2018)	Argentina	X			
(Knov et al. 2022)	IISA	7		x	
(Saggar et al. 2019)	USA	X		Л	
(Al-Tamimi & Al-Oudah 2019)	Iordan	7		x	
(Fearon et al. 2013)	Jamaica			<u>x</u>	
(Vildiz & Guler Vildiz 2021)	Turkey	x		<u>x</u>	
(Kwaśniewska et al. 2018)	Poland	Λ		<u>x</u>	
(Theurer et al. 2020)	Switzerland	x		~	
(David & Pastor 2017)	Romania	X			
(Bezerra et al., 2022)	Brazil	X			
(Leikin & Toyli 2014)	Russia	x			x
(Chung et al. 2016)	China/France	~			X
(Hondzel & Gulliksen 2015)	Norway/Canada				x
(Pugslev & Acar, 2020)	Not indicated			x	~
(

The table above indicates that the studies included in the systematic review originate from diverse countries. Factors affecting creativity are categorized into four main areas: individual, family, educational, and cultural. Several studies explored one type of factor, while others explored a combination of factors.

Figure 4 provides a visual summary of research distribution across educational, family, cultural, and individual factors, giving a quick overview of where research emphasis lies within these domains.





Figure 4. Type of factors that impact the development of creativity in children based on the selected studies

The figure illustrates that educational factors (n=23) have been the focus of the majority of studies on creativity in children, indicating a significant interest in understanding how educational practices impact creativity development in children. Individual factors (n=21) have also received considerable attention. Socio-cultural (n=5) is the least investigated factors in the reviewed studies. This suggests a gap in the existing literature regarding the influence of socio-cultural environments on children's creativity, suggesting a need for further research in this area.

In relation to the methodology design used in the sample, correlational studies (n=20) made up the majority followed by quasi-experimental or experimental studies (n=18), cross-sectional studies (n=10) and case studies (n=5). Correlational studies explored real-world relationships between different factors and creativity development without manipulating variables. This kind of studies provide insight into potential relationships between certain variables and creativity and also lay the foundation for more controlled experimental research. Experimental studies focused on manipulating variables to establish cause and effect relationships between specific variables and creativity. These controlled experiments enhance our understanding of how certain factors influence creativity and also verify hypotheses generated from correlational research. Cross-sectional studies helped capture a snapshot of creativity at a specific point in time, shedding light on differences among various groups or demographics. Finally, case studies provide in-depth, qualitative insights into the contextual factors affecting creativity within a real-life context. These kinds of research studies contribute to a more holistic comprehension of the factors affecting the development of children's creativity. Table 3 describes the selected studies in terms of the adopted methodology design, data collection instruments, the sample and the age of the participating children to facilitate comparison, and synthesis of the research findings presented in the review.

Study	Research methodology	Data collection instruments	Sample	Age of the participating children
(Massonnié et al., 2019)	Quasi-Experiment design	Idea generation tasks, selective attention assessments, and working memory assessments	44	5 and 11
(Dong et al., 2022)	Correlational Design	Questionnaires	329 student– parent pairs	Grade 4, 5, 7 and 8
(Shah & Gustafsson, 2020)	Quasi-Experimental Design	Verbal task (Guilford's Alternative Uses Task) and figural task (Test for Creative Thinking– Drawing Production).	111	7 to 11 years
(Moghadam & Razavi, 2022)	Quasi-experimental design	Pretest and posttest assessments of academic performance and creativity.	756	Grade 3
(Castillo-Vergara et al., 2018)	Quasi-experimental design	Establishment Vulnerability Index (EVI) The Multifactorial Evaluation of Creativity	1062	11 years

Table 3. The methodological design used in the selected studies

A systematic review	on factors	influencing	; the development
---------------------	------------	-------------	-------------------

		(EMUC) test		
(Albar &		Observations		
Southcott 2021)	Case studies	Semi-Structured Interviews	nineteen	5 and 6-year
50uncon, 2021)		Artifacts Data		
(Cong at al		Torrance's Thinking Creatively in Action and		
(0011g et al.,	Experimental design	Movement (TCAM) test	420	4-years
2020)		Questionnaires		
(Setiyowati et al.,	Correlational design	Questionnaires	677	Crade 1 2 3
2019)	Correlational design	Questionnanes	077	Grade 1, 2, 5
(Zhang et al		Perceived Teacher Support Questionnaire,		
(Zhàng ct al., 2020)	Correlational design	Creative Self-efficacy Scale, Divergent Thinking	362	8–12 years
2020)		Test, and Remote Associate Test		
	A case study	Observation	560 children	
(Craft et al., 2013)	Micro-ethnographic	Interview	500 children	11-years
	study	Documentary evidence (school)		
(Roppola &	A descriptive case	Non-participant Observation		
Whitington,	study	Video Recording	72	5-8 years
2014)	study	Video-Stimulated Review Interview		
(Murcia et al		Observation		
2020)	Experimental design	Digital photographs	8 children	3 and 4 year-
2020)		A to E of Creativity Framework.		
	Correlational	Creativity Fostering Teacher Index		vounger than
(Tang et al., 2022)	Research	Karwowski's creative self-efficacy scale	5523	18 years
	Research	Runco Ideational Behavior Scale		10 years
		Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking-Figural	74 pairs of	
		the Alternative Uses Test	students and	
(Lu et al., 2022)	Experimental design	insight problem solving	their parents	9 on average
		video observation and post coding	and	
		video observation and post-couling	grandparents	
	A cross-sectional	Torrance Test of Creative Thinking-Figural and		
(Pang et al., 2020)	survey design	Alternate Uses tasks	1,710	aged 6–13.
	survey design	Parents' reports		
		A divergent thinking figural, a product-		
		oriented measure through CAT, a creativity		
		domain questionnaire, MacArthur scale of		
	Correlational study	subjective social status, questionnaire from the		9 and 14 years
(Liang et al.,		Parental Involvement in Activities Scale, The	606	9 and 14 years
2021)		USC Parental Overcontrol Scale, Parental	000	
		autonomy support, After-school activities		
		participation questionnaire, creative self-		
		efficacy questionnaire, Aurora battery of		
		successful intelligence		
		Consensual Assessment Technique (CAT),		
(Shi et al. 2021)	Correlational study	Family's Support of Perseverance in Creative	134 Chinese	
(5111 et al., 2021)	Correlational study	Efforts questionnaire, search persistence scale,	104 Clinicse	
		Disaster Exposure Scale, Motivation scale		
		The Family Affluence Scale, Parent-Child		
(Zhang et al.,	Correlational study	Relationship Scale, the Chinese Five Personality	955	8 to 13 years
2018)	Correlational study	Inventory for Children, The Social Creativity	200	0 to 10 years
		Questionnaire for Elementary School Children		
(Vong et al.,	Correlational study	Torrance's Thinking Creatively in Action and	193	M age = 74
2020)	Correlational study	Movement tests (TCAM), Chinese version	475	months
(Zbainos &	A quasi-	Graphic-artistic form of the Evaluation of	90	11 years
Tziona, 2019)	experimental design	Potential Creativity (EPoC) test	~~	11 y cuito
(Van Hooijdonk et al., 2020)	Experimental design	Creative problem-solving tasks	140	Grade 4 and 5
(Schoevers et al.,	A case study	Observation	22	Crade /
2019)	In case study	Interviews	<i>LL</i>	Grade 4
	Quantitativo with a	Mathematical creativity test (MCT), Test of		
(Willemson at al	focus on structural	Creative Thinking–Drawing Production Form		8 5 to 11 5
2020)	equation modeling	A, Creative Writing Task, Dutch standard	331	vears old
-0-01	equation modeling			y cui o oiu
	(SFM)	mathematical achievement test, the Dutch		5

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

		Standard Progressive Matrices (Raven			
		'Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking Figural A			
(Üret & Ceylan,	A quasi ovnoriment	Form and Figural B	20	5 waar old	
2021)	A quasi-experiment	Form' were used as data collection tools in the	30	5-year-olu	
		research.			
(Tekin et al.,	A quasi-experiment	How creative are you scale?	251	6th. 7th. 8th	
2012)	ri quasi experiment		201		
			71 mothers, 71		
(Çetin & Ata,	A correlational	the Korea Integrative Creativity Test and	fathers, and 71	4-6-vears	
2020)	design	Parental Bonding Instrument Scale	4-6-year-old	,	
			children		
(Columno at al		EPoC battery of test to measure convergent and			
(Celume et al., 2010)	Experimental design	Valence and arousal Solf Assessment Manikin	55	9 and 11 years	
2019)		scale (SAM)			
		Wechsler intelligence scale validated for			
(Guignard et al.,	A correlational	children and adolescents	338	3 to 10 years	
2016)	design	EPoC (Evaluation of Potential Creativity)	000	o to ro years	
(Kyritsi & Davis,	A qualitative case	Field Notes			
2021)	study design	Interview Transcripts:	25 children	11–12 years	
			333 Korean		
(Kim & Park,	A correlational	TTCT	Students with	M age= 11.96	
2020)	design	RIBS to measure everyday ideational capacity	their parents	Wiage= 11.90	
			(333)		
(Huh & Lee,	An experimental	Torrance Test of Creative Thinking (TTCT),	_		
2019)	design	pretests	Twenty-seven	Grade 5	
		and posttests of English, and a questionnaire.			
(Momeni et al.,	An experimental	Creativity test of	52	4 to 6 years	
2017)	design	A revised version of the Terrance Test of			
(Wai & Loo 2015)	Experimental	Creative Thinking and the Creativity Test for	149 childron	A to 6 years	
(Wer & Lee, 2013)	research.	Preschoolers	14) ciliarcii	4 to 0 years	
	A quasi-	English receptive vocabulary test, the Torrance			
(Liao et al., 2018)	experimental	Test of Creative Thinking, and an English	256 elementary	6 to 7 years	
· · · · ·	approach	learning motivation questionnaire	2	5	
(Mail & Deserve	Carros esstismed	Creativity Test and Scoring Scale			
(Wei & Dzeng,	design	People-drawing Test Scorings Scale	1,055	6 to 8 years	
2013)	design	Free-drawing Test and Scoring Scale			
(Ibán et al. 2020)	Experimental design	CREA test to measure creative thinking	Sixty	9 and 10 years	
(10411 et ul., 2020)	Experimental design	Grade Point Average (GPA)	Sixty	y unu ro yeuro	
		Children's Creativity Test			
		Creative Intelligence Test			
(Cantero et al.,	Correlational design.	Questionnaire	151	6–12 years	
2016)	-	Assessing Self-Esteem during Elementary		-	
		School			
(López-Martínez	A correlational cross-	Shyness Scale			
& Lorca Garrido.	sectional, quantitative	A creativity test (PIC-N) and a test about	323	9 and 12 years	
2021)	approach	intelligence	020	y unu 12 y curo	
(Alfonso-					
Benlliure &	Cross-sectional	Test de Creatividad Infantil (Child Creativity	1491	6 and 12 years	
Santos, 2016)	uesign	Test)			
		The figural torrance tests of creative thinking			
(Krumm,	Cross-sectional	(TTCT), CREA. Creative intelligence, K-BIT,			
Filippetti, et al.,	design	Kaufman brief intelligence test, Working	209	8- to 13 years	
2018)		Memory, WISC-IV, Stroop color-word test,			
		Shifting tasks			
(Krumm, Lemos,	A correlational	Form B: and the	359	9 to 12 years	
et al., 2018)	research design	Creative Personality Scale (EPC)	007	7 10 10 years	
			five child-		
(Knox et al., 2022)	A qualitative research	Video recordings of family groups and wider	caregiver	Grade 1 and - 6	
	uesign	classroom settings and Conversation analysis.	dyads		

A systematic review	v on factors	influencing	the devel	opment
		· · · · ·		

(Saggar et al., 2019)	Experimental design	NEPSY-II Inhibition task, Emotionality, Activity, and Sociability (EAS-TS) Scale, Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL), Torrance Test of Creative Thinking-Figural (TTCT-F), Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, Second Edition (WASI-II), Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS) data were collected using a 52-channel Hitachi ETG-4000 Optical topography system	48	9 years
(Al-Tamimi & Al-	Cross-sectional	Parenting Style Measure (a questionnaire)	677	grades 1.3
Qudah, 2019)	design	Creativity Measure (a questionnaire)	077	glades 1-5
(Fearon et al. <i>,</i> 2013)	Correlational design	Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking Parenting Styles and Dimensions Questionnaire (PSDQ)	54 parents and 66 students	M age= 9.4 years
(Yildiz & Guler Yildiz, 2021)	Correlational	A demographic information form, Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking Figural Form A, the Scientific Concepts and Scientific Process Skills Instrument for Preschool Students, and the Home Screening Questionnaire for children of 3–6 years of age	70	60 and 66 months
(Kwaśniewska et al., 2018)	Correlational	The ten-item personality inventory The climate for creativity in parent-child relationship questionnaire	Mothers in Poland (N = 3073)	•
(Theurer et al., 2020)	Correlational research	Holistic Measure for Creative Potential Divergent Thinking Tasks Openness to Experience Scale	•	Grade 5
(David & Pastor, 2017)	Cross-sectional correlational study	Creative Attitude Survey (CAS), Two samples of creativity tests (one verbal and one figurative), Four tasks of Generating alternatives, Bonnardel 53 test to measure intelligence, Academic performance	22	10 and 12 years
(Bezerra et al., 2022)	Cross-sectional observational study	Brazilian Figural Creativity Test (TCFI) Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI), Phonological Awareness - Sequential Assessment Tool (CONFIAS), Reading Assessment of Words and Pseudowords Isolated (LPI),	75	Grade 1, 2, 3
(Leikin & Tovli, 2014)	Cross-sectional comparative study	Working Memory Test, Creative Thinking Tests,	31	M age =71.9 months
(Chung et al., 2016)	Cross-cultural comparative research study	(Wallach-Kogan Creativity Tests; WKCT), (Evaluation of Potential Creativity; EPoC)	288	6 to 11 years old.
(Hondzel & Gulliksen, 2015)	Qualitative research	semi-structured interviews	2 of the participants are fathers and 9 are mothers	•
(Pugsley & Acar, 2020)	Correlational Research Design	Torrance Ideal Child Checklist, Attitudes and Values Scale, The Creative Environment Scale, Interpersonal Mindfulness in Parenting Scale, Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale, knowledge of Resources for Infant Educarers (RIE) Parenting, Demographic collection survey	1324 parents	•

The inclusion of various research methodologies across the selected studies highlights the diversity and comprehensive approach taken towards investigating children's creativity development. The sample sizes in the reviewed studies vary widely, including children, parents or caregivers and specific demographic groups. The participating children's ages range from 3 to 14 years old and reflect the varied developmental stages and educational levels of the children involved in the studies. This variety in sample selection, contexts, and age allow for a richer and more nuanced understanding of creativity development in children.

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

Regarding years of publication, Figure 5 shows the general trend of the number of studies on the factors affecting the development of creativity in children from 2010 to 2022. The year 2020 was a particularly productive period as 12 out of the 55 articles were published. This is consistent with what was found in Fielding and Murcia's review (2022). Also, the increase in publications indicates researchers' growing awareness of the significance of creativity for children. This corresponds also with the findings of previous systematic reviews (Fielding & Murcia, 2022; Maslin et al., 2023; Smare & Elfatihi, 2023).



Figure 5. Distribution of studies between 2010 and 2022

The fifty-five studies that were included in the current review were conducted in 25 countries. Most commonly, the studies were conducted in China (n=11). Figure 6 illustrates the distribution of studies by country.



Figure 6. Distribution of the selected studies by country

Although the studies were distributed across 25 countries, many of them were conducted in China. This is understandable as creativity has attracted increasing attention recently in the country. A shift from 'Made in China' to 'Created in China' is the China's economic future strategy (Wuwei, 2011). The phenomenon of 'Made in China' and 'created by foreign capital' which is based on sweat industries and China's dependence on exports and low-cost processing has produced unwanted consequences such as exhaustion of natural resources, environmental pollution and lack of innovation (Wuwei, 2011). Therefore, the development of creativity in this country is viewed as a crucial educational objective to be integrated into the regular curriculum and across all subjects (Cheng, 2010). Additionally, the development of

creativity in young children has become a key focus in the educational policies outlined by Chinese policymakers (Vong, 2008).

Figure 7 provides a summary of the major factors that were investigated in the reviewed studies, offering a quick and comprehensive overview of the foci of the studies included in the review, along with their corresponding findings. Noteworthy, (+) shows a positive correlation with measures of creativity, (-) indicates a negative correlation with creativity, while (\sim) is inconclusive, meaning no obvious conclusions can be deduced from findings.



Figure 7. Factors that influence children's creativity

In the subsequent sections, we discuss the results reported in the studies in our sample. Even though we acknowledge that these factors can be interconnected, for the purpose of clarity, we discuss each of these factors individually, starting with results related to individual factors.

Individual Factors

Demographics

Twenty-one studies explored individual factors related to children's creativity development including demographics and personality traits. Demographic analysis focused on possible differences in gender and age. In relation to gender, the studies in our sample produced mixed results regarding the correlation between gender and creativity. David and Pastor's study (2017) showed that there was no

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

significant difference in creativity between girls and boys. However, Yildiz and Guler Yildiz (2021) found that girls scored higher in fluency and elaboration. Shan and Gustafsson's study (2020) also indicated that girls outperformed boys in fluency and flexibility. Similar results were obtained in Castillo-Vergara and colleagues' study (2018) in which girls scored higher in flexibility and oringality than boys. Contrasting findings were reported in other studies. The study of Alfonso-Benlliure and Santos (2016) revealed that boys scored higher than girls on Global Creativity. Similarly, Gong, Zhang, and Tsang (2020) found that boys obtained higher scores in creativity including fluency, and originality than girls. Wei and Lee (2015) reported similar results that boys outperformed girls in all three dimensions of originality, fluency and imagination. Additionally, the impact of perceived teacher support on divergent thinking showed a greater significance in boys compared to girls (Zhang et al., 2020). However, boys brought up in three-generation family were more likely to show disadvantages in creativity development compared to girls (Pang et al., 2020).

Regarding age, it was found that the relationship between creativity and openness consolidates with age (Leikin & Tovli, 2014; Theurer et al., 2020). That is to say, as children get older, the relationship between being creative and being open to new ideas or experiences becomes stronger and more stable. Another study conducted in Taiwan indicated that older children scored higher than the younger ones on people-drawing and free-drawing, but not on overall creativity (Wei & Dzeng, 2013). Contrary to the 4th grade slump reported in previous studies (Piaget, 1977; Torrance, 1968), divergent thinking, generally showed an increase with age for originality, and elaboration (Shah & Gustafsson, 2020). The findings in the study of Liang and colleagues (2021) revealed that Little-c is mostly affected by age while mini-c creativity is mainly impacted by family environment and parenting.

Personality Traits

Personality traits also served as a focus of analysis. Regarding intelligence, studies in our sample provided somewhat mixed findings. David and Pastor (2017) found a positive relationship between creativity and intelligence. López-Martínez and Lorca Garrido (2021) indicated that intelligence was associated with general creativity and narrative creativity, but not to the specific domain of graphic creativity. Willemsen and colleagues' study (2020) showed that intelligence was also found to be important for creativity in all domains. It was also found that there is a progressive development of creativity and intelligence in children from the first to the third year, with significant progress in the third year (Bezerra et al., 2022). Furthermore, correlations between creativity with intelligence and reading skills were observed across all three grade levels, with the third year demonstrating particularly strong correlations (Bezerra et al., 2022). Contrary to these results, Guignard and colleagues (2016) found that there is a weak correlation between intelligence and creativity. Krumm and colleagues (2018) investigated executive functions in relation to creativity. Executive function is a multidimensional concept that involves the subprocesses of inhibition, working memory and shifting (Miyake et al., 2000). It is also a higher-order cognitive process that enables the regulation of cognitive, behavioral and emotional activity. Executive functions especially shifting and inhibition made a significant contribution to creativity (Krumm, Filippetti, et al., 2018). The study added that shifting is a stronger predictor of creativity than fluid and crystallized intelligence.

Other studies demonstrate that the way creativity develops in children does not seem to be related to how intelligent they are, or how old they are, or whether they're a boy or a girl; rather it is linked to personality. Saggar and colleagues (2019) indicated that there is a significant positive correlation between externalizing problem behavior particularly rule-breaking and aggressive behavior and creativity. In fact, classic tasks used to measure creativity such as tests of divergent thinking (Guilford, 1950) involves the process of breaking rules to create new connections between cognitive elements that were not previously associated. Furthermore, neuroticism was proved to be negatively related to creativity (Krumm, Lemos, et al., 2018). Most creative children are likely to exhibit independence, self-confidence and emotional self-control when dealing with the demands of their surrounding and also tend to display less vulnerability,

irritability and emotional distress (Krumm, Lemos, et al., 2018). Shyness was also found to block and limit creativity in children. Cantero and colleagues (2016) found a negative relationship between shyness and creativity. Shy children feel anxious when dealing with unknown and new situations and prefer conformity for fear of being rejected (Cantero et al., 2016). Personality traits particularly openness, conscientiousness, agreeableness and extraversion were also found to be significantly associated with social creativity (Zhang et al., 2018). These personality traits are commonly shaped by the family environment in which a person is raised, and this environment also has an impact on creativity. The next section discusses the family factors that influence the development of children's creativity.

Family Factors

Parenting Style

The way parents raise, guide, interact with and discipline their children influence significantly child's creativity development. The study of Al-Tamimi and Al-Qudah (2019) showed that there is a negative relationship between the overprotective and negligent parenting styles and the level of creativity. Overprotective parenting instills in parents fear of the consequences of anything the child does and thus becomes excessively overprotective. As a result, the child becomes a follower, dependent on others and void of freedom and will to think for themselves. Negligent parenting also affects negatively creativity as parents are not involved enough in their children's lives and are indifferent to their needs. Permissive (Setiyowati et al., 2019) and authoritarian (Fearon et al., 2013; Setiyowati et al., 2019) parenting styles were also found to lead to low creativity development in children. Permissive parenting which is characterized by a high degree of warmth and affection from parents and low levels of control and discipline results in having a child who is not ready to make decisions and thus unable to think creatively. Authoritarian parenting which is characterized by high control of children's practices, unquestioned obedience to parental authority and punitive discipline leads to having children who have negative thoughts and fear to experience new things and consequently inability to think creatively. Moreover, parents' overemphasis on cultural values, particularly social conformity and unquestioned authority was also found to be negatively related to their children's creativity (Kim & Park, 2020).

Democratic parenting style (Dong et al., 2022; Setiyowati et al., 2019) and mindful style (Pugsley & Acar, 2020) were proved to result in high creativity development. A positive parental style involving support, warmth, understanding and encouragement of autonomy has a positive impact on creativity while parenting style involving reproach, pressure, restriction, severe punishment, parental indulgence, and too much control has a negative impact on creativity (Dong et al., 2022). Mindful parenting style also appears to indirectly foster creativity because it is related to lower conform for socially acceptable characteristics (Pugsley & Acar, 2020). Therefore, as indicated by Gong and colleagues (2020) to develop creativity in children, it is obligatory to enable children's freedom by their parents and reduce the external factors that inhibit creativity, such as an authoritarian family environment. In addition to that, maternal sensitivity has a significant, direct, positive impact on self-esteem, and a direct negative impact on shyness and this significantly influence creativity (Cantero et al., 2016). In other words, children who believe that their mothers respond sensitively to their needs tend to be less shy at school and indirectly, show more creative behavior.

Parent-Child Relationship

The parent-child relationship plays a significant role in shaping and nurturing a child's creativity. Building a good and close parent-child relationship positively impacts children's creativity (Zhang et al., 2018). Parents' support of their children in their creative pursuits significantly enhances children's ability to produce more original ideas and boosts their creative self-efficacy (Shi et al., 2021; Tang et al., 2022). Liang and colleagues (2021) found that parents' encouragement of autonomy was positively correlated with both mini-c and little-c creativity whereas pressured parenting and overcontrolling was negatively correlated with both mini-c and little-c. Furthermore, children who have secure attachments to their parents have a sense of self-sufficiency that results in better development of creativity (Çetin & Ata, 2020). Research also indicates that parents' interaction with their children is more influential compared to grandparents. The findings of Lu and colleagues (2022) demonstrated a significant improvement in children's creative performance following interactions with parents, whereas interactions with grandparents resulted in minimal improvement. When interacting with children, employing directive questioning, restating/reframing, idea blending, and using shared experiences as dialogic forms by caregivers were found to shape children's creative thinking (Knox et al., 2022).

Home Environment Quality

Children raised in homes characterized by high-quality environments demonstrated high scores on creativity indicators (Yildiz & Guler Yildiz, 2021). Elements of home environment quality include providing sufficient stimulation for children, spending time with them inside and outside, playing with them, and giving them their own space at home, all foster children's creativity (Yildiz & Guler Yildiz, 2021). Additionally, encouraging the child to endorse nonconformity, experience novelty and variety, be perseverant in creative efforts and fantasize, all contribute for creating a climate for creativity at home (Kwaśniewska et al., 2018).

Studies have also shown that the co-parenting of grandparents and parents had a negative impact on children's creativity. Children raised in the three-generation families, especially in the grandparentsheaded families, tended to have less creativity compared to living without grandparents (Pang et al., 2020). Researchers offered many reasons that explain the negative impact grandparents exert on children. One of the reasons is having a conflicting family climate between parents and grandparents during the childrearing practice due to values differences between the two generations. Also, living with both parents and grandparents limit independence and autonomy, discourage divergence and restrict creativity (Pang et al., 2020). Strong grandparental control that emphasizes safety more than education and their use of direct instruction to solve problems instead of responding to children's psychoemotional needs could also affect negatively the development of creativity. Additionally, the decreasing direct involvement of parents as the primary caregivers in the upbringing of children deprives children of chances to develop their creativity (Pang et al., 2020).

Research also showed that in nuclear families, children without siblings exhibited significantly higher creativity than children with siblings (Pang et al., 2020; Vong et al., 2020). This could be explained by the fact that children without siblings have much more chances to interact with their parents, have greater access to resources for implementing their creative ideas, and have opportunity to develop higher levels of autonomy, which consequently foster their creativity (Pang et al., 2020; Vong et al., 2020).

Parent's Educational and Socio-economic Status

Factors like a parent's educational background and socioeconomic status also have an impact on the promotion of children's creativity. Family socio-economic status was found to positively influence children's creativity (Castillo-Vergara et al., 2018; Liang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2018). This is because families from higher socio-economic status tended to offer more resources and were more likely to involve their children in after-school activities which consequently facilitate their creativity (Liang et al., 2021). Fathers with higher education levels were also reported to have a positive influence on children's creativity (Yildiz & Guler Yildiz, 2021). The researchers think that fathers with higher educational levels possess more advanced parenting skills. Hence, children with fathers who have a higher educational background are more likely to be advanced in their creative thinking skills. The following section discusses other educational factors that influence children's creativity. These are categorized into pedagogical, psychosocial, and physical environment factors.

Educational Factors

Pedagogical Environment

The pedagogical environment entails the school activities, teaching methods, and strategies that affect students' creativity. Regarding the question of whether the type of school affects children's creativity, it was found that in Beijing, public preschool attendance correlated positively with children's creativity

(Gong et al., 2020). The researchers explained that public preschools in Beijing could have done well in developing children's creativity probably because public preschools receive students who are better at creativity than private preschool students in the very beginning (Gong et al., 2020). Conversely, in other studies, private schools scored higher than public schools regarding creativity (Castillo-Vergara et al., 2018; Wei & Lee, 2015). In Taiwan for example, private kindergarten children were significantly more fluent and flexible than those from the public schools (Wei & Lee, 2015). The researchers argue that one of the main reasons behind this finding is that children in private schools are generally from a higher socio-economic background which made it easier for them to have access to resources such as interactive devices. Also, private schools tend to provide a curriculum that encourage creativity compared to public schools (Wei & Lee, 2015). In Chile, creativity in private schools was found to be higher than public schools because of participation in extracurricular activities (Castillo-Vergara et al., 2018). Therefore, though children are naturally curious and inquisitive, they need outside support to promote their creativity such as a creativity-fostering curriculum and extracurricular activities.

An example of extracurricular activities that can develop children's creativity is visiting museums. Frequency of visits to science museums was found to positively affect creativity (Gong et al., 2020). Children's museum offers a natural space that motivates children to be creative. As compared to formal institutions like school, children's museum stimulates curiosity and the desire to explore which are both essential for the development of creativity. The space, with the various exhibits and objects it offers, allows children to look, move and think with the various new experiences in life, arts and sciences, which consequently ameliorate their ability to produce creative ideas (Gong et al., 2020). Therefore, it is necessary for educational institutions to offer their students opportunities to visit children museums. Also, the government and social funds need to invest in creating such spaces like children's museums, as they benefit children and develop their creative potentials.

As far as classroom tasks are concerned, problem-and-project-based learning strategies immensely aroused children's creative processes (Albar & Southcott, 2021). This is because such tasks encourage risk-taking, resilience, experimentation, curiosity and thus creativity (Albar & Southcott, 2021). Inquiry-based pedagogies also support and create opportunities for the development of children's creativity (Murcia et al., 2020). Researchers advocate that teachers should create a non-prescriptive learning environment where children think for themselves, wonder, imagine and create new ideas using digital technologies. The teacher has to use inquiry questions and dialogic learning conversations that motivate children to adapt and persist with open ended tasks. (Murcia et al., 2020). Research also revealed a positive correlation between fact finding and problem finding with the number of ideas produced and the originality of these ideas (Van Hooijdonk et al., 2020). Therefore, it is beneficial to integrate fact finding and problem finding when aiming for encouraging students to think creatively.

Research also revealed a long-lasting positive impact of STEM education on the creativity of 5-yearold children in kindergarten (Üret & Ceylan, 2021). During STEM education, children are encouraged to create, test, produce, recreate new ideas when a solution does not work, communicate ideas and work together, and consequently trigger and empower children's creativity (Üret & Ceylan, 2021). Regarding assessment, dynamic assessment helps to provide a more vivid representation of students' creative potential which can be of valuable assistance for fostering and nurturing creativity (Zbainos & Tziona, 2019). The study of Zbainos and Tziona offered evidence that effective interaction between assessor and the participant, along with the active intervention by examiners and the evaluation of examinees' responses to interventions fosters students' creativity. Contrary to static normative assessment that focuses on the score, dynamic assessment involves mediation and takes into consideration the expressed ability (level) of a student before and after guidance (Zbainos & Tziona, 2019).

Drama Pedagogy Training or creative drama is reported to have a significant impact on creativity (Celume et al., 2019; Momeni et al., 2017). Drama Pedagogy Training encourages the sharing of ideas through an open learning environment that allows children's-free expression. It also fosters interthinking among children resulting in co-creation in a positive space and thus promote creative thinking (Celume et

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

al., 2019). This form of active pedagogy encourages students to co-construct their learning through engaged dialogue, collectively reflecting on the learning experiences presented as collaborative dramatic games and thus promoting creativity (Celume et al., 2019). Creative drama provides a chance for children to build their own fantasy worlds and every time they wish, they can travel between realities to fantasy (Momeni et al., 2017).

The creativity technique pedagogy such as brainstorming significantly improved students' creativity (Liao et al., 2018). It provides students with a degree of autonomy to choose the responses and significantly improves their motivation to learn. The creative-pedagogy approach supports the children's use of the English language creatively, and gives them a degree of independence regarding their choice of responses (Liao et al., 2018). Furthermore, flipped learning method that requires students to learn the instructional content individually at home or in another spaces before coming to the classroom to talk about knowledge increases academic performance and creativity in students (Moghadam & Razavi, 2022). However, increased academic pressure related to examination impede children's creativity development (Liang et al., 2021).

Psycho-social Environment

The psycho-social environment refers to the social and emotional atmosphere in the classroom and how students feel and interact with their peers and their teacher. Research showed that perceived teacher support impacts students' creative thinking. Academic support such as repeating explanation, emotional support like encouraging the student in study and life and competence support such as recommending the students to take part in different activities or competition, all contribute to promoting creativity (Zhang et al., 2020). In addition to that, listening to students, provoking their thinking and emotions; and tolerating ambiguity and mistakes are all pedagogies that foster imagination and creativity (Roppola & Whitington, 2014). Also, the teacher's encouragement of children's autonomy, risk taking, ownership of learning and collaboration contributed to promoting creativity (Kyritsi & Davis, 2021).

Research also showed that creativity is promoted in a classroom where the teacher creates an open atmosphere for students to express their ideas and take these ideas seriously (Schoevers et al., 2019). Hence, teachers should allow students to take ownership of their learning and equip them with a mindset that utilizes creativity as the path to self-directed and authentic learning (Huh & Lee, 2019). They also have to give students opportunities to work together as collaboration enhances creativity (Craft et al., 2013; Ibán et al., 2020). It is important to note that emphasizing children's ownership and placing high expectations on skillful creative engagement are all pedagogic practices that promote creativity (Craft et al., 2013). However, pressure placed on children to perform well and focus on their individual progress are all barriers to creativity (Kyritsi & Davis, 2021).

Physical Environment

The physical environment can influence differently children's creative potential. Children in the art room indicated, on average, greater levels of creative thinking compared to those in the classroom task due to the more comfortable feeling elicited by this environment (Shah & Gustafsson, 2020). Also, research demonstrated that classroom noise does not promote children's creativity (Massonnié et al., 2019). On the contrary, some negative effects of noise were noticed especially for children with low selective attention skills. In the study, these children with the presence of noise gave fewer ideas which were rated as less original. Thus, teachers have to create a quiet environment especially for children with low selective attention skills to minimize the influence of noise and enhance their focus and creativity.

Social Cultural Factors

Geographical Location

In relation to variations between countries, Canadian children living in rural areas achieved higher scores on the TTCT compared to their Norwegian peers. Conversely, in urban areas, children in Norway outperformed their Canadian counterparts in similar urban settings (Hondzel & Gulliksen, 2015).
Surprisingly, it was found that Hong Kong-Chinese children achieved higher scores than those from Paris-French origin in all the divergent measures (verbal and figural fluency, flexibility, uniqueness, and unusualness), regardless of gender and grade (Chung et al., 2016). This finding was unexpected as in the traditional view, individualistic western people tend to outscore the collectivistic eastern people in creativity. This is because western countries value independence and freedom, while eastern countries emphasize obedience and respect of the norms (Hofstede et al., 2010). This could be explained by the influence of school on children (Niu & Sternberg, 2003). The study of Cheung & Lau (2013) asserted that the recent curriculum and education reform in Hong Kong which focuses on promoting divergent thinking contributed to the growth of creative thinking in children.

Research showed that the suburban children's fluency and originality scores are higher than those from the city possibly because they enjoy greater freedom and fewer restrictions. Also, city schools tend to apply more pressure on students, which may limit the development of young children's creativity (Wei & Lee, 2015). However, in another study conducted in Taiwan, urban children scored higher than rural children on creativity because cultural and educational advantages of urban Taiwanese children help in the development of creativity and also rural Taiwanese families typically do not put emphasis on the importance of school education and also because they live in isolated mountain regions where educational resources may be limited (Wei & Dzeng, 2013).

Bilingualism

Bilingual children scored high from early years in verbal and nonverbal creativity compared to monolingual children (Leikin & Tovli, 2014). Thus, language proficiency plays a crucial role in the effect of bilingualism on creativity. Increasing evidence shows that speaking more than one language does not only ameliorate one's verbal skills but also more general, non-linguistic cognitive abilities such as problem solving and creativity (Hommel et al., 2011). Bilingual individuals are faced with the challenge of selecting the appropriate language and ignoring the interreference from the other language. This makes them advantaged in executive functioning and good at organizing their tasks compared to monolinguals. Executive functioning enables individuals to manage complex tasks and pay attention to pertinent information and ignore irrelevant information. These skills are also important for creative thinking (Leikin, 2012).

Conclusion

This paper presents an exhaustive systematic review of the existing empirical studies investigating the factors which influence children's creativity. The results of the systematic review showed that parents and teachers play a key role in developing children's creativity. Individual differences produced mixed results regarding their impact on creativity, especially gender and age. However, personality traits such as rule breaking, openness, extraversion and self-esteem had a significant impact. These personality traits are shaped and influenced by the surrounding environment especially family. Family factors are also shown to play a significant role in the promotion of children's creativity. These include parenting style, parentchild interaction, home quality environment and parent's support of creative endeavors. In fact, not all children are privileged to live in an environment which fosters creativity. This is why, education has to compensate for such a gap and help children from disadvantageous background to be able to think creatively. Pedagogical, psychosocial and physical environments all play a role in influencing the development of children's creativity.

Limitations

We have to acknowledge that one of the major limitations in the present review is the possibility of missing some pertinent studies unintentionally. Also, including only studies published in English is another limitation of the review. Another limitation lies in the decision to include studies only from 2010 to 2022, which, while ensuring incorporation of recent literature and contemporary perspectives on children's creativity development, may overlook valuable insights from earlier studies.

Recommendations

For Parents

Parents have to foster with their child positive relationship characterized by open communication and support. They also need to engage actively with their children by creating opportunities for play, creative thinking and exploration. Parents have to spend quality time with their children and use directive questioning, restating/reframing, idea blending, and shared experiences to engage in meaningful conversations that stimulate creativity in the child. Secure attachments to parents is important; therefore, parents have to strive to make the child feel safe, loved and supported. Parents have to demonstrate maternal sensitivity by being attuned to the child's emotional needs and responses, showing sensitivity and responsiveness, which can positively influence their creativity.

Regarding home environments, parents have to allow their children to express themselves freely and encourage creativity and expose the child to various experiences and activities that stimulate their curiosity and exploration. They also have to celebrate their children's creative endeavors and their imaginative thinking and nurture a sense of perseverance and creativity. Parents have to provide autonomy and freedom to their children and enable them to experiment, make choices and pursue their interests.

For parenting style, parents have to adopt mindful and democratic parenting approach that encourage parents to be attentive in their interactions with their children. They also have to embrace nonconformism and avoid overemphasis on social conformity to allow their children to be independent and explore unconventional thoughts. They have to strike a balance between discipline and rules to encourage their children to think outside the box.

For Educational Stakeholders

Educational curricula and programs should aim at nurturing creativity especially for children from disadvantaged backgrounds. Regarding pedagogical environment, educational policy makers and teachers should incorporate problem-and-project-based learning strategies, dynamic assessment, STEM education, drama pedagogy and inquiry-based pedagogies to stimulate children's creative processes. They also have to encourage students to work collaboratively and avoid overemphasis on individual progress. They can also equip students with a mindset that puts emphasis on self-directed and authentic learning.

Educational policy makers and teachers should aim at creating less formal educational settings that allow freedom, collaboration, autonomy, risk taking and ownership of learning. Teachers should focus on offering support including academic, emotional and competence support to their students. They also have to create a calm and focused learning environment in the classroom to minimize noise and thus enhance creativity. Schools should organize frequent visits to children' museums and provide access to enriched physical environments such as well-equipped rooms.

For Future Research

Future research may:

- Conduct long-term studies to investigate the quality of parent-child and its effects on creativity across different developmental stages from childhood to adolescence.
- Explore the influence of cultural differences on parent-child and teacher-student relationships and their impact on developing creativity within diverse cultural backgrounds.
- Examine how digital technology and time spent on screens influence the home environment and its potential effect on children's creativity.
- Investigate how various parenting styles align or conflicts with different educational systems and their potential impact on creativity development in school-aged children.

A systematic review on factors influencing the development...

 Investigate the outcomes of specific teacher training programs aimed at promoting autonomy, risk-taking, and ownership of learning among students and evaluate the effectiveness of these strategies in enhancing creativity and student engagement.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: All authors have equal contributions.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: Not applicable.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Not applicable.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Ibrahim H Acar through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Al-Tamimi, A., & Al-Qudah, M. (2019). The Relationship between the parenting styles of the students of the first three grades with their level of creativity. *Science Studies: An Interdisciplinary Journal for Science and Technology Studies*, 13(01), 123–134.
- Albar, S. B., & Southcott, J. E. (2021, May). Problem and project-based learning through an investigation lesson: Significant gains in creative thinking behaviour within the Australian foundation (preparatory) classroom. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 41, 100853. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2021.100853</u>
- Alfonso-Benlliure, V., & Santos, M. R. (2016). Creativity development trajectories in elementary education: Differences in divergent and evaluative skills. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 19, 160–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2015.11.003</u>
- Alves-Oliveira, P., Arriaga, P., Xavier, C., Hoffman, G., & Paiva, A. (2021). Creativity landscapes: systematic review spanning 70 years of creativity interventions for children. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, 56(1), 16–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.514</u>
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social Cognitive Theory: An agentic perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1
- Batey, M. (2012). The measurement of creativity: From definitional consensus to the introduction of a new heuristic framework. *Creativity Research Journal*, 24(1), 55–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2012.649181</u>
- Beghetto, R. A. (2021). There is no creativity without uncertainty: Dubito Ergo Creo. Journal of Creativity, 31, 100005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vjoc.2021.100005
- Beghetto, R. A., & Glăveanu, V. P. (2020). Creative experience: A non-standard definition of creativity. *Creativity Research Journal*, 33(7), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2020.1827606</u>
- Beghetto, R. A., & Kaufman, J. C. (2007). Toward a broader conception of creativity: A case for "mini-c" creativity. Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts, 1(2), 73–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1931-3896.1.2.73</u>
- Beghetto, R. A., & Kaufman, J. C. (2014). Classroom contexts for creativity. *High Ability Studies*, 25(1) 53-69. https://doi.org/10.1080/13598139.2014.905247
- Beghetto, R. A., Plucker, J. A., & Kaufman, J. C. (2015). What we know about creativity. Partnership for 21st Century Skills.
- Bezerra, R. L. M., Alves, R. J. R., & Azoni, C. A. S. (2022). Creativity and its relationship with intelligence and reading skills in children: An exploratory study. *Psicologia: Reflexao e Critica*, 35(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41155-022-00221-3</u>
- Cantero, M.-J., Alfonso, V., & Melero, R. (2016). Creativity in middle childhood: Influence of perceived maternal sensitivity, selfesteem, and shyness. *Creativity Research Journal*, 28(1), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2016.1125246
- Castillo-Vergara, M., Barrios Galleguillos, N., Jofré Cuello, L., Alvarez-Marin, A., & Acuña-Opazo, C. (2018). Does socioeconomic status influence student creativity? *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 29, 142–152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2018.07.005</u>
- Celume, M. P., Besançon, M., & Zenasni, F. (2019). How a dialogic space can impact children's creativity and mood valence in Drama Pedagogy Training: Study with a French 4th grade sample. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 33, 100576.

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2019.100576

- Çetin, Z., & Ata, S. (2020). The relationship between parents' attachment to their parents and children's creatives. Early Child Development and Care, 192(4), 653–664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2020.1788547</u>
- Cheng, V. M. Y. (2010). Tensions and dilemmas of teachers in creativity reform in a Chinese context. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 5(3), 120–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2010.09.005
- Cheung, P. C., & Lau, S. (2013). A tale of two generations: Creativity growth and gender differences over a period of education and curriculum reforms. *Creativity Research Journal*, 25(4), 463–471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2013.843916</u>
- Chung, P., Lau, S., Lubart, T., & Chu, D. H. W. (2016). Creative potential of Chinese children in Hong Kong and French children in Paris: A cross-cultural comparison of divergent and convergent-integrative thinking. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 22, 201– 211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2016.09.005</u>
- Craft, A. (2002). Creativity and early years education. Continuum.
- Craft, A., Cremin, T., Hay, P., & Clack, J. (2013). Creative primary schools: developing and maintaining pedagogy for creativity. *Ethnography and Education*, 9(1), 16–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2013.828474</u>
- Creswell, J. W. (2016). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- David, L. T., & Pastor, B. (2017). Relationship between creativity, intelligence and academic achievement amongst primary education students. *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Braşov*, 10(59), 123–132.
- Dilekçi, A., & Karatay, H. (2023). The effects of the 21st century skills curriculum on the development of students' creative thinking skills. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 47, 101229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2022.101229
- Dong, Y., Lin, J., Li, H., Cheng, L., Niu, W., & Tong, Z. (2022). How parenting styles affect children's creativity: Through the lens of self. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 45, 101045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2022.101045</u>
- Eliot, L. (1999). What's going on in there?: How the brain and mind develop in the first five years of life. Bantam Books.
- Fearon, D. D., Copeland, D., & Saxon, T. F. (2013). The relationship between parenting styles and creativity in a sample of Jamaican children. Creativity Research Journal, 25(1), 119–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2013.752287</u>
- Fielding, K., & Murcia, K. (2022). Research linking digital technologies to young children's creativity: An interpretive framework and systematic review. *Issues in Educational Research*, 32(1), 105–125.
- Frey, C. B., & Osborne, M. A. (2017). The future of employment: How susceptible are jobs to computerisation? *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 114, 254–280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.08.019</u>
- Gardner, H. (2008). Art, mind, and brain: A cognitive approach to creativity. Basic Books.
- Gomes, J. F. S., Rodrigues, A. F., & Veloso, A. (2016). Creativity at work: The role of context. In H. Shipton, P. Budhwar, P. Sparrow,
 & A. Brown (Eds.), Human Resource Management, Innovation and Performance (pp. 282–297) Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137465191
- Gong, X., Zhang, X., & Tsang, M. C. (2020). Creativity development in preschoolers: The effects of children's museum visits and other education environment factors. *Studies in Educational* Evaluation, 67, 100932. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2020.100932</u>
- Guignard, J. H., Kermarrec, S., & Tordjman, S. (2016, December). Relationships between intelligence and creativity in gifted and nongifted children. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 52, 209–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2015.07.006</u>
- Guilford, J. P. (1950). Creativity. American Psychologist, 5(9), 444–454. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0063487
- Guilford, J. P. (1967). The Nature of human intelligence. McGraw-Hill.
- Henriksen, D., Mishra, P., & Fisser, P. (2016). Infusing creativity and technology in 21st century education: A systemic view for change. Educational Technology & Society, 19(3), 27–37.
- Hofstede, G., Hofstede, G. J., & Minkov, M. (2010). Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind. McGraw-Hill.
- Hommel, B., Colzato, L. S., Fischer, R., & Christoffels, I. K. (2011). Bilingualism and creativity: Benefits in convergent thinking come with losses in divergent thinking. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2, 273. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00273</u>
- Hondzel, C. D., & Gulliksen, M. S. (2015). Culture and creativity: Examining variations in divergent thinking within Norwegian and Canadian communities. SAGE Open, 5(4), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015611448</u>
- Huh, K., & Lee, J. (2020). Fostering creativity and language skills of foreign language learners through SMART learning environments: Evidence from fifth-grade Korean EFL learners. *TESOL Journal*, *11*(2), e489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tesi.489</u>
- Ibán, R., Marcos, S., López, V., Teresa, M., González, D., & Phillips-silver, J. (2020). Promoting children's creative thinking through reading and writing in a cooperative learning classroom. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 36, 100663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2020.100663</u>

A systematic review on factors influencing the development...

Kandler, C., Riemann, R., Angleitner, A., Spinath, F. M., Borkenau, P., & Penke, L. (2016). The nature of creativity: The roles of genetic factors, personality traits, cognitive abilities, and environmental sources. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 111(2), 230–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000087</u>

Kaufman, J. C. (2009). Creativity 101. Springer Publishing.

- Kaufman, J. C. (2018). Creativity as a stepping stone toward a brighter future. *Journal of Intelligence*, 6(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3390/jintelligence6020021
- Kaufman, J. C., & Beghetto, R. A. (2009). Beyond Big and Little: The four C model of creativity. Review of General Psychology, 13(1), 1– 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013688</u>
- Kim, K. H., & Park, S.-G. (2020). Relationship between parents' cultural values and children's creativity. Creativity Research Journal, 32(3), 259–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2020.1821566</u>
- Knox, P., Simpson, A., Yang, J., & Maltese, A. (2022). Exploring caregiver influence on child creativity and innovation in an out-ofschool engineering program. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 45, 101064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2022.101064</u>
- Korzynski, P., Paniagua, J., & Rodriguez-Montemayor, E. (2019). Employee creativity in a digital era: the mediating role of social media. *Management Decision*, 58(6), 1100–1117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-05-2018-0586</u>
- Krumm, G., Filippetti, V. A., & Gutierrez, M. (2018). The contribution of executive functions to creativity in children: What is the role of crystallized and fluid intelligence? *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 29, 185-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2018.07.006</u>
- Krumm, G., Lemos, V., & Richaud, M. C. (2018). Personality and Creativity: A Study in Spanish-Speaking Children. International Journal of Psychological Research, 11(1), 33–41.
- Kupers, E., Lehmann-Wermser, A., McPherson, G., & van Geert, P. (2019). Children's creativity: A theoretical framework and systematic review. *Review of Educational Research*, 89(1), 93–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654318815707</u>
- Kwaśniewska, J. M., Gralewski, J., Witkowska, E. M., Kostrzewska, M., & Lebuda, I. (2018). Mothers' personality traits and the climate for creativity they build with their children. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 27, 13–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2017.11.002</u>
- Kyritsi, K., & Davis, J. M. (2021). Creativity in primary schools: An analysis of a teacher's attempt to foster childhood creativity within the context of the Scottish Curriculum for Excellence. *Improving Schools*, 24(1), 47–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1365480220968332</u>
- Lee, I. R., & Kemple, K. (2014). "Preservice Teachers' Personality Traits and Engagement in Creative Activities as Predictors of Their Support for Children's Creativity. *Creativity Research Journal*, 26(1), 82–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2014.873668</u>
- Leikin, M. (2012). The effect of bilingualism on creativity: Developmental and educational perspectives. International Journal of Bilingualism, 17(4), 431–447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1367006912438300</u>
- Leikin, M., & Tovli, E. (2014). Bilingualism and creativity in early childhood. Creativity Research Journal, 26(4), 411–417. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2014.961779
- Liang, Q., Niu, W., Cheng, L., & Qin, K. (2021). Creativity outside school: The influence of family background, perceived parenting, and after-school activity on creativity. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 56(1), 138-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.521</u>
- Liao, Y. H., Chen, Y. L., Chen, H. C., & Chang, Y. L. (2018). Infusing creative pedagogy into an English as a foreign language classroom: Learning performance, creativity, and motivation. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 29, 213–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2018.07.007
- López-Martínez, O., & Lorca Garrido, A. J. (2021). Specific domains of creativity and their relationship with intelligence: A study in primary education. *Sustainability*, *13*(8), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084228</u>
- Lu, Y., Pei, Y., & Pang, W. (2022). A comparison of the differences in the way parents and grandparents interact with children and their effects on children's creative performance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*, 1066524. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1066524</u>
- Maslin, K., Murcia, K., Blackley, S., & Lowe, G. (2023). Fostering young children's creativity in online learning environments: A systematic literature review. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 47, 101249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2023.101249</u>
- Massonnié, J., Rogers, C. J., Mareschal, D., & Kirkham, N. Z. (2019). Is classroom noise always bad for children? The contribution of age and selective attention to creative performance in noise. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 381. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00381</u>
- Metwaly, S. S., Fernández-Castilla, B., Kynd, E., Noortgate, W. Van den, & Barbot, B. (2021). Does the fourth-grade slump in creativity actually exist? A meta-analysis of the development of divergent thinking in school-age children and adolescents. *Educational Psychology Review*, 33(1), 275–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09547-9</u>
- Millar, G. (2002). The Torrance kids at mid-life: Selected case studies of creative behavior. Westport, CT: Ablex.
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "Frontal Lobe" Tasks: A latent variable analysis. *Cognitive Psychology*, 41(1), 49– 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0734</u>

Zaina SMARE & Mohamed ELFATIHI

- Moghadam, S. N., & Razavi, M. R. (2022). The effect of the Flipped Learning method on academic performance and creativity of primary school students. *European Review of Applied Psychology*, 72(5), 100811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erap.2022.100811</u>
- Momeni, S., Khaki, M., & Amini, R. (2017). The role of creative drama in improving the creativity of 4-6 years old children. *Journal of History Culture and Art Research*, 6(1), 617-626. <u>https://doi.org/10.7596/taksad.v6i1.765</u>
- Murcia, K., Pepper, C., Joubert, M., & Cross, E. (2020). A framework for identifying and developing children's creative thinking while coding with digital technologies. *Issues in Educational Research*, *30*(4), 1395–1417.
- Niu, W., & Sternberg, R. (2003). Societal and school influences on student creativity: The case of China. *Psychology in the Schools*, 40(1), 103–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.10072</u>
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2004). *Innovation in the knowledge economy: Implications for education and learning*. OECD Publishing.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2008). New millennium learners: initial findings on the effects of digital technologies on school age learners. OECD Publishing.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2018). The future of education and skills: Education 2030. In *International*. *OECD*. <u>https://www.oecd.org/education/2030/E2030%20Position%20Paper%20(05.04.2018).pdf</u>
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2022). PISA creative thinking framework. <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/471ae22e-</u> en.pdf?expires=1712568733&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=28F36E35BB30F60FF9BDD974DAA46A5E
- Pang, W., Lu, Y., Long, H., Wang, Q., & Lin, L. (2020). Three-generational families: Are they beneficial to Chinese children's creativity? *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 35, 100623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2019.100623</u>
- Piaget, J. (1977). The development of thought: Equilibration of cognitive structures. Basil Blackwell.
- Plucker, J. A., Beghetto, R. A., & Dow, G. T. (2004). Why isn't creativity more important to educational psychologists? Potentials, pitfalls, and future directions in creativity research. *Educational Psychologist*, 39(2), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3902_1
- Pugsley, L., & Acar, S. (2020). Supporting creativity or conformity? influence of home environment and parental factors on the value of children's creativity characteristics. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, 54(3), 598–609. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.393
- Rhodes, M. (1961). An analysis of creativity. Phi Delta Kappa International, 42(7), 305–310.
- Roppola, T., & Whitington, V. (2014). Pedagogies that engage five- to eight-year-old children's imagination and creativity at school. Journal of Educational Enquiry, 13(1), 67–81.
- Ruiz-del-Pino, B., Fernandez-Martín, F. D., & Arco-Tirado, J. L. (2022, September). Creativity training programs in primary education: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 46, 101172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2022.101172</u>
- Runco, M. A. (2023). AI can only produce artificial creativity. *Journal of Creativity*, 33(3), 100063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjoc.2023.100063
- Runco, M., & Jaeger, G. (2012). The standard definition of creativity. *Creativity Research Journal*, 24(1), 92–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2012.650092
- Saggar, M., Xie, H., Beaty, R. E., Stankov, A. D., Schreier, M., & Reiss, A. L. (2019). Creativity slumps and bumps: Examining the neurobehavioral basis of creativity development during middle childhood. *NeuroImage*, 196, 94–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.03.080</u>
- Sawyer, K. (2006). Explaining creativity: The science of human innovation. Oxford University Press.
- Schoevers, E. M., Leseman, P. P. M., Slot, E. M., Bakker, A., Keijzer, R., & Kroesbergen, E. H. (2019). Promoting pupils' creative thinking in primary school mathematics: A case study. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 31, 323–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2019.02.003</u>
- Setiyowati, E., Hanik, U., & Affandi, M. (2019). The correlation between parenting style and child creativity development. *Journal of Public Health in Africa*, 10(1), 57–71. 10.4081/jphia.2019.1207
- Shah, B., & Gustafsson, E. (2020). Exploring the effects of age, gender, and school setting on children's creative thinking skills. *Journal* of Creative Behavior, 55(2), 546–553. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.480
- Shalley, C. E., Zhou, J., & Oldham, G. R. (2004). The Effects of personal and contextual characteristics on creativity: Where should we go from here? *Journal of Management*, 30(6), 933–958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jm.2004.06.007
- Shi, B., Xing, Z., Yang, M., & Tang, C. (2021). How family's support of perseverance in creative efforts influences the originality of children's drawing during the period of COVID-19 pandemic?. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 600810. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.600810</u>
- Shonkoff, J. P., & Phillips, D. A. (Eds.). (2000). From neurons to neighborhoods: The science of early childhood development. National

A systematic review on factors influencing the development...

Academies Press (US). https://doi.org/10.17226/9824

- Smare, Z., & Elfatihi, M. (2023). A systematic review of research on creative thinking in primary education: Focus on empirical methodologies. *Issues in Educational Research*, 33(2), 752–780.
- Smolucha, F. (1992). A Reconstruction of Vygotsky's Theory of Creativity. *Creativity Research Journal*, 5(1), 49–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419209534422
- Tang, C., Duan, Q., & Long, H. (2022). How do parents influence student creativity? Evidence from a large-scale survey in China. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 46, 101134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2022.101134</u>
- Tekin, M., Yıldız, M., Yıldızım, Y., & Mutlu, T. O. (2012). Examination of the effect of educational game activities on the levels of creativity of the students attending to elementary schools in Turkey. *Energy Education Science and Technology Part B-Social and Educational Studies*, 4(3), 1337-1344.
- Theurer, C., Wemmer-Rogh, W., & Berner, N. (2020). Interdependencies between openness and creativity of fifth graders. *Psychology* of Aesthetics Creativity and the Arts, 15(3), 391–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/aca0000299</u>
- Torrance, E. P. (1968). A longitudinal examination of the fourth-grade slump in creativity. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 12(4), 195-199. https://doi.org/10.1177/001698626801200401
- United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization. (2022). *Reshaping policies for creativity: Addressing culture as a global public good*. UNESCO. <u>https://www.unesco.org/creativity/sites/default/files/medias/fichiers/2023/01/380474eng.pdf</u>
- Üret, A., & Ceylan, R. (2021). Exploring the effectiveness of STEM education on the creativity of 5-year-old kindergarten children. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 29(6), 842–855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2021.1913204</u>
- Van Hooijdonk, M., Mainhard, T., Kroesbergen, E. H., & van Tartwijk, J. (2020). Creative problem solving in primary education: Exploring the role of fact finding, problem finding, and solution finding across tasks. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 37, 100665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2020.100665</u>
- Velázquez, J. A., Segal, N. L., & Horwitz, B. N. (2015). Genetic and environmental influences on applied creativity: A reared-apart twin study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 75(5), 141–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.11.014</u>
- Vong, Keang-Ieng. (2008). Developing creativity and promoting social harmony: The relationship between government, school and parents' perceptions of children's creativity in Macao-SAR in China. Early Years, 28(2), 149–158. https://doi.org/10.1080/09575140802065599
- Vong, Keang, Mak, C. K. M., Leung, S. O., & Chang, S.-H. (2020). Age as the most prominent predictor of young children's creativity performance and challenges at critical turning points early in life. *Creativity Research Journal*, 32(2), 192–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2020.1768486</u>
- Wei, M.-H., & Dzeng, A. (2013). Cultural and age differences of three groups of Taiwanese young children's creativity and drawing. *Psychological Reports*, 112(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/21.04.PR0.112.3.900-912</u>
- Wei, W. J., & Lee, L. C. (2015). Interactive technology for creativity in early childhood education. Jurnal Teknologi, 75(3), 121–126. https://doi.org/10.11113/jt.v75.5054
- Willemsen, R. H., Schoevers, E. M., & Kroesbergen, E. H. (2020). The structure of creativity in primary education: An empirical confirmation of the Amusement Park Theory. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, 54(4), 857–870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.411</u>
- Wilson, A. (2009). Creativity in primary education (2nd Edition). Learning Matters Ltd.
- World Economic Forum. (2016). The Future of jobs: Employment, skills and workforce strategy for the fourth industrial revolution. World Economic Forum. https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Future_of_Jobs.pdf
- World Economic Forum. (2018). The future of jobs report. https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-future-of-jobs-report-2018/
- Wuwei, L. (2011). How creativity is changing China. M. Keane (Ed.). Bloomsbury Publishing Plc.
- Yildiz, C., & Guler Yildiz, T. (2021, December). Exploring the relationship between creative thinking and scientific process skills of preschool children. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 39, 100795. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2021.100795</u>
- Zanden, P. J. A. C. Van Der, Meijer, P. C., & Beghetto, R. A. (2020, August). A review study about creativity in adolescence: Where is the social context? *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 38, 100702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2020.100702</u>
- Zbainos, D., & Tziona, A. (2019, April). Investigating primary school children's creative potential through dynamic assessment. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 733. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00733</u>
- Zhang, D., Zhou, Z., Gu, C., Lei, Y., & Fan, C. (2018). Family socio-economic status and parent-child relationships are associated with the social creativity of elementary school children: The mediating role of personality traits. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(9), 2999–3007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1130-4</u>
- Zhang, H., Sun, C., Liu, X., Gong, S., & Yu, Q. (2020). Boys benefit more from teacher support: Effects of perceived teacher support on primary students' creative thinking. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 37, 100680. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2020.100680</u>

Looking beyond enrollment rates: The long-term influence of preschool science curricula on children's science achievement

Mesut Saçkes¹, Kathy Cabe Trundle²

Abstract: This study provides evidence that what happens in preschool (i.e., preschool curriculum) can have long-term consequences years later. In the current study, we seek to answer the question of whether the inclusion of science in the preschool curriculum is associated with fourth- and eighth grade science achievement scores. Based on science achievement data from the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS 2015 and 2019 cycles), the quality of preschool science learning opportunities showed long-term impacts on science achievement at the fourth grade level. Even after controlling for enrollment rates, the quality of the preschool curricula was a statistically significant predictor of fourth grade science scores with a high effect size (d=0.74). The observed impacts, however, appeared to diminish by eighth-grade. Results from this study suggest that science concepts and skills should be an integral part of preschool curricula and curricular frameworks, and policy makers should allocate resources to provide well-designed preschool education programs with high quality curricula.

Article History Received: 09 January 2024 Accepted: 15 April 2024

Keywords

Preschool curriculum; Science achievement; Trends in international mathematics and science study

Introduction

The gap in cognitive and social skills among children from low and high socioeconomic (SES) groups appears to emerge prior to formal schooling and persists into adulthood (Heckman, 2006). Because preschool education has the potential for short- to long-term impacts on various economic, societal, and child related outcomes, researchers and educators have suggested expansion of preschool education as a viable option to address these disparities (Barnett, 2011; Cebolla-Boado et al., 2017; Cortázar et al., 2020; Heckman, 2006; McCoy et al., 2017). Evidence to support these claims comes from studies that evaluated the impact of preschool education at either local or national levels (Gormley et al., 2008; Melhuish et al., 2008), with few comparisons at the international level. The limited international studies solely examined the impact of preschool enrollment or public preschool expenditures on children's later academic achievement at fourth grade, and the results indicated that increased preschool enrollments did not necessarily lead to increased achievement (Cebolla-Boado et al., 2017; Richter et al., 2021; Strietholt et al., 2020; Waldfogel & Zhai, 2008).

Here we provide evidence for the importance of refocusing our efforts from simply expanding preschool enrollment rates to designing and providing high quality preschool education programs for children with diverse needs and to inform policy makers' decisions. High quality preschool education programs can act as an equalizing factor to close gaps in child related outcomes at the national and international levels (Heckman, 2006). Quality indicators of preschool education programs typically include staff qualifications and staff-child ratios (Sabol et al., 2013). However, the strongest predictors of preschool children's learning are the concepts and skills targeted in educational programs, which are identified and described in curricular documents (Anders et al., 2016; Sabol et al., 2013). Here we argue that the provision of expanding preschool education only has enduring effects on children's academic outcomes when they have high quality preschool curricula. Countries with high quality preschool curricula that target

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license.

¹ Balıkesir University, Necatibey School of Education, Balıkesir, Türkiye, e-mail: <u>msackes@balikesir.edu.tr</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3673-1668</u>

² Utah State University, Emma Eccles Jones College of Education and Human Services, Logan, UT, USA, e-mail: <u>kathy.trundle@usu.edu</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4281-3782</u>

Mesut SAÇKES & Kathy CABE TRUNDLE

developmentally appropriate concepts and skills might be more likely to demonstrate higher performance in international large-scale assessments. We test this hypothesis within the context of science achievement.

Factors contributing to the variations in children's science performances across countries in international large-scale assessments have been the focus of several studies since the inception of the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS) and the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA). International large-scale assessments, such as TIMSS, allow researchers to gather and compare data specific to children's mathematics and science performances, and the data can serve as an indicator of the quality of different countries' educational systems at the preschool, elementary, and middle school levels.

Previous studies that utilized international large-scale assessment data have examined the association between children's science achievement and various child, classroom, and school level factors (e.g., gender, type of instruction, academic climate) to explain performance differences in test scores across countries (Drent et al., 2013). Few studies have focused on the association between preschool or early education and children's later achievement on international large-scale assessments. These limited studies have solely examined the relationship between preschool enrollment or public preschool expenditures and impacts on children's later academic achievement at the fourth and eighth grade levels (Waldfogel & Zhai, 2008; Strietholt et al., 2020; Richter et al., 2021). No previous studies have examined the relationship between early learning opportunities provided in preschool and potential impacts on children's later science achievement as measured by international large-scale assessments.

Previous studies indicate that preschool education has the potential for short- to long-term impacts on various economic, societal, and child related outcomes (Barnett, 2011; Cebolla-Boado et al., 2017; Cortázar et al., 2020, Heckman, 2006; Knudsen et al., 2006; McCoy et al., 2017). However, the vast majority of these studies evaluated the impact of preschool education at a local or national level (Gormley et al., 2008; Melhuish, 2008). Except with one recent example (Richter et al., 2021), the extant literature includes few multiple country studies, and these studies included a limited number of countries and did not focus on curriculum-based learning outcomes. International, large-scale assessments, such TIMSS, have the potential to fill this void by allowing researchers to gather evidence about the performance of different countries' educational systems at the preschool, elementary, and middle school levels with regard to literacy, mathematics, and science outcomes.

Therefore, the current study seeks to answer the following research question "Is the inclusion of science in the preschool curriculum associated with fourth- and eighth grade science achievement scores?" We hypothesized that inclusion of learning outcomes specific to science concepts and skills in preschool curricula is a significant predictor of children's later science achievement. More specifically, we hypothesized that, even after controlling for preschool enrollment rates, the inclusion of science in preschool curricula will be a statistically significant predictor of children's fourth- and eighth-grade TIMSS science achievement scores.

Method

Study Countries

A total of 57 countries and 7 benchmarking entities (regional jurisdictions of countries such as states or provinces) participated in the 2015 round of TIMSS. The country-level measure of fourth-grade science achievement results was calculated and reported for 47 countries. Of these 47 countries, four countries did not have preschool curricula issued at the state or national level. Therefore, these four countries were not included in this study. The effective sample for the analysis of fourth-grade science scores included 43 countries, with the State of Florida representing the United States and the Province of Ontario representing Canada (Please see the list of countries in Appendix 1. Study data set). More than 312,000 students, which included nationally representative samples of approximately 4,000 students from each country, Looking beyond enrollment rates: The long-term influence of preschool...

participated in the fourth-grade assessments during the TIMSS 2015 cycle (see <u>https://timss.bc.edu/timss2015/</u> for more information).

A total of 64 countries and 8 benchmarking entities participated in 2019 TIMSS cycle. The countrylevel measure of eighth-grade science achievement results were calculated and reported for 39 countries, of which 29 countries had matching fourth-grade science achievement results reported in the previous 2015 TIMSS cycle. Therefore, the effective sample for the analysis of eighth-grade science scores included 29 countries, with the Province of Ontario representing Canada (Please see the list of countries in Appendix 1. Study data set). More than 250,000 students, which included nationally representative samples of approximately 4,000 students from each country, participated in the eighth-grade TIMSS 2019 assessments (see <u>https://timss.bc.edu/timss2019/</u> for more information).

Measures

Fourth- and Eighth-Grade Science Achievement Test Scores

The country-level assessment scores of fourth-grade science from TIMSS 2015 and eighth-grade science from TIMSS 2019 were used as outcome measures in the present study. The fourth- and eighth-grade science assessment frameworks were organized under two dimensions: content and cognitive. The content dimension for the fourth-grade assessment included three domains: Life science (45%), physical science (35%), and Earth science (20%). Life science was represented by five topic areas, physical science content included three topic areas, and Earth science content included three topic areas (Mullis & Martin, 2013). The content dimension for the eighth-grade assessment included four domains: Biology (35%), chemistry (20%), physics (25%), and Earth science (20%). Biology was represented by six topic areas, Chemistry was represented by three topic areas, Physics included five topic areas, and Earth science content included four topic areas, and Earth science (20%). Biology was represented by six topic areas, Chemistry was represented by three topic areas, Physics included five topic areas, and Earth science content included four topic areas, and Earth science (20%). Biology was represented by six topic areas, Chemistry was represented by three topic areas, Physics included five topic areas, and Earth science content included four topic areas (Mullis & Martin, 2013).

The cognitive dimensions for the fourth-grade science and eighth-grade science assessments included three domains: Knowing (fourth-grade: 40%, eighth-grade: 35%), applying (fourth-grade: 40%, eighth-grade: 35%), and reasoning (fourth-grade: 20%, eighth-grade: 30%). The fourth- and eighth-grade science achievement assessments contained a total of 176 and 220 items respectively in two formats including multiple-choice and constructed-response. The test-takers answered up to 28 science items for the fourth-grade assessment and 36 science items for the eighth-grade assessment in 36 to 45 minutes (Martin et al., 2016; Martin et al., 2020; Mullis & Martin, 2017). The international median Cronbach's alpha reliability was 0.78 for the science assessments. The science assessment scores were examined utilizing the item response theory framework and the country level science achievement scores were scaled with a mean set to 500 and standard deviation of 100 (Martin et al., 2016; Martin et al., 2020).

Preschool Science Curriculum Scores

The preschool science curriculum score was calculated for each country included in the analysis. The preschool science curriculum scores were obtained via a scoring instrument developed by the researchers. Curricular documents used by the included countries during the academic year of 2010-2011 were collected from the websites of ministries of education or relevant governmental institutions. The collected PreK curriculum documents were analyzed and scored based on the document and curriculum analysis methods (Bowen, 2009; van den Akker, 2003).

The scoring instrument consisted of five dimensions that assessed inclusion of: 1) Science as a standalone domain in the curriculum, 2) Science process skills, 3) Learning outcomes specific to Earth and space science concepts, 4) Learning outcomes specific to life science concepts, and 5) Learning outcomes specific to physical science concepts. Dimensions were rated 0 if there was no evidence of inclusion of science, rated 1 if there is partial inclusion of science and rated 2 is there is adequate level of inclusion of science. The possible total score for each country ranged from 0 to 10. Half of the countries curriculum documents were randomly selected and rated independently by two researchers to establish the inter-

Mesut SAÇKES & Kathy CABE TRUNDLE

scorer reliability. The Cohen's weighted kappa coefficient was 0.72, suggesting high inter-scorer reliability (Cohen, 1968).

Preschool Enrollment Rate

The country-level measure of the gross enrollment rate in preschool was used as a control variable in the study. The enrollment rate data represented children aged three to five who were attending centeror school-based programs aimed to meet the educational and developmental needs of children who are yet to start primary school. The preschool enrollment rate data were obtained from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Family database (http://www.oecd.org/els/family/database.htm).

Data Analysis

We used bootstrapping linear regression models (Stine, 1985) to test the hypothesized association of preschool science curricula with fourth- and eighth-grade science achievement scores. This nonparametric analytical approach was selected for the analysis of the study data because this approach does not require strict distributional assumptions, and it works well with limited sample sizes (Fox, 2016). Bivariate correlation coefficients and unstandardized β coefficients, with their corresponding confidence intervals for simple and multiple regression models, were calculated using a bootstrap procedure where a large number of random samples (n=1000) with replacements were drawn from the actual data. Coefficients were estimated for each sample.

We first tested a simple regression model, with fourth-grade science scores as a dependent variable and science curriculum scores as an independent variable. Next, we tested a multiple regression model with fourth- and eighth-grade science scores as dependent variables, science curriculum scores as independent variables, and preschool enrollment rates as control variables. Model assumptions were examined using graphical methods and formal tests. No violation of assumptions or outliers were detected. Also, the mean science achievement scores of countries with low and high science oriented preschool curriculum (countries with science as a standalone domain in their preschool curriculum versus countries who did not have science as a standalone domain in their preschool curriculum) were compared using independent samples t-tests. All analyses were performed using SPSS version 26.

The dependent variables (outcome) were fourth- and eighth-grade science scores collected in the 2015 and 2019 TIMSS cycles respectively. The mean of fourth-grade science scores (n=43 countries) was 512.18, with a standard deviation of 52.71, and the scores ranged from 352 to 590. The mean of eighth-grade science scores (n=29 countries) was 505.93, with a standard deviation of 46.23, and the scores ranged from 394 to 608. The independent variable (predictor) was the preschool science curriculum score of participating countries in the 2015 TIMSS cycle. The mean science curriculum score (n=43 countries) was 4.67 with a standard deviation of 2.331, and the scores ranged from 0 to 9. The 2010-2011 preschool enrollment rates of countries were used as a control variable. The mean preschool enrollment rate (n=43 countries) was 73.03% with a standard deviation of 21.39%, and the rates ranged from 11.13% to 100%.

Results

We found partial support for the hypothesis that inclusion of learning outcomes specific to science concepts and skills in preschool curricula have a positive impact on children's later science achievement (see Fig. 1). Initially, we calculated bootstrapped bivariate correlation coefficients for the outcome, predictor, and control variables. The relationship between countries' fourth grade science scores and science curricula scores was moderate and statistically significant (r=.44, p=0.003, BCa 95% CI for r=0.15-0.66). The relationship between countries' fourth grade science scores and preschool enrollment rates was high and statistically significant (r=.55, p=0.001, BCa 95% CI for r=0.30-0.71).

The researchers calculated a bootstrapped partial correlation coefficient for countries' fourth grade science scores and science curricula scores, using preschool enrollment rates as a control variable. The relationship between countries' fourth grade science scores and science curriculum scores remained significant (r=0.33, p=0.036, BCa 95% CI for r=0.04-0.54).

The results of the bootstrapped simple regression analysis indicated that the preschool science curricula scores explained 19.6% of variance in countries' fourth grade science scores (F1,41=10.01, p=0.003), and were significant predictors of countries' fourth grade science scores (B=10.032, p=.013, BCa 95% CI for B=3.27-16.53). A one-point increase in science curricula scores corresponded to about a 10-point increase in countries' fourth grade science scores.

The results of the multiple regression analysis of science curricula scores on fourth grade science scores, accounting for preschool enrollment rates, indicated that the preschool enrollment rates of countries alone explained 30% of variance in countries fourth grade science scores (F1,41=17.57, p=0.001). The inclusion of the science curriculum scores into the regression model explained an additional 3.7% of variance in countries' fourth grade science scores (F1,40=4.71, p=0.036). The whole regression model explained 24.1% of the variance (F2,40=4.13, p=0.001). In the regression model, both the countries' preschool enrollment rates (B=1.11, p=0.004, BCa 95% CI for B=0.49-1.63) and the science curricula scores (B=6.55, p=0.044, BCa 95% CI for B=1.21-12.08) were statistically significant predictors of countries' fourth grade science scores. While a one-percentage increase in countries' preschool enrollment rates, on average, corresponded to about a one-point increase in countries' fourth grade science scores a one-point increase in science scores.



Figure 1. Preschool science curriculum scores predict fourth-grade science achievement scores

A final bootstrapped multiple regression analysis was performed to examine whether science curricula scores predicted countries' eighth-grade science scores observed in 2019 after controlling for the preschool enrollment rate of countries. The results indicated that countries' preschool enrollment rates alone explained 20% of variance in countries' eighth-grade science scores (F1,27=6.91, p=0.014). The inclusion of the science curricula scores into the regression model explained an additional 3.7% of variance in countries' eighth-grade science scores, but this effect was not statistically significant (F1,26=1.27, p=0.27).

In the whole regression model, neither the countries' preschool enrollment rates (B=0.77, p=0.053, BCa 95% CI for B=-0.01-1.51) nor the science curricula scores (B=3.96, p=0.27, BCa 95% CI for B=-3.27-10.43) were statistically significant predictors of countries' eighth-grade science scores.

The comparison of the mean science achievement test scores of countries with science as a standalone domain in their preschool curriculum (high science focus, n4th grade= 11, n8th grade=7) and countries who did not have science as a standalone domain in their preschool curriculum (low science focus, n4th grade= 32, n8th grade=22) demonstrated that countries with high science focus tend to obtain higher mean science achievement test scores at fourth-grade assessment (see Fig. 2). The difference was statistically significant for the fourth-grade assessment (p=0.042) with high effect size (d=0.74).



Figure 2. Mean science achievement scores of countries with low and high science oriented preschool curriculum

Discussion

In the current study, we utilized the TIMSS data set, and the findings provided partial support for the hypothesis that the inclusion of learning outcomes specific to science concepts and skills in preschool curricula have a positive impact on children's later science achievement. Even after controlling for preschool enrollment rates, the inclusion of science in preschool curricula was a statistically significant predictor of children's fourth-grade science achievement scores but not their eighth-grade science achievement scores. Countries that included science concepts and skills in their preschool curricula were more likely to obtain higher scores on fourth grade science achievement tests than countries with limited science focus in their preschool curricula. However, the observed impact of the preschool science curricula on science achievement was not durable beyond fourth-grade and appeared to diminish by eighth-grade.

There are at least two possible explanations for this observed trend in the eighth-grade data. First, the initial gains in science concept learning and skill development may have faded-out by the end of middle school. Many preschool education programs or early interventions often do not produce enduring effects on children's academic and socio-emotional outcomes (Bailey et al., 2017; Lipsey et al., 2018). The fade-out of these initial gains might be observed over the next several years, during adolescence or up to young adulthood (Bailey et al., 2017; Hogrebe & Strietholt, 2016). Decrease in the quality of science learning opportunities provided at middle grades might be responsible for the weakened preschool effect observed in our study (Cortázar et al., 2020). The second explanation comes from the loss of statistical power due to the reduced sample size in the TIMSS eighth-grade science assessment data. While the effective sample for the analysis of fourth-grade science scores included 43 countries, the effective sample for the analysis of eighth-grade science scores included 29 countries.

Looking beyond enrollment rates: The long-term influence of preschool...

Nevertheless, our study suggests that preschool curricular frameworks that explicitly target science concepts and skills improve later science achievement. The findings of the current study contrast with the previous research where early science learning opportunities reported to have no short to long term impact on young children's science achievement (Kinzie et al., 2014; Saçkes et al., 2011; Saçkes et al., 2013). The findings also corroborate the results from a recent study where children who enrolled in preschool programs had higher science test scores at age 15 than their peers who did not attend preschool (Richter et al., 2021).

There are some limitations of the current study that requires caution in the interpretation of the findings. In the present study PreK curricular documents were examined in the extent to which they included science concepts and skills as a learning area. The extent to which teachers effectively implemented the curricula in preschool classrooms was not examined. There is a great degree of variability in science teaching practices in preschool classrooms which might increase or decrease the association between the quality of curricular documents and children's science achievement. In addition, some countries use a national-level preschool curriculum, such as Türkiye, while others, such as Germany, only have general guidelines or frameworks, and the extent to which federal level guidelines or curricula frameworks are adopted in local practices is not clear (Kluczniok et al., 2016). Consequently, the findings of this study should be carefully interpreted for countries with no nationwide preschool curriculum.

Conclusion

Development of cognitive and non-cognitive skills follow a hierarchical process where higher-level functions build on lower, preceding skills (Knudsen et al., 2006). Thus, high-quality preschool education programs support the development of fundamental knowledge and skills, which provide a solid foundation for the development of subsequent concepts and skills encountered in elementary grades through college. Increasing preschool enrollment rates alone, though significant, does not appear to be an effective strategy to improve educational and societal outcomes. Expanding the coverage of preschool education at the expense of quality may not return the investment costs and may result in limited or no long-term benefits (Barnett, 2011; Heckman, 2006). Policy makers should allocate resources to provide well-designed preschool education programs with high quality curricula that target developmentally appropriate concepts and skills for long-term gains.

International, large-scale assessments provide opportunities for researchers and policy makers to understand how well countries' educational systems perform in producing child outcomes specific to reading, mathematics, and science. The results of this study suggest that science concepts and skills should be an integral part of preschool curricula. Learning outcomes that are specific to science concepts and skills should be formally specified in countries' preschool curricular frameworks.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: The authors contributed equally to the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: This study is supported by Balıkesir University Scientific Research Projects grant BAP2018/032.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Not applicable due to use of secondary public data set.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Mehmet Toran through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

Mesut SAÇKES & Kathy CABE TRUNDLE

References

- Anders, Y., Roßbach, H.-G., & Kuger, S. (2016). Early childhood learning experiences. In S.Kuger, E. Klieme, N. Jude, & D. Kaplan (Eds.), Assessing contexts of learning: An international perspective (pp. 179–208). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45357-6 7</u>
- Bailey, D., Duncan, G. J., Odgers, C. L., & Yu, W. (2017). Persistence and fadeout in the impacts of child and adolescent interventions. Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness, 10(1), 7-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2016.1232459</u>
- Barnett, W. S. (2011). Effectiveness of early educational intervention. *Science*, 333 (6045), 975-978. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1204534

Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. Qualitative Research Journal, 9(2), 27-40.

- Cebolla-Boado, H., Radl, J., & Salazar, L. (2017). Preschool education as the great equalizer? A cross-country study into the sources of inequality in reading competence. *Acta Sociologica*, 60(1), 41-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0001699316654529</u>
- Cohen, J. (1968). Weighted Kappa: Nominal scale agreement with provision for scaled disagreement or partial credit. *Psychological Bulletin*, 70(4), 213-220.
- Cortázar, A., Molina, M. D. L. Á., Sélman, J., & Manosalva, A. (2020). Early childhood education effects on school outcomes: Academic achievement, grade retention and school drop Out. Early Education and Development, 31(3), 376-394.
- Drent, M., Meelissen, M. R., & van der Kleij, F. M. (2013). The contribution of TIMSS to the link between school and classroom factors and student achievement. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 45(2), 198-224.
- Fox J. (2016). Applied regression analysis and generalized linear models. SAGE.
- Gormley Jr, W. T., Phillips, D., & Gayer, T. (2008). Preschool programs can boost school readiness. Science, 320, 1723-1724.
- Heckman, J. J. (2006). Skill formation and the economics of investing in disadvantaged children. Science, 312(5782), 1900-1902.
- Hogrebe, N., & Strietholt, R. (2016). Does non-participation in preschool affect children's reading achievement? International evidence from propensity score analyses. *Large-scale Assessments in Education*, 4(1), 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-016-0017-3</u>
- Kinzie, M. B., Whittaker, J. V., Williford, A. P., DeCoster, J., McGuire, P., Lee, Y., & Kilday, C. R. (2014). MyTeachingPartner-Math/Science pre-kindergarten curricula and teacher supports: Associations with children's mathematics and science learning. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 29(4), 586-599.
- Kluczniok, K., Anders, Y., Sechtig, J., & Rossbach, H. G. (2016). Influences of an academically oriented preschool curriculum on the development of children–are there negative consequences for the children's socio-emotional competencies?. *Early Child Development and Care*, 186(1), 117-139.
- Knudsen, E. I., Heckman, J. J., Cameron, J. L., & Shonkoff, J. P. (2006). Economic, neurobiological, and behavioral perspectives on building America's future workforce. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(27), 10155-10162.
- Lipsey, M. W., Farran, D. C., & Durkin, K. (2018). Effects of the Tennessee Prekindergarten Program on children's achievement and behavior through third grade. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *45*, 155-176.
- Martin, M. O., Mullis, I. V. S., & Hooper, M. (Eds.). (2016). *Methods and Procedures in TIMSS 2015*. Retrieved from Boston College, TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center website: <u>http://timssandpirls.bc.edu/publications/timss/2015-methods.html</u>
- Martin, M. O., von Davier, M., & Mullis, I. V. S. (Eds.). (2020). *Methods and Procedures: TIMSS 2019 Technical Report*. Retrieved from Boston College, TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center website: <u>https://timssandpirls.bc.edu/timss2019/methods</u>
- McCoy, D. C., Yoshikawa, H., Ziol-Guest, K. M., Duncan, G. J., Schindler, H. S., Magnuson, K., ... & Shonkoff, J. P. (2017). Impacts of early childhood education on medium-and long-term educational outcomes. *Educational Researcher*, 46(8), 474-487. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X17737739</u>
- Melhuish, E. C., Sylva, K., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I., Taggart, B., Phan, M. B., & Malin, A. (2008). Preschool influences on mathematics achievement. *Science*, 321(5893), 1161-1162.
- Mullis, I. V. S., & Martin, M. O. (Eds.). (2017). *TIMSS 2019 Assessment Frameworks*. Retrieved from Boston College, TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center website: <u>http://timssandpirls.bc.edu/timss2019/frameworks/</u>
- Mullis, I.V.S. & Martin, M.O. (Eds.) (2013). *TIMSS 2015 Assessment Frameworks*. Retrieved from Boston College, TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center website: <u>http://timssandpirls.bc.edu/timss2015/frameworks.html</u>
- Richter, L. M., Behrman, J. R., Britto, P., Cappa, C., Cohrssen, C., Cuartas, J., ... & Yoshikawa, H. (2021). Measuring and forecasting progress in education: what about early childhood? *npj Science of Learning*, 6(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41539-021-00106-</u> Z
- Sabol, T. J., Hong, S. S., Pianta, R. C., & Burchinal, M. R. (2013). Can rating pre-k programs predict children's learning? *Science*, 341, 845-846.

Looking beyond enrollment rates: The long-term influence of preschool...

- Saçkes, M., Trundle, K. C., & Bell, R. L. (2013). Science learning experiences in kindergarten and children's growth in science performance in elementary grades. *Education and Science*, 38(167), 112-125.
- Saçkes, M., Trundle, K. C., Bell, R. L., & O'Connell, A. A. (2011). The influence of early science experience in kindergarten on children's immediate and later science achievement: Evidence from the early childhood longitudinal study. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 48(2), 217-235.
- Stine, R. A. (1985). Bootstrap prediction intervals for regression. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 80, 1026-1031.
- Strietholt, R., Hogrebe, N., & Zachrisson, H. D. (2020). Do increases in national-level preschool enrollment increase student achievement? Evidence from international assessments. *International Journal of Educational Development*, *79*, 102287.
- van den Akker, J. (2003). Curriculum perspectives: An introduction. In J. van den Akker, W. Kuiper, & U. Hameyer (Eds.), Curriculum landscapes and trends (pp. 1–10). Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Waldfogel, J., & Zhai, F. (2008). Effects of public preschool expenditures on the test scores of fourth graders: evidence from TIMSS. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 14(1), 9-28.

Describing the play of three-year-old children in the home context

Petra Varttinen¹, Päivi Pihlaja², Piia af Ursin³

Abstract: This study examines play in the Finnish home context by specifically concentrating on the forms of play, quality factors of play and social nature of play. It is of particular interest to study play especially of three-year-olds, because the research on play for this group, in home environment is scarce especially in the Finnish context. This study is part of longitudinal, multidisciplinary study (STEPS) and is based on the responses from 921 families who answered the questionnaires both at the study recruitment point and at three years. The data were gathered during the years 2011-2013 for the first time ever from the Finnish home context and are a basis for research to be done later. There is a need for this kind of descriptive and identifying study to understand play in the home context. The results suggest that play, and especially playing outdoors, had a strong position in children's lives. Some forms of play were clearly gender-based and some demographic factors had a connection to the social nature of play. In addition, the level of participation in early childhood education and care was associated with play. No earlier studies have been conducted on the associations between participating in ECE and an increase in the sociability of play in the home context. Participating in ECE expands children's social network and promotes possibilities to form friendships. In public discourse, the need to increase children's participation in ECEC has been strongly emphasized. This research supports these views.

Introduction

Article History Received: 14 August 2023 Accepted: 15 May 2024

Keywords

Home context; Forms of play; Quality of play; Social nature of play

Although play is seen so critically important to children's physical and mental development and wellbeing that it is included in the article of United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNICEF, 1989), opinions on the nature of play have been controversial for many years in the field of educational studies. Play, as a phenomenon, is hard to define so that every researcher agrees on the term with the same conceptual clarity. Diversity in characterizing play can lead to a situation that research and results cannot be compared (Burghardt, 2012).

Despite several different perceptions of play, researchers have reached a consensus on one thing play is seen as a mental process (Burghardt, 2012; Lillard, 2015), and it evolves and changes along with a child's age and development as well as during the actual play situation. Play is largely a social process (Burghardt, 2012; Eberle, 2014; Hakkarainen, 2001; Helenius & Lummelahti, 2014) and this socially structured process continues into adolescence, although the form of play naturally evolves. In the field of developmental psychology, play has often been designated using different criteria and/or stages. Although these criteria can vary depending on the point of view, it is common for all researchers to perceive play as voluntary, imaginary, self-rewarding, satisfying and pleasurable social process (e.g. Burghardt, 2012; Caillois, 2006; Eberle, 2014; Hughes, 1998; Kalliala, 1999).

Researchers and early childhood teachers agree on the importance of play (Hakkarainen et al., 2013; Lillard, 2015). It has been claimed that play is disappearing or at least radically diminishing in childhood

©2024 Authrs. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license.

¹ University of Turku, Faculty of Education, Department of Education, Turku, Finland, e-mail:peanva@tu.fi, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0435-7130

² University of Eastern Finland, Faculty of Education, School of Applied Educational Science and Teacher Education, Joensuu, Finland, e-mail: <u>paivi.pihlaja@uef.fi</u>, ORCID: <u>http://orcid.org/0000-0002-1393-3104</u>

³ University of Turku, Faculty of Education, Department of Education, Turku, Finland, e-mail: piia.ursinaf@utu.fi, ORCID: http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7304-3237

Petra VARTTINEN et al.

and from children's everyday lives (e.g., Gray, 2011; Ginsburgh, 2007; Järvinen et al., 2012; Nicolopoulou, 2010; O'connor et al., 2017; Whitebread, 2012). In conjunction with this, there have been critical views expressed as to whether early childhood educators understand the meaning of play for children's wellbeing and development (Hakkarainen et al., 2013; Kalliala, 2008; Murray, 2018). Moreover, parents have received some criticism about their ignorance of children's play and its meaning for development and wellbeing. The value of play has been too often under valuated according to several studies (e.g. Baluja et al., 2012; Bento et al., 2017; Ginsburg, 2007; Little et al., 2011). Although Heljakka (2024) is also concerned about the diminishing of play and its premature end, she doesn't fully endorse this point of view. She has studied the technologization of play in Finland between 2018 and 2022 and sees, instead of a decline in play, a transformation within play-viewing the digital world as an opportunity and gaming as one form of play.

A growing culture of fear about the possible accidents that might occur affect parents' and professionals' attitudes toward outdoor play, so children tend to be kept inside, occupied with structured activities, and controlled by adults (Brussoni et al., 2012; Singer et al., 2009). Many parents do not know how to support children's play and have a limited perspective about their role in joining children's play (Vandermaas-Peeler et al., 2012). This notion is interesting because the conceptions, beliefs, and values that parents have about what constitutes a good life and how to care and educate their child, as well as their attitudes toward play, child image, and concept of an ideal human being all influence a child's opportunity to play (Puolimatka, 1999).

According to Kalliala (2008) the circumstances needed for play to succeed should be noted. Adults can organize space, give time, and offer different kinds of toys and tools to children. Adults can also enrich play by offering experiences for their children such as going on trips or reading stories (Kalliala, 2008). A safe play environment is at the core of all activities, as children cannot fully engage in play if they feel unsafe. Therefore, in addition to the physical environment, it is important to also ensure the safety of the psychological environment, as young children need safe and sensitive adults around them (Kalliala, 2008). It is important that children have the opportunity to continue their play for as long as they want and have the opportunity to create play themselves because play should occur from the children's point of view (Bergström, 1997). When shifting the focus to the field of neuroscience, we can address the significance of play for development from the perspective of brain function. In order to thrive and adapt, the brain requires a neurotransmitter called dopamine. The shared joy generated by play connects individuals through strong dopamine activation (Sajaniemi et al., 2015).

To be able to promote children's opportunities to play at home, it is necessary to obtain more information about small children's play in home context. It is essential to discover, what and how children play at home and with whom they play because play and playfulness is significant in children's formation and maintenance of friendships, which are important in supporting healthy social and emotional development of a child (Panksepp, 2007). The importance of studying three-year-old children's play is based on the fact that, at this age, most children start their early childhood education and care (ECE) in Finland because that is when the parent's right to childcare leave ends and also because the social nature of play intensifies at the age of three.

Knowledge gained from home facilitates cooperation between parents and early childhood education when aim is to strengthen children's long-lasting play to continue and evolve. This study reinforces consistent guidance in play between home and early childhood education and enhances parents' understanding of the importance of play. Every environment around the child, from immediate environment (microsystem) concerning child's family to the relationship and interaction between educator and family (mesosystem) influence children's play (Bronfenbrenner, 1974).

Also, at the age of three, the perception of gender (i.e. the child's awareness of whether they are a boy or a girl) has been developed (Kohllberg, 1966; Martinez et al., 2020). This Kohllberg's theory of gender identity development has been later contradicted, but the influence of the social interaction and expectations towards children how to behave according to gender stereotype, is commonly acknowledged

(e.g., Paechter, 2007; Stainton-Rogers, 2003). In many studies (e.g. Boe & Woods, 2018; Mesman & Groeneveld, 2017; Morawska, 2020) evidence has been found that play is strongly gender-based. Boys and girls play differently using different kind of forms of play (e.g. Green et al., 2004; Sherman & Zurbriggen 2014) and also toy preferences are gender-typed (Zosuls et al., 2018). The aim of this study is to describe children's play in the home context—the forms of play, quality of play, and social nature of play - and to find out if gender, family factors (social status, income level, family structure, parent's current activity), and participation in ECE associates with children's play in the home context.

The Forms of Play, The Quality of Play, and The Social Nature of Play

Play can be divided and observed from either the perspective of cognitive development or social interaction (Whitebread, 2012). From the cognitive development point of view, play is categorized into different forms and examined play is examined based on its features because, in this way - when observing children, it can be discovered what children play and the extent of their repertoire of play. Each form of play supports different part in children's learning and development. In the field of the study, notion of the forms of play is quite unanimous, even though there are some slight differences between authors. In this study, the forms of play are derived from the most commonly occurring forms of play, for example, imaginary play, role playing, building, and playing with objects. Each form supports children's overall development (e.g. Parten, 1932; Piaget, 1972; Smith, 2005; Whitebread, 2012).

Play has already been divided into five social categories in the 1930s by Milfred Parten (Parten, 1932; see also e.g. Helenius, 2014). This basic categorization of Parten is still valid, although additions have been made over the years (see e.g., Garvey, 1990). These categories are not hierarchical, although they are partly age-related. The categories are onlooker behavior, solitary independent, parallel, associative, and cooperative play. In onlooker behavior, the child's play is apparently passive and can entail watching others. In solitary independent play, the child plays on their own. In parallel play, the child plays next to another child but without any clear interaction or joint play. In associative play, the child shares materials and talks to others, but there is lack of coordinative play activities and shared interests. In cooperative play, children organize their play toward some specific goal and negotiate roles (Parten, 1932). At the age of three, children's play increasingly evolves from solitary independent play into associative and cooperative play, although this transition is not hierarchical. In the play of three-year-olds, every social form from solitary to cooperative play can be observed, and the social nature of play can change depending on the situation (Smilansky & Shefatya, 1990).

In this study we focus on describing the amount of solitary play (playing alone), playing with others (with parents, siblings, other child) and the amount of onlooker play (child watches other children's play). The amount of playing alone and playing with other children are key factors when evaluating the social nature and promoting children's possibilities for social play with other children. Although an adult's guidance is significant for play to evolve, the most significant role in learning in play is with other children. When playing together with peers' children adopt and mirror from each other. The importance of peers needs to be emphasized compared to the importance of adults. Children learn to plan and negotiate together (Hännikäinen, 1995b; Kronqvist, 2006.)

When discussing the quality of play, we focus on the quantity and continuity of play, and concentration in play. These factors are present in play and parent's attitudes and actions; physical and emotional availability influences them greatly (Kalliala, 2008; Singer, 2009). According to Vuorisalo (2009) to enhance play, it needs time, space, toys, and other players. Play is so essential to children, as mentioned earlier, that when children can play as much as they want, they do play a lot and when they have possibility to continue the same play in the following day – they do. The continuity of play develops a child's memory and creates a basis for storytelling. At the same time, it is important to notice that duration of play or a single play situation can vary considerably for a three-year-old depending on what the children themselves value most in the situation. It is often more important to children to participate and to be able to affect to situation than how the play itself proceeds. The motives for play are then social and arise from the peer group (Vuorisalo, 2009).

Petra VARTTINEN et al.

Although we are talking about the quality of play, it is challenging to say that a certain kind of play is either good or bad. However, in the play of three-year-olds, the foreseeable elements are growing sociability, concentration, continuity, and role taking in play with the help of adults (Dunderfelt, 2011; Keltikangas-Järvinen, 2012). If children are not given the time, space, and the independence to develop their own spontaneous and self-initiated play, even the most skillful will not be able to play (Whitebread, 2012).

Importance of Play at Home Environment

Perhaps surprisingly, it is common in many studies for play to be regarded as only having instrumental value. As such, play has been seen to help children acquire academic skills: learning readiness, learning behaviors, and problem-solving skills (Coolahan et al., 2000). These studies have been conducted in official contexts like in early childhood education (ECE) while fewer studies have been conducted in the home context. However, in studies concerning play at home, the same instrumental role of play can be seen as in the formal education context (Lin and Li, 2018; LaForett & Mendez, 2017).

The amount of time families spend together has been progressively decreasing during recent years and this might influence also to the mutual playtime (Miettinen and Rotkirch, 2012). Parents have an essential role as being the first ones to enable small children's world of play (Lindqvist, 2001). The studies concerning play in the home context concentrate mainly on interaction between children and their parents (Lin and Li, 2018; Lyytinen and Lautamo, 2003; Runcan, 2012). There are no descriptive studies regarding the form of play, quality of play and social nature of play. In the home context, small children often play alone and parallel play and therefore, parents' involvement in the play situation and the joint play situation is important. This is because it gives the child the opportunity to practice their skills, limitations, and ability to learn to regulate their own actions and the interaction in the situation. However, if a parent has difficulties to interpreting child's initiatives and suggestions, the play situations are experienced to be difficult (Esdaile & Olson 2004). Adult guidance and involvement in play situations are essential in order to evolve long-lasting play (Lillard, 2015; Mikkola & Nivalainen, 2011). Home is a significant environment for a child's development, and play is a central part of this development.

By understanding how children play at home, we can gain valuable insights into how they develop cognitive, social, and emotional skills. Examining the amount of play is important because, it gives us an idea of how much time children spend playing at home. This can affect the opportunities they have, to develop various skills through play. Additionally, it is important to gather information about the social nature of play - whether children play alone or with other children. A large amount of solitary play may be a risk factor to child's social development and their ability to form and maintain relationships with others.

Finnish Families

In Finland, the number of families with underage children has been slowly falling over the past ten years. In the 1950sm the percentage of families with children was 64.4% and in 2013 it had decreased to 39.1%, and in 2021 it was 37%. The most common family type, to which 43 % of the families belong to, continues to be the nuclear family - a married couple with one child (Official Statistics Finland, 2019).

The Participation rate in ECE in Finland is very low when compared to other OECD countries (OECD 2016.) The main reason for this is that Finnish society financially supports families in taking care of their children at home until children are three years old (Karila, 2016). Children under age three are mainly taken care at home, only about 30 % of children under age three are in ECE. About 68 % of Finnish three-year-old children and 75 % of four-year-old children are in ECE (OECD 2015). In summary can be said that family sizes are small and nearly 70 % of the children at the age of three-year-old, participate ECE services outside home.

Research questions

The aim of this study is to describe children's play in home context - the forms of play, quality of

Describing the play of three-year-old children...

play and social nature of play.

1. What forms of play do three-year-olds play at home, what kinds of quality factors of play can be found, and what is the social nature of play in the home context?

2. How do gender and family factors (social status, income level, family structure, parent's current activity), and participation in ECE associate with children's play in the home context?

Method and Participants

Participants were Finnish parents, whose children were born in the Hospital District of Southwest Finland. Originally 1797 mothers and 1658 spouses were recruited for the intense follow-up of this cohort study during the years of 2008 - 2010 (see Lagström et al., 2013 for more of the cohort and recruited). This part of the study is based on the responses of 921 families from 45 different municipalities from small- to large-sized cities, who answered the questionnaires both at the recruitment point and at three years. Most of the responses were given by mothers (95.9%) and only a small portion of the answers were given by fathers (4.1%). Due to the father's low response rate, the associations between background variables and children's play are examined based on mother's answers. The sample of the families is in mostly consistent with the family structure in Finnish society during the research period 2013, but the sampling differs at small scale regarding the structure of the family (see Lagström et al. 2013). Compared to the cohort population, the number of families with single parent was lower (4.3 vs 18%) and regarding marital status, cohabitation more prevalent (35 vs 18%) than among the study population. (See anonymous et al., 2013). The demographic information of the participating families is shown in Table 1.

Variables*	Ν	%
Age	896	
< 25	43	4.8
25-35	693	77.4
> 35	160	17.9
Social Status	864	
Experts or senior executives	652	75.5
Other	212	24.5
Income level	903	
< 2000	181	20
≥ 2000	722	80
Family structure	899	
Nuclear family	710	79
Blended family	149	16.6
Single parent	40	4.4
Current activity	900	
Working full-time	396	44
Full-time parent	278	31
Othor**	226	25

Table 1. The distribution of data according to family (N=921) background variables

*Due to the father's low response rate, data gathered is based on mother's answers.

** Other: working part-time, on shift leave, unemployed, studying, on sick leave, retired. Note: N varies between different variables due to missing answers.

Instrument

The present data derives from the parent's self-reported answers to the questionnaires, which were prepared for the third year and distributed between the years of 2011-2013 (see Lagström et al. 2013). The questionnaire targeted to gain information about well-being and family contexts (somatic and mental health, living conditions, socio-economic factors, family functioning, family interaction and parenting) and the development of the child (temperament, cognitive and language development, gestures, play behavior, socio-emotional development and eating behavior). For this study, we applied the section measuring children's play, which included 19 items (11 items regarding children's form of play at home, 3 items regarding quality, and 5 items regarding the social aspect of play). All the items were assessed using Likert scale from 1 to 4 (1 = never, 2 = seldom, 3 = sometimes, 4 = often/a lot), and they are as follows.

Petra VARTTINEN et al.

Forms of the play:

- 1. Imaginary play (Batman, stories, movies)
- 2. Role playing
- 3. Building
- 4. Jiggshaw puzzles
- 5. Playing with toy cars
- 6. Playing with soft toys or dolls
- 7. Running games, hide-and-seek
- 8. Play with objects/toys
- 9. Playing games (e.g. cards)
- 10. Playing computer games
- 11. Playing outdoors

The Quality factors of Play:

- 1. Child plays a lot / quantity of play
- 2. Child changes the play often / concentration on play
- 3. Child continues unfinished play in following days / continuity of play

The Social Nature of Play:

- 1. Child plays alone
- 2. Child plays with other children (not siblings)
- 3. Child plays with a parent / parents
- 4. Child plays with other siblings
- 5. Child watches other children's play (looker-on)

When examining associations between the family and other variables for the quality of play (table 5), the variables were dichotomized and re-coded for the analyses as follows: the "quantity of play" was coded 0 for playing only a little (values 1–3) and 1 for playing a lot (value 4). "Concentration of play" was coded 0 for low concentration (values 3–4) and 1 for high concentration (values 1–2). Similarly, "continuity of play" was coded 0 for weak (values 1–3) and 1 for strong (value 4) continuity.

Like the quality of play, the items describing the social nature of play (see Table 6) were dichotomized and re-coded. For "playing alone," values 1–3 were coded as 0 meaning the child never/seldom/rarely plays alone, and value 4 was coded as 1 meaning the child often plays alone. For "playing with others," values 1–3 were coded as 0 meaning the child never/seldom/rarely plays with others, and value 4 was coded as 1 meaning the child never/seldom/rarely plays with others, and value 4 was coded as 1 meaning the child never/seldom/rarely plays with others,

To discover the diversity in three-year-old children's play we formed an additive variable including all forms of play children were reported playing often. The scale for the "diversity of play" varied between 0-11.

Background variables in this study are the following ones: child's gender, the existence of siblings, income level, social status, current activity of the parents, family structure and child's participating in ECE. In actual questionnaire the age of the parents was originally continuous variable, in this article these variables were changed to a new three-class variables so that years from 17 to 25 got the value 1, years from 26 to 35 got the value 2 and years from over 35 got the value 3.

The parent's current activity was re-coded as working full-time and not working full-time. The parent's social class (manager, professional, technician/associate worker, skilled agricultural worker, forestry and fishing worker, craft and related trades worker, plant and machine operator, assembler, and other) was based on the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-08) made by International Labour organization (ILO) in 2008 (and was re-coded as a higher (at least professional) or lower (all others) occupational status. As independent variables, the existence of siblings and the level of income in the family were used in this study.

The existence of siblings was re-coded as follows: A child with no siblings was given a value 1 and a child with siblings was given a value of 2. In this study, the income level was re-coded to a family-level

Describing the play of three-year-old children...

income that was either under or over 2,000 euros per month; the classification is based on the definition of Statistics of Finland for the at-risk-of-poverty threshold (OSF, 2015).

For further analysis, dicotomic sum variable was made from the quality items: child plays a lot, child changes play often and child continues unfinished play next day. These items were originally scaled from 1 - 4: 1= never, 2 = seldom, 3 = sometimes and 4 = often/a lot. Child plays a lot was re-coded as 0 for not playing a lot/not focusing on play/ not continuing the play next day and as 1 for playing a lot/focusing on play/continuing the play next day.

Analysis

All statistical analyses were made using SPSS program (SPSS Manual, version 27). First, the descriptive statistics were observed to obtain a general impression of the children's play. Independent samples t-test were used to study the differences in play between boys and girls. P-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. In addition to the P-value, the substantive significance of the difference (the effect size) was reported. In this study we used Cohen's (Cohen, 1988) d value. When the effect size is 0.2, connection is considered weak. When d is 0.5, the connection is medium/strong and if d is >0.8, connection is very strong.

Second, a series of Crosstabs were conducted to examine the associations between family demographics, ECE participation, and the form, quality and social nature of play. The Chi-Square Test of independence was used to test the significance of the associations between the variables.

Ethical Considerations

This study is part of a longitudinal, multidisciplinary cohort study (STEPS study) that has been carried out since 2008. Ethics Committee and the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health has approved the study protocol in 2007. This authorization extends first seven years of the cohort study. Parents were notified with the option to discontinue at any point of the cohort study. Participation was voluntary and anonymity was guaranteed. After the recruiting process, families were kept informed with regular letters during the cohort research (see Lagström et al., 2013).

Results

In this section, we present the results concerning the questions: What forms of play do three-yearolds play at home, what kinds of quality factors of play can be found, and what is the social nature of play in the home context.

First we describe the forms and diversity of play, secondly the quality of play (quantity, concentration and continuity) and thirdly, the social aspect (playing alone, playing with others; parents; siblings; other children) of play at home. Then we present results related to the background—how gender, family factors (social status, income level, family structure, current activity), and participation in ECE associate with children's play in the home context.

The Forms of Play at Home

The five most common forms of play in the home context in order of preference were: playing outdoors, running games, hide-and-seek, building/blocking, role play and playing with objects/toys. As seen in Table 2, there were no differences between boys and girls in playing games, doing jigsaw puzzles, playing with objects, playing with computer or running games. Gender differences were found in the following forms: playing outdoors, block activities/play, role playing, playing with toy cars, playing with dolls and soft toys and pretending / imaginary play. Boys played more with toy cars and did blocking more than girls. On the other hand, girls played more with dolls and soft toys, and did more role playing. There was a statistical difference between the genders in two forms of play: playing outdoors and pretending/imaginary play. Boys played more outdoors than girls, and girls had more imaginary play than boys. Playing outdoors was the most common form of play compared to other forms of play, as 80% of the children were reported playing outdoors often or a lot. Looking at the diversity of children's play, no

Petra VARTTINEN et al.

differences between boys and girls were found. Majority of the three year olds (42%) played from five to six different forms of play at home (M=5.1, SD= 1.729).

		Total		Boys		Girls			
Forms of Play		(n=	833)	(n:	=431)	(n:	=402)		
	%a	M	SD	М	SD	M	SD	р	d^*
Playing outdoors	79.5	3.78	.644	3.82	.438	3.74	.507	.000	.168
Running games, hide-and-seek	67.3	3.63	.564	3.63	.567	3.63	.561	.963	-
Building/Blocking	61.0	3.53	.636	3.67	.522	3.38	.685	.000	.466
Role Play	60.4	3.45	.791	3.25	.870	3.65	.638	.000	.524
Play with objects	57.6	3.48	.674	3.51	.668	3.45	.680	.513	-
Play with Toy cars	50.1	3.19	.926	3.82	.803	2.52	.848	.000	1.95
Play with dolls or soft toys	42.7	3.10	.919	2.56	.848	3.67	.580	.000	1.53
Pretense/imaginary play	34.7	2.88	1.02	2.78	1.06	2.99	.968	.000	.280
Playing games (e.g. cards)	13.2	2.56	.834	2.44	.821	2.68	.831	.899	-
Doing jigsaw puzzles	40.8	3.22	.755	3.12	.770	3.34	.724	.831	-
Computer games	2.3	1.44	.742	1.42	.714	1.43	.771	.254	-
Diversity of Play**		5.1	1.729	5.42	1.82	5.67	1.98	.058	-

Table 2. Forms of play in the home context and the differences in forms of play between boys and girls (independent samples t-tests)

^a percentage of children playing a lot; * Cohen's d; ** scale from 0-11. Notes: There were no differences in the diversity of play between children in the home context and those in ECE (p >0.05).

Quality of Play at Home

The common features concerning the quality of play in the home context were that the most of the children played a lot at home and half of the children changed their play often and only one-fifth of the children often continued unfinished play in the following days. As seen in Table 3, no differences were observed between the genders regarding the quality of play, p > .05.

Table 3. Quality of Play at Home and the differences in the quality of play between boys and girls (independent samples t-tests)

		Total (n=828)		Boys (n=429)		G (n=	irls =399)	
Quality items of play	%a	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	р
Plays a lot*	92.0	3.92	.192	3.92	.243	3.91	.285	.498
Changes play often**	54.4	3.51	.608	3.53	.576	3.50	.596	.888
Continues unfinished play next day***	17.7	2.77	.844	2.79	.814	2.76	.801	.575

Notes: a percentage of children playing a lot; * Quantity, ** Consentratio; *** Continuity.

Social Nature of Play at Home

Table 4 presents different aspects of sociability of children's play. The most common feature was that children played with their parents (M=3.39) and also that 35.7 % of the children played often alone (M=3.24). There was statistical difference between genders, suggesting that boys played more with a parent/parents than girls. There were no differences between boys and girls in other social factors of play.

Associations Between Background and Children's Play

Table 4. The Social Nature of Play and the differences between boys and girls (independent samples t-tests)

Social aspects		Total (n=916)		Boys (n=477)		Girls (n=444)			
-	% ^a	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	р	d^*
Plays alone	35.7	3.24	.647	3.23	.658	3.26	.031	.391	
Plays with a parent/parents	46.5	3.39	.632	3.45	.598	3.32	.661	.003	.200
Plays with siblings ^b	50.9	2.96	1.23	3.00	1.21	2.92	1.25	.362	
Plays with other children (not siblings)	28.9	3.08	.724	3.06	.744	3.10	.703	.423	
Watches other children's play	57.6	3.48	.674	3.51	.668	3.45	.680	.741	
	4.4	2.29	.777	2.28	.779	2.30	.775		

Notes: * Cohen's d, a percentage of children playing a lot b including only children with siblings (n=651)

Factors Associated with the Quality of Play (Including ECE)

Looking at the connections between background variables and different aspects of the quality of play, i.e. quantity, continuity and concentration, no significant associations were found. As seen in Table 5, all examined associations were statistically insignificant, p > .05.

	Plays a lot ^a		Conti	Continues play			Concentrates to play often/ a lot $^{\rm b}$		
				next day often ^a					
Variables	n	%	X²(df)	n	%	X²(df)	n	%	X²(df)
Gender			0.887(1)			0.024(1)			0.770(1)
Boy	440	52.3		474	51.9		454	52	
Girl	401	47.7		439	48.1		419	48	
Siblings			1.770(1)			0.205(1)			0.460(1)
Yes	600	75.9		117	72.2		254	29.1	
No	190	24.1		45	27.8		619	70.9	
Family Income			0.118(1)			0.066(1)			2.438(1)
<2000	368	45.8		71	46.7		377	45.1	
>2000	436	54.2		81	53.3		459	54.9	
Current activity			0.464(1)			1.250(1)			0.262(1)
Working fulltime	363	46.8		63	42.6		379	47	
Not working fulltime	413	53.2		85	57.4		14	42.4	
Social status of the family			1.770(1)			1.133(1)			1.549(1)
Experts or senior	600	75.9		120	78.9		620	75.8	
executives Others	190	24.1		32	21.1		198	24.2	
Structure of the family			0.154(2)			1.187(2)			1.393(2)
Nuclear family	706	79.2		129	82.2		676	79.2	
Blended family	147	16.5		22	14		142	16.6	
Single parent	40	4.5		6	3.8		35	4.1	
ECE			0.793(1)			3.697(1)			2.77(1)
Yes	544	91.4		95	16.0		573	96.6	
No	297	93.1		67	21.1		300	94.3	

Table 5. The associations between family and other factors to quality of play

Note: a Classified 1-3=0, 4=1, b Classified 3-4=0, 1-2=1; * p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Factors Associated with the Social Nature of Play (Including ECE)

The existence of siblings, family income level, structure of the family, and parent's current activity were all associated with the social nature of children's play (Table 6).

Table 6. The associations between background factors to the social nature of play

	Plays of	ten alone		Plays of		
Variables	п	%	$X^2(df)$	п	%	$X^2(df)$
Gender			0.20(1)			0.003(1)
Boy (n=474)	167	35.2		137	28.9	
Girl (n=448)	162	36.2		127	28.4	
Siblings			16.869(1)***			3.822(1)
Yes (n=651)	206	31.7		175	27	
No (n=270)	123	46.1		89	33.5	
Family income			5.655(1)*			5.106(1)*
<2000 (n=181)	163	40.4		101	25.3	
>2000 (n=722)	155	32.7		153	32.2	
Current activity			5.535(1)*			4.203(1)*
Working fulltime (n=396)	126	32.0		125	31.9	
Not working fulltime (n=452)	179	39.8		115	25.5	
Social status of the family			0.20(1)			0.808(1)
Experts (n=652)	233	36.0		197	30.4	

Petra	VARTTINEN	et	al.
-------	-----------	----	-----

Others (n=212)	77	36.5		57	27.1	
Structure of the family			3.686(2)			6.050(2)*
Nuclear family (n=710)	245	34.7		203	28.8	
Blended family (n=149)	61	41.2		37	25.2	
Single parent (n=40)	18	45.0		18	45.0	
ECE			12.085(1)***			15.108(2)***
Yes (n=600)	190	31.9		196	33.0	
No (n=320)	139	43.4		68	21.3	

Note: * p>.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Playing alone was more common for children who did not have any siblings. Moreover, in families with lower income – the children tended to play alone more. In addition, almost 40 % of the children who's parents were not working fulltime, often played alone. In families with a higher income level and in families where the parents worked full-time, children tended to play more with other children. Most of the children who played often with other children were from single-parent families. Children at home tended to play more alone than children who participated in ECE. Playing with other children in the home context (not with siblings) was more common for children participating in ECE than for children who did not attend ECE.

Discussion and Conclusions

This study examined play in the home context by concentrating especially on the forms of play, quality of play and the social nature of play. In general, children's play seemed diverse. The characteristics of play – the quality and social nature – did not differ between boys and girls; however, boys and girls played somewhat different forms of play. The study's findings indicate that children tended to play outdoors a great deal and that several forms of play were gender-based. There is also an indication that the repertoire of the play did not differ between children who had been entirely at home compared to children who had attended to ECE. It seems that, in general, children played a great deal in the home context. Thus, according to parents, play was not diminishing at all (cf. Gray, 2011; Ginsburgh, 2007; Järvinen et al., 2012; Nicolopoulou, 2010; O'Connor et al., 2017; Whitebread, 2012), and on the contrary, play seemed to have a strong position in Finnish children's lives at home.

According to reported answers of the parents, the majority of the three-year old children seldom played computer games at home. This result is convergent to earlier studies where young children's (under three-years) most common way to use digital devices was watching TV and not, for example, playing computer games (e.g. Korhonen, 2010; Tena et al., 2019). During the last decade, the digitalization of our society has taken a huge leap forward. If this study would be implemented now in the year 2023, the results would probably differ since digitalization has increased strongly in the whole of society and influences families' ways of spending time together. Homes can be seen as changing media environments for children, and the media use of children is related to time spent alone, with family members, and with friends (Repo&Valkonen, 2017). It is evident that media use influences children's play in the Finnish home context in ways that we do not yet fully know. According to Heljakka (2024) who has studied the technologization of play, says that it doesn't do justice to play if it's thought of solely as playing with toys or imaginative role-playing. According to a broad definition, for example, gaming can be considered play (Heljakka, 2024).

In addition, children were reported to play outdoors quite often, result that is contradictory to earlier international discussion (see e.g. Singer et al., 2009). In the field of early childhood education at theEuropean level, playing outdoors has been seen as arbitrary (see e.g. Järvinen et al., 2012). Nevertheless, in these Finnish data, playing outdoors was extremely common for both boys and girls, for boys even more than girls. This perhaps indicates that in Finnish society outdoor activities are highly valued overall in every day lives and that the society and outdoor spaces are seen as very safe for children to play. According to Dodd et al., (2021) when parent's attitudes around risk-taking in play are more positive, children spend more time playing outdoors.

Boys and girls played different forms of play. This result concerning gender-based play supports earlier findings (e.g. Davis & Hines 2020; Green et al., 2004; Sherman & Zurbriggen 2014; Lew-Levy at al. 2019). According to Davis & Hines (2020) children's toy references are gender-related, girls prefer girlrelated toys and boys prefer boy-related toys, girls also prefer more than boys - toys that has been classified as neutral. The differences between genders might be explained by different kinds of parenting, where gender acceptable behavior is influenced by gender stereotypes – for example girls are directed to play more inside and boys more outside. Morawska (2020) claims that this is because of subconscious thinking that girls need to be protected from injuries and boys are allowed to practice more risk-taking play. According to Finnish National Agency for Education (EDUFI, 2022) one core aim of ECE is gender equality. The foundation of educational work is based on perspectives of equality, gender equality, and diversity, which guide teachers in collaborating with families.ECE in Finland is gender-sensitive. The staff encourages children to make choices without being tied to stereotypical roles and expectations related to gender or other personal characteristics. Collaboration with families is planned and developed in a way that strengthens equality and gender equality, enabling the dismantling of traditional gender stereotypes. Based on this research, it can perhaps be concluded that families still need support and encouragement to create a gender-sensitive play environment and interaction in the home context. In early childhood education, it is increasingly important to strengthen and enhance collaboration with families regarding a gender-sensitive educational approach.

Slightly over one-third of the children played often pretense or imaginary play at home, boys less than girls - role playing was considered one form of imaginary play, and in this study, nearly 60% of the children often role played. Thus, together with pretend play, the most common form of play was imaginary play. This result is similar to earlier studies (see Cameron et al., 2011). In this study, parents answered a questionnaire where play was categorized into different forms and play was examined based on its features. The study was not designed to go any deeper into play situations—what happened inside the play—but it is very important to notice that almost every form of play might include imaginary play. For example, when a child is playing with toy cars or dolls or is building with blocks, the child can simultaneously imagine the cars to be a family and name them, present dolls as different roles, and use blocks to build a castle for toy animals. To deepen knowledge about imaginary play in general, it is necessary to study this further in the home context.

Concerning the quality of play (quantity, concentration and continuity of play), it seems that in general, as mentioned at the beginning of this chapter – children played a lot at home context. Concerning the continuity of play, we found that children changed their play frequently. Only 18% of the children continued the same play the next day. Does this imply that the quality of this type of play is weak in the home context? Not directly because it is a natural phase of play in which the duration of the actual play situation varies, although there should also be long-lasting play in a three-year-old's life. As mentioned earlier, adults' interest and participation in play supports their child's play and focus (see Mikkola & Nivalainen, 2011; Lillard, 2015). The parents' role as an enabler in giving space and time for the same play to continue the next day requires adults to tolerate chaos at home. Thus, it is important to give knowledge to parents about the importance of long-lasting play in children's development and wellbeing. It would be relevant discuss the importance of play and observations related to children's play with parents. This way, we can promote the continuation of play between two different systems around the child. Shared knowledge gained from home might increase possibility for long-lasting play to continue and evolve when child is in transition from home (microsystem) to early childhood education environment (mesosystem). According to Bronfenbrenner (1974) the most important aspect is the cooperation between different developmental environments of the child, i.e., the functionality of the mesosystem.

When looking at the social nature of play, parents reported that 36% of the children aged three years frequently played alone at home. The change in Finnish family structure can perhaps be seen in this result. Due to the decrease in family size, children do not have peer playmates inside the family anymore. This is also a somewhat worrying result, as children can make permanent friendships even before their third birthday, so the aspect of evolving loneliness is seen here. From this point of view, it would be important

Petra VARTTINEN et al.

for the child to have different kinds of opportunities outside of the home to have contact with peers.

Almost 40% of the children with a parent that did not work full-time frequently played alone. This might be explained by the fact that children, whose parent is working full-time, tend to participate in ECE services outside the home and, because of this, they have the possibility to enhance social connections to other children and play opportunities. Children who play together with other children regularly came from single-parent families where the parent worked full-time. Participation in ECE seems to strengthen the social nature of play—children play more with other children in the home context if they have been involved in ECE. Earlier studies have mainly represented single parenting to be a risk factor for a child's welfare (see Forssén et al., 2009) rather than a strength to a child's development; however, here, especially in the social aspect of play, it enriches the child's development. No earlier studies have been conducted on the associations between participating in ECE and an increase in the sociability of play in the home context.

Participation in ECE did have a major influence on the sociability of play. Overall, children who participated in ECE played with other children and with their siblings more compared to children in home care. This is a significant result. Participating in ECE expands children's social network and promotes possibilities to form friendships. In public discussions, there is a very strong opinion that supports an increase in the number of children able to participate in ECE so that every child could benefit from it. This study supports these views.

The time that families spend together and especially time that parents are with their children has been shortened due to the busy weekdays, long working and studying days along with several hobbies (Järvinen et al., 2012). In addition all parents don't have skills to play with their children (Komi, 2014a). Parent's self-efficacy is associated to the way children approach play (motivation to play) and in turn children's motivation and positive feed-back during the play has effect on parent's self-efficacy (see Román-Oyola et al., 2018). On the other hand, during the COVID-19 pandemic, the time families spent together grew significantly because of the isolation regulations, which caused ending children's participation in ECE and hobbies outside the home. Also, the time that the father and children spent together increased during the pandemic in Finnish families (Nurhonen et al., 2021). Although the time spent together grew, there is no knowledge about how the pandemic directly influenced children's play at home.

In the next chapter we present limitations of this study, but this study also has strengths. It can be seen as the first large quantitative study from three-year-old children's play at home in Finland—subject to where preface information of this phenomena is necessary to obtain. It is necessary to repeat this quantitative inquiry to compare possible changes in play during the past 10 years. On the other hand, for example, results concerning gendered play are consistent with contemporary studies, where the home environment for play is gendered (see MacPhee et al., 2019; Mesman & Groeneveld, 2017). The question regarding the parent's ability to offer non-gendered play environments for children is still essential.

Limitations and Further research

In this study, the limitations first concern the method of implementing the study. In this kind of survey study, the possibility that respondents have understood questions differently, such as questions regarding the forms of play, quality and social nature of play and the concepts of play, might differ among parent's and therefore influence their answers. The Likert scale (were options varied from never, rarely, seldom and often) might confuse some parents. It might be difficult to evaluate the difference between options, for example between seldom and rarely.

Second, limitations regarding the choices made in processing the variables, can restrict the results. This appears especially in the social aspect of play, were only two items (playing alone and playing with others) were selected to represent the social nature of play. This was done due to stress of other children's importance to social play (see Hännikäinen, 1995b; Kronqvist, 2006).

Third, using data that has been obtained during the years 2011–2013 does not necessarily describe

the forms of play, the quality of play, nor the social aspect of play in 2023. So, these results are not directly generalized to 2020's.

Playing computer games had a minor role during years 2011-2013. Future research could concentrate to find out have digital games taken over space from other forms of play in children's lives compared to the results here. Compared to classification of forms of play in this study, it is necessary in a future study to expand computer play to digital play, where interest lies on the social aspect of play. How does digital play influence children's development of social skills and time spent with other children and, in addition, how is digital play connected to development of compassion?

Future research could focus on finding out how much parents spent time with their children and how do they evaluate themselves as players – how does the parents self-efficacy and conceptions as players effect to their engagement and interest to support childrens play at home context. Interest lies also in the continuity of play – what kind of actions and conditions long-lasting play needs to transfer from ECE to home and vice versa.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: PV: Design of the study, writing the article. PP: Conception and design of the study, drafting the article and revising the article critically for intellectual content. PAU: Data analysis and interpretation of data; drafting the article and revising the article critically for intellectual content.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Ethics Committee and the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health has approved the study protocol in 2007. This authorization extends first seven years of the cohort study. Parents were notified with the option to discontinue in any point of the cohort-study. Participation was voluntary and the anonymity was guaranteed. After recruiting process families were kept informed with regular letters during the cohort research (see Lagström et al., 2013).

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Ibrahim H. Acar through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Baluja, T. & McGinn, D. (2012). Parental fear contributing to sedentary lifestyle of Canadian children. Active Healthy Kids Canada. Report. <u>https://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/parental-fear-contributing-to-sedentary-lifestyle-of-canadian-children-report/article4217180</u>
- Bento, G. & Dias, G. (2017). The importance of outdoor play for young children's healthy development. *Porto Biomedical Journal*, 2(5), 157-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbj.2017.03.003</u>

Bergström, M. (1997). Mustat ja valkeat leikit. Leikki, kaaos ja järjestys aivoissa. WSOY.

Boe, J. & Woods, R. (2018). Parents' influence on infants' gender-typed toy preferences. Sex Roles -A Journal of Research, 79(1), 1-16.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1974). Developmental research, public policy, and the ecology of childhood. *Child development*, 45(1), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1467-8624.1974.TB00552.X
- Brussoni, M., Olsen, L., Pike, I, &, Sleet, A. David. (2012). Risky play and children's safety: balancing priorities for optimal child development. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 9(9), 3134-3148. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390%2Fijerph9093134</u>
- Burghardt, G.M. (2012). Defining and recognizing play. In P. Nathan & A. D. Pellegrini (Eds.), *The oxford handbook of the development of play* (pp. 10-18). Oxford Academic.
- Caillois, R. (2006). The definition of play and the classification of games. In K. Salen, & E. Zimmerman (Eds.), *The game design reader: A rules of play anthology* (pp. 122-123, 128-140, 145). The MIT Press.

Petra VARTTINEN et al.

- Cameron, C.A., Gamanossi, B.A., Hancock, R., G. Pinto, & S. Tapanya. (2011). Domestic play collaborations in diverse family contexts. Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 23(4), 78-85. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/183693911103600411</u>
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203771587
- Coolahan, K., Fantuzzo, J., Mendez, J., & McDermott, P. (2000). Preschool peer interactions and readiness to learn: Relationships between classroom peer play and learning behaviors and conduct. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92(3), 458–465. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-0663.92.3.458</u>
- Davis, J.T.M. & Hines, M. (2020). How large are gender differences in toy preferences? A systematic review and meta-analysis of toy preference research. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 49 (2), 373–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-019-01624-7</u>
- Dodd, H.F., FitzGibbon, L., Watson, E.B. & Nesbit, J. R. (2021). Children's play and independent mobility in 2020: Results from the British children's play survey. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(8), 4334. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18084334</u>
- Dunderfelt, T. (2011). Elämänkaaripsykologia (14th ed.). WSOY.
- Eberle, S. G. (2014). The elements of play: toward a philosophy and a definition of play. American Journal of Play, 6(2), 214-233.
- Esdaile, S. A., & Olson, J. A. (Eds.). (2004). Mothering occupations: Challenge, agency, and Participation. F. A. Davis.
- Finnish National Agency for Education (EDUFI). (2022). The national core curriculum for early childhood education and care. https://www.oph.fi/en
- Forssén, K., Haataja, A., & Hakovirta, M. (2009). Yksinhuoltajien asema suomalaisessa hyvinvontiyhteiskunnassa. Yksinhuoltajuus Suomessa. Report. Väestöliitto
- Garvey, C. (1990). Play. Harvard University Press.
- Ginsburg K.R. (2007). The importance of play in promoting healthy child development and maintaining strong parent-child bonds. *Pediatrics*, 119(1), 182-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-2697</u>
- Gray, P. (2011). The decline of play and rise of psychopathology in children and adolescents. *American Journal of Play*, 3(4), 433-463. http://www.journalofplay.org/sites/www.journalofplay.org/files/pdf-articles/3-4-article-gray-decline-of-play.pdf
- Green, V. A., Bigler, R. & Catherwood, D. (2004). The variability and flexibility of gender-typed toy play: A close look at children's responses to counterstereotypic models. *Sex Roles*, *51*(7-8), 371–386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/B:SERS.0000049227.05170.aa</u>
- Hakkarainen, P. (2001). Leikki ja kehitys. In K. Karila, J. Kinos, & J. Virtanen (Eds.), Varhaiskasvatuksen teoriasuuntauksia (pp. 184–191). PS-Kustannus.
- Hakkarainen, P. Brédikyte, M., Jakkula, K., & Munter, H. (2013). Adult play guidance and children's play development in a narrative play-world. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 21(2), 213-225. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2013.789189</u>
- Hännikäinen, M. (1995b). Roolileikkiin siirtyminen leikin kehitysvaiheena. Kulttuurihistoriallisen toiminnan teorian näkökulma. Jyväskylän yliopiston kasvatustieteenlaitoksen julkaisuja 4. (pp.176).
- Helenius, A. & Lummelahti, L. (2014). Leikin käsikirja (2nd ed.). PS-kustannus.
- Heljakka, K. (2024). *How play moves us: Toys, technologies, and mobility in a digital world.* [Published doctorate thesis]. University of Turku
- Hughes, F.P. (1998). Children, play and development (3rd ed.). Allyn and Bacon.

International Labor Office. (2008). International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-08). https://isco-ilo.netlify.app/en/isco-08/

- Järvinen, M.; Laine A., & Hellman-Suominen, K. (2012). Varhaiskasvatusta ammattitaidolla. Kirjapaja.
- Kalliala, M. (1999). Enkeliprinsessa ja itsari liukumaëssa. Leikkikulttuuri ja yhteiskunnan muutos. Gaudeamus.
- Kalliala, M. (2008). Kato mua! kohtaako aikuinen lapsen päiväkodissa? Gaudeamus.
- Karila, K. (2016). Vaikuttava varhaiskasvatus. Tilannekatsaus toukokuu 2016. Raportit ja selvitykset 2016: 6. Opetushallitus. pp. 31-33.
- Keltikangas-Järvinen, L. (2012). Pienen lapsen sosiaalisuus. WSOY.
- Kohllberg, L. (1966). Cognitive Stages and Preschool Education. Human Development, 9(1/2), 5-17. https://doi.org/10.1159/000270365
- Korhonen, P. (2010). Median asettamia haasteita pienten lasten hyvinvoinnille. In M. Meriranta (Ed.), *Mediakasvatuksen käsikirja* (pp. 9–32). UNIpress.
- Kronqvist, E-L. (2006). Yhteisöllisen oppimisen alkujuuria etsimässä pienet lapset toimijoina ryhmissä. In E-L. Kronqvist, K. Kumpulainen & H. Soini (Eds.), Oppimisen sosiaaliset ulottuvuudet (pp. 7–24). University of Oulu.

LaForett, D. R. & Mendez, J. L. (2017). Children's engagement in play at home: A parent's role in supporting play opportunities during

Describing the play of three-year-old children...

early	childhood.	Early	Child	Development	and	Care,	187(5-6),	910-923.
https://ps	sycnet.apa.org/doi	/10.1080/0300	4430.2016.12	23061				

- Lagström, H., Rautava, P., Kaljonen, A., Räihä, H., Pihlaja, P., Korpilahti, P., Peltola, V., Rautakoski, P., Österbacka, E., Simell, O. & Niemi, P. (2013). Cohort profile: steps to the healthy development and well-being of children (the STEPS Study). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 42(5), 1273–1284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dvs150</u>
- Lew-Levy, S., Boyette, H.A., Crittenden, N.A., Hewlett, S. B., Lamb, E.M. (2019). Gender-typed and gender-segregated play among Tanzanian Hadza and Congolese Bayaka hunter-gatherer children and adolescents. *Child Development*, 91(4), 1281-1301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13306</u>
- Lillard , A.S. (2015). The development of play. In Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental Science, Cognitive Processes, 10(12), 425-459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118963418.childpsy211</u>
- Lin, X. & Li, H. (2018). Parents' play beliefs and engagement in young children's play at home. Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 26(1), 1-16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2018.1441979</u>
- Lindqvist, G. (2001). Pikkulasten leikki. Aikuisten roolien luominen ja lasten merkitysten luominen. Small children's play: The creation of roles for adults and the formation of meaning for children. Publications of the Department of Teacher Education Kajaani, University of Oulu: Series C.
- Little, H., Gibson, F., & Wyver, S. (2011). The influence of play context and adult attitudes on young children's physical risk-taking during outdoor play. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 19(1), 113-131. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2011.548959</u>
- Lyytinen, P. & Lautamo, T. (2003). Leikki. In T. Siiskonen, T. Aro, T. Ahonen, & Ritva Ketonen (Eds.), *Joko se puhuu? Kielenkehityksen vaikeudet varhaislapsuudessa* (pp. 199–219). PS-Publication.
- MacPhee, D. &, Prendergast, S. (2019). Room for improvement: girls' and boys' home environments are still gendered. *Sex Role*, 80(5-6), 332–346. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s11199-018-0936-2</u>
- Martinez, M.A., Osornio, A., Halim, M.L.D., & Zosuls, K.M., (2020). Gender: Awareness, identity, and stereotyping. In: Benson, J.B. (Ed.), Encyclopedia of infant and early childhood development (2nd ed., pp. 1–12). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809324-5.21818-X</u>
- Mesman, J. & Groeneveld, G. (2017). Gendered parenting in early childhood: Subtle but unmistakable if you know where to look. *Child Development Perspectives*, 12(1), 22-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12250</u>
- Miettinen, A. & Rotkirch, A. (2012). Yhteistä aikaa etsimässä. Lapsiperheiden ajankäyttö 2000-luvulla. Perhebarometri. Population Research Institute, E 42/ 2012.
- Mikkola, P. & Nivalainen, K. (2011). Lapselle hyvä päivä tänään (4th ed.). Pedatieto Oy.
- Morawska, A. (2020). The Effects of Gendered Parenting on Child Development Outcomes: A Systematic review. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 23(5-6), 1-24. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10567-020-00321-5</u>
- Murray, J. (2018). The play's the thing. International Journal of Early Years Education, 26(4), 335-339. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2018.1527278
- Nicolopoulou, A. (2010). The alarming disappearance of play from early childhood education. *Human Development*, 53(1), 1-4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000268135
- Nurhonen, L., Chydenius, H. & Lipponen, L. (2021). Korona tuli kylään -tutkimushankkeen loppuraportti : Koronakriisin vaikutuksia varhaiskasvatukseen. University of Helsinki and Ministry of Education and Culture. https://tuhat.helsinki.fi/ws/portalfiles/portal/163983646/Korona_tuli_kylaan_tutkimushankkeen_loppuraportti.pdf
- O'Connor, D., Treasure, T., Robinson, C., McCormack, M., & O'Rourke, V. (2017). Is play disappearing? Instances of no-play in children's neighborhoods: Implications for learning, development, and curriculum. *ICERI2017 Proceedings: 10thannual International Conference of Education, Research and innovation*. <u>https://doi.org/10.21125/iceri.2017.1323</u>
- OECD 2015. (2015). Education at a glance 2015: OECD indicators. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/eag-2015-en
- OECD 2016. (2016). Starting strong IV. Early childhood education and care data country note. https://www.oecd.org/education/school/ECECDCN-Finland.pdf.

Official Statistics of Finland. . (2015). Distribution of income 2013. https://stat.fi/til/tjt/2013/01/tjt 2013 01 2015-03-20 fi.pdf

Official Statistics of Finland. . (2019). Family population and average size of family in 1950–2019. Helsinki: Statistics Finland. https://stat.fi/til/perh/2019/perh 2019 2020-05-22 tau 002 en.html

Paechter, C. (2007). Being boys, being girls: Learning masculinities and femininities. Open University Press.

Panksepp, J. (2007). Can play diminish ADHD and facilitate the construction of the social brain?, *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 16(2), 57–66.

Petra VARTTINEN et al.

Parten, M. B. (1932). Social participation among pre-school children. The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 27(3), 243.

- Piaget, J. (1972). Play, dreams and imitation in childhood (3rd ed.). Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Puolimatka, T. (1999). Kasvatuksen mahdollisuudet ja rajat: minuuden rakentamisen filosofia. Kirjayhtymä.
- Repo, K., & Valkonen, S. (2017). Children's media use: the perspective of time use. In A. R. Lahikainen, T. Mälkiä, & K. Repo (Eds.), Media, family interaction and the digitalization of childhood (pp. 65–78). Edward Elgar. <u>https://doi.org/10.4337/9781785366673.00013</u>
- Román-Oyola, R., Figueroa-Feliciano, V., Torres-Martínez, Y., Torres-Vélez, J., Encarnación-Pizarro, K., Fragoso-Pagán, S., & Torres-Colón, L. (2018). Play, playfulness, and self-efficacy: Parental experiences with children on the autism spectrum. Occupational Therapy International, 2018, 4636780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/4636780</u>
- Runcan, P., L., Constantineanu, C., Ielics, B., Popa, P. (2012). The role of communication in the parent-child interaction. *Procedia -Social* and Behavioral Sciences, 46(2012), 904-908. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.05.221</u>
- Sajaniemi, N., Suhonen, E., Nislin, M., & Mäkelä, J. (2015). Stressin säätely. Kehityksen, vuorovaikutuksen ja oppimisen ydin. PS-kustannus.
- Sherman, A. M. & Zurbriggen, E. L. (2014). "Boys can be anything": Effect of barbie play on girls' career cognitions. *Sex Roles*, 70(5-6), 195–208. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s11199-014-0347-y</u>
- Singer, D.G., Singer, J.L., D'Agostino, H., & DeLong, R. (2009). Children's pastimes and play in sixteen nations: Is free play declining? *American Journal of Play*, 1(3), 283-312.
- Smilansky, S. & Shefatya, L. (1990). Facilitating play: A medium for promoting cognitive, socio-emotional and academic development in young children. Psychosocial and Educational Publications.
- Smith, P. K. (2005). Play: Types and functions in human development. In B. J. Ellis & D. F. Bjorklund (Eds.), Origins of the social mind: Evolutionary psychology and child development. (p.271–291). Guilford Press
- Stainton-Rogers, W. (2003). Gendered childhoods. M. Woodhead & H. Montgomery (Eds.) Understanding childhood: An interdisciplinary approach. (pp.181–220) Open University Press.
- Tena, R., Gutiérrez, M., & Cejudo, M. (2019). Technology use habits of children under six years of age at home. *Ensaio Avaliação e Políticas Públicas em Educação*, 27(103), 340-362. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/s0104-40362019002701752</u>
- United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund. (1989). United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. https://www.finlex.fi/fi/sopimukset/sopsviite/1991/19910059?sopviite_id=19910059
- Vandermaas-Peeler, M., Boomgraden, E., Finn, L. & Pittard, C. (2012). Parental support of numeracy during a cooking activity with four-years-old. International Journal of Early Years of Education, 20(1), 78-93. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1080/09669760.2012.663237</u>
- Vuorisalo, M. (2009). Ken leikkiin ryhtyy Leikki lasten välisenä sosiaalisena ilmiönä päiväkodissa. In L. Alanen, & K. Karila. (Eds.), Lapsuus, lapsuuden instituutiot ja lasten toiminta (pp. 156–181). Vastapaino.
- Whitebread, D. (2012). The importance of play. A report on the value of children's play with series of policy recommendations. (D. Whitebread, M. Kuvalja, & M. Verma Eds., Toy Industries of Europe. <u>https://www.csap.cam.ac.uk/media/uploads/files/1/david-whitebread---importance-of-play-report.pdf</u>
- Zosuls, K. M., & Ruble, D. N. (2018). Gender-typed toy preferences among infants and toddlers. In E. S. Weisgram & L. M. Dinella (Eds.), Gender typing of children's toys: How early play experiences impact development (pp. 49–72). American Psychological Association. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0000077-004</u>

Developing professional ethical care through co-creation in ECEC in Norway: A qualitative study

Anne Synnøve Brenne¹, Ingvild Åmot²

Abstract: The article analogizes findings from the project Children in Central Norway, Mental Health in ECEC. A preventive factor for children's mental health in early childhood education and care (ECEC) is the sensitive relationship between children and staff. ECEC staff in three municipalities participated in a competence-raising package for children's mental health. Subsequently, 33 members of staff attended five focus-group interviews. Research question: In what way have ECEC staff's experience changes in their relationship with the children after working with the competence-raising package for mental health, and what kind of processes appeared during this work? The qualitative data has been analyzed using reflexive thematic analysis, while the discussion is rooted in ethics of care and based on children's rights. The findings show that the staff describe the development of compassionate pedagogy and a common language for children's needs for attachment. This facilitates a collective professional language through cocreating processes and affects the relational quality in ECEC.

Introduction This article examines the ways in which a competence-raising package for children's mental health in Norwegian early childhood education and care (ECEC) improved the relationship between children and staff in the ECEC pedagogical work. The empirical data material is used to show and discuss how, through co-creation, the staff in ECEC by becoming more aware of ethical care and compassion. The competenceraising package was introduced under the direction of the Regional Centre for Children and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare (RKBU). In Norway, the Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC) system is guided by the Framework Plan for the Content and Tasks in Kindergartens (Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training, 2017), which is deeply rooted in humanistic traditions. One of its core values is respect for compassion, emphasizing meeting the children's needs for care, security, belongingness, and respect.

The children's experience of sensitivity and responsiveness in one-to-one interactions influence the relationships between staff and children in the whole. The way in which the staff interacts with all children in the group contributes significantly to the children's developing sense of confidence and the availability of the staff as a secure base (Ereky-Stevens et al, 2018). After taking a course on effective teacher-child interactions, ECEC staff were observed to demonstrate more effective emotional and instructional interactions (Hamre et al., 2012). An effective emotional interaction requires warm, sensitive staff in an emotionally supportive classroom (Pianta, 2008).

A literature review of the ECEC field (Dalli et al., 2011) shows that, when an adult is not sensitive enough in his or her interaction with children, the quality of the relationship for all the children in the ECEC section is affected. In other words, all staff in a section need to be sensitive and attuned to the children's needs (Bowlby, 1998, 2007; Biringen, 2012). To develop a shared understanding and a common

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license.

Article History

Received: 20 February 2024 Accepted: 07 April 2024

Keywords

Promotion of mental health; Early childhood education and care; Ethical care; Professional learning; Cocreating collective competence; Compassionate pedagogy

¹ Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Department of Mental Health, Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare (RKBU Central Norway), Trondheim, Norway, e-mail: <u>anne.s.brenne@ntnu.no</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6398-7883</u>

² Queen Maud College of Early Childhood Education, Department of Pedagogy, Trondheim, Norway, e-mail: <u>Ingvild.Amot@dmmh.no</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2954-</u> 8032

Anne Synnøve BRENNE & Ingvild ÅMOT

way of responding – especially to children who challenge them – they need to have a mutual theoretical understanding of the child's development, make observations of the child, have the time to reflect systematically over their effect on the child, and, when necessary, know how to change the relationship (Schøn, 2013).

In a review of compassion training, several benefits are identified, such as increased social sensitivity and responsiveness, increased ability to identify emotional states, higher level of tolerance to distress, and reduced personal stress (Taggart, 2019). To increase ethical care Taggart found that it is essential for the staff to be trained in the use of emotional skills, including compassion.

There is consensus with regard to how important the relationship between staff and children is for children's development (Dalli et al., 2011; Ritblatt et al., 2017; Skogen et al., 2018). Some researchers find that sensitivity is a core factor, whilst other researchers add the staff's educational background. Research from Norway (Bjørnestad, 2019) shows that Norwegian ECEC staff demonstrate varying levels, ranging from moderate to good, of basic interaction skills according to the staff's interaction profile (CIP) scales. This suggests there is room for improvement in the relationship between ECEC staff and children, a notion supported by Veermer (2016). Training in compassionate skills is essential for developing of ethical care (Taggart, 2019) and co-creation.

A qualitative study found that ECEC staff consistently aim to cultivate a more reflective and precise approach to caring for individual children. This endeavor demands personal engagement (Eidsvåg, 2022). It necessitates a blend of practical skills and an intersubjective attitude, acquired through reflective actions.

A literature review from ten European countries points co-creation is seen as a part of professional development alongside critical thinking and reflexivity (Jensen, 2018). A significant trend in professional development makes use of collaborative learning and co-creation and target ECEC staff's competence in relation to vulnerable populations.

Norwegian ECEC – The Context

Norwegian ECEC is rooted in a Nordic tradition that emphasizes child-centered values and a holistic socio-pedagogical approach (Alvestad, 2010), integrating both care and learning. The ECEC staff incorporate varied inputs into everyday activities and actively engage in both unstructured and structured activities. Approximately 44 percent of ECEC staff are trained preschool teachers (Ministry of Education and Research, 2022), while the remaining staff consists of unskilled assistants and skilled workers.

The Kindergarten Act (Ministry of Education and Research, 2005) and the *Framework Plan for the Content and Tasks in Kindergartens* (Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training, 2017) represent the legal framework governing the staff's efforts and activities in ECEC, and both are in alignment with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) (UN, 1989). Although ECEC is not obligatory in Norway, 93.4 percent of all children aged one to five attended ECEC in 2022 (Statistics Norway, 2023). In Norway, about 10–20 percent of children have some form of mental problem (Drugli, 2019), and about 7 percent have a mental disorder (Wichstrøm et al., 2012). The prevalence of mental health problems among children aged 0–6 years is relatively low compared to the USA.

A study in Norwegian ECEC settings (Buøen, 2021) implemented a multi-component, in-service professional development program, including systematic efforts throughout an ECEC year. The study found that such interventions enhanced the quality of relationships between toddlers and ECEC staff, as measured by the Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS-Toddler) (La Paro, 2012). Conversely, ECEC facilities that lacked systematic efforts during the year experienced a decline in quality.

Additionally, one study emphasizes that Norwegian ECEC staff primarily focus on observing, responding to, supporting, and communicating with children, a concept termed 'sensitive responsiveness,' which constitutes a fundamental aspect of basic care interaction (Baustad, 2018).

Background – The Competence-Raising Package

The Regional Centre for Children and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare (RKBU) was contacted by a local authority seeking to enhance the ECEC staff's awareness of children's mental health. The goal was to provide ECEC staff with a competence-raising package focused on children's mental health. In response, RKBU designed a multifactor study, including both quantitative and qualitative data (Tashakkori & Teddlie, 2004). The design process involved ECEC staff and leaders, municipal leaders, and RKBU professionals. Data material was collected quantitatively before and after the implementation of the competence package, and qualitative data was gathered through focus-group interviews conducted three years after the competence package. The competence package included ten lectures on various aspects of children's mental health, an observation and reflection method, and relevant literature. The observation and reflection method, called *interaction observation*, is based on the Tavistock model (Reid, 1997) and was adapted for ECEC by Abrahamsen (Abrahamsen, 1996, 2004). The objective of interaction observation is to enhance the sensitivity and emotional availability of adults (Biringen 2012, Biringen 2014, Marvin et al, 2002). This method uses observation to better understand young children's communication and to gain deeper insight into their emotional development. This theory is based on the work of Stern, Winnicott, and Bowlby (Abrahamsen, 1996), providing a foundation for understanding the child's internal world.

Research Question

In what way have ECEC staff's experience changes in their relationship with the children after working with the competence-raising package for mental health, and what kind of processes appeared during this work?

Theoretical Perspectives

There are two main theoretical perspectives that we want to outline in this article: compassion in ethical care and co-creation.

Ethical Care

ECEC research has been shaped by two often contrasting perspectives: a discourse of rights versus a discourse of care (Taggart, 2016). Taggart proposes that to bridge this divide, there should be a focus on compassion, which lies at the core of both enhancing the capabilities of marginalized groups and the psychological origins of the capacity to care.

In this article, we emphasize ethical care and professional development, considering children's right to receive care as outlined in the Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) (UN, 1989) and the Norwegian Framework Plan for Kindergartens (Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training, 2017). This framework asserts that ECEC must actively support children's mental health and fulfill their need for care.

A theoretical framework grounded in the discourse of ethical care adopts a psychological approach (Taggart, 2016), drawing, among other sources, from Noddings (1992, 2005), which critiques New Public Management. Ethical care is founded on the principle of how to respond when someone expresses their needs, emphasizing that our response should be attuned to the individual (Noddings, 2012).

Taggart (2019) employs ethical care as a bridge from maternal care to professional care in ECEC, advocating for an active process wherein caring professionals can further develop their skills. Ethical care is driven by a relational and situational understanding of meeting individuals' specific needs and abilities (Bergmark, 2020). Compassion is a fundamental aspect of ethical care, defined as "the affective state associated with caregiving towards those who suffer or are in need" (Taggart, 2016). Compassion entails being sensitive, warm, and attentive to children's needs. It is also considered a key principle in individual behavior and social relationships, encompassing empathy, responsiveness, flexibility, tolerance of distress, and awareness (Taggart, 2019). Compassion resides within everyone as part of their cultural space, and activating it necessitates a willingness to reflect (Taggart, 2016), involving both a social, active dimension and a personal, affective dimension (Taggart, 2019).

Noddings emphasizes that dialogue enables us to understand, empathize, and appreciate others in

a shared pursuit of understanding, and it fosters substantial knowledge of one another to guide our responses (Noddings, 1992). She underscores the importance of staff actively sharing their knowledge about individuals.

Co-Creation

Co-creation can be defined as a process where multiple participants collaborate voluntarily in a mutual and balanced manner to define problems, find solutions, and implement them in practice (Nabatchi et al., 2017; Torfing et al., 2019). It involves an active process wherein all relevant participants work together to address challenging situations and relationships, aiming to co-create development within their own practices (Benington, 2009). Participants engage actively within their own settings to address social needs, aiming for improved relationships and better utilization of resources and skills. Co-creation does not involve the participation of a single group; rather, all relevant participants collaborate to define problems, develop solutions, and implement them effectively (Bentzen, 2022). Changes occur within the setting where they are developed, enhancing participants' range of alternative courses of action. Co-creation entails both innovation and transdisciplinary cooperation. Successful co-creation requires explicit leadership, networkbuilding, and access to resources such as increased competence, expertise, and relevant methods (Willumsen, 2020).

Method

In this qualitative study, focus-group interviews were conducted after ECEC staff in three Norwegian municipalities had worked with a collective competence-raising package focused on children's mental health.

Sample

All the ECEC staff in the three municipalities received the package. Some of the ECEC staff were invited to participate in the focus-group interviews three years after they had received the competence package and observation and reflection training. In order to be invited, they needed to have worked in ECEC for the three years after receiving the package and we invited both teachers, assistants, and skilled workers. There were 44 staff members who were invited and 11 declined to participate because they could not take time away from work or did not want to attend, and we ended up with five focus-group interviews. The informants were between 25 and 65 years old, 2 were men and all had worked at least 3 years in ECEC. The study proposal was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research (REK), and the project complied with the ethical guidelines established by the National Committee for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities (NESH) (2018).

Focus-Group Interviews

The focus group-interview is a group interview with an interview guide where the researcher is actively encouraging of, and attentive to the group interaction. The researcher has a focus on running the focus group discussion and ensuring that the participant talk among themselves and making sure everyone take their turn (Barbour, 2007). The focus-group interviews lasted from 45 to 105 minutes, one group had nine members and took more time than the others. In the invitation to the interview, the participants were informed that it would be taped, transcribed, and anonymized. The interview was semi-structured and based on an interview guide where the questions were organized into four categories: the competence-raising package, changes in relationships, risk and protection, and changes in the ECEC. This article focuses on the informants' answers relating to changes in relationships. Two researchers conducted the interviews (Kamberelis & Dimitriadis, 2011), one of whom was author one (ASB).

Data Analysis: Thematic Analysis

When analyzing the data, support was found in reflexive thematic analyses (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Braun et al., 2019; Braun & Clarke, 2022) with in a qualitative paradigm where meaning is understood as being tied to the context in which it is produced. As researchers, we were actively engaged in interpreting
data through our own cultural membership, social positionings, theoretical assumptions, and choices as well as knowledge.

To find themes in the data, the six phases of reflexive thematic analysis were used (Braun & Clarke, 2022) – familiarization; coding; generating initial themes, developing, and reviewing themes; refining, defining, and naming themes; and writing the report. The themes reflect patterns of shared meaning organized around a core concept or idea, after a process going back and forth between the six phases, and the aim is to provide a coherent interpretation of the data, grounded in the data.

We familiarized ourselves with the interview material by reading it together and identifying what was actually being said, we looked for the action and meaning in each sentence and wrote this down using the informants' own words from the interview. This involved reading and re-reading the interview and becoming deeply familiar with the data from one of the municipalities.

We coded the interviews from one municipality and systematically and carefully worked through the dataset, identifying segments of data that appeared to be potentially interesting, relevant, or meaningful. Code labels were assigned a description and aimed to capture single meanings or concepts. Author one (ASB) then used the codes from one of the municipalities to further saturate the data using data from the other two municipalities.

Both authors then generated initial themes and started to identify patterned meanings across the dataset. We compiled clusters of codes that seemed to share a core idea or concept, using our research question to guide us. Once potential themes had been identified, all the coded data was collated into candidate themes. When developing and reviewing themes, we went back to the whole dataset and checked to ensure that the themes were consistent with both the extracted codes and the full dataset. The pattern of each theme was analyzed to determine whether the pattern gave a meaning that related to the research question. In refining, defining, and naming the themes, two core findings were clearly demarcated. These were renamed and gave clear meaning to our core findings: 1) ethical care and 2) cocreating collective competence.

The writing up of our findings began with the generation of initial themes and was an ongoing process. In dialog with the data, our analysis, and the research question, we developed a narrative that is a coherent and persuasive story from our dataset. Memos were used throughout the entire process, and our interpretations and conclusions appeared stepwise in dialog with the material.

Methodological Limitations

The qualitative data collected originated from three municipalities and exclusively involved staff from ECEC departments. While additional data or data from diverse sources might have yielded different or more comprehensive categories, we believe our dataset offers insights into the experiences and reflections of our participants. This understanding is informed by extracts from the interviews, as well as our systematic procedures, interpretations, and theoretical perspectives.

The interviews were conducted by the first author, who had also been involved in implementing the competence package three years prior. This prior involvement may have influenced the informants to express more positivity than they might have with an unfamiliar interviewer. However, the informants were specifically encouraged to share both positive and negative experiences.

Findings

The findings have been divided into two main areas: 1) ethical care and 2) the co-creation of collective competence. In the realm of ethical care, compassion emerges as a hallmark for quality in the relationship between staff and children, while the co-creation of collective competence points to the changes among staff working together in a particular section.

Anne Synnøve BRENNE & Ingvild ÅMOT

Compassion in Ethical Care

Three years after the end of the implementation period, the ECEC staff were asked to describe developments in their understanding of children's needs in their relationships with the staff. The core issue is compassion, where the staff uses sensitivity, responsiveness, awareness, a lack of intrusiveness, and an understanding of the children's emotional expressions.

Awareness

The staff stated that, after working with the package, they responded more supportively to children's feelings by being compassionate and responsive when a child is sad or upset. The staff explained that they are now less inclined to underestimate the children, act intrusively, or define their feelings.

Mina: The project has changed the way in which I try to understand the child. One example during the teaching made me think, "That's why he does that!" It made me understand why he did what he did. I understood what his behavior meant. I now feel that I see the children in a different way – maybe not all of them, but especially the quiet ones – and I know how important it is to see them.

Mona: Things changed during the project. We're now more aware of how important our relationship with the children is – to be connected with them, see them, and listen. We have learned about feelings and are trying to regulate the children's feelings. We're not being intrusive, but we stay close to the children.

The ECEC staff state that they now have a better understanding of some of the children after taking the competence package, mentioning especially that they have more insight into how to understand quiet children. The staff also describe themselves as being more compassionate and aware of the children's various signals relating to attachment, and they think that they can read the children's signals more accurately.

Lotte: It's very helpful to use the circle of security to see the children from within, trying to see why they react the way they do, and understanding that my role as a member of the staff is to regulate behavior and move on. I understand that what I thought I saw at first is not always the same as what the child meant to express.

In order to better understand the signals from the children, most of the informants told us that they stop, ask questions, and reflect: What does this child need now? What are the child's body language and emotional expressions telling us? Do the children feel secure or do I need to look after them when they are exploring the environment? The staff were now more aware than they had previously been of the children's signals about their feelings and needs.

Regulation of Emotions and Challenging Behavior

ECEC staff describe how, by becoming attuned to a child, they could help to regulate his or her emotions and change challenging behavior so the child can have a more secure attachment to the adult. After the competence-raising course, the staff saw more clearly that their role is to help children deal with emotions. They saw how they could change the way in which they act towards a child, and that their own reactions change the child's responsivity.

Eline: There's one child I have big fights with. He gets furious with me. He can kick, bite, and be furious. Then I look at him and confirm that: "Yes, you're furious, but you can't hurt me. Let's sit down and talk about it until you calm down." We sit together and he calms down. He leaves me, and then he comes back to give me a rock. "Here, this is for you." Then I understand that, even if we fight, we can restore our relationship. This project has taught me how important it is to help the children to regulate their emotions. I developed a better relationship with this child after this project.

Eline provides a secure base and shows compassion for the child in a demanding situation, and there is reason to believe that, by giving her the rock, the child has signaled that he wants to fix their relationship. He verified that their connection was secure enough to return to the member of staff, thereby initiating a reparation of the relationship.

Mutual Language About Attachment

The staff's collective understanding of children's needs through theory, observations, and reflections seems to give them a mutual perspective on children. They have a shared compassion for the children, and

a shared understanding and language to respond to and describe the children's needs for attachment and their own roles as attachment caregivers. This facilitates their collective work and makes them more secure in their professional caregiving for the children.

Lone: I have improved my professionalism when it comes to talking to the parents when I'm worried about their child. It's easier to explain what I'm worried about when I can give my reasons as a professional based on what we have learned. We have had cases that have been through the system and ended up in court, and I felt secure as a professional.

In their professional capacity, staff members sometimes engage in discussions with parents when they have concerns about a child. The informants asserted that this process became easier and more ethical when they possessed a stronger theoretical foundation for expressing concern, enabling them to connect their observations of the child with their theoretical understanding. Increased theoretical knowledge, coupled with direct observations of the child, fostered a greater sense of confidence among the staff when interacting with parents in their professional roles.

Co-Creating Collective Competence Focusing on Children's Mental Health

The interviewees expressed a deeper comprehension of the children's requirement for staff proximity—both mentally, emotionally, and physically. They had established a shared understanding of why prioritizing what they perceive as the children's needs is acceptable. The staff reported increased flexibility in the activities they engage in with the children, guided by the children's needs for time and closeness with caregivers. Planned activities may be canceled if staff members sense that any child requires attention and compassion.

Nina: Our understanding of attachment and being an emotionally available adult has changed. We have read literature, raised our competence level, acquired a shared theoretical foundation and understanding, and we have cocreated collective competence on children's needs for attachment. We have developed a mutual language relating to attachment, and we're using it all the time.

In summary, the staff utilized the insights gained from working with the competence-raising package to collaboratively cultivate collective competence on how they, as a team, should demonstrate compassion to meet the children's needs for attachment and regulation. They collectively developed this shared understanding within their respective sections, drawing on theory and observations of the children's needs for adults to interact with them compassionately and to prioritize their needs collectively. A crucial aspect of this collective competence is the establishment of a shared language regarding the children's needs and methods to address them, along with mutual respect among staff members.

Discussion

Developing Ethical Care

The ECEC staff observe a notable difference in children's behavior and emotional expressions when they approach challenges with compassion. This approach aligns with practicing preventive care for children's mental health, as the staff acknowledge and validate each child's unique needs (Biringen et al., 2014). In their accounts, our informants articulate a nuanced understanding of their relationship with children, emphasizing sensitivity and awareness of how their own behavior influences children's responses. Within the ECEC setting, compassion plays a crucial role in addressing children's needs and vulnerabilities, creating a supportive environment where children feel secure. This concept, termed a 'holding environment,' involves adults responding to children with empathy, identifying their needs, and ensuring they are free from physical and emotional distress (Winnicott, 2006; Howes & Spieker, 2016). The quality of the relationship between staff and child can significantly impact the latter's mental health (Pianta et al., 2016; Bowlby, 2007; Howes & Spieker, 2016).

Furthermore, research supports the notion that being regulated by a caregiver attuned to the child's needs enhances the relationship's quality (Biringen et al., 2014; Ritblatt et al., 2017). By broadening their approaches to addressing children's needs and becoming attuned to them, staff gain insights into how to effectively support each child. Through a shared theoretical framework and systematic methods of

reflection and observation, staff develop a common understanding and witness changes in their relationships with children. This aligns with Noddings' (1992) assertion that dialogue fosters mutual understanding, empathy, and appreciation, enabling individuals to build substantial knowledge of one another to guide their responses. Research also underscores the importance of this for children's development (Dalli et al., 2011; Ritblatt et al., 2017), highlighting sensitivity to children's needs as a fundamental factor. Our informants describe their journey towards developing ethical care, characterized by staff members who are compassionate, warm, and attuned to children's emotional needs, thus supporting their mental health.

Collaboratively Creating Collective Competence

The project was explicitly led by RKBU in close collaboration with ECEC participants and municipalities actively addressing the need for improved relationships within their respective settings (Bentzen, 2022). Within the project structure, participants formed networks and gained access to resources such as enhanced competence, expertise, and relevant methods (Willumsen, 2020) to inform their pedagogical practices. In essence, the entire process can be described as a co-creation endeavor. Together, they developed an ethical approach to care (Taggart, 2016) grounded in compassion and empathy, along with a co-creation process that mirrors what Sameroff (2009) describes as an understanding of how adults influence children through their behavior. Through reflective dialogues about their actions and attitudes, utilizing relevant theories, observations, and guidance, staff members deepened their comprehension of their relationships with children. They engaged in team reflections on practice, leading to a shared understanding of how their actions impacted children, both positively and negatively

According to our informants, they collaboratively developed a competence for integrating theoretical and practical knowledge on the core principles of attachment theory and gained a mutual understanding of the importance of meeting children's needs. As our informants describe how their understanding of attachment and emotional availability has evolved, they demonstrate compassion in challenging situations, establish a common theoretical foundation, and co-create a shared language related to attachment. We conclude that the development of an understanding of the importance of compassion appears to be the most significant outcome of this process.

Relational work in ECEC represents a form of ethical practice (Taggart, 2016), and the process described in this article illustrates how the staff cultivated their professional approach, transforming it into ethical practice in the best interests of the child. The interview excerpts demonstrate how the informants have cultivated a shared understanding, reflecting an ethical approach in their co-created practice. This process has led to the development of new perspectives and alternative courses of action. As a result of this collaborative approach, instances of challenging behavior among the children have decreased, and the staff have forged stronger relationships with them, gaining a deeper understanding of their needs. From the staff's viewpoint, employing the Circle of Security framework (Marvin et al., 2002) to illustrate attachment and understanding the children's needs from adults' perspectives have proven beneficial, especially in their roles as secondary attachment figures. As professional ECEC staff, they have developed more nuanced attitudes and responses.

The co-creation process has not only led to the development of a compassionate organization but has also fostered a shared understanding among staff regarding the importance of sensitivity to children's needs (Taggart, 2016). Enhancing ethical care necessitates equipping the staff with emotional skills, including compassion (Taggart, 2019). Through sharing reflections in a supportive environment and demonstrating respect, compassion, and empathy toward each other, the staff have restructured their approach to work. Drawing upon their increased theoretical knowledge and ethical practice, they have integrated attachment theory into their everyday care practices in ECEC settings. Moreover, they now align their actions more closely with what they believe is in the best interest of the children, as they become attuned to the children's perspectives and intentions in the communication process. Consequently, they have fortified their capacity to act in accordance with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Kindergarten Act (Ministry of Education and Research, 2005), prioritizing care and ethical conduct.

Developing professional ethical care through co-creation in ECEC...

Key factors in fostering mutual trust during co-creation include establishing equivalence among participants, providing explicit leadership, and fostering network-building (Nysveen et al., 2012; Willumsen, 2020). In this project, all ECEC staff, regardless of their educational background in ECEC, underwent the same training. The focus of the competence-raising course and observations was made transparent. Additionally, they developed a shared identity as professional ECEC staff and a common language through the competence-raising package. This unified approach strengthened their focus as attentive caregivers, which, in turn, can positively influence children's development.

Conclusion

This project has a comprehensive focus on mental health, integrating theory, observation, and reflection into an ongoing learning process involving the entire staff in ECECs. Our study has engaged with the insights of 33 ECEC staff members, who have clearly identified crucial factors to prioritize in nurturing the relationship between staff and children.

The ECEC staff describe how they have collectively developed a shared language and understanding of children's behavior and needs through their work and the embedded co-creation process. Our conclusion is that achieving a higher level of reflection and the ability to respond in more nuanced ways to children's needs requires increased ethical awareness and collaborative efforts to foster a compassionate organizational culture that reflects knowledge of caregiving and children's rights.

By strengthening the ethical dimensions of professional practice, we argue that our project has enhanced the daily operations of ECEC, grounded in children's rights (UN, 1989). By prioritizing the protection of children and being attuned to their communication cues and needs (Article 19), and by empowering them to express their feelings and desires (Article 12), children can be better understood and taken more seriously. This protection enables children to realize their potential (Article 29) (UN, 1989).

The use of competence-raising packages, where ECEC staff collaboratively engage in their practice over time, appears to have a positive impact on both the ethical and practical dimensions of ECEC professionalism.

This article provides key insights into fostering close relationships with children in ECEC, yet it represents just one facet of the ongoing efforts to enhance understanding in this intricate field. A potential limitation is our study's focus on three municipalities in Norway, with qualitative data exclusively sourced from ECEC informants, excluding input from other stakeholders. Nonetheless, the study contributes to our comprehension of mechanisms for enhancing competence in ECEC, particularly concerning children's mental health.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: ASB participated in designing the study and collecting data, while both ASB and IA analyzed the data. ASB drafted the manuscript, and both ASB and IA reviewed and edited it. Both authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests regarding this article.

Funding: This study received no external funding.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The study proposal was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research (REK), and the project complied with the ethical guidelines established by the National Committee for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities (NESH) (2018).

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Mehmet Toran through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Anne Synnøve BRENNE & Ingvild ÅMOT

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

Abrahamsen, G. (1996). Det nødvendige samspillet [The necessary interaction] (Vol. 6). Tano Aschehoug.

- Abrahamsen, G. (2004). Et levende blikk: Samspillsobservasjon som metode for læring [The spirited look: Observation of interaction as a learning method]. Universitetsforlaget.
- Alvestad, M. (2010). Perspektiver på læring i barnehagen [Perspectives on learning in ECEC]. In *Barnas barnehage 1,* 101-117. Gyldedal Akademiske.
- Baustad, A. G., Rønning, W., & Bjørnestad, E. (2018). Norwegian ECEC staff's thinking on quality of interaction. *Early Child Development and Care*, 190(12), 1969-1982. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2018.1553874</u>
- Benington, J. (2009). Creating the Public in Order to Create Public Value?. International Journal of Public Administration, 32(3-4), p. 232-249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01900690902749578</u>
- Bentzen, T. Øllgaard. (2022). Continuous co-creation: how ongoing involvement impacts outcomes of co-creation. *Public Management Review*, 24(1), 34–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2020.1786150</u>
- Bergmark, U. (2020). Rethinking researcher-teacher roles and relationships in educational action research through the use of Nel Noddings' ethics of care. *Educational Action Research*, *28*(3), 331–344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2019.1567367</u>
- Biringen, Z., Altenhofen, S., Aberle, J., Baker, M., Brosal, A., Bennett, S., ... & Swaim, R. (2012). Emotional availability, attachment, and intervention in center-based child care for infants and toddlers. *Development and Psychopathology*, 24(1), 23-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579411000630</u>
- Biringen, Z., Derscheid, D., Vliegen, N., Closson, L., & Easterbrooks, M. A. (2014). Emotional availability (EA): Theoretical background, empirical research using the EA scales, and clinical applications. *Developmental Review*, 34(2), 114-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2014.01.002
- Bjørnestad, E., Broekhulzen, M. L., Os, E., & Baustad, A. G. (2019). Interaction quality in Norwegian ECEC for toddlers measured with the caregiver interaction profile (CIP) scales. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 64(6), 901-920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2019.1639813</u>
- Bowlby, J. (1988). A Secure Base. Basic Books.
- Bowlby, R. (2007). Babies and toddlers in non-parental daycare can avoid stress and anxiety if they develop a lasting secondary attachment bond with one carer who is consistently accessible to them. *Attachment & Human Development*, 9(4), 307-319. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616730701711516
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2022). Thematic analysis: A practical guide. Sage.
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., Hayfield, N., & Terry, G. (2019). Thematic analysis. In P. Liamputtong (Ed.), *Handbook of research methods in health* social sciences. (pp 843-869), Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5251-4_103</u>
- Barbour, R. (2008). Doing Focus Groups (1 ed.) SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849208956
- Buøen, E. S., Lekhal, R., Lydersen, S., Berg-Nielsen, T. S., & Drugli, M. B. (2021). Promoting the quality of teacher-toddler interactions: A randomized controlled trial of "Thrive by Three" in-service professional development in 187 Norwegian toddler classrooms. *Frontiers in psychology*, 12, 778777. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.778777</u>
- Dalli, C., White, E. J., Rockel, J., Duhn, I., Buchanan, E., Davidson, S., Ganly, S., Kus, L., & Wang, B. (2011). Quality early childhood education for under 2-year-olds. Ministry of Education, New Zealand Goverment. <u>https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/publications/ECE/quality-ece-for-under-2-year-olds</u>
- Drugli, M. B., Stensen, K. (2019). Psykiske vansker hos norske barnehagebarn [Mental problems experienced by Norwegian ECEC children]. *Første steg, 01, 45 49.* http://www.utdanningsforbundet.no/UdfTemplates/Page____10148.aspx
- Eidsvåg, G. M. (2022). Sustainable Care: Care as a Communal Virtue in Early Childhood Education. *ECNU Review of Education* (Online), 5(4), 643–663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20965311221103281</u>
- Ereky-Stevens, K., Funder, A., Katschnig, T., Malmberg, L.-E., & Datler, W. (2018). Relationship building between toddlers and new caregivers in out-of-home childcare: Attachment security and caregiver sensitivity. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 42, 270-279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2017.10.007</u>
- Framework
 plan
 for
 content
 and
 tasks
 in
 Norwegian
 kindergarten
 (2017).

 https://www.udir.no/contentassets/5d0f4d947b244cfe90be8e6d475ba1b4/framework-plan-for-kindergartens--rammeplan-engelsk-pdf.pdf

Developing professional ethical care through co-creation in ECEC...

- Jensen, B., & Iannone, R. L. (2018). Innovative approaches to continuous professional development (CPD) in early childhood education and care (ECEC) in Europe: Findings from a comparative review. *European Journal of Education*, 53(1), 23-33. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12253
- Hamre, B. K., Pianta, R. C., Burchinal, M., Field, S., LoCasale-Crouch, J., Downer, J. T., Howes, C., LaParo, K., & Scott-Little, C. (2012). A course on effective teacher-child interactions: Effects on teacher beliefs, knowledge, and observed practice. *American Educational Research Journal*, 49(1), 88-123. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831211434596</u>
- Howes, C., & Spieker, S. (2016). Attachment relationships in the context of multiple caregivers. In J. Cassidy, & P. Shaver (Eds.), Handbook of attachment theory, research, and clinical applications, 3.etd, 317-332. The Guilford Press
- Kamberelis, G., & Dimitriadis, G. (2011). Focus groups' contingent articulations of pedagogy, politics, and inquiry. In D. K. Denzin,
 & Y. S. Guba (Eds.), The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research (pp. 545–661). Sage Publishers.
- La Paro, K.M., Hamre, B.K., and Pianta, R.C. (2012). Classroom Assessment Scoring System (Class) Manual, Toddler. Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Marvin, R., Cooper, G., Hoffman, K., & Powell, B. (2002). The circle of security project: Attachment-based intervention with caregiverpre-school child dyads. *Attachment & Human Development*, 4(1), 107-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14616730252982491</u>
- Ministry of Education and Research (2022) *Three in ten daycare facilities do not meet educational standards* <u>https://www.regieringen.no/en/aktuelt/three-in-ten-daycare-facilities-do-not-meet-educational-standards/id2901255</u>
- Norwegian Kindergarten Act. Act no. 64 of June 2005 relating to Kindergartens. Last amended 1 October (2018). https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/upload/kd/vedlegg/barnehager/engelsk/act no 64 of june 2005 web.pdf
- Nabatchi, T., Sicilia, M., & Sancino, A. (2017). Varieties of participation in public services: The who, when, and what of coproduction. *Public Administration Review*, 77(5), 766–776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12765</u>
- Noddings, N. (1992). Social Studies and Feminism. Theory and Research in Social Education, 20(3), 230–241. https://doi.org/10.1080/00933104.1992.10505667
- Noddings, N. (2005). The challenge to care in schools: An alternative approach to education (pp. XIV, 191). Teachers College Press.
- Noddings, N. (2012). The caring relation in teaching. Oxford Review of Education, 38(6), 771–781. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2012.745047
- Nysveen, H., Thorbjørnsen, H., & Pedersen, P. E. (2012). Samskaping og innovasjon. *Magma*, 15(3), 26–34. https://doi.org/10.23865/magma.v15.750
- Pianta, R. C., La Paro, K. M., & Hamre, B. K. (2008). *Classroom Assessment Scoring System™: Manual K-3*. Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Pianta, R., Downer, J., & Hamre, B. (2016). Quality in early education classrooms: Definitions, gaps, and systems. *The Future of Children*, 26(2), 119-137. https://doi.org/10.1353/foc.2016.0015
- Reid, S. (1997). Developments in infant observation: The Tavistock model. Routledge.
- Ritblatt, S. N., Hokoda, A., & Van Liew, C. (2017). Investing in the early childhood mental health workforce development: Enhancing professionals' competencies to support emotion and behavior regulation in young children. *Brain Sciences*, 7(9), 120. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci7090120
- Sameroff, A. J. (2009). The transactional model of development: How children and contexts shape each other. Washington, D.C: American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/11877-000</u>
- Schøn, D. A. (2013). Uddannelse af den reflekterende praktiker: Tiltag til en ny udformning af undervisning og læring for professionelle [Education and the reflective practitioner: Measures for a new design of education for learning for professionals]. Klim.
- Skogen, J., Siqveland, J., & Øverland, S. (2018). Barn og unges psykiske helse: Forebyggende og helsefremmende folkehelsetiltak. En kunnskapssoversikt [Children and young people's mental health: Preventive and health-promoting public health measures. A knowledge review]. Folkehelseinstituttet.
- Statistics Norway. (2023). [Kindergarten statistics]. https://www.ssb.no/utdanning/barnehager/statistikk/barnehager
- Taggart, G. (2016). Compassionate pedagogy: The ethics of care in early childhood professionalism. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 24(2), 173-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2014.970847</u>
- Taggart, G. (2019). Early childhood education: From maternal care to social compassion. In G. Barton, & S. Garvis (Eds.), *Compassion and empathy in educational contexts*. Palgrave Macmillan. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18925-9_11</u>

Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (Eds.). (2004). Handbook of mixed methods in social & behavioral research (2nd edition). p. 95-118. Sage.

The National Committee for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences and the Humanities (2018). *Guidelines for Research Ethics in the Social Sciences, Humanities, Law and Theology.* NESH.

Anne Synnøve BRENNE & Ingvild ÅMOT

- Torfing, J., Sørensen, E., & Røiseland, A. (2019). Transforming the public sector into an arena for co-creation: Barriers, drivers, benefits, and ways forward. *Administration & Society*, 51(5), 795–825. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399716680057</u>
- United Nations. (1989). The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC). <u>https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2010/05/UNCRC united nations convention on the rights of the child.pdf? ga=2.182610086.14671995</u>25.1535719005-2079045557.1524471353
- Vermeer, H. J., van Ijzendoorn, M. H., Cárcamo, R. A., & Harrison, L. J. (2016). Quality of child care using the environment rating scales: A meta-analysis of international studies. *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 48(1), 33-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13158-015-0154-9</u>
- Willumsen, E. Ø. A. (2020). Samskaping sosial innovasjon for helse og velferd [Creating social innovation for health and welfare]. Universitetsforlaget.
- Wichstrøm, L., Berg-Nielsen, T. S., Angold, A., Egger, H. L., Solheim, E. &, Hamre Sveen, T. (2012). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in preschoolers. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 53(6), 695-705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02514.x</u>

Winnicott, D. W. (2006). The family and individual development. Routledge.

Familiarization	Coding	Searching for themes	Core category
Nina: Our understanding of attachment and being an emotionally available staff has changed. We have read literature, raised our competence and acquired a shared theoretical foundation and understanding, we have co-created collective	Attachment emotionally available staff shared theoretical foundation and understanding	Understanding has changed Raised our competence	co-created collective competence
competence about children's needs for attachment. We have developed a mutual language relating to attachment, and we're using it all the time.	children's needs for attachment. a mutual language relating to attachment, using it all the time	A mutual language Using it all the time	

Appendix: An example from the coding process

The effect of Philosophy for Children (P4C) activities on the development of moral perception and social rules of preschool children

Ummuhan Unal¹, Gokhan Gunes²

Abstract: The purpose of the study was to examine the effects of P4C implementations on children's perceptions of moral and social rules. The study was carried out with a total of 48 children aged five years old, 23 of them in the experimental group and 25 of them in the control group, attending a public school in the 2023-2024 academic years. A quasiexperimental design was used in the research, and the fully mixed sequential equal status design, one of the mixed research typologies, was applied. The Preschool Children's Conceptions of Moral and Social Rules Scale was applied in the quantitative dimension of the research, and observation, interviews, and anecdotal records constituted the qualitative data collection dimension. Briefly, after the implementation process, the experimental group's perception of moral and social norms improved. In the current study, a substantial difference between the children's moral rule and social rule perceptions after the P4C sessions was discovered when the experimental group's moral rule and social rule perception scale scores were analyzed before and after the implementation. A noticeable improvement in cognitive and social-emotional development was seen. It was determined that positive behaviors improved, particularly in moral situations requiring tolerance, in the experimental group. The study came to the conclusion that teaching children philosophy helps them enhance their critical thinking skills.

Introduction

Moral development progresses alongside cognitive development, with distinct stages of formation.

Article History

Received: 02 February 2024 Accepted: 22 May 2024

Keywords P4C; P4C activity set; Moral perception; Social rules development

As children's reasoning skills improve, they become better equipped to make moral judgments (Piaget, 1932, 1965). According to Baker et al. (2021), especially in childhood, the capacity of social reasoning is dynamic. Although this capacity is sensitive to task demands, task performance may suffer under new conditions (Sodian et al., 2016). While Piaget's work (1932, 1965) suggested children primarily focus on the consequences of actions, recent studies reveal that even eight-month-old infants can make judgments about the underlying intentions behind those actions (Hamlin, 2013; Lee et al., 2015; Margoni & Surian, 2016). Piaget's theories of moral development (Piaget, 1932, 1965) and cognitive development (Piaget, 1952) emphasized children's ability to understand abstract principles in later stages (formal operational stage). This concept has been the subject of long-standing debate. Recent studies (Dumontheil, 2014; Gunes & Sahin, 2020; Woolley & McInnis, 2015) have shown that children as young as five years old can demonstrate an understanding of abstract concepts. Groundbreaking research on the moral development of babies, conducted nearly two decades ago, revealed that toddlers possess a moral core (Hamlin et al., 2007; Kuhlmeier et al., 2003; Wynn, 2008; Wynn & Bloom, 2014). To briefly summarize, the results of these experiments were carried out with toddlers (you can also watch these experiments from from Pressbooks, n.d.); choosing the one that helps the object trying to climb, not the one that hinders it (Hamlin et al., 2007), choosing the puppet that helps the puppet trying to open the box (Hamlin & Wynn, 2011) and asking to punish the puppet which escaped by picking up the ball (Hamlin & Wynn, 2011), demonstrates that babies

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license.

¹ Mersin University, Institute of Education Sciences, Primary Education Department, Mersin, Türkiye, e-mail: <u>ummuhankaya33@icloud.com</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2892-243X</u>

² Mersin University, Faculty of Education, Department of Early Childhood Education, Mersin, Türkiye, e-mail: gokgunes@mersin.edu.tr, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8923-3315</u>

have moral judgments towards the helpful/good one, and also they have sense of justice towards the harmful/wrongdoer, who should be punished. These results are opened to question not only Piaget's (1932, 1965) approach to moral development of children but also Kohlberg's (1958) thoughts about children up to nine years of age are primarily motivated to avoid punishment and seek rewards.

Toddlers, who can exhibit positive choices towards abstract concepts such as good, bad, helpful, punishment and justice, continue to develop their moral development and their ability to follow social rules which serve social harmony by the help of improving their conceptual development and critical thinking skills at the early childhood period. One of the educational approaches used to improve children's thinking ability is Philosophy for Children (P4C) (Lam, 2021; Lipman, 2003). At this point, Lipman et al., (1980) listed the benefits of philosophy for children on children's moral development as follows:

- Philosophy for children enables the child to recognize the emotions of others and develop empathy skills through dialogue.
- Philosophy for children contributes to children's moral development by directing them to discuss moral concepts.
- Ethical inquiries are carried out with children by discussing concepts such as truth and justice in philosophy.
- With ethical questions, children can evaluate their own value judgments and their impact on themselves.

The approach to philosophy with children is based on the understanding that a philosophical perspective can be acquired by individuals through appropriate education from an early age. The prerequisite for raising children who think, want to acquire knowledge, are curious and act rationally is to integrate pre-school education with thinking skills (Lipman et al., 1980). Philosophy for children, which is a thinking education program that gives children different perspectives; It also guides children to learn and think better (Lam, 2021). The program helps children make meaning from their experiences, giving them 'tools' to think and be aware of their own thoughts and the thoughts of others (Fisher, 1999). Philosophy for Children is a cognitive program that uses dialogic pedagogy to develop children's reasoning, creativity, social skills and ethical understanding (Trickey & Topping, 2004). Actually, the definitions of P4C in the literature such as approach (Zoabi & Lobont, 2022), thinking skills program (Trickey & Topping, 2004) or pedagogy (Lipman, 2003) shows that there was no consensus on the conceptual definition of Philosophy for Children. However, it can be thought that the content of Philosophy for Children includes vital requirements for improving inquiry-based learning via thinking skills such as; critical, collaborative, global, analytic, creativity, and reasoning.

Philosophy for Children, often abbreviated as P4C, aims to develop the four thinking skills as Creative, Caring, Collaborative and Critical thinking skills. P4C sessions begin with a stimulus on the topic to be discussed. The stimuli of P4C, which are chosen in accordance to the developmental level of the children or the participants, can be books, pictures, cartoons, poems or songs. Everyone sits in a circle during P4C sessions, with the teacher acting as a facilitator, not a leader. At the end of the session, the group tries to reach a philosophical question on the subject and the answers of the participants to this philosophical question are discussed objectively (Fisher, 2008; Lipman, 2003).

According to McGuiness (2005), P4C plays an important role in improving thinking skills, especially in the classroom via philosophical inquiries focused on exploration and questioning. P4C can be accepted as a strong pedagogy that helps individuals become people who think more, can put forward a judgment, can defend and exemplify their judgment (Lipman, 2003). Moreover, P4C supports child academic and social achievement (Millett & Tapper, 2012), improves their tolerance level and acceptance level of respect to new ideas, values and differences (Siddiqui et al., 2019). Children make their own reasonable judgements and think about philosophical issues and also develop their curiosity via P4C (Oyler, 2016). The socio-structural and pragmatist aspect of P4C pedagogy (Roversi et al., 2022) contributes to the development of different perspectives and flexible and active thinking of children (Lipman et al., 1980). In addition to these,

P4C implementations have positive effects on the students' reasoning, reading and non-cognitive skills (Ventista & Paparoussi, 2016). As P4C provides an environment for critical thinking, conceptual analysis and interpersonal dialogue on common problems in a democratic and philosophical environment, it contributes to children's being researchers and staying that way (Fletcher et al., 2021). On the other hand, Gorard et al. (2017) emphasized some criticism toward P4C such as; there are some problems about the clarity in the measurement of objectives (Slade, 1992), inability to provide an environment of free thought and questioning (Hayes, 2015), P4C pedagogy perception is not fully established and its implementations are not fully understood (Vansieleghem, 2005).

Significance and Purpose of the Study

Pre-school education and thinking skills should be integrated as a prerequisite for raising children who think, want to gain knowledge, are curious and act rationally. According to Lipman et al. (1980) including P4C pedagogy in pre-school education will make a difference in children's thinking skills, academic achievement and social development. In addition, it is stated that P4C can contribute positively to the moral development of children with the following items:

- enabling the child to realize the feelings of others and to develop empathy skills through dialogue;
- contributing to the moral development of children by directing them to discuss moral concepts;
- conducting ethical inquiries with children by discussing concepts such as truth and justice;
- through ethical inquiries, children evaluate their own value judgments and their impact on themselves.

Contrary to the opinions of influential theorists such as Piaget or Kohlberg, who emphasized children could not exhibit mature moral development before abstract thinking skills or formal operation stage, examining the effects of P4C on pre-schoolers' development of moral judgments based on abstract concepts, seen as the significant of the current study.

The stimuli used in the P4C sessions developed specifically for this research were unique and had not been tried in any implementation before. On the other hand, in the screening of P4C-based studies conducted in Türkiyebetween 2008 and 2023, it was reported that only 31 studies in total were found, 15 of which belonged to pre-schools. According to the results obtained in these studies, the effect of P4C implementations on five basic areas of participants' thinking skills, social skills, philosophical thinking skills, cognitive achievements and creativity were examined. Among these 31 P4C studies, the most implementations), followed by philosophical thinking skills (10 implementations) and cognitive achievements (5 implementations), while the least implementation was for creativity (2 implementations) have been determined to be relevant to the fields (Lafci-Tor, 2023). Similarly, when focusing on international literature, it is seen that P4C contributes to children's critical thinking skills (Ab Wahab et al., 2022; Wu, 2021), reading skills, reasoning, non-cognitive skills (Ventista, 2017), their ability to understand the cause-and-effect relationship (Ventista & Paparoussi, 2016) and also citizenship education for marginalised children (Cassidy et al., 2018).

The current study's focus on moral development, apart from thinking skills, creativity or philosophical thinking skills, has the potential to contribute to the gap in the field. Thus, the aim of the study was to examine the effects of P4C activities on pre-schoolers' perceptions of moral rules and social rules.

Method

Participants

The study was conducted with a total of 48 children aged five years old, 23 of them in the

experimental group and 25 of them in the control group attending a state preschool in Ankara during the academic year of 2022/2023, selected to purposive sampling method. Control and experimental groups were randomly selected. Children in the control and experimental groups attend two different classes, the control group is in class A and the control group is in class B. There are no children with learning disabilities or special education needs in both the control group and the experimental group. All children participating in the study are Turkish, and 23 of them belong to middle socio-economic level families (10 in the experimental group and 13 in the control group), and 25 (13 in the experimental group, 12 in the control group) belong to high socio-economic level families. The parents of all children in the control and experimental groups have a bachelor's degree. Purposeful sampling is used for the identification and selection of deep information cases in cases limited resources (Patton, 2014). In this technique, the participants are in the immediate vicinity, easily accessible, and volunteers are selected as the study group for participating in the research. The strengths of this method are not only useful in in-depth examination, discovery and explanation of situations, facts and events that think to have rich information (Patton, 2014) but also examine the participants feelings, experiences, thoughts, opinions, events, activities, experiences (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007).

Ethical Process

Ethical permissions were obtained from the provincial national education directorates where the research was conducted (protocol number: E-14588481-605.99-66954112) and Mersin University (approval number: 2021/05) to which the researchers were affiliated. The children and their parents were informed about the study. The study was started after signed voluntary consent forms were obtained from the families of the children who wanted to take part in the study. Children who attended the current study were coded with numbers, e.g., C1, C2, C3, ... C48 to record the data.

Research Design

In the research, both qualitative and quantitative data were used in accordance with the nature of the mixed method in order to examine the effect of philosophy activities for children on children's perceptions of moral and social rules in a comprehensive and multidimensional way and to ensure the validity and reliability of the collected data. The mixed method model is based on the idea that the deficiencies of each data group can be eliminated by integrating qualitative and quantitative design data (Johnson et al., 2007), as a type of research in which qualitative and quantitative research approaches are combined to address and validate various elements with a broad and deep understanding (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

The time and dominance dimension determines the typology of mixed method (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2009). In the current study, fully mixed sequential equal status design, coded as F3, was followed as a methodological path of mixed method (see Figure 1). In the first stage of current research, quantitative data were collected for the pre-test, and then qualitative data were collected during the implementation process and finally quantitative data for the post-test. The F3 that was employed in the current study is compatible with models of mixed methods and were suggested by other researchers (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004).



Figure 1. The mixed method typologies of Leech and Onwuegbuzie (2009) and the methodological path followed in the current study

The implementation process was applied in different classes rather than in the researcher's own class as one of the precautions for taking into account the risk of validity and reliability. The experimental and control groups were determined by considering this precaution. The quasi-experimental design was preferred in this study, in which both the participants and the control and experimental groups were not randomly assigned (Creswell, 2008), in accordance with the purposive samplings. In the analysis of quantitative data based on scales, statistical analyses were used to compare control and experimental groups. Moreover, the content analysis, for making inferences by systematically and objectively identifying messages from participants (Holsti, 1968), was used in the analysis of qualitative data obtained through observation, interview and anecdotal recording (Creswell & Creswell, 2018, Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2004).

Data Collection Tools

Preschool Children's Conceptions of Moral and Social Rules Scale

In the current study, Preschool Children's Conceptions of Moral and Social Rules Scale, was used for determining the children's conceptions of moral and social-conventional rules, was developed by Smetana (1981) and adapted to Turkish culture by Secer and Sari (2006). The scale consists of two subscales that aim to measure adherence to moral items 1 from 5 and social rules items 6 from 10. Both Moral and Social rules dimensions of the scale consists of five sub-dimensions are Seriousness, Absence of Authority, Absence of Rules, Generalization and Punishment. The item testing each sub-dimension is scored between 1 and 3, and a minimum of 10 and a maximum of 30 points can be obtained from the whole scale, with a minimum of 5 and a maximum of 15 points from both the moral rules and social rules dimensions. The Cronbach alpha value of Preschool Children's Conceptions of Moral and Social Rules Scale was calculated .74. In another study where the scale was applied in Turkish culture, Cronbach alpha values were found to be .80 for the moral rules and .83 for the social rule (Özcan & Güngör-Aytar, 2023). The Pearson Correlation value was found .78, p=.000 of test-retest reliability was obtained three weeks after the initial interview for 32 of the 48 participants. Similarly, Smetana (1981) found the reliability value of test-retest of scale was .66, p<.01.

The five moral stimulus items were;

- 1. One child hitting another child;
- 2. A child not sharing a toy;
- 3. A child shoving another child;
- 4. A child throwing water at another child;
- 5. A child taking another child's apple.

The five social-conventional stimulus items were;

- 6. A child not participating in show and tell;
- 7. A child not sitting in the designated place (on a rug) during story time;
- 8. A child not saying grace before snack;
- 9. A child putting a toy away in the incorrect place;
- 10. A child not placing her belongings in the designated place (Smetana, 1981, p. 1334).

In order to evaluate the children's perceptions of moral and social rules, the following questions were asked about each of the pictures:

1. Do you think the event in the picture is true or false? If this is wrong, how wrong do you think it is? (Severity Dimension)

2. If the teacher did not see what the child in the picture was doing, would this behaviour of the child be correct? (The Dimension of Lack of Authority)

3. Would this behaviour of the child be correct if there was no rule set before regarding the event in the picture? (Absence of Rules Dimension)

4. Would it be right for this child in the picture to behave like this in another school or at home? (Generalization Dimension)

5. Should the teacher punish this child for this behaviour? If yes, how much punishment? Is it a

little or a lot of punishment? (Penalty Dimension)

While the items were scored between 1 and 4 points for (smallest face), "a little bit bad", "very bad" or "very, very bad" (largest face)" in the original scoring of the scale (Smetana, 1981) as a result of our pilot implementations, the items were scored between 1 and 3 because children could not fully understand the distinction between "very bad" and "very, very bad.

Scoring of the scale is as follows:

- Happy facial expression (approving) = 1 point
- Slightly angry facial expression (disapproving) = 2 points
- Very angry facial expression (no disapproval, that's too bad) = 3 points

Observation

Due to the facilitator role of the researcher in P4C activities, the observations made during the implementation processes were carried out in accordance with the participant observation method. In this method, researchers collect the data, as in the form of field notes which are unobtrusive and systematical (Bogdan, 1973). All the implementation processes of the 10-week P4C activities were recorded via video recordings of approximately 400 minutes in total, as well as the observation forms (see Table 1) filled by the researcher as a participant observer. Expert opinions were obtained from four experts (academicians from early childhood education) with more than 10 years of professional experience and that have PhD in early childhood education regarding the scope validity of the observation form.

Table 1. Observation form

			Very good	Cood	Under development	Should be
			very good	Good	Under development	supported
1 Agreeing/disagreeing with the opinion						
2	Justify					
		Distinguish				
3	Comparison	Connect with				
		Analogy				
4	Inference					
5	Logical reasoning					

Interview

In order to increase the quality of the interview and to obtain the most appropriate interview form (Marshall & Rossman, 2014), expert opinions were obtained from five experts with PhD degrees who have 10-15 years of experience working in the field of measurement and evaluation (two experts), P4C (two experts), and one in the field of early childhood education. The interview form is presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Interview Form

			Chid code:
	Questions	Responses	
1	Did we listen to each other caringly today?		
2	Have we thought about the activity we did today?		
3	Have we answered the questions today? Did we provide explanations?		
4	How did we treat each other today?		
5	Did we think of new things today? Have we got any new ideas/thoughts?		

Anecdotal Records

In the current study, anecdotes including the participation of the children in the activity process and the answers they gave to the questions about the P4C session and the general observations in the process were recorded during each P4C session and a total of ten anecdotes were recorded.

Trustworthiness

Reliability and validity play a crucial role for acceptability of the findings in scientific reports. The

methods used to ensure the reliability of data in research based on qualitative paradigms differ from quantitative-based studies. While reliability is tried to be ensured in quantitative research methods, trustworthiness is taken into consideration in qualitative studies. Despite the fact that there are many ways to improve trustworthiness (Creswell, 2014), four criteria-credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability-were used in the evaluation (Guba, 1981; Shenton, 2004).

Credibility: In this criterion, Merriam (1998) focused on the question "how compatible are the findings with the reality?" A mixed method, which combined qualitative and quantitative data was used, and data were obtained from a wide variety of sources such as scale, observation, interview and anecdotal records, which are considered important to increase reliability (Brewer & Hunter, 1989). In addition to these, Yin (1994) stated that the progress of the techniques, methods and implementation happens correctly, in the right order and as planned reflecting the consistency of the findings highlighted in this criterion with reality at the highest level.

Transferability: To achieve these requirements, Shenton's (2004) six-step method was used. First, we selected appropriate schools to allow supervisors of P4C sessions in line with the goals and scope of the study. The fact that the researcher was also a teacher at the school and that the school had easy access was effective in choosing the implementation school. To avoid any validity and reliability problems, the implementation was carried out in classes other than the researcher's own class. Second, we chose the suitable sample using the purposive sampling technique in order to gather pertinent and transferable data. Thirdly, compared to P4C sessions which conducted with a relatively small number of populations, the number of experimental group (23 children) and control group (25 children) in the current study is sufficient to allow for the diversity of qualitative data and for the implementation of statistics to quantitative data. Fourthly, we used a variety of measurement techniques, including scale, observation, anecdotal records, and interview. The fifth phase involved several data collection sessions (each P4C session lasted nearly 40 minutes, interviews lasted nearly 10 minutes for each child, so observations records required about 400 minutes and interviews records about 230 (for 23 children), total of data recording time about 11 hours). The sixth and final point is that we collected data over the course of about three months, which gave us access to information that was sufficiently in-depth and detailed.

Dependability: Using independent, repeated, and cross-comparison procedures, the findings were verified by researchers. A total of 21 meetings were held during the research, with 20 meetings before and after each P4C session, and another meeting at the end of the process, where the general evaluation was made.

Confirmability: The implementations were verified again in chronological sequence with the records, and we independently and frequently studied and compared the findings in-depth findings.

Validity and Reliability Techniques for Analyzing to Quantitative Data

In addition to the trustworthiness steps listed above, the validity and reliability of the current study were increased with some other implementations. One of these implementation, Cronbach alpha internal consistency coefficient for the reliability of the quantitative data, test-retest Pearson correlation coefficient for the scale and normality test results were taken into account for the determination of the statistical procedures to be applied. In addition, the P4C sessions were carried out in a classroom other than the researcher's classroom in order to avoid the risk of the researcher directly affecting the results on the participants. One of the other measures taken against the risks that may adversely affect the validity and reliability of the implementation is to seek expert opinions for the content validity of the instruments.

Information About Philosophy for Children (P4C) Activity Set and Implementation Process

In the process of creating the Philosophy for Children (P4C) Activity Set (see App. I for an example of P4C Activity Set), both researchers participated in a total of three courses/seventy-five hours of training programs in order to conduct the research more effectively and accurately and were accredited and received an internationally valid philosophy practitioner and educator certificate.

After the supervision process, the P4C activity set was sent to the four experts, who have experience about P4C and child development, and its final version was created. While creating the activities, the acquisitions in the fields of moral development, social and moral rules were included, while the program was created by taking into account the age and developmental characteristics of the children. P4C activity set consists of 10 activities planned as a 10-week practice for pre-school children. An intervention process lasted approximately three months, from January 9, 2023 to March 27, 2023. All implementation and data collection processes were carried out by the researcher. In Table 3, the 10 concepts and 10 activities in the P4C Activity Set are given together with the implementation dates and implementation periods.

Table 3. P4C weekly activity set

Week	Topic	Philosophical question (philosophical meaning)	Title of the P4C session	Date of P4C session*
1	Intention	What is intention?	Who is guiltier?	9 Jan. 2023
2	Rules	What is rule?	Cheerful forest	16 Jan 2023
3	Power-Authority	What is power/authority?	Otter	23 Jan. 2023
4	Share	What is share?	Tiny rabbit Bobi	30n Jan. 2023
5	Criteria of sharing	Are there any criteria for sharing?	It's mine	20 Feb. 2023
6	Benevolence	What are benevolence / help?	Grumpy flower	27 Feb 2023
7	Criteria of benevolence	What is the criterion of benevolence?	Kind-Hearted Giant Memo	6 March 2023
8	Truth	What is truth?	I did not do that	13 March 2023
9	Honesty	What is honesty?	Tree Mounted Kite	20 March 2023
10	Favour	What is favour?	Why is the deer sad?	27 March 2023

*all P4C session lasted about 40 minutes

Findings

The findings regarding the results of the quantitative and qualitative data obtained as a natural result of the mixed method implementation were reported under separate headings such as "Results of quantitative data" and "Results of qualitative data" to strengthen the conceptual expression.

Results of Quantitative Data

What are the Moral and Social Rule Perception Levels of Children?

First of all, normality test was applied to understand the distribution of the Preschool Children's Conceptions of Moral and Social Rules Scale and the results are shown in Table 4.

 Table 4. Preschool children's conceptions of moral and social rules scale's normality test results

	Kolmogo	rov-Smirno	ov	Sh	apiro-Wilk	
Preschool Children's Conceptions of Moral and Social Rules Scale	statistic	df	р	statistic	df	р
	.076	48	.200*	.973	48	.327

Since Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk normality test results indicated normal distribution (p>.05), analysis procedures were continued with parametric tests.

The Moral and Social Rule Perception Scale Pre-Test descriptive statistics results are presented in Table 5.

Table 5. Experimental and control group total pre-test descriptive statistics results of preschool children's conceptions of moral and social rules scale

	Min.	Max.	\overline{X}	S	SD
Moral rules sub-dimension	16.00	37.00	29.73	21.05	4.59
Social rules sub-dimension	13.00	37.00	28.75	28.45	5.33
Total	29.00	73.00	58.48	84.64	9.20
N=48					

In the pre-test results, it was determined that the children participating in the study exhibited approximately 65% positive attitudes in both moral rules and social rules sub-dimensions, which were

above the medium level. Similarly, it was calculated that they had a positive retention rate of 67% in the context of moral and social rules from the whole scale.

T-test analysis results for moral and social rule perception between experimental and control groups are presented in Table 6.

	Group	\overline{X}	SS	t	SD	Р
Moral rules sub-dimension	Experimental	30.78	5.03	1.548	16	128
	Control	28.76	4.00		40	.120
Social rules sub-dimension	Experimental	30.13	5.59	1 750	16	085
	Control	27.48	4.86	1.756	40	.065
Total	Experimental	60.91	10.00	1 700	16	070
	Control	56.24	7.94	1.799	40	.079

Table 6. Pre-test results of the preschool children's conceptions of moral and social rules scale of the experimental and control group

Nexperimental=23, Ncontrol=25

It is seen that the pre-test mean scores of the experimental group and the control group are close to each other both in the whole of the scale and in both dimensions (moral rules and social rules), and there is no statistically significant difference between the groups (p>.05).

The Effect of P4C Implementations on Children's Perceptions of Moral Rules and Social Rules

After the P4C sessions, T-test was applied on post-test scores of experimental and control groups' points belong to Preschool Children's Conceptions of Moral and Social Rules Scale, to understand the effect of the implementation (P4C sessions) on participants' perceptions of moral and social rule. The results of T-test analysis are presented in Table 7.

Table 7. Post-test results of the preschool children's conceptions of moral and social rules scale of the experimental and control groups

	Group	\overline{X}	SS	t	SD	р
Moral rules sub-dimension	Experimental	33.78	3.25	4.020	16	000
	Control	27.68	4.99	4.960	40	.000
Social rules sub-dimension	Experimental	31.91	4.34	5 256	16	000
	Control	25.12	4.44	5.556	40	.000
Total	Experimental	65.70	6.98	5.020	16	000
Total	Control	52.80	7.99	5.929	40	.000

Nexperimental=23, Ncontrol=25

It is seen that there is a statistically significant difference in favour of the experimental group in the whole of the scale and also in both sub-dimensions of moral rules and social rules (p=.000). From this point of view, it can be said that the P4C sessions applied within the scope of this research, have a positive effect on the perceptions of moral and social rules of the participating children. In order to understand whether the implementation caused a significant difference between the Preschool Children's Conceptions of Moral and Social Rules Scale pre-test and post-test scores of the experimental group, a t-test was conducted and the analysis results are presented in Table 8.

 Table 8. Preschool children's conceptions of moral and social rules scale's pre-test and post-test t-test results of the experimental group

Group	Dimensions	Test	\overline{X}	SD	t
đ		Pre-test	30.78	5.03	-2.580*
grou	Moral rules sub-dimension	Post-test	33.78	3.25	
tal §	Carial mulas sub dimension	Pre-test	30.13	5.59	-1.497
nen	Social rules sub-ulmension	Post-test	31.91	4.34	
erir	T-1-1	Pre-test	60.91	10.00	0.01/*
Exp	Iotai	Post-test	65.70	6.98	-2.210

*p<.05; Nexpiremental group=23

It is seen that the post-test mean scores of the implementation in the experimental group in the total score of the scale and in the moral rules sub-dimension are statistically significant and higher than the pretest mean scores. Although it does not indicate a statistically significant difference in the social rules subdimension of the experimental group, it is realized that the post-test scores are higher than the pre-test scores. These findings show that philosophy activities for children contribute to increasing the moral rule knowledge score and social rule knowledge score of the experimental group participants. As a result of the implementation applied to the participants, it can be said that philosophy activities for children increase the level of children's knowledge of moral and social rules.

Results of Qualitative Data

Children's Responses in P4C Sessions

Qualitative findings regarding the effects of P4C implementations on children's perceptions of moral and social rules were obtained from observations, interviews and anecdotal records, and in the following section, these data are included through examples selected from the implementation weeks.

Theme: Power (authority) - Otter Story

In the Story of Otter which is the third week activity, the following questions was discussed;

Should hedgehogs do what they are told or not? Why? (prompt question) Why do animals fulfil the wishes of the otter? (transition question) Should we always do the wishes of those who are stronger than us? Why? (transition question) What is power (authority)? (philosophical question)

The story Otter was read in two parts in practice. After reading the first part, the children were asked the prompt question, should the hedgehogs do what they are told or not?, Why?.

They shouldn't, because the otter didn't treat them nicely and didn't use nice words (C1). They shouldn't do it because he didn't use the magic word (C23). They shouldn't, because the otter wasn't chosen as king. He is not the king (C9). They shouldn't do it because the otter disrespected the hedgehogs and didn't treat them kindly (C3). They shouldn't, because the otter gives orders to the hedgehogs. This is not a good thing (C13).

While all of the children answered they should not do it, they explained their reasons in different ways. At this point, an imaginary opponent was created as a facilitator. It was observed that three of the children changed their minds after the imaginary opponent was created.

Let them do it because the otter has declared himself king. There is no disrespect to the king (C19). Let them do it, because together with the lion, the otter can become king (C15). They should do it because the otter might get very upset and angry if they don't (C21).

After reading the second part of the story, participants were asked: Why do animals fulfil the otter's wishes? (transition question).

Because the otter is bigger than them, because what the big guys want is done (C11). What the kings want is done, if it is not done; he punishes them and puts them in prison (C3). Kings are powerful and what they want is done. If it is not done, the kings will be angry (C7).

Should we always do the wishes of people who are stronger than us? (transition question)?

Yes, because powerless people cannot do what they want on their own (C23). No, we shouldn't do it all the time. Because they can lie to us and if we do whatever they want, bad things may happen to us (C6). Yes, because if we don't do it, they may treat us very badly and punish us (C12).

Lastly, the philosophical question that what is Power (Authority)? was asked to the participants.

To rule everyone in the world (C3). Keeping everything in your hands (C18). To change and become stronger, and therefore to be able to do anything (C11). Having the power of the world in your hands, having everything you want (C1). The effect of Philosophy for Children (P4C) activities on the development of moral...

Expressing their different perspectives on the concept of power (authority), children stated that it is the authority that holds the power, and that angering the powerful can have bad consequences.

Theme: Criteria of Sharing - It's Mine

In the story of It is Mine which is the fifth week activity; the following questions were discussed;

Should Piccolo give his banana to Oskar or not? Why? (prompt question) Should we share our belongings with people who do not share their belongings with us? (transition question) Is there a criterion for sharing? (philosophical question)

After reading the story, the participants were asked the prompt question Should Piccolo gives his banana to Oskar or not? Why? and an investigation was initiated.

Let him give, because sharing is nice (C17). He should give it, because if he doesn't, their friendship cannot be maintained (C4). He shouldn't give it because she didn't share it with him (C9). He should give it; otherwise, he will get angry with her (C2). He shouldn't give it to her; he didn't give her the toy (C14).

The second question (prompt question). was asked to the participants: Should we share our belongings with people who do not share their belongings with us?

Yes, maybe when we share, he will learn how good it is to share (C3). Yes, maybe he will realize the mistake he made (C13). We don't have to share, we can do it if we want, if we don't want, we cannot share it (C9). Those who do not share will be doing evil. If we do not share, we will also be doing evil (C4). We must share so that he can like us (C10).

Lastly, the philosophical question was asked to the participants; Is there a criterion for sharing?

While all of the participants answered, there is a criterion for sharing; they expressed their reasons in different ways.

There is, I can share it with people I know (C4). It exists, if I like it, I will share it (C1). There is, if he is my friend and he shares his things with me, I will share his things too (C10).

While the criterion for sharing according to children is stated to be people they love or know, it has been observed that sharing their belongings is perceived as doing well, while not sharing their belongings is perceived as doing evil. Children also expressed that not sharing is a bad thing, while the perspective of I will share if he shares or maybe he will share is dominant. When the answers received from the interview questions were examined, the children stated that they enjoyed the activity process and were curious about what we would do in the next activity. We always read new stories and talk about different things.

I'm very curious about what we will do next time (C4). I think we talk about very entertaining things, we all say different things (C9).

Theme: Favour – Why is the Deer Sad?

In the tenth week, the implementation, titled Why is the Deer Sad? The picture of a crying deer and its friends near to it was shown to children and the following questions were discussed;

What do you think could be the reason why the deer is sad? (prompt question) What can its friends do for the deer? (transition question) What is favour? (philosophical question)

After the picture was shown, an investigation was initiated with the prompt question which was what do you think could be the reason why the deer is sad?

He might have injured his foot and it hurts (C20). Some evil-hearted person might have hurt the deer (C16). He might have been pricked by a thorn in his foot (C23). He might have fallen and injured or cut himself somewhere (C17).

Since the answers given by the participants were that the deer might be upset due to physical pain, the question, which was not included in the activity plan, was asked; do you think we only get upset when a part of us is injured or hurts, that is, when we suffer physically?

We get sad and cry when our friends don't include us in the game. (C17 who changed his initial thought) If they leave us alone at night, we get scared and sad. (C16) We also get sad when the electricity is cut off and we stay in the dark at night. (C19) When we get scared, we get sad and cry a lot. (C7)

Then, the facilitator asked another transition question which was what can their friends do for the deer?

If he has a wound, they can take him to the veterinarian and bandage his wounds (C3). They can share happiness with him. They can take him to the park (C21). They can understand why he is sad and help him (C13). They can help him, if he is hurting, they can take him to the veterinarian for treatment and they will be doing him a favour (C6).

When the targeted concept of favour was expressed by the investigating community, the facilitator moved on to the philosophical question that was: What is goodness?

It means not getting angry or punishing (C7). Feeling love for everyone and sharing something they need with them (C8). Helping those in difficult situations (C3). Doing things for each other, loving each other and to make happy (C4). Taking those in need into our homes and helping them (C6). Not breaking hearts. Hugging each other (C19). Sharing our Barbie house and toys we love, not dislikes (C20). Being sensitive and helping everyone (C1).

While the majority of the children expressed sadness as physical injury, hurting and suffering, they stated that being alone and being in the dark (frightening to them) was also a sad thing. According to children, showing kindness, being good heartedness, helping people who need help, sharing their favourite toys, were seen as favours.

When the answers received from the interview questions with the children after the last activity were examined, they stated that they thought a lot about the activities, sometimes changed their ideas and enjoyed them very much.

We thought about very different things, it was very enjoyable to think with my friends. (C3) I agree with my friends, it was different from the stories we normally read, we thought more and got new ideas (C17).

Discussion

The results of the research show that there is no significant difference in the perceptions of both moral rules and social rules of the participating children in both the experimental group and the control group, that is, the children are close in structure. When the answers given by the children to the scale questions are examined; it was concluded that social rules are perceived as more flexible than moral rules and that moral rule violations are defined as more serious and more punishable situations than social rules violations. In his research, Smetana (2006) stated that children evaluate moral rule violations as more serious, requiring more punishment, and wrong even if there are no rules. When the pre-test and post-test average scores of the experimental and control groups were compared, it was observed that while the posttest scores of the experimental group increased, there was no increase or even a decrease in the post-test scores of the control group. This decrease was due to the fact that the children became more integrated with each other in the 10-week period between the pre-test and the post-test and, accordingly, they were influenced by each other. Children's peer relationships are shaped by children's individual characteristics and their interactions with each other (Qashmer, 2023). In communicating with their peers, children become behaviourally similar to each other over time. For example, while children who spend time with aggressive peers exhibit aggressive behaviours over time (Liu et al., 2013) children who spend time with sharing and cooperative peers learn these behaviours and these behaviours are reinforced (Laursen &

Veenstra, 2021). There are studies supporting the results obtained in the current study that P4C sessions significantly and positively affect in strengthening children's social cohesion, social rule and moral development levels. In one of these studies, García-Moriyón et al. (2020) stated that the P4C educational concept supplies for creating areas where students can reflect on the kind of person and society they wish to become. Moreover, the formation of community feelings, according to Sharp (1995) is essential for the development of the pro-social virtues (such as sincerity, courage, care, honesty, considerateness, compassion, sensitivity, integrity, etc.) and character structures of the students in the class. This is in addition to developing a set of tools and procedures specific to ethical reflection. It has been reported that the philosophy with children curriculum, which was prepared by the Institute for the Advancement of Philosophy with Children (n.d) (IAPC, establishment in 1974), benefits from Royce and Powell's (1983) multifactorial personality systems theory, contributes positively to the development of some cognitive and emotional dimensions regarding the moral development of children. Developmental examples in cognitive; deduction and induction, impulsiveness, sensitivity to issues, idea flow, originality, cognitive complexity, abstract and concrete thought, etc. are all examples of cognitive skills. It has been observed that not only abstract concept development, but also children's listening to each other skills during the practices, teacher-child interaction and children's tendency to ask more questions have improved. These results also coincide with the findings of the Evaluation report and Executive summary Report about Philosophy for Children. In summary, the report emphasizes that P4C appears to have a positive effect on broader outcomes like students' speaking confidence, patience when listening to others, and self-esteem, according to teachers and students' feedback. Certain instructors thought that P4C had a beneficial effect on overall student involvement in the classroom and may have led to certain students asking more questions throughout all classes (Gorard et al., 2015). Based on this, it can be said that P4C implementations develop not only abstract definitions such as authority, sharing and kindness which are good reflections of social and moral rules but also develop curial social skills such as listening to each other, asking questions, self-expression. Self-awareness, sincerity, realism, cooperation, assertiveness (self-possession), tolerance for the strange, reflexivity, accomplishment motivation, and other characteristics are included in the affective domain. The P4C program, which was implemented, reinforced the students' moral habits and competences, according to the experimental study that looked at how the program affected the development of social, cultural, and ethical values in sixth-grade pupils (García-Moriyón et al., 2020). It appears that the results of the current investigation, which was conducted with a five year-old age group, are consistent with the findings obtained in older age groups.

According to the findings obtained from the three implementation examples presented above, in which abstract concepts such as authority, sharing and kindness were investigated, five-year-old children can develop conceptual explanations for the definition of abstract concepts. In fact, although Piaget (1964) stated in cognitive development theory, the development of abstract concepts could occur at formal operational stage (11 years old and up), recent studies (Hu et al., 2021; Gunes & Sahin, 2020; Lin et al., 2020; Woolley & McInnis, 2015) have reported some remarkable results which support the findings of current study that the development of abstract thoughts and ability to define abstract concepts can be observed at earlier ages. In addition to the studies emphasizing that abstract, thoughts and definitions for abstract science concepts can be developed around the age of five (Hu et al., 2021; Gunes & Sahin, 2020; Woolley & McInnis, 2015), it is reported that game-based implementations (Lin et al., 2020) and computational implementations (Bati, 2022) support abstract thinking in early childhood. It can be concluded that not only the subject/theme dimension but also the implementation dimensions improve abstract thinking.

In current study, it was observed that children expressed positive opinions about social rules such as sharing; doing favours or obeying the rules, and either questioned the concepts of authority or gave answers indicating emotional understanding and social competence. Similar results were reported in previous study (Giménez-Dasí et al., 2013), the P4C program was applied to the four and five age group, it was reported that there was a significant improvement in children's social interactions, social competences and emotion comprehension, consistent with the findings of current study. It is seen that P4C sessions contribute not only to children's abstract thinking or ability to think with abstract concepts (such as;

concepts of power, authority etc.) which is an important indicator in their cognitive development, but also to the positive development of their moral and social (punishment, love, rules, sharing, bad, good, justice etc.) perceptions. It is seen that the progress made by the children in the context of moral and social perception during the P4C implementation process of the current research is compatible with Lipman's (2008) thoughts about that P4C could be useful not only for developing thinking skills but also for moral education. Lastly, it may be claimed that the findings of this study support claims of Ann Sharp (2009), who is one of the P4C pioneers, P4C research can contribute to communities via a strong pedagogy in terms of moral development.

Conclusion

It was determined that there was an increase in the perception of moral and social rules of the experimental group after implementation process. In the research, when the experimental group's moral rule and social rule perception scale scores were examined before and after the implementation, a significant difference was found between the children's moral rule and social rule perceptions after the P4C sessions. Moreover, a visible progress was observed in the areas of cognitive development and socialemotional development, it was concluded that positive behaviours increased, especially in moral situations requiring tolerance in experimental group. The significant differences obtained on behalf of the experimental group in the post-tests applied at the end of the research are due to the P4C sessions applied. This idea is based on the fact that the behavioral changes in the control groups were not at a level that could cause a significant difference during the process, and that the children reflected the thoughts and inferences that would form the basis for positive behaviors, together with the practices in the anecdotal records and observations in the sessions of the experimental group. The study concluded that philosophy activities for children contribute to the development of critical thinking standards. At the end of the 10 P4C sessions implemented within the scope of this research, it was observed that children from experimental group have not only improved their thinking skills, but also have been able to develop conceptual explanations for important and abstract concepts such as justice, honesty, sharing, human rights, empathy and sharing. Moreover, children, in experimental group, have demonstrated collaborative and attentive approaches to problem solving.

Limitations and Implications for Future Research

This study has some potential limitations. The primary limitation to the generalization of these results is sample size, the second limitation concerns the access and the last one is longitudinal effects. Although the fact that the research is limited to 23 experimental groups and 25 control groups is considered sufficient in terms of qualitative research methods, it points to limitations in the quantitative dimension of the research. In an ideal P4C session, it is recommended that the number of the participants in inquiry community being twelve to sixteen participants the optimal number, since they provide a good variety of perspectives and chances for contributions (Fisher, 2008). In this context, one of the limitations of the research is that the experimental group itself cannot be divided into smaller parts and increasing the number of groups which involved ideal number of participants. Other potential participants could not be reached due to the limited number of classes in the schools, where chosen by purposeful sampling method, the research was carried out. Due to time problem; the inability to test the permanence or long-term effects of the implementations is considered to be another limitation of the research.

Implementing similar studies by increasing the number of samples, examining the relationships between P4C implementations and emotion regulation and personality development, and discussing the differences in depth with research groups that include different age groups and socio-economic status can be offered as suggestions for researchers. It may be recommended for early childhood educators to use P4C activities as a tool to recognize and evaluate the child, and to enrich the activities by changing the themes or stimuli in P4C activities.

The effect of Philosophy for Children (P4C) activities on the development of moral...

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: This article is based on the related sections of the Ümmühan Ünal master's thesis called "Investigation of the effect of philosophy activities for children on the perceptions of moral and social rules of children" at the Mersin University, Institute of Educational Sciences, under the direction of Assoc. Prof. Gokhan Gunes.

Authors' contributions: Both authors contributed equally to this work.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: This research was conducted with the permission of Mersin University ethics committee, protocol number 2021/05, and the permission of the National Education Directorate, protocol number E-14588481-605.99-66954112. The children and their parents were informed about the study and signed voluntary consent forms which were obtained from the families of the children who wanted to take part in the study before starting to the research. Personal information of no child in the study was included, and all of them were coded as C1, C2, ... C48.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Carmen Huser through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Ab Wahab, M. K., Zulkifli, H., & Abdul Razak, K. (2022). Impact of philosophy for children and its challenges: A systematic review. *Children*, 9(11), 1671.
- Baker, E. R., D'Esterre, A. P., & Weaver, J. P. (2021). Executive function and Theory of Mind in explaining young children's moral reasoning: A test of the hierarchical competing systems model. *Cognitive Development*, 58, 101035. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2021.101035</u>
- Bati, K. (2022). A systematic literature review regarding computational thinking and programming in early childhood education. *Education and Information Technology*, 27, 2059-2082 (2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10700-2</u>

Bogdan, R. (1973). Participant observation. Peabody Journal of Education, 50(4), 302-308.

Brewer, J., & Hunter, A. (1989). Multimethod research: A synthesis of styles. Sage.

Cassidy, C., Christie, D., Marwick, H., Deeney, L., McLean, G., & Rogers, K. (2018). Fostering citizenship in marginalised children through participation in Community of Philosophical Inquiry. *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice, 13*(2), 120-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1746197917700151</u>

Creswell, J. W. (2008). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (3rd ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.

Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research Design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Sage.

Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. (5th ed.). Sage.

- Dumontheil, I. (2014). Development of abstract thinking during childhood and adolescence: The role of rostrolateral prefrontal cortex. Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience, 10, 57-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2014.07.009
- Fisher, R. (2008). Teaching thinking. Philosophical enquiry in the classroom (3rd ed.). Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Fletcher, N. M., Gregory, M. R., Shea, P., & Sykes, A. (2021). The story circle as a practice of democratic, critical inquiry. *Childhood and Philosophy*, *17*, 1-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.12957/CHILDPHILO.2021.55722</u>
- García-Moriyón, F., González-Lamas, J., Botella, J., Vela, J. G., Miranda-Alonso, T., Palacios, A., & Robles-Loro, R. (2020). Research in moral education: The contribution of P4C to the moral growth of students. *Education Sciences*, 10(4), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10040119
- Giménez-Dasí, M., Quintanilla, L., & Daniel, M. (2013). Improving emotion comprehension and social skills in early childhood through philosophy for children. *Childhood & Philosophy*, 9(17), 63-89.
- Gorard, S., Siddiqui, N., & See, B. (2017). Can 'Philosophy for Children' improve primary school attainment?. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 51(1), 5-22. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9752.12227
- Gorard, S., Siddiqui, N., & See, B. H. (2015). *Philosophy for children: Sapere, evaluation report and executive summary*. Durham: Education Endowment Foundation

- Guba, E. G. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 29, 75-91. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02766777
- Gunes, G., & Sahin, V. (2020). Preschoolers' thoughts on the concept of time. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 181(4), 293-317. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.2020.1753645
- Hamlin, J. K. (2013). Failed attempts to help and harm: Intention versus outcome in preverbal infants' social evaluations. Cognition, 128(3), 451-474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2013.04.004</u>

Hamlin, J. K., & Wynn, K. (2011). Young infants prefer prosocial to antisocial others. Cognitive Development, 26, 30-39.

- Hamlin, J., Wynn, K. & Bloom, P. (2007). Social evaluation by preverbal infants. *Nature*, 450, 557-559. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06288
- Hayes, D. (2015). *Philosophy for children isn't real philosophy*. <u>https://www.spiked-online.com/2015/07/16/philosophy-for-children-isnt-real-philosophy/</u>
- Holsti, O. R. (1968). Content analysis, In G. Lindzey and E. Aronson (eds.), Handbook of Social Psychology, Vol 2. Addison-Wesley.
- Hu, J., Gordon, C., Yang, N., & Ren, Y. (2021)."Once upon a star": A science education program based on personification storytelling in promoting preschool children's understanding of astronomy concepts. *Early Education and Development*, 32(1), 7-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1759011</u>
- Institute for the Advancement of Philosophy for Children (n.d). IAPC timeline. https://www.montclair.edu/iapc/iapc-timeline/?
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, 33(7), 14-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033007014</u>
- Johnson, R. B., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Turner, L. A. (2007). Toward a definition of mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods* Research, 1(2), 112-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689806298224</u>
- Kohlberg, L. (1958). The development of modes of thinking and choices in years 10 to 16 [Unpublished doctorate thesis]. University of Chicago.
- Kuhlmeier, V., Wynn, K., & Bloom, P. (2003). Attribution of dispositional states by 12-month-olds. *Psychological Science*, 14(5), 402-408. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.01454
- Lafci-Tor, D. (2023). An investigation of research on philosophy for children (P4C) practices in Turkey: A systematic review. *Kaygı.* Bursa Uludağ University Faculty of Arts and Sciences Journal of Philosophy, 22(3), 703-740.
- Lam, C.-M. (2021). The impact of philosophy for children on teachers' professional development. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 27(7), 642-655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2021.1986693</u>
- Laursen, B., & Veenstra, R. (2021). Toward understanding the functions of peer influence: A summary and synthesis of recent empirical research. *Journal of Research on Adolescence: The Official Journal of the Society for Research on Adolescence*, 31(4), 889–907. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12606
- Lee, Y-e., Yun, J-eE., Kim, EY., Song, H-j. (2015). The development of infants' sensitivity to behavioural intentions when inferring others' social preferences. *PLoS ONE*, 10(9), e0135588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135588</u>
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2009). A typology of mixed methods research designs. Quality & Quantity: International Journal of Methodology, 43(2), 265–275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-007-9105-3</u>
- Lin, S., Chien, S., Hsiao, C., Hsiao, C., & Chao, K. (2020). Enhancing computational thinking capability of preschool children by gamebased smart toys. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 44, 101011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2020.101011
- Lipman, M. (2003). Thinking in education (2nd ed.). Cambridge University Press.
- Lipman, M. (2008). A life teaching thinking. The Institute for the Advancement of Philosophy for Children.
- Lipman, M., Sharp, M. A. & Oscanyan, F. S. (1980). Philosophy in the classroom. Temple University Press.
- Liu, J., Lewis, G., & Evans, L. (2013). Understanding aggressive behaviour across the lifespan. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 20(2), 156–168.
- Margoni, F., & Surian, L. (2016). Mental state understanding and moral judgment in children with autistic spectrum disorder. *Frontiers* in Psychology, 7, Article 1478. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01478</u>
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). Designing qualitative research. Sage.
- McGuiness, C. (2005). Teaching thinking: Theory and practice. Pedagogy-learning for teaching. *BJEP Monographs Series III*, 3, 107-126. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709905X61003
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). Qualitative research and case study applications in education. Jossey-Bass.

The effect of Philosophy for Children (P4C) activities on the development of moral...

- Millett, S., & Tapper, A. (2012). Benefits of collaborative philosophical inquiry in schools. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 44(5), 546-567. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-5812.2010.00727.x
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2004). Enhancing the interpretation of significant findings: The role of mixed methods research. *The Qualitative Report*, 9(4), 770-792.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2007). Sampling designs in qualitative research: Making the sampling process more public. *The Qualitative Report*, 12(2), 238-254.
- Oyler, J. (2016). Philosophy with children: The Lipman-Sharp approach to philosophy for children. In Peters, M. (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of educational philosophy and theory*. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-532-7_226-2</u>
- Özcan, A., & Güngör-Aytar, F. A. (2023). Investigation of moral and social rule conceptions, prosocial behaviors and emotion regulation skills of 60-72 month-old children attending a preschool education institution. Sakarya University Journal of Education, 13(2), 140-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.19126/suje.1069780</u>
- Patton, M. (2014). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (4th ed.). Sage.
- Piaget, J. (1932,1965). The moral judgment of the child. The Free Press.
- Piaget, J. (1952). The origins of intelligence in children. W.W. Norton & Co.
- Piaget, J. (1964). Cognitive development in children: Development and learning. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 2(3), 176-186. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.3660020306
- Pressbooks. (n.d.). Psych in real life: Moral reasoning. https://pressbooks.nscc.ca/lumenpsychology/chapter/psych-in-real-life-moralreasoning/
- Qashmer, A. F. (2023). Emotion regulation among 4-6 year-old children and its association with their peer relationships in Jordan. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, 1180223. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1180223</u>
- Roversi, V., Cavallo, A., & Contage, D. B. M. (2022). Creating the senses of the earth: The natural breath of the community of inquiry. *Childhood & Philosophy, 18,* 1-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.12957/CHILDPHILO.2022.66131</u>
- Royce, J. R., & Powell, A. D. (1983). A theory of personality and individual differences: Factors, systems and processes. Prentice-Hall.
- Secer, Z., & Sari, H. (2006). A comparative analysis of moral and social rule knowledges of the children who attended and did not attend nursery schools in terms of different variables. *The Journal of National Education*, *172*, 126-142.
- Sharp, A. M. (1995). Philosophy for children and the development of ethical values. Early Childhood Development and Care, 107, 45-55.
- Sharp, A. M. (2009). The community of inquiry as ritual participation. In E. Marsal, T. Dobashi & B. Weber (Eds.), *Children philosophize* worldwide: Theoretical and practical concepts (pp. 301-306). Peter Lang.
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63-75. https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Siddiqui, N., Gorard, S., & See, B. H. (2019). Can programmes like Philosophy for Children help schools to look beyond academic attainment? *Educational Review*, 71, 146-165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2017.1400948</u>
- Slade, C. (1992). Creative and critical thinking: An evaluation of philosophy for children. Analytic Teaching, 13(1), 25-36.
- Smetana, J. (2006). Social domain theory: Consistencies and variations in children's moral and social judgments. In M. Killen, & J. Smetana (Eds.), *Handbook of moral development* (pp. 119-154). Erlbaum.
- Smetana, J. G. (1981). Preschool children's conceptions of moral and social rules. *Child Development*, 52(4), 1333-1336. https://doi.org/10.2307/1129527
- Sodian, B., Licata, M., Kristen-Antonow, S., Paulus, M., Killen, M., & Woodward, A. (2016). Understanding of goals, beliefs, and desires predicts morally relevant theory of mind: A longitudinal investigation. *Child Development*, 87, 1221-1232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12533</u>
- Trickey, S., & Topping, K. J. (2004). 'Philosophy for children': A systematic review. Research papers in Education, 19(3), 365-380.
- Vansieleghem, N. (2005). Philosophy for children as the wind of thinking. Journal of Philosophy of Education, 39(1), 19-35.
- Ventista, O. M. (2017). A literature review of empirical evidence on the effectiveness of Philosophy for Children. In E. Duthie, F.G. Moriyón, & R.R. Loro (Eds.), Parecidos de familia. propuestas actuales en filosofía para niños/family resemblances [Current proposals in philosophy for children] (448–461). Anaya Educación.
- Ventista, O. M., & Paparoussi, M. (2016). Introducing a philosophical discussion in your classroom: An example of a community of enquiry in a Greek primary school. *Childhood & Philosophy*, 12(25), 611-629. <u>https://doi.org/10.12957/childphilo.2016.24994</u>
- Woolley, J. D., & McInnis, M. A. (2015). The development of children's concepts of invisibility. *Cognitive Development*, 34, 63-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2014.12.009

- Wu, C. (2021). Training teachers in China to use the philosophy for children approach and its impact on critical thinking skills: A pilot study. *Education Sciences*, 11(5), Article 206.
- Wynn, K. (2008). Some innate foundations of social and moral cognition. In P. Carruthers, S. Laurence, & S. Stich (Eds.), *The innate mind: Foundations and the future* (pp. 330-347). Oxford University Press.
- Wynn, K., & Bloom, P. (2014). The moral baby. In M. Killen & J. G. Smetana (Eds.), *Handbook of moral development* (pp. 435–453). Psychology Press.
- Yin, R. K. (1994). Case study research: Design and methods (2nd ed.). Sage
- Zoabi, M., & Lobont, F. (2022). The P4C approach as a promoter of dialogical creative thinking based on the teachers' perception. Interdisciplinary Research in Counseling, Ethics and Philosophy, 2(6), 1-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.59209/ircep.v2i6.38</u>

Caregiver involvement in support services for a child with hearing loss?

Hülya Ceren Tutuk¹, Hasan Gürgür²

Abstract: Family-centered practices are considered one of the crucial components of services offered to children with hearing loss in early intervention. These practices aim to empower caregivers to support the language development in children with hearing loss through family-centered early intervention. In Turkey, early intervention practices are commonly provided under the supporting services provided by Private Special Education and Rehabilitation Centers (PSERCs). However, there is limited information regarding the ways of involving caregivers in the support service process and about the content shared to empower them. This research was designed as a holistic single case study based on a qualitative approach to examine how caregiver involvement is achieved in support services in PSERC for pre-school children with hearing loss in Turkey. Data obtained through observations, semi-structured interviews, documents (Audiogram, activity items, etc.), and researcher diaries were analyzed inductively. Results demonstrate that a range of practices, such as informational notes, quarterly meetings, and debriefings are implemented at the focal PSERC. However, it found that the only practice that was consistently followed is debriefings. Although the content shared in the debriefings were seemingly supportive for the language skills of children with hearing loss, the information caregivers needed was diverse. The results clearly demonstrate that current attempts to involve caregivers at PSERCs lack family-centered practices. A more comprehensive approach is required to improve services at PSERCs and male them truly family-centered. Further research is crucial to this end.

Introduction

Based on the studies conducted over many years, early diagnosis and intervention are generally effective for the developmental needs of children with special needs (Bricker et al., 2018; Guralnick, 1998), specifically for language, communication, and social-emotional development of children with hearing loss (Yoshinaga-Itano, 2003). Moreover, active caregiver involvement in the early intervention process has significant positive consequences for the development of children with hearing loss (Holzinger et al., 2022; Yoshinaga-Itano et al., 2020). In this sense, family-centered practice based on strengthening the family and activating the intervention process is adopted as the basic principle in the early intervention of children with hearing loss (Joint Committee on Infant Hearing, 2019).

Family-centered approaches involve systematic practices that include respecting the capabilities and competencies of families, providing objective (de)briefings to make conscious decisions, supporting their choices, and offering opportunities for active involvement while acquiring new skills (Dunst & Espe-Sherwindt, 2016). Considering the needs of children with hearing loss in terms of spoken language development, the main purpose of family-centered practices offered in the early period is to support children's knowledge and abilities in improving their language skills based on the structure and characteristics of the family (Brown & Nott, 2005; Holzinger et al., 2022; Moeller et al., 2013). Routines in daily life (e.g., reading books, playing games, care routines) not only provide a meaningful learning context

² Anadolu University, Faculty of Education, Department of Special Education, Eskişehir, Türkiye, e-mail: <u>hasangurgur@anadolu.edu.tr</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4016-4048</u>

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license.

Article History

Received: 16 December 2023 Accepted: 28 May 2024

Keywords

Hearing loss; Language development; Familycentered practice; Early intervention; Case study

¹ Anadolu University, Faculty of Education, Department of Special Education, Eskişehir, Türkiye, e-mail: <u>hulyacerenbozkurt@anadolu.edu.tr</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4208-8181</u>

Hülya Ceren TUTUK & Hasan GÜRGÜR

for children but also facilitate learning processes by exposing them to similar contexts repeatedly in all areas of their lives and by creating opportunities to transfer what they have learned (Cole & Flexer, 2020). Therefore, the experts providing early intervention services should inform caregivers about the strategies for language development of children in accordance with their age, and should guide them about generalizing these strategies across their daily routines and activities (Curtin et al., 2021; Moeller et al., 2013; Noll et al., 2021).

Literature suggests that family-centered approaches positively impact children's development by enabling caregivers to develop confidence in their interactions and in using strategies that facilitate language skills (Costa et al., 2019; Dunst & Espe-Sherwindt, 2016; Holzinger et al., 2022; Yoshinaga-Itano et al., 2020). On the other hand, the quality of family-centered practices is still questionable and therefore it needs to be investigated (Alliston, 2007; Bailey et al., 2012). Researchers focusing on young children with special needs, including those with hearing loss (Ingber & Dromi, 2009; Decker & Vallotton 2016), emphasize that family-centered approach has not yet been fully implemented in many countries (Crais et al., 2006; Vilaseca et al., 2019). For instance, Ingber and Dromi (2009) reported that caregivers of children with hearing loss seek more active involvement in the evaluation and decision-making processes. Yet, the authors conclude that experts do not sufficiently consider caregiver needs in the service processes. Decker and Vallotton (2016), similarly, note that caregivers need more detailed information to provide rich language input to their children. It is evident that experts in practice face significant challenges, such as difficulty comprehending family perspectives, a lack of knowledge to empower families, and insufficient time or interest to read relevant resources (Bailey et al., 2012; Espe-Sherwindt, 2008). Likewise, these international findings concerning family-centered early intervention are also valid for the practices in Turkey (Antmen, 2010; Atmaca & Uzuner, 2020; Bekar et al., 2021; Sarı et al., 2017).

Early intervention practices in Turkey are provided within the scope of "support services" by the Private Special Education and Rehabilitation Centers (PSERC) affiliated with the Ministry of National Education (MoNE) together with the education and research centers affiliated with universities (MoNE Special Education Services Regulation [SESR], 2018; MoNE Special Education Institutions Regulation [SEIR], 2012). Therefore, PSERCs are instrumental in supporting children with hearing loss to develop their language skills as an important part of early intervention. Moreover, the involvement of caregivers and the provision of consultancy in the service process offered at PSERCs are protected by law. However, the ways to implement these services have not been defined (MoNE, SESR, 2018). The researchers cited in the national literature revealed that there were problems in cooperation with caregivers mostly based on the opinions of teachers and caregivers (Gürgür et al., 2016) and that caregiver involvement was limited to session observations and caregiver debriefings (Atmaca & Uzuner, 2020; Bekar et al., 2021).

Current research indicates that there are significant problems in ensuring caregiver involvement in the support service process for children with hearing loss in PSERCs (Atmaca & Uzuner, 2020; Bekar et al., 2021; Sarı et al., 2017). PSERCs play a crucial role in providing support services, but not all children and caregivers have access to quality family-centered early intervention in these settings. While there have been limited studies on PSERCs, they do not directly examine caregiver involvement. Furthermore, research has provided information on how caregivers are involved in supporting children with hearing loss, but these information is lacking in detail and does not cover the specifics of the information given to caregivers to support their child's language development. Therefore, there is a need to investigate how to ensure the involvement of caregivers of children with hearing loss in the support service process in PSERCs, and what information is shared with them to support their children's language development. This research as a case study, will provide a detailed description of how caregiver involvement is a achieved, as well as exploring the content of the information provided to caregivers in this context. Given the research results that reflect the negative opinions of educators on the involvement of caregivers (e.g., Atmaca & Uzuner, 2020; Bekar et al., 2021), it is crucial to understand the perspectives of educators and caregivers on practice holistically. Such an understanding will help identify how the perspectives of caregivers and educators shape caregiver involvement. In addition, the results of the present research will guide institutions and researchers in evaluating and improving the education in PSERCs in terms of family-centered practices. Based on these,

Caregiver involvement in support services for a child...

the aim of this study is to examine how caregiver involvement is achieved in the support services offered to a pre-school child with hearing loss in a PSERC affiliated with MoNE. Accordingly, the following questions were formulated; a) What kind of practices are carried out to improve caregiver involvement in support services? b) What kind of information is provided to the caregiver on how to support the language development of the child? c) What are the views about caregiver involvement in support services?

Method

Research Design

In order to gain a holistic and in-depth insight into the involvement of caregivers in support services for pre-school children with hearing loss, a single case study methodology was used (Yin, 2009; Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). Given the exploratory nature of the study (Yin, 2009), various qualitative data collection methods were employed, including observation, interviews, document reviews, and researcher diaries.

Participants

The participants of the study consist of the education coordinator of the focal PSERC, a child with hearing loss receiving services from the focal institution, the child's caregivers (grandparents), and an individual support service teacher. After obtaining research permission and ethics approval from Anadolu University Ethics Committee through correspondence between the rectorate of Anadolu University and the focal institution, written consents were obtained from each participant. In accordance with the ethical principles, the child was assigned a code name while the other participants were referred with their titles. Information regarding the participants was collected via a demographic information form. Information about the child was obtained from the child's audiogram, the report from the Guidance and Research Center (GRC), and the form prepared for his caregivers.

The focal child Dağhan, who was three years and two months old at the time, was born on the 28th of July, 2014. Dağhan was diagnosed with profound bilateral hearing loss (a mean of 120 dB in the right ear/ a mean of 110 dB in the left one) when he was six months and 15 days old. He did not have any additional impairment other than hearing loss. Cochlear Implant (CI) was recommended to Dağhan, who was using a bilateral hearing aid, but the surgery was not approved by his mother and father. As a result of GRC evaluation, Dağhan was recommended to receive support services for hearing, language, and social communication within the support education program conducted by the PSERC for individuals with hearing loss. At the time, Dağhan received individual support services two sessions a week (Tuesday & Friday/45 minutes for each session) from a classroom teacher for the hearing-impaired at the PSERC.

Dağhan's mother and father have hearing loss and use sign language to communicate. Therefore, his education on spoken language was monitored by his caregivers – a 58-year-old grandfather who was a retired worker and a 50-year-old grandmother who was a housewife. His individual support service teacher was a 27-year-old woman. The teacher with a six-year experience in teaching children with hearing impairment at the PSERC had been conducting Dağhan's individual service sessions for three years. As part of her professional development, she had participated in seminars on sign language interpretation, Small Steps Early Intervention Program, and training children with language and speech disorders. The education coordinator of the focal institution was a 29-year-old man. He had a bachelor's degree from the psychology department of a university and a master's degree in family psychology. He had been working as the education coordinator for three years within his five-year PSERC experience.

Setting: Focal PSERC and Dağhan's Home

In all PSERCs across Turkey, support service programs – approved by MoNE in accordance with the provisions of MoNE, SEIR (2012) – are implemented through individual and group sessions to individuals of all ages and all types of disabilities in line with the special education evaluation board report prepared by GRC. Compulsory education teachers appointed by the Ministry conduct individual sessions for a total of 8 hours and group sessions for 4 hours per month. Besides, teachers with a bachelor's degree from the

Hülya Ceren TUTUK & Hasan GÜRGÜR

Department of Teaching for the Hearing Impaired are actively involved in support services for the children with hearing loss.

The focal PSERC was determined based on the following criteria; a) accessibility of the institution, b) the presence of a teacher for children with hearing impairment and a pre-school child with hearing loss in the institution, and c) the absence of any concomitant impairments. In line with these criteria, the research was carried out in a PSERC located in the central district of Eskişehir, Odunpazarı and at Dağhan's home located in the central district of Tepebaşı. The focal PSERC is a four-storey building, and Dağhan's individual education class (IEC) is on the first floor (1. Field note, 12.09.2017). Data were collected in Dağhan's grandparents' home where he was spending the weekdays. Since interaction took place in the living room and kitchen during the observations in the home environment, the data were collected within these environments (23rd Field note, 13.12.2017; Research diaries, 13.12.2017, p. 50; 25.12.2017 p. 57; 26.12.2017, p. 59).

Data Collection Techniques

Multiple techniques were employed to each addressing multiple inquiries, to study the case in its context thoroughly. The opinions on caregiver involvement were collected through semi-structured interviews and a researcher's diary. The practices to support caregiver involvement and how they were carried out were collected through field notes, observations with audio and video recordings, semi-structured and unstructured interviews, document collection, and reflective research diary techniques (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007; Yin, 2009). Data were collected over a 5-month period in 2017/2018. Audio and video recordings were recorded via a voice recorder, a telephone, and a portable camera. Information regarding the data collected during the research process is presented in Table 1.

Research Data		Environment	Amount	Time
Observation	Individual Education Session (IES)	PSERC's Individual	22	980′
	(Field Notes/Audio Recordings)	Education Class (IEC)		
	Caregiver Debriefing (Audio	The Corridor of PSERC's	18	45'52"
	Recording)	Entrance Floor		
	Interaction within the Home Environment (Video Recording)	Living Room/Kitchen	3	139′
Interview	Education Coordinator	PSERC's Coordinator Office	2	40'12"
	Individual Support Service	PSERC's Individual	2	59'49"
		Education Class (IEC)		
	Grandfather	PSERC's Psychologist Office	1	33'44"
	Grandmother	House (Living room)	1	23'58"
Document	Official	_		At the Beginning of
	Audiogram, GRC Report		2	the Research
	Personal			
	Performance Tracking Chart		4	During the Research
	Caregiver-debriefing Notes		13	-
	Activity Items/Material Copies		5	
	Photographs		123	
	(Educational Materials)			
Researcher Diary			81 pages	During the Research

Table 1. The amount and duration of data collected during the research process

Note. Performance Tracking Chart (PTC): Documents prepared as a plan for the student at the end of each month at the focal PSERC

The first researcher observed how caregiver involvement in support services at the PSERC was achieved and whether the information presented to the caregiver was transferred into the home environment. Semi-structured interview and document collection techniques were employed both to verify the data obtained through observations and to obtain more in-depth information. Semi-structured interview questions were prepared separately for each participant, and interview forms were developed after collaborating with the second researcher about the interview questions. This process was repeated when there was a need to obtain more detailed information about the goals of the observations. Besides, the researcher conducted unstructured short interviews with the teacher to verify the data obtained from the IES observations, and these interviews were audio-recorded and/or noted in the researcher diary. Observations made in the PSERC were carried out on the training days of the focal student (Tuesday-Friday, 14.00-14.45) while semi-structured interviews and observations in the home environment were carried out at the time and in the environment determined by the participants (Researcher diaries, 20.10.2017-31.02.2018, p. 31-67).

Data Analysis and Credibility

Research data from various sources were simultaneously analyzed and handled holistically at the end of the process in accordance with inductive analysis approach (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). After each observation made by the first researcher during the entire research process, observation records were described in detail. After each semi-structured interview, the interviews were transcribed, and the transcripts were coded by transferring them to the interview analysis form consisting of contextual information, descriptive index, line number, descriptive data, and researcher comments. Following the observations and interviews, the forms and the researcher's diary were regularly shared with the second researcher, and the data were verified through face-to-face interviews at regular intervals. The documents collected in the process were handled together with observations, interviews, and research diary. At the end of the process, the codes obtained from the observation form were listed, and the observation analysis form, which was in the same format with the interview analysis form, was filled in line with these codes. Reliability check was completed by the first and second researcher through consensus building (Miles et al., 2014). In addition, after all data sets were evaluated, the coded data sets were given to two field experts to support consistency, and the experts came together to reach a consensus. Then, the first researcher analyzed each coded data set independently to generate themes and sub-themes. After the second researcher reviewed the themes, both researchers evaluated the formulated themes and sub-themes separately for each data set through a holistic perspective and combined those that support each other (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007; Miles et al., 2014).

Findings

This part presents findings obtained at the end of data analysis. Table 2 displays the findings.

Main Themes	Sub-themes	
Efforts to Achieve Caregiver Involvement		
Caregiver Debriefings		
Monitoring Interaction in the Home Environment	The Content of the Debriefings	
Views on the Adequacy of the Debriefings		
Views on Caregiver Involvement		

Efforts to Achieve Caregiver Involvement

Table 2. Theme and sub-themes

To achieve caregiver involvement in support services at the focal PSERC, the caregivers were included in the sessions for a while, caregiver debriefing meetings were held at the end of the sessions, informational notes were shared with the caregivers, and the education coordinator held quarterly meetings. Accordingly, caregivers continued to join the sessions until the child was ready to work individually, and then onwards caregiver involvement was maintained through caregiver debriefings. This process was explained by the teacher as "When I feel like it's better to work individually, alone, I stop it [caregiver involvement]. Afterwards, I, for sure, keep debriefing the caregivers." (15/594-596). Similarly, Dağhan's caregiver (grandmother) explained that they received caregiver service until he was one and a half years old by the following remark; "We used to attend the sessions together until he was one and a half years old... She [teacher] told us 'You can do the same at home'. Later on, when the child became more conscious, he began to receive the service alone." (6/237-243).

As another caregiver involvement practice, the education coordinator held quarterly meetings

Hülya Ceren TUTUK & Hasan GÜRGÜR

during which information was reciprocally shared about the performance of the students both at the institution and at home. He explained this process by saying; "I hold quarterly standard meetings... What kind of a plan we had, and how far we've come? Or is there anything that caught the family's attention? We negotiate them together" (7/224-226). On the other hand, while the teacher highlighted that not every caregiver was attending the meetings by saying "Some families do not attend... The socioeconomic status and lifestyle of the family is so critical..." (16/674-676), the caregiver (grandpa) emphasized that they were only informed at the end of sessions; "The teacher summarizes the daily lessons. It is provided orally and/or in writing... There is no extra information" (1-2/34-50). During the observations, caregiver debriefings were held regularly at the end of the sessions to achieve caregiver involvement (1st-18th Audio recording, 26.09.2017-18.12.2017; Researcher's diary, 12.09.2017-26.09.2017).

Caregiver Debriefing

Post-session caregiver debriefings were mostly held on the ground floor of the institution for about two and four minutes on average (Researcher's diary, 15.09.2017, p. 5, 26.09.2017, p. 12-14; 1-18. Audio recording, 26.09.2017-08.12.2017). The aim of caregiver debriefings was to help Dağhan's language development by ensuring that the exercises studied at the institution were also practiced at home, and the reason behind keeping debriefing notes was to facilitate the retention of the information shared during these meetings. Accordingly, the teacher said "The aim is to expose him to spoken language...The caregivers can literally see what we are trying to do" (10-12/376-470). In line with this, the findings obtained from the debriefing meetings and the debriefing notes were gathered under the sub-theme "Content of the Debriefings".

The content of the debriefings

The content of the debriefings was information regarding the sessions, the plans for the following sessions, and the suggestions offered to support interaction in the home environment (1-18. Audio recording, 26.09.2017-08.12.2017).

Information regarding the sessions. In all of the debriefings, consistent with the observed sessions, the activities carried out in the session, the objectives, and the developmental progress of Dağhan were shared with the caregivers (5th-22nd Field note; 1st-18th Audio recording, 26.09.2017-08.12.2017; PTC, 1, 2, 3, 4). For instance, in an observed session, the teacher noted the objectives as "Distinguishing similarities and differences of sounds, expanding vocabulary, repeating three-word sentences", and accordingly the activities carried out in the session were "Looking for a single card about vehicles", "Vehicle repair game", and "Listen&show with vehicle cards" (20th Field note, 01.12.2017). In the follow-up caregiver debriefing, the teacher noted the words that had educational purposes in the vocabulary set "Today's vocabulary includes a police car, a tow truck, and a shopping trolley", and wrote down the activities; "Today, we did a single card look-up exercise about vehicles. Again, we created a game with them... Then, we did a listen&show activity like 'show the police car'." Besides, the teacher also commented about Dağhan's performance "Participation is very good, joint interest is high. I just want him to take turns a little more while talking because he doesn't wait. But overall it was very nice." (16th Audio recording, 01.12.2017). Consistent with the debriefings, all the notes shared with the caregivers included the names of the activities performed in the session, the developmental progress of Dağhan, and the intended vocabulary set of the session (5th-22nd Debriefing notes, 26.09.2017-08.12.2017).

Plans for the following sessions. The teacher shared the objectives to be focused on and the activities to be included in the following sessions (4th, 5th, 11th, 16th Audio recording), 6.10.2017, 10.10.2017, 10.11.2017, 1.12.2017). For instance, in one of the debriefings, the teacher stated that Dağhan's repetitions increased and therefore she would focus on clarity a little more to increase his intelligibility by this remark; "It will be better if we increase his intelligibility a little bit." (11th Audio recording, 10.11.2017; PTC, 1, 2, 3, 4). In another debriefing, the teacher arrayed the activities to be conducted in the following sessions as

"From now on, I will support him more with stories, single card activities, and sequencing drills." (9th Audio recording, 31.10.2017).

Recommendations to support interaction in the home environment. During the debriefings, the teacher shared information about the activities to be done at home to support Dağhan's language ability and about how to form interaction during those activities. Similar to the activities held during the observed sessions, the teacher suggested reading activities from a storybook, playing imaginary games (vehicle repair, doctor-patient, building a farm) and games related to daily life in the home environment (food-beverage preparation, dishwashing, baby feeding-sleeping) (5th-22nd Field note; 1st-18th Audio recording, 26.09.2017-08.12.2017). Besides, caregiver and student items (6th, 13th Audio recording, 17.10.2017, 17.11.2017) and material copies (4th, 5th, 9th Audio recording, 06.10.2017, 10.10.2017, 31.10.2017) were shared to continue what was practiced at the institution also in the home environment.

Considering Dağhan's developmental level, the teacher's suggestions for caregivers to help speaking and listening skills at home were as follows; using words in sentences, forming two/three-word sentences, drawing attention to sounds and imitating sounds, making activities tangible by using three-dimensional materials during activities, saying words and sentences that Dağhan pointed out or tried to express, speaking within his focus of interest, giving enough time to express himself during interaction, accepting interaction that are not suitable for the context for a short time and returning to the activity (1st-18th Audio recording, 26.09.2017-08.12.2017).

For example, in one of the debriefings, the teacher suggested looking at a storybook at home in line with the activities done in the session and explained how these activities should be carried out; "When looking at a storybook about any subject like vehicles, animals... If you see a horse, let him have a threedimensional horse, too... That will allow him to portray it." (8th Audio recording, 27.10. 2017). In another debriefing, the teacher requested the caregiver to use the words "Doctor, bandage, ambulance" at home for language repetition, and accordingly she suggested the caregiver to play doctor-patient game and use the target words in sentences; "While playing doctor-patient game, it will be more useful if you use sentences such as 'let's put a bandage', 'Look! The ambulance is here'... Let's try to focus on three-word sentence repetition as much as possible." (14th Audio recording, 21.11.2017). In another debriefing, she recommended them to be a model by using the words that Dağhan could not express in sentences; "Let's say, he says dough and then points to a roller. When you see something like that, it will be useful if you use it in a natural way like 'Do you want the roller?" (18th Audio recording, 08.12.2017). When we look at the content of the debriefing notes, we see that though some notes include suggestions for the activities to be carried out at home, explanations about how to carry them out are not reflected in the notes (Field notes, 17.10.2017; 20.10.2017; 31.10.2017).

Monitoring Interaction in the Home Environment

During the observations conducted at home, the caregiver (grandmother) carried out activities with Dağhan such as preparing food and repairing vehicles, playing doctor-patient game, and building a farm – consistent with the content shared during caregiver debriefing. As for the activities, the caregiver (grandmother) followed Dağhan's interests and provided language input by speaking in line with his interests, and became a model by making sound imitations and forming two/three-word sentences (1st & 3rd Video observation; 13.12.2017; 25.12.2017). For example, during the vehicle repair game, Dağhan said "Look, it crashed!" by pointing at the plane. The caregiver offered meaningful language input by saying "The plane crashed", then imitated the ambulance sound and said "Shall we take the ambulance there to help?" to draw Dağhan's attention to the sound and to continue the game in line with his interest (1st Video observation, 13.12.2017).

The teacher checked homework activities with the caregivers by personally asking them during the debriefings, and sometimes the caregivers gave information even before they were asked; "I'm asking the family one on one. Sometimes they share it directly with me before I even ask them." (10/393). Despite the statement of the teacher, no questions were asked to the caregivers regarding the activities carried out in the home environment (1st-18th Audio recording, 26.09.2017-08.12.2017). In this regard, the caregiver

Hülya Ceren TUTUK & Hasan GÜRGÜR

(grandfather) said "The teacher does not ask us what is done at home, she does not ask for information. She just says 'You should continue the activities at home.'" (5/199-200). In addition, the caregiver gave information about the activities carried out at home without being asked by the teacher, supporting the teacher's statement (For instance, 4th,16th, 18th Audio recording, 06.10.2017, 01.12.2017, 08.12.2017). For example, the teacher suggested the activity "rolling the dough" as a home exercise, and the caregiver (grandfather) said that the activity was already done at home; "They made it with together with his grandmother, they already rolled the dough". Besides, in a home observation, the caregiver (grandmother) did "pastry making" activity with Dağhan (2nd Video observation, 25.12.2017).

Views on the Adequacy of the Debriefings

The caregivers stated that the debriefings were sufficient both to understand what was done in the sessions and to get information on the desired topics. For instance, the caregiver (grandfather) noted that the debriefings were adequate to understand what the teacher wanted to do; "You understand the activity, you understand what she [the teacher] wants to do." (3/98). The caregiver (grandmother), similarly, noted that she wanted to get information about Dağhan's performance and his level of adjustment in the session, and the teacher shared relevant information; "Is he adjusted? Can he repeat what you say? These are very important to me, and when I ask about them, I get an answer." (3/99-103).

Apart from the positive aspects mentioned above, various informational needs of the caregivers were noted during the interviews. In this regard, the caregiver (grandmother) highlighted that she needed information about behavior management and maintaining Dağhan's interest to promote interaction at home; "He is over-aggressive at home, we can't do anything. I don't know what to do…" (3-4/113-125). In the observations conducted at home, the caregiver (grandmother) had difficulty maintaining Dağhan's interest, he was not interested in the games or activities or he quickly got bored, and he took offense at his grandmother to make her do want he wanted (1st and 3rd Video observation; 13.12.2017; 25.12.2017). Additionally, the caregiver shared her needs for further information with the teacher. For example, in one of the debriefings, the caregiver said "But he doesn't listen to us at home as much as he listens to you.". Based on this, the teacher stated that there may be a difference in the home environment; "The boy sees me as the authority figure here. At home, the situation is definitely different...", and explained what it means to have a conversation compatible with the context; "If you are playing doctor-patient game, the fact that he is giving injections and/or medicine at that moment shows that the child is acting in accordance with the context..." (17th Audio recording, 05.12.2017).

In addition, the main problem about the debriefings was the time limit, and therefore the debriefings were not sufficient. Accordingly, the teacher said "We have a 15-minute break. We give information, we share the activities, and when I check the time, there is only 5 minutes left. We need some time... We enter the next class without any rest." (11/433-447). Moreover, she explained that the debriefings could be insufficient due to the rush, which caused her to forget to share some of the information; "...We are preparing for the session, we are bustling around. I realize afterwards that I forgot to mention something." (11/398-399). Similarly, the education coordinator stated that 15-minute session breaks were not enough and that the teachers should use breaks for the preparation of the following session, meeting their personal needs, and also resting, apart from the debriefings; "I wish teachers could give more detailed information, but in reality, that is impossible... At some point, I want the teachers to have their own time..." (11/428-437).

Views on Caregiver Involvement

The education coordinator and the teacher underlined that caregiver involvement in support services is necessary, but also made explanations about the stages at which involvement should be provided. Accordingly, they highlighted that caregivers should not be involved in the planning process of the service, but they should be involved during the implementation process and the evaluation of development. For instance, the teacher noted that caregivers should not be involved in the planning process; "Planning should be left entirely to the teacher... The one providing the service should decide on the goals." (15-16/628-631), and she justified this by the following remark; "Sometimes, we don't have a

Caregiver involvement in support services for a child...

common view with the families. They can come with different requests, or rather, requests that do not make sense... If we include them, then it will be very difficult to maintain proper language use.". Besides, the teacher said that it would be appropriate for caregivers to involvement in the training process by practicing the training conducted at the institution in the home environment, and to involvement in the evaluation process by giving information about the developmental progress of the student; "The family becomes a part of the training process if they do the activities I have mentioned at home. We also talk in the evaluation process, I get feedback from the family... I think this is the healthiest way." (16/646-652). Similar to the teacher, the education coordinator also exemplified involvement in the training and evaluation process; "Let's say the concept of 'red' is practiced in the classroom. If he doesn't bring the red ball at home when he is asked to, it doesn't make any sense. That's when we see his real performance" (9/346-347).

Among his views on caregiver involvement, the education coordinator said that caregiver involvement was achieved in the focal PSERC as much as possible; "We work with a system enabling caregiver involvement as much as possible. This is one of the goals in the establishment of this institution...", and he suggested that the caregivers be provided with psychological support and training after their child is diagnosed with hearing loss to promote active caregiver involvement: "First, the families can be psychologically supported to reduce the stress they experience regarding the process. Secondly, they can be trained about active involvement." (10/359-361). The teacher, on the other hand, noted that the institution could hold meetings to achieve active involvement of caregivers, and that it was not a field they can intervene much; "The institution may organize family meetings, which is what they already do anyway. Not every family attends the meetings... This is the best they can do. Apart from that, it is not an area we can intervene much." (16/671-673).

Conclusion and Discussion

In this study, the aim is to examine how caregiver involvement is achieved in support services for a pre-school child with hearing loss. Accordingly, the summary of the findings distilled from the analysis of the data during the research process is given in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Efforts for caregiver involvement

Figure 1 shows that the practices for caregiver involvement in the focal PSERC consist of involving the caregivers in the sessions, holding quarterly caregiver meetings, and debriefing the caregivers. It has been found that caregivers usually stop attending sessions when the child reaches around 18 months, and families do not consistently participate in the quarterly family meetings. Accordingly, the consistently implemented practice in the focal PSERC is the caregiver debriefings provided at the end of the sessions. This practice is consistent with previous research in the national literature (Antmen, 2010; Sari et al., 2017;

Bekar et al., 2021). Based on these findings, the teacher and the education coordinator are aware of the importantance that caregiver involvement has for the development of a child with hearing loss, and they work towards caregiver involvement in this context, but despite these efforts it is limited to post-session debriefings.

Caregiver debriefings aim to help caregivers continue what is practiced at the institution at home in order to support language development, and hence, the content of these debriefings include what happens in a session, plans for the following sessions, and suggestions to enhance interaction in the home environment. One of the participating caregivers states that he needs to know about Dağhan's performance and adjustability in the session. In this sense, the debriefings serve to meet this need of caregivers.

Considering the suggestions made for the home environment during debriefings, various activities and strategies are offered to the caregivers to improve Dağhan's spoken language at home. Suggested activities are incorporating activities into Dağhan's daily routines and using similar imaginary games and daily tasks as the context of interaction in the home environment. This finding seems to be compatible with the principle of family-centered practices to provide learning opportunities based on the daily routines of the child and the caregiver (Brown & Nott, 2005; Moeller et al., 2013). In addition to recognizing and using daily routines and activities as the context of interaction, caregivers are expected to be informed about language strategies necessary to provide rich language input to their children during interaction (Cole & Flexer, 2020; Esterbrooks, 2006). Throughout the debriefings, the teacher informs the caregivers about strategies to increase the quantity of language by including various lexical items appropriate with Dağhan's linguistic level or by forming two/three-word sentences and to improve the quality of language by steering the conversations towards Dağhan's interests or by verbally interpreting what Dağhan wants to express. Additionally, the teacher makes suggestions about drawing attention to sounds and making sound imitations while playing games, looking at a storybook, or during other daily tasks. This finding regarding the shared content is compatible with the literature emphasizing strategies that facilitate language for children with hearing loss (Clark, 2007; Cole & Flexer, 2020). In fact, it is widely accepted that a series of interaction behaviors, such as following the child's interest, providing language appropriate to the child's interest, and interpreting and expanding the child's communication attempts, contribute to the language development of children with hearing loss (Curtin et al., 2021).

Though the shared content seems to support caregivers' communication skills, sharing it in a short period of time like 2-4 minutes and the way information is presented lead to questioning how much caregivers can benefit from the debriefings. As a matter of fact, the debriefings are insufficient to meet more specific informational needs necessary to maintain interaction in the home environment. In the literature, family-centered practices mean performing flexible and individualized practices to strengthen adult-child interaction in daily life by considering the unique needs, priorities and learning styles of each caregiver (Clark, 2007; Moeller et al., 2013). It is highlighted that approaches that assign caregivers a passive receiver role (homework, standard recommendations, etc.) may not provide the generalization of these skills into daily life environments, and furthermore, they may hinder the recognition of caregivers' existing knowledge and skills to improve their communication skills (Bricker et al., 2018; Clark, 2007; Ertmer et al., 2002; McWilliam, 2015). Findings compatible with the literature pinpoint that the caregiver (grandmother) needs support to maintain Dağhan's interest in the activity and manage his behaviors during the activity, which are beyond the suggestions offered by the teacher. Moreover, monitoring interaction at home is limited to the activities expressed by the caregivers, and they do not receive sufficient information regarding the needs they mention. These findings seem to be compatible with the research findings underlying that caregivers need more detailed information to support their children's language development (Decker & Vallotton 2016) and that experts do not consider caregiver needs in the presentation of interventions (Ingber & Dromi, 2009).

In the literature, busy working schedules of PSERCs stand out as one of the main problems expressed by teachers (Atmaca & Uzuner, 2020). Consistent with the literature, the finding that teachers have only a 15-minute break to meet their personal needs and to prepare for the next session can explain why time
limitation is generally noted as the main reason behind being unable to provide detailed information to caregivers. On the other hand, the main reason for the information content to be inadequate within this context might be the educator's own perspective regarding her own role. Thus, service providers should offer counseling/guidance to caregivers by using adult learning strategies to support their daily life capabilities (Clark, 2007; Espe-Sherwindt, 2008; Moeller et al., 2013). In this sense, service providers working with caregivers of children with hearing loss are expected to coach them by modeling them, observing caregiver-child interaction, and providing supportive feedback so that they can improve their existing competencies and acquire new skills (Clark, 2007; Estabrooks, 2006; Holzinger et al., 2022; Noll et al., 2021).

At this point, it seems plausible to discuss the reasons in line with the literature as to why the current services in the focal PSERC do not meet the recommended family-centered practices. Inability to implement family-centered practices may be due to various reasons such as attitudes, values, and lack of education (Bruder, 2000). One of the important steps to be taken in implementing family-centered practices is to adopt the role of a counselor/guide (Espe-Sherwindt, 2008; Moeller et al., 2013). Based on the findings of the current study, the role attributed to caregivers in support services is to apply the practices – planned and carried out under the control of teachers - in the home environment and to share information about their children's developmental progress with the teacher. Moreover, it is a noteworthy finding of the current research that the participating teacher does not consider caregiver involvement as an area they can influence. Based on these findings, it may be concluded that the educator's attitude towards the expert role is maintained in the focal PSERC (Dunst & Espe-Sherwindt, 2016). Additionally, while family-centered practices mandate service providers have some new competencies to train children with hearing loss and their caregivers (Moeller et al., 2013; Yoshinaga-Itano, 2014), some experts who are knowledgeable about the education of children with hearing loss do not receive adequate vocational training on these competencies (Anderson, 2011; Rice & Lenihan, 2005). In order for service providers addressing caregivers of children with hearing impairment to adopt and employ family-centered practices, teacher training programs should re-evaluate their curricula in line with the trends in the education of children with hearing loss (Proctor et al., 2005; Lenihan, 2010), and in-service training opportunities should be offered at the level of coaching and mentoring (Yoshinaga-Itano, 2014).

In Turkey, early education of children with hearing loss is conducted by teachers specialized as classroom teachers for children with hearing impairment. On the other hand, the philosophy of early intervention is a unique field different from school age with its aims and practices (Odom & Wolery, 2003). As a matter of fact, the national literature draws attention to the need for professional support for teachers of young children with hearing loss and to the need for educators specialized in early intervention (Kılıç, 2020; Turan, 2019). Therefore, considering pre-service training of the participating teacher, who is directly involved in the provision of support services, one can conclude that the problems in practice may arise from the lack of education regarding family-centered practices, together with the attitudes towards the changing role of the educator.

As a result, in the context of this research, the structure carried out to support caregiver involvement and interaction in the home environment does not reflect the philosophy of family centeredness. Although family-centered practices are accepted as the best practices in the early intervention process of children with hearing loss, this research presents an example of the inconsistency experienced across practices in Turkey, as in many countries (Alliston, 2007; Espe-Sherwindt, 2008; Ingber & Dromi, 2009). Desired implementation of family-centered practices is closely related to the countries' perspectives on early intervention and the steps they have taken to train and employ competent personnel in this field (Bruder, 2000).

Suggestions Regarding Implementation

As for developing active caregiver involvement, it is important to systematize the trainings that take place with the involvement of caregivers in classroom practices and to organize the content of these trainings according to caregiver needs. In this context, the educational practices presented in the focal

Hülya Ceren TUTUK & Hasan GÜRGÜR

PSERC need to be organized in line with the recommended practices so that caregivers can internalize the information to support their children's language development and generalize these skills to their daily life environments. To meet this need, teachers working at PSERCs can be given in-service trainings on caregiver involvement to expand their level of knowledge and perspectives on caregiver involvement. Besides, in undergraduate education programs, arrangements can be made to provide pre-service teachers with practical competence along with theoretical knowledge about the importance of caregiver involvement and how it can be achieved, especially in early childhood.

Suggestions for Further Research and Limitations

In this study, limited number of observations were made in the home environment due to the health concerns of the caregivers. Thus, to examine the reflections of the information presented at the institution to the home environment more holistically, studies in which long-term observations are carried out in the home context can be conducted. In the current research, caregiver involvement in support services is explored in depth based on the qualitative paradigm. Therefore, studies with higher ecological value can be conducted to reveal caregiver involvement practices and the variables that affect involvement throughout Turkey. The researchers of the current study conclude that the expert-centered attitude is maintained in the early intervention process of the child with hearing loss. Prospectively, examining how teachers working in PSERCs conceptualize family-centered practices and their perceptions of their own roles may help unravel the needs for developing family-centered practices in detail. Moreover, action research studies to be designed on the suggested topics may navigate the creation of functional guides to support the knowledge and skills of teachers in PSERCs in terms of performing family-centered practices. Finally, international collaborative research can be carried out for policy development regarding the dissemination of practical standards in family-centered early intervention.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: We would like to acknowledge the participation of the child, caregivers and their educators in the study.

Authors' contributions: Both authors contributed to the study and manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: This study, as a product of the first author's master's thesis, has been supported under Project no. 1709E551 within the scope of Anadolu University Scientific Research Projects (SRP) Commission.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The study was approved by the Research and Publication Ethics Committee of Anadolu University and presented as an oral presentation (Full text) at the 5th International Eurasian Educational Research Congress, Ankara, Turkey.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Eleonora Teszenyi through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Alliston, L. (2007). Principles and practices in early intervention: A literature review for the ministry of education. Research New Zealand. https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/ data/assets/pdf file/0005/22595/EILR FINAL 24July2007wmac.pdf
- Anderson, J. L. (2011). International leaders summit: Using dialogue to center the conversation on the education of deaf children and youth in the 21st century. *American Annals of The Deaf*, 156(2), 75-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/aad.2011.0021</u>
- Antmen, N. (2010). Evaluation of Family Centred Services in Special Education and Rehabilitation Centres in Ankara Yenimahalle [Unpublished master's thesis]. Hacettepe University.
- Atmaca, U., & Uzuner, Y. (2020). Özel eğitim ve rehabilitasyon merkezlerinde çalışan öğretmenlerin işitme kayıplı bireylere verilen destek hizmetlerine ilişkin görüşlerinin incelenmesi: Fenomenolojik araştırma. Eğitimde Nitel Araştırmalar Dergisi-Journal of Qualitative Research in Education, 8(4), 1214-1248. <u>https://doi.org/10.14689/issn.2148-2624.8c.4s.7m</u>

Caregiver involvement in support services for a child...

- Bailey, D. B., Raspa, M., & Fox, L. C. (2012). What is the future of family outcomes and family-centered services? Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 31(4), 216-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121411427077</u>
- Bekar, R., Uzuner, Y., & Çolaklıoğlu, O. (2021). İşitme kayıplı çocuğu olan annelerin çocuklarına ilişkin gereksinimler ve destekler hakkındaki görüşlerinin incelenmesi. Ankara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Fakültesi Özel Eğitim Dergisi, 22(1), 31-59. https://doi.org/10.21565/ozelegitimdergisi.587730

Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (2007). Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theory and methods (5th ed.). Pearson.

- Bricker, D., Xie, H., & Bohjanen, S. (2018). A history of EI/ECSE in the United States: A personal perspective. Journal of Early Intervention, 40(2), 121-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815118771392</u>
- Brown, P. M., & Nott, P. (2005). Family-centered practice in early intervention for oral language development: Philosophy, methods and results. In P. E. Spencer, & M. Marschark (Eds.), Advances in the spoken language development of deaf and hard-of-hearing children (pp. 136-165). Oxford University Press.
- Bruder, M. B. (2000). Family-centered early intervention: Clarifying our values for the new millennium. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 20(2), 105-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02711214000200206</u>
- Clark, M. (2007). A practical guide to quality interaction with children who have a hearing loss. Plural Pub.
- Cole, E. B., & Flexer, C. A. (2020). Children with hearing loss: Developing listening and talking birth to six (4th ed.). Plural Pub.
- Costa, E. A., Day, L., Caverly, C., Mellon, N., Ouellette, M., & Wilson Ottley, S. (2019). Parent–child interaction therapy as a behavior and spoken language intervention for young children with hearing loss. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 50(1), 34-52. https://doi.org/10.1044/2018_LSHSS-18-0054
- Crais, E. R., Roy, V. P., & Free, K. (2006). Parents' and professionals' perceptions of the implementation of family-centered practices in child assessments. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 15(4), 365–377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2006/034)</u>
- Curtin, M., Dirks, E., Cruice, M., Herman, R., Newman, L., Rodgers, L., & Morgan, G. (2021). Assessing parent behaviours in parent– child interactions with deaf and hard of hearing infants aged 0–3 years: A systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 10(15), 3345. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10153345</u>
- Decker, K. B., & Vallotton, C. D. (2016). Early intervention for children with hearing loss: Information parents receive about supporting children's language. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 38(3), 151-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815116653448</u>
- Dunst, C. J., & Espe-Sherwindt, M. (2016). Family-centered practices in early childhood intervention. In B. Reichow, B. Boyd, E. Barton, & S. Odom (Eds.), *Handbook of early childhood special education* (pp. 37-55). Springer.
- Estabrooks, W. (2006). Auditory-verbal therapy and practice. Alexander Graham Bell Association for the Deaf.
- Ertmer, D. J., Leonard, J. S., & Pachuilo, M. L. (2002). Communication intervention for children with cochlear implants: Two case studies. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 33(3), 205 – 217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461(2002/018)</u>
- Espe-Sherwindt, M. (2008). Family-centred practice: collaboration, competency and evidence. *Support for learning*, 23(3), 136-143. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9604.2008.00384.x
- Guralnick, M. J. (1998). Effectiveness of early intervention for vulnerable children: A developmental perspective. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, 102(4), 319-345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1352/0895-8017(1998)102<0319:eoeifv>2.0.co;2</u>
- Gürgür, H., Büyükköse, D., & Kol, Ç. (2016). Support services for students with hearing loss provided by special education and rehabilitation centres: Opinions of the teachers. *Elementary Education Online*, 15(4), 1234-1253. <u>https://doi.org/10.17051/io.2016.32423</u>
- Holzinger, D., Hofer, J., Dall, M., & Fellinger, J. (2022). Multidimensional family-centred early intervention in children with hearing loss: A conceptual model. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 11(6), 1548. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11061548</u>
- Ingber, S., & Dromi, E. (2009). Actual versus desired family-centered practice in early intervention for children with hearing loss. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 15(1), 59-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/enp025</u>
- Joint Committee on Infant Hearing. (2019). Year 2019 position statement: Principles and guidelines for early hearing detection and intervention programs. *Journal of Early Hearing Detection and Intervention*, 4(2), 1–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.15142/fptk-b748</u>
- Kılıç, M. (2020). Determination of family needs for supporting the language development of children with hearing loss [Unpublished master's thesis]. Anadolu University.
- Lenihan, S. (2010). Trends and challenges in teacher preparation in deaf education. *The Volta Review*, 110(2), 117. https://doi.org/10.17955/tvr.110.2.m.632
- McWilliam, R. A. (2015). Future of early intervention with infants and toddlers for whom typical experiences are not effective. *Remedial and Special Education*, 36(1), 33-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932514554105</u>

Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldana, J. (2014). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook. SAGE Publications.

Ministry of National Education (2012). Special Education Institutions Regulation.

Hülya Ceren TUTUK & Hasan GÜRGÜR

https://ookgm.meb.gov.tr/meb iys dosyalar/2018 07/05112207 YZEL EYYTYM KURUMLARI YYNETMELYYY 05.07.201 8.pdf

Ministry of National Education (2018). Special Education Services Regulation. http://mevzuat.meb.gov.tr/dosyalar/1963.pdf

- Moeller, M. P., Carr, G., Seaver, L., Stredler-Brown, A., & Holzinger, D. (2013). Best practices in family-centered early intervention for children who are deaf or hard of hearing: An international consensus statement. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education* 18(4), 429-445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/ent034</u>
- Noll, D., DiFabio, D., Moodie, S., Graham, I. D., Potter, B., Grandpierre, V., & Fitzpatrick, E. M. (2021). Coaching caregivers of children who are deaf or hard of hearing: A scoping review. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 26(4), 453-468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/enab018</u>
- Odom, S. L., & Wolery, M. (2003). A unified theory of practice in early intervention/early childhood special education: Evidence-based practices. *The Journal of Special Education*, 37(3), 164-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00224669030370030601</u>
- Proctor, R., Niemeyer, J. A., & Compton, M. V. (2005). Training needs of early intervention personnel working with infants and toddlers who are deaf or hard of hearing. *The Volta Review*, *105*(2), 113-128.
- Rice, G. B., & Lenihan, S. (2005). Early intervention in auditory/oral deaf education: Parent and professional perspectives. *The Volta Review*, 105(1), 73-96.
- Sarı, H., Atbaşı, Z., & Çitil, M. (2017). Determining the qualifications of teachers working in special education and rehabilitation centers on family education. *Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Kırşehir Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 18*(3), 668-684.
- Turan, Z. (2019). Supervision on early intervision practices for teachers of the deaf. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 14(11), 388-396. https://doi.org/10.5897/ERR2019.3717
- Vilaseca, R. M., Galván-Bovaira, M. J., González-del-Yerro, A., Baqués, N., Oliveira, C., Simó-Pinatella, D., & Giné, C. (2019). Training needs of professionals and the family-centered approach in Spain. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 41(2), 87-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815118810236</u>
- Yin, R. Y. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods (4th ed.). Sage Publication.
- Yoshinaga-Itano, C. (2003). From screening to early identification and intervention: Discovering predictors to successful outcomes for children with significant hearing loss. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 8(1), 11-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/8.1.11</u>
- Yoshinaga-Itano, C. (2014). Principles and guidelines for early intervention after confirmation that a child is deaf or hard of hearing. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 19(2), 143-175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/ent043</u>
- Yoshinaga-Itano, C., Sedey, A. L., Mason, C. A., Wiggin, M., & Chung, W. (2020). Early intervention, parent talk, and pragmatic language in children with hearing loss. *Pediatrics*, 146(Supplement 3), S270-S277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-0242F</u>

Child citizenship and participation: Bottom-up level change from professional conversations with children

Marilyn Casley¹, Jennifer Cartmel², Kerry Smith³, Patrick O'Leary⁴, Natalie Reyes Bernard⁵

Abstract: Hart's (1992) 'Innocenti Essay on Child Participation' advocated for increased involvement of young people as active participants in societal decision-making. This paper provides a historical overview of active child citizenship initiatives, using applied research insights from 'bottom-up' approaches and conversations with children and professionals. It explores how current practices exemplified through three case studies can enhance genuine child participation and citizenship. The case study analysis examines the conversational processes involving children in problem-solving and decision-making within their communities. Through these examples, the paper highlights practical strategies for meaningfully engaging children as stakeholders and empowering them as active citizens whose voices substantially influence matters impacting their lives.

Article History Received: 13 March 2024 Accepted: 19 June 2024

Keywords Children's voices; Child participation; Citizenship; Communication

Introduction

It has been over 30 years since Hart's (1992) 'Innocenti Essay on Child Participation' called for a more robust and prioritised focus to involve young people as active participants in decision-making processes within civil society. This highly cited article appeals for a more concerted action to enable children to express their views freely and for them to be heard and enacted. Hart (1992) identified the paradox inherent in safeguarding children whilst also promoting their agency within settings such as the family and school; as these very institutions simultaneously serve as significant mechanisms to contain their voice. This led to the assertion that child participation was often patronising and tokenistic and as such a child's pathway to citizenship was seen as compromised. When reviewing early work on child participation and citizenship, examples of tokenism and patronage of children still resonate today. Hart's (1992) example of children being used as 'decoration' in the form of performances or recitals of adult-inspired productions for the distinct purpose of entertaining adult audiences is not uncommon in Australian society today. The rise of kid influencers on social media exemplifies this, where children's daily lives are commercialized and sensationalized as content to engage adult online viewers. This commodification of children's experiences and developmental milestones for entertainment raises exploitation and privacy concerns. Even worse participation of children through manipulating their opinions for adult-initiated socio -political purposes such as children speaking at events or holding placards is evident in socio-political movements (Hart, 2008). While 'tokenism' has seen children invited to speak or appear in panels it has not provided the adequate and developmentally appr¹opriate information for children to actively participate in conveying their opinions and bring about change (Warming, 2011). These contemporary examples highlight that despite approaches towards active child citizenship, children at best still have partial citizenship.

Within the literature, the recognition and work towards active child citizenship has been documented as a catalyst for transitioning traditional top-down and structural level approaches to more bottom-up approaches (Lúcio & I'Anson, 2015; Theobald et al., 2011; Wessells, 2015). In this paradigm,

⁴ Griffith University, School of Human Services and Social Work, Southport, Australia, e-mail: <u>p.oleary@griffith.edu.au</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6084-3734</u>

¹ Griffith University, School of Human Services and Social Work, Southport, Australia, e-mail: marilyn.casley@griffith.edu.au, ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8258-9784

² Griffith University, School of Human Services and Social Work, Southport, Australia, e-mail: <u>j.cartmel@griffith.edu.au</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5345-7851</u>

³ Griffith University, School of Human Services and Social Work, Southport, Australia, e-mail: <u>kerry.smith@griffithuni.edu.au</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0314-1680</u>

⁵ Griffith University, School of Medicine and Dentistry, Southport, Australia, e-mail: <u>n.reyesbernard@griffith.edu.au</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9426-5883</u>

Marilyn CASLEY et al.

children are actively engaged in shaping policies and practices which directly influence their lives. Bottomup approaches are grounded by values of empowerment and inclusivity, whereby the involvement of children in decision-making processes results in strategies to amplify their voices, perspectives and experiences (Wessells, 2015). Whilst in theory, bottom-up approaches recognise children as stakeholders and ensure policies and practice are relevant and reflective of children's needs, their level of success and impact remains in question and warrants further research and exploration (Wessells, 2015). Including, what has changed since this time in enabling participation towards active child citizenship?

Have certain global events such as the COVID-19 pandemic or the global refugee crisis created an unequal burden on children and sacrificed any small achievements that were made in between? Using applied research focusing on both 'bottom-up' approaches to child participation and citizenship and insights gained from conversations with adults in professional roles and children, this paper will give a historical overview of active child citizenship, focusing on stubborn areas of change and how current practices demonstrated through examples can pave the way in improving and increasing genuine child participation and citizenship.

Child Participation

Over the last three decades since Hart's paper important achievements in child participation have occurred and can be closely linked to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) which essentially encapsulates and affords individual human rights into child contexts (United Nations, 1989). It is important to note that many of these complex and critical decisions have predominately taken place within high-to-middle-income countries and at the structural level in legal and policy situations (Lätsch et al., 2023; United Nations Children's Fund [UNICEF], 2019). Such as in family court and child protection matters through to the children's role in matters of school governance and their presence in social media activities. However, despite these advances, there are still areas where child participation remains limited or overlooked. For example, Western conceptualisation of childhood dominates international legislation and policy, particularly the UNCRC. Whereby, any individual under the age of 18 years is considered a child (United Nations, 1989). This is, however, a contested notion given that there are many cultures whereby adulthood is conferred upon an individual through a process of initiation rather than being age-based (Lansdown, 2005). Tensions also exist in terms of cultural variations in the perception of what constitutes child protection. For example, in Pakistan, corporal punishment is viewed as a teaching mechanism rather than abuse of a child.

Despite these tensions being a child does matter. The assumptions about what it means to be a child and the values attached often overlook everyday practices and processes related to children's capacities to participate as active citizens with rights (Morrow, 2013). If we only use age as a determinant of capacity, we run the risk of never critically examining the power relationships that exist between adults and children. Nor do we examine the social, economic, and political structures that see children as passive rather than active citizens. To do so would help to illuminate the power relations that produce discrimination and exclusion of children (Warming, 2011). Using the lens of ecological system theory (Bronfenbrenner & Evans, 2000), one can view how the interactions of a child and their environment exist within and between different systems. For example, immediate microsystems, such as within family or school to larger macrosystems which include larger cultural and ideological contexts such as laws or policies (Bronfenbrenner & Evans, 2000).

A key example of a microsystem that can positively influence how active child participation and citizenship can be experienced are everyday situations such as conversations between child professionals and children (Novella Cámara et al., 2022). Viewing this interaction within this microsystem, however, does not exist in a vacuum. For instance, while a teacher having an open dialogue with students about rules in the classroom represents a micro-level participatory practice, it also highlights the more stubborn or complex areas of fundamental structural change needed in the broader education system. Despite such localized efforts, structural barriers like rigid curricula, standardized testing, and top-down administrative policies often hinder the substantive integration of children's voices in key decisions impacting their

Child citizenship and participation: Bottom-up level change...

learning environments (Wessells, 2015). Thus, the action of bottom-up or micro changes makes the necessary challenges to existing systemic obstacles to genuine child participation visible. Structurally, the role of child participation is often perceived as a mere procedural step without clear evidence of its substantive impacts on socio-political decision-making (Wessells, 2015). Thus, raising questions about the level of authenticity of participation in everyday relationships and interactions between children and professionals. In this way, child participation is seen as something that occurs without adequate evidence and results in scepticism surrounding the exploration of children's knowledge and how it can affect and change the adult-child relationship. For example, many professionals who work with children will espouse the virtue and value of child participation but view the main block to be structural rather than recognise how it may occur in their everyday child-adult conversations (Casley, 2017; Mayall, 2000). This discrepancy between the recognition of the importance of child participation and its practical integration within adult-child interactions requires deeper understanding. Through processes that aim to foster genuine dialogue and cooperation between these two groups a shift from a procedural approach to a more authentic and inclusive engagement with child perspective can pave the way for meaningful changes which contribute to the empowerment, experience and application of child participation and citizenship.

Understanding Child Citizenship

To understand child citizenship, one must first engage with citizenship itself. Citizenship is distinct from human rights in that concepts of citizenship are linked to membership of a nation-state, whereas human rights are rooted in the individual by virtue of one's humanity and are therefore not bound by membership to a nation-state (Basok et al., 2006; Isin & Turner, 2007; Shafir & Brysk, 2006). The conceptualisations of human rights and citizenship are therefore paradoxical in that whilst human rights are regarded as innate, citizenship rights are exclusive to those individuals deemed to be citizens and are created and granted by courts and upheld in the framework of a sovereign state (Isin & Turner, 2007). At a basic level, citizenship refers to primary legal rights that all people are entitled to as members of a nationstate (Linklater, 1992). Citizenship also refers to the right to participate in the political life of a community, and the fundamental duties that occur simultaneously with these rights (Linklater, 1992). It is important to note that the concept of citizenship at a global level is increasingly under threat due to more than 108 million people being forcibly displaced as of the end of 2022 (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees [UNHCR], 2022). These individuals, made up of refugees, internally displaced people and asylum seekers, are often faced with rendering their citizenship status and thus their political power and voice (UNHCR, 2022). Children make up 40% of this population and are further vulnerable due to the removal of essential socio-economic safeguards, interruption of public services and humanitarian assistance and exposure to serious human rights violations (UNHCR, 2022). These citizenships are important at all times and all places, however, they become particularly imperative in settings in which children are at increased risk of harm and thus their protection and welfare are compromised (Lätsch et al., 2023).

Historically notions of human rights have been linked to citizenship; a concept that has traditionally excluded women and continues to some extent to exclude children, particularly given that traditionally children's welfare has been indivisibly linked to women's welfare and social conditions (Mayall, 2000). For example, prior to the twentieth century, children were considered small adults and were involved in labour. However, following the initiation of compulsory education in the early twentieth century a separation between the environment of adults and the conceptualisation of childhood occurred (Jans, 2004). Citizenship therefore became the exclusive territory of adults, with children being considered a separate social group (Jans, 2004). While theorists have recognised issues surrounding children and citizenship in liberal democracies, very few have further explored these issues beyond highlighting that children do not hold full citizenship (Cohen, 2005). Similarly, little attention has been paid to the multifaceted nature of child citizenship and its implications for their well-being (Ben-Arieh et al., 2014).

It is understood that whilst citizenship provides individuals with rights, protection and benefits, including access to important services, the dependence of children on adults necessitates the granting of special rights to children (Ben-Arieh et al., 2014). The marginalisation of children can be enacted for reasons

Marilyn CASLEY et al.

of protection, however can also be paternalistic (Qvortrup, 2011). The extent to which children have direct and independent relationships with the state is thus questionable given their dependence on adults and the way in which adults must act as proxies in the relationship between the child and the state (Leiter et al., 2006). If children are however understood as members of a social group not just as individuals it is therefore fundamental to reflect on that group's right to actively participate in society (Mayall, 2000). Here the critical importance of adult-child relationships is highlighted especially in professional contexts where children's rights to participate freely in conversations is directly linked to their rights as citizens and more fundamentally as humans.

Conversations with Children

Conversational engagement with professionals offers children a critical site in their relationship between the 'state' and themselves as active rather than passive citizens. The value of the 'conversation' in the conduct of professional practice is important for children to express opinions, wishes, needs, and to be understood. Much of the literature on child participation and citizenship focuses on the structural approaches often neglecting how the values of these concepts can be applied to everyday practice for professionals. In an everyday practice model professionals work collaboratively with children, using conversational processes to understand how children view their own lives (Cartmel et al., 2024).

Children's view of their own lives happens through dialogical and transactional processes they have encountered through their everyday lived experiences. As children develop, they learn to use communication to represent their identity, and to make sense of their social world (Theobald et al., 2011; Ulvik & Gulbrandsen, 2015; van Nijnatten, 2013). It is through communication that children's feelings are verbalised, and identities revealed. Therefore, having conversations with children is a way of making meaning out of their everyday lived experiences. The knowledge gained about children in this way can work to disrupt the Western view that age is the only determinant of competence and move to a place where children can be collaboratively supported to express their views, to be understood and in turn be given opportunities for participation.

For meaning-making to take place in everyday conversations between professionals and children it needs to be a cooperative process. According to van Nijnatten (2013) make meaning of others only happens if one is seen as a social actor and having a sense of agency, whereby their view of the world is constructed through their daily interactions and relationships. Despite the observable sense of agency children have, professionals often work towards understanding children's needs through processes of surveillance. Meaning that concepts of what it means to be a child are controlled by the professionals' perspective (Bae, 2009). As we know interactions and relationships between professionals and children have been produced over time and context, which calls for professionals to be attuned to what is happening for them in the present and how they are influenced by the dominating discourses around child participation and agency. Presence in this sense can be defined as "... deep listening, of being open beyond one's preconceptions and historical way of making sense" (Senge, et al. 2005, p.13). This leads to professionals gaining a better understanding of how their conversational and relational skills with children can function in oppressive ways (Bae, 2009).

Furthermore, to co-construct meaning with children, professionals must have the knowledge and skills to critically reflect and listen as a simultaneous process. This active process is an exchange of meanings that requires a deep 'suspension of judgement' on the part of the professional and the ability to listen to what children say from a contextual perspective, which involves hearing, interpreting, and co-constructing meaning in a shared dialogue (Rinaldi, 2001; Scharmer, 2018; Senge et al., 2005). This is not always limited to the spoken word, as children can express their views in different ways, therefore the professional must take the time to notice and observe what is going on for a child to help with the contextual interpretation in this meaning-making process. Critical examination of everyday professional practice is imperative if children are to have equity in their everyday conversations and relationships with professionals such as educators, teachers and youth workers.

In this paper so far, the authors have examined child citizenship and participation, whilst also

critically exploring the progress in these domains at a global and local level. It is argued that change from a top-down and structural level has had varying success and impact, and rather that in everyday situations such as conversations between professionals and children that the interchange between active citizenship and participation can take place. By using a case study approach to child conversations, the following section will illustrate through research evidence how theoretical and structural approaches to child citizenship and participation can be employed in conversations with children. The results offer guidance for creating environments of participation and active citizenship in everyday practice with children and thus take an unambiguous approach to creating an environment for further fundamental change in the rights of children in society.

Research Design

Whilst literature surrounding child participation exists, there is limited evidence about the actual circumstances in which children have been afforded opportunities for participation and lived citizenship. Furthermore, despite Articles 12 and 13 of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child forecasting an external framework for the outcomes of conversational encounters, little is known about the nuances of the conversations that ensure that there is authentic participation from the perspective of children. Thus, highlighting the need for deeper level analysis at the micro level.

This research addresses these gaps in the literature by employing a case study methodology to support a comprehensive and in-depth investigation of conversations between professionals and children aged between five and 12 years. Using grounded theory analysis, the phenomenon of the conversational encounters between children and adults is examined to explore the effectiveness of employing a bottom-up approach to foster and promote child participation and active citizenship was conducted. Grounded theory was used as it is recognised as particularly useful in 'natural' settings such as the everyday conversations between children and adults. Using an inductive process, a deeper explanation of the elements of conversations is offered, with the enquiry moving away from more descriptive accounts of 'what happens' when children and professionals have conversations, to addressing questions pertaining to both the 'how' and 'why' children contributed to the conversations.

Presented below are three case studies. with the common characteristic of demonstrating the intention of the professional to provide opportunities for children to have their views heard on matters that affect them and the right to obtain and share information (Article 12 and 13). In each of the case studies, professionals commented on the conversational process and how it linked to children's participation and sense of citizenship. Quotes from children participants are also included to demonstrate the child's voice. The patterns of behaviour and actions as described in the data were coded and reviewed with the intent to explicate "What influenced child participation in conversations between children and adults." The authors of this paper engaged in multiple encounters with the data associated with each of the cases. In revisiting the data, reflection and coding of the patterns of relationship that were happening in each of the conversations were linked to the coding of the in-depth interviews with these children and professionals. In addition, reflective dialogues occurred between the researchers as they reported their encounters with each of the case sites. The process reached saturation as the generated data was analysed from the ground up.

An important strength of the case study approach was the ability to undertake an investigation of the process of Talking Circles as a tool to consult with children as a phenomenon in the context of children's services. As Yin (1994) states, case study research is useful to examine a contemporary set of events that cannot be manipulated or controlled; such as the conversations between children and professionals. Hence the data provided through the multiple data sources provides the researchers and readers of this paper with information on how and why the value of conversations in the conduct of professional practice is important for children's participation and active citizenship

Case Studies

Case studies used in this research are summarised in Table 1 and expanded in detail below. Each

Marilyn CASLEY et al.

case study used multiple data sources including two or more of direct detailed observations, focus groups, interviews, and/or documents. All case studies were conducted in settings outside of school classrooms, however, the dynamics of conversations between children and adults had similar qualities to school and other child services. The focus of the research related to identifying the exchange in child participation and the concept of active citizenship.

The research for each case study was approved by Griffith University Ethics. Parents gave permission for their children to participate, and children were asked for their assent. University students and educators also gave permission for their reflective journals to be shared in interviews and focus groups. The data and findings across the three projects were examined using grounded theory to analyse the findings (Walker & Myrick, 2006). This analysis has provided the discussion about active child citizenship.

	Participants	Age Range	Service Type	Data Collection Tools
Case 1	n=200	5-12	School Age Care	Interviews
				Drawings
	n=20		Pre-service	Informal Conversations
			Educators	Field notes
Case 2	n=3	5-11	Children	Interviews
	n=4		Child and Family Professionals	Lifeline drawings Informal Conversations
Case 3	n=13	5-11	Children	Interviews Focus group
	n=2		Educators	

Table 1. Summary of collective case studies

Case One – Talking Circles: Action Research Project

The talking circles: Action Research Project was a community-funded initiative based on finding ways to engage with children aged five to -12 years. Its aims related to encouraging the development of a sense of identity, belonging and connectedness to their community. It included creating opportunities to enhance their capacity to express their views, and thus influence matters that affected them. This action research project was conducted over two years and involved 20 School Age Care (SAC) services in southeast Queensland and 20 university students (Cartmel et al., 2024; Cartmel & Casley, 2014a, 2014b; Cartmel & Casley, 2010). As part of their university program, each student was assigned to a SAC service during their field education program. A university study led and facilitated a conversational process, known as a Talking Circle (Cartmel & Casley, 2014a) with a group of 8 to ten children. The Talking Circle format, developed by two of the authors of this study, is based on listening. Listening to oneself, listening to others and listening to what emerges from the group (Scharmer, 2018). After a pilot in one site, the action research was expanded. The university students were educated in facilitating the conversational process with children. To recruit for the study, service attended by the university students for their fieldwork, provided children and their parents with information about an opportunity to participate in "Talking Circles" one-hour activity conducted over a period of eight weeks. The first eight children who returned permission forms were selected. The students Further briefed children on what to do if they felt unfortable in expressing sentive matter and informed them that they could decline participation at any time during the study.

Each week sessions were developed based on what the children wanted to talk about. Sessions were facilitated by the students and with the children; then critically reflected upon in the university class with the facilitator (one of the authors). As sessions progressed, students were encouraged to adapt the process to ensure that there was active participation in the conversations they were facilitating with their group of children.

The findings from this action research project reported that Talking Circles built relational capacity of both the children and the university students. Each became more self-aware, gained confidence in their capacity to problem-solve and subsequently built leadership and resilience skills. Children's capacity to

Child citizenship and participation: Bottom-up level change...

listen, take notice of others, respect others and be supportive of their peers increased during the Talking Circle process. The children were able to describe the changes they were experiencing. For some children, the Talking Circles gave them a safe place where they could express themselves.

For example:

It's calm, it's peaceful and I feel less stressed (Chani. age 11).

We can talk about things that we can't at the oval. We talk about ourselves (Mitch, age 9).

For other children, the Talking Circle was a place where they felt a sense of belonging. For example:

People like me here. I have made more friends. I can trust people here (Tiani, age 9).

I don't get into trouble anymore at school. We can get tips when we are having hard times. We get to share our life (Zac, age 10).

We can talk about our problems, and we can share our feelings and share about our families (Manni, age 8).

I don't get bullied anymore (Reece, age 9).

The university students indicated there was a transformational change for them during the 'Talking Circle' process. They reported changes in their ability to self-reflect, skills to have open and inquiring conversations with children and enhanced confidence in problem-solving with children. In the weekly feedback sessions, students described how the power differential between themselves and the children started to diminish and noted how both groups were gaining skills and confidence in the ability to communicate with each other. Furthermore, the children were able to open up to the group and talk about things that really mattered to them. For example:

The children actually listened to each other's stories. The children are very open and they are interested in each other's stories. They have an idea about what is fair and an understanding about what is serious in someone's life. Some faces were shocked when they heard some of the other children's stories (Ella, university student).

I was surprised that I could build such a close relationship with a child. In my country this would not be possible. I will take these communication skills with me to use with my own children and those I will be working with (Wyena, international university student).

The opportunity for the university students to meet each week while participating in the action research meant that any negative challenges such as understanding how to manage the power differtial or how to ask questions were discussed and resolved.

Case 2 - Doctoral Project: Conversation between Children and Adults

This doctoral project involved a narrative inquiry into what shapes an adult's ability to understand a child's perspective. It was conducted with child, youth and family professionals and children based on their lived experience about having conversations with children and professionals respectively (Casley, 2017). Professionals worked in a variety of children's services including early education and care, schools, family support, out-of-home care and child protection services. The child participants were aged between 5 and eleven years. The participants were recruited using a snowballing process from the alumni of a university program that prepared children's services professionals.

This inquiry uncovered how time, relationships and the spaces professionals and children occupy shape the professional's ability to understand children's perspectives. It also revealed the metanarratives embedded within each of the participant's stories and how they spoke to the marginalisation of children. Demonstrated through historical and generational views held by professionals regarding the capacity of children to have their views heard and to participate in decision-making. It exposed the impact of trust as a concept, belief and action needed by professionals to enable/ encourage meaningful conversations with children that support their participation in civic society. It examined the notion that power and agency is strongly related to how adulthood and childhood have been constructed and reconstructed over time. Finally, it found that for child-adult relationships to be reciprocal there needs to be a shift in how childadult relationships are viewed by professionals, children, and the wider society.

The professionals in this inquiry revealed that when trust was established between a child and the

Marilyn CASLEY et al.

professional it promoted deeper conversations, as the children were more willing to open up to them. This helped to hear and understand who the child is and what the child knows. For example;

I work with many children that have experienced trauma and going through a tough time. I think trust is a big thing, because there are not a lot of people they trust anymore and sometimes it is hard to gain their trust. I always try to be open and honest with them. I don't promise things I don't think I can keep, and I say that to them. I think they respect that. If they don't trust me, they are not going to build a relationship with me (Natasha, children's services practitioner).

However, there were other conditions mentioned by the adult participants, which needed to be in place for conversation between them to take place and trust to be established. These conditions included: being available to get to know each child, creating safe spaces for conversations to take place, and developing opportunities for the professional to enter into the child's world. Lastly, the professionals said they needed specific skills for having open and honest dialogue with children.

The child participants spoke about trust in terms of whom they would trust to tell things to and what they liked or disliked about the way adults interacted with them. Trust, for them, was displayed by an adult being kind and supportive. The children liked to be acknowledged for doing the 'right thing' and felt empowered when given 'important' things to do, as this indicated the professional trusted them. The children spoke highly of adults who displayed playful behaviours and played with them, indicating to the children the adults liked being with them. For example, John, age 5 liked it when he had a conversation with an adult friend about fishing as that is what he likes to do. He also indicated that his favourite teacher was the one who played with them in the classroom. (Olivia, age 8) suggested teachers could show respect to the children by, "a nice good morning welcome when you come into the classroom".

Awareness of and changing the power imbalance between professionals and children was another key indicator for shaping an adult's ability to understanding children's perspectives. The adult participants in the study attempted to achieve this by seeing children as equal partners in the conversations they had with them and by including children in decision-making. One of the adult participants spoke about changing the power differential by her ability to suspend judgment and be in the present with children. She spoke about not being confronted by a child's behaviour and attempting to control the behaviour. She addressed the power imbalance by talking about what is happening in the present with the child or group of children.

Such as;

I don't want to make my sessions about challenging behaviour. I want it to come up naturally. Let's just talk about things. Explore rather than suggest (Sarah, children's services practitioner).

One of the other participants highlighted how his skills of listening helped to refocus power imbalance in conversations. For example;

It's about adults learning that it's not about power and control, it's actually, about listening to them (Angus, teacher).

The children's stories about exercising their sense of agency with adults were different across landscapes and in different social contexts. The children indicated that they liked having conversations with adults that: (a) were interested in them, (b) respected them, (c) made them feel listened to, and (d) worked alongside them to be successful in the social contexts they shared. However, the children indicated they were not often influential in decision-making on the landscapes they occupied with adults. However, when they were given an opportunity to express their opinion it was a valuable experience for them. Such as;

They [coaches] are always asking somebody, my opinion, or someone else's opinion. It's really good (Toby, age 9).

The children in this inquiry seemed to accept their childhood status. They said they liked adults who were kind and guided them in their endeavours. They did not like it if they felt they or other children were treated unfairly by adults. For example, the child participants liked the reward system they encountered in school, where you were rewarded for being "smart" and "good" and for "doing the right thing" (Olivia at age 8; Toby at age 10). With comments also identifying there was room for improvement. Such as:

Child citizenship and participation: Bottom-up level change...

Maybe the teachers could do something for the good kids, the ones that are good all of the time (Olivia, age 7).

They also accepted that the teachers set the rules. However, what was not acceptable was teachers or other adults being "mean" or that they "shouted" at them (John, age 5; Olivia, age 7; Toby, age 9). Support for their endeavours was what they wanted from the adults in their lives.

In a later conversation Olivia, age 9 said that sometimes it was impossible to reach the goals set out for them by her teacher. The teacher gave out fake money for accumulated points to bid on stuff, with the first person that gets to 50 points gets the fake money. She said one girl was "smart" and "good so she always had more money to bid for stuff. Hence the other children including herself missed out. Olivia did not think that was fair. When asked about having conversations with her teachers Olivia, age 9 believed the teachers did not have time to talk to her as lunch time was too short and the teacher was not available after class as she was on bus duty. When asked the same question, Toby, age 10 responded with, "schools are more serious places and conversations with his teacher were normally about classroom work and stuff like that." He also felt that talking to teachers about what happened on the weekend or things like that as he said "not everyone is your friend in the classroom", and he wouldn't want to talk like that in front of his classmates. Hence, he felt his classroom was not a safe space for conversations with his teacher to take place.

By laying these stories beside each other, the concepts of power and agency were illuminated. To work from a bottom-up approach, there is a need to rethink the social position held by children. It is necessary to liberate both adults and children from the dominant discourses that see them as separate and unequal and identify the historical and generational structures from which children's social position has been derived (Alanen, 2001; Mayall, 2000 Skott-Myhre & Tarulli, 2008). Hence to consider children as active citizens, professionals need to work alongside children where the key component of listening and actively including children in meaningful conversations takes place in everyday practice in environments where all children feel confident and safe to express themselves.

Case 3 - Talking Circles: A strategy for listening to children's voices in School Age Services

This case study was part of an exploratory evaluation of the Talking Circle tool for listening to the voices of children in School Age Services (SAC) in Queensland, Australia (Smith, 2019). The study was conducted at a SAC service that had 25 educators and 250 children from kindergarten to year six. Two educators and thirteen children opted to participate in the study over a three-month period. The researcher used a realist (evaluation) approach to understand 'what works, how, for whom, in what circumstances and to what extent' (Pawson & Tilley, 2004). According to Pawson (2006), interventions offer resources which trigger choice mechanisms (M), which are taken up selectively according to the characteristics and circumstances of subjects (C), resulting in a varied pattern of impact (O). These three key sources of evidence were used to understand how children and educators perceived the use of Talking Circles for listening to children's voices. The realist evaluation approach to the Talking Circle intervention allowed the mechanisms to be identified and how these mechanisms generated the outcomes and what features of the context affected whether those mechanisms operated. The analysis generated these findings and they contributed to the refined program theory that emerged about the Talking Circles.

The findings endorsed Talking Circles as a useful resource, assisting educators in using effective communication skills for listening to children's voices. It was also revealed the educator's ability to facilitate conversations was the strongest mechanism for creating and sustaining opportunities for listening to children. For example, the educators found the Talking Circles process was beneficial for engaging with small groups of children. The focus on conversations with children assisted the educators to learn more about each child by simply listening to them. The educators in this study had a perception of having a trusting relationship between themselves and the children and through participating in the Talking Circles process that they sensed a deeper level of relationship building. Such as one educator expressing the excitement of a child (aged eight) and another describing active listening;

He was excited because people had listened to him. He was so happy to think that he'd been asked his opinion. I thought that we were doing that, so it was that in itself for me. Sometimes because these are the quieter beautiful

Marilyn CASLEY et al.

children, maybe their voices aren't heard over, you know the 120 other children. I would like [to] think that we were listening, but in small groups I learnt so much about these kids (Jay, Educator 1).

I've begun to really listen to what the children are saying, especially about their families and how for a couple of the children they wished they could spend more time with their Mum and Dad. I've learnt to be silent and really listen deeply to what the kids say. I've been surprised about their deep feelings about the world (Taylor, Educator 2).

The Talking Circles configuration and explicit use of conversation mixed with the introduction of hands-on activities, led to the engagement of the children as a strong mechanism. The children described this engagement in many ways such as children's rights, fun, listening, and helpful. More than one-quarter of the children responded that their perspective of the Talking Circle was important to children's rights. For example;

I wouldn't normally share stuff like that with certain people. In the Talking Circle we weren't made to share stuff, but we shared something (Henry, 9yrs).

Because it [Talking Circle] lets the kids say what they want to say; it doesn't restrict them. You're open and you can say whatever you want (Harpreet, 12yrs).

Whilst another perspective expressed by several of the children was that the Talking Circles were "really fun" (Chloe, 12yrs) and that they were "really happy" when people are around (Sam, 10yrs).

The educators and the children included the notion that using the Talking Circles process was helpful for problem-solving and for making friends. For example;

One afternoon one of the boys started talking about not being included in a group that he would have liked to be friends with. The others in the group gave him some suggestions about what to do and I noticed over the next few afternoons he tried out what others had suggested, like actually telling the group he would like to play with them. The group accepted his friendship, and this boy seems a lot more settled (Jay, Educator 1).

[The Talking Circles] would help another child I know, someone who doesn't tell lots of people stuff, so I reckon that would help her a bit. It helps people learn about other people. I would not normally share stuff like my feelings with certain people but in the Talking Circles you can (Briony, 11 years).

Only one child expressed feelings of not liking the Talking Circle as it made the child feel scared and mad. The child did not want to talk about the reasons for those feelings at the time. Finally, this mechanism relies on the facilitator having the knowledge and skills on how to create a safe space, using generative listening and the ability to craft a genuine inquiry. The Talking Circles process enhanced child participation and created a new experience of belonging. The process is based on the knowledge that is created from the conversations where children's experiences are deepened by listening to others. This new knowledge is co-constructed between children and the educator and has a sense of embodiment revealed by the educators and children in this study as 'feeling different' at the end of the conversation(s).

Discussion

The concept of child participation and citizenship where children of all ages and in all circumstances can participate in lived and active citizenship needs to be understood from a micro level. Following the examination of the literature surrounding this topic and using a case study approach, the authors postulate a new theoretical perspective. Child participation is an active process where children freely come together to listen, inquire, think and act in their everyday lives. This active process diminishes the power structures that interfere with the opportunity for children to participate in authentic ways and these relational and conversational interactions become the focal point for change. For example, if the social world is considered as a continuous activity of interactional and conversational exchanges, it is more likely that children's agency and the possibility for this taking priority over the macro-structural processes to occur (Rafanell, 2013; Wyness, 2018). The 'Talking Circles' can provide children's perspectives to aid policy makers and those managing programs for children and families (see Barblett et al., 2022; Cartmel et al., 2024). The approach can support meaning-making from a diverse representation of children to influence macro systems of policy decision-making and program planning.

It is crucial to keep in mind that there is a complexity to child participation and that the outcome of a conversation is not a linear process. Conversational structures that are imposed on children for

Child citizenship and participation: Bottom-up level change...

professional assessment or intervention with an intended outcome in mind do not constitute child participation. But rather is a process that has fluidity and is reliant on the skills of the professional's ability to facilitate or open up conversations that explore children's everyday lives. This approach creates a common ground for both children and professionals and is seen as the process for decision-making with children.

Moving on from Hart's proposition to a more contemporary context some successes of participation and citizenship have been uncovered, despite some impasses. Suggestions for an applied approach that employs bottom-up participation rather than top-down structural procedures are necessary for advancement in child participation. Dialogical and transactional processes through more authentic and inclusive engagement with child perspectives can pave the way for meaningful changes that contribute to the empowerment, experience, sense of agency and application of child participation and citizenship. These bases of meaning-making and lived experience constitute an interactionalist approach to this work.

From examining the case studies the authors have drawn ideas about what effective child participation and active citizenship look like. It was discovered the use of an interactionist approach to understanding micro-level interactions and conversations between children and adults will make a difference in the way we approach child participation from the bottom up. An interactionist approach that explores the social world on how children and adults communicate and listen to the perspectives of others is critical. This calls for a focus on how children understand their world and how these views are produced as a continuous process of interactions and conversations they have with adults. This approach illuminates the notion of how child agency can work to influence and change the social structures imposed upon them.

Implications for practice and future research would include preparing professionals with skills for facilitating open and inquiring conversations with children about their everyday life experiences. Using processes such as Talking Circles may also support a safe space for professionals and children to gain trust, self-reflect, problem-solve and engage in honest dialogue. Furthermore, the notion of structural power and agency cannot be underestimated and thus working from a bottom-up approach requires a rethinking of the social position held by children and actively including children in meaningful everyday conversations. There is also the possibility of rethinking how children can contribute to policy development and other aspects of their lives.

Conclusion

In the 30 years since Hart's 1992 Innocenti Essay on Child Participation, there have been many positive changes in child participation. Such as professionals engaging with children to make decisions in matters of family law, child protection, education and public policy to name a few areas. Additionally, it is acknowledged that there has been much progress in understanding child citizenship and child participation from global and local levels (top-down). This research however has exposed a deeper understanding of the structural features and impact of the everyday conversations between children and adults. It has highlighted the complexity of the interchange between active citizenship and participation as an active process. Using a bottom-up approach to research it has further emphasised the importance of agency in diminishing the power differential between children and professionals. It has also illuminated the notion of understanding child agency using an interactionist approach as a means of changing structures that work to marginalise children's voices. The features of the conversations and interactions between children and adults are forms of active participation and citizenship together that are not linear, but rather a fluid dialogical process for children to engage with each other to listen, inquire, think and make decisions. This paper has provided the necessary tools for professionals working with children to use in practice and move towards true child participation and active citizenship.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Thanks to the children who contributed to the research. Pseudonyms have been used.

Marilyn CASLEY et al.

Authors' contributions: MC, JC, KS and POL contributed to the conception of the work. MC, JC, KS Data collection. MC, JC, KS Data analysis and interpretation. MC, JC, KS Drafting the article. MC, JC, KS and NRB critical revision of the article. MC, JC, KS, NRB and POL Final approval of the version to be published.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: No funding was used for this study.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Griffith University (!D5326; 2017/026; 2019/266).

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Aileen S. Garcia through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Alanen, L. (2001). Explorations in generational analysis. In L. Alanen, and B. Mayall (Eds.), *Conceptualizing child-adult relations* (pp. 11-22). Routledge.
- Bae, B. (2009). Children's right to participate challenges in everyday interactions. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 17(3), 391-406. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/13502930903101594</u>
- Barblett, L., Bobongie-Harris, F., Cartmel, J., Hadley, F., Harrison, L., Irvine, S., & Lavina, L. (2023). 'We're not useless, we know stuff!' Gathering children's voices to inform policy. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 48(2), 134-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/18369391221139912</u>
- Basok, T., Ilca, S. & Noonan, J. (2006). Citizenship, human rights and social justice. *Citizenship Studies*,10(3), 267-273. http://doi.org/10.1080/13621020600772040
- Ben-Arieh, A., Casas, F., Frones, I., & Korbin J.E. (eds) (2014). Handbook of child well-being Theorise, methods and policies in global perspective. Springer.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. & Evans, G.W. (2000). Developmental science in the 21st century: Emerging questions, theoretical models, research designs and empirical findings. *Social Development*, 9(1), 115-125.
- Cartmel, J., & Casley, M. (2010). Talking Circles: Gathering the wisdom of children. Report for Early Childhood Australia, Queensland Branch.
- Cartmel, J., & Casley, M. (2014a). Talking circles. In S. Garvis, & D. Pendergast (Eds.), *Health and wellbeing in childhood* (pp. 178-189). Cambridge University Press.
- Cartmel, J., & Casley, M. (2014b). Talking circles: Building relationships with children. *Communities, Children and Families Australia,* 8(1), 67-80.
- Cartmel, J., Casley, M., & Smith, K. (2024). Talking circles. In S. Garvis & D. Pendergast (Eds.), *Health and wellbeing in childhood* (4th ed., pp. 210–221). Cambridge University Press.
- Casley, M. (2017). Conversations between children and adults [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Griffith University, Australia.
- Cohen, J. (2005). Deliberation and democratic legitimacy. In D. Matravers, & J. Pike (Eds.), *Debates in contemporary political philosophy* (pp.352-370). Routledge.
- Hart, R. A. (1992). *Children's participation: From tokenism to citizenship*. UNICEF Innocenti Essays, No. 4, International Child Development Centre of UNICEF, Florence, Italy.
- Hart, R. A. (2008). Stepping Back from 'The Ladder': Reflections on a model of participatory work with children. In A. Reid, B. B. Jensen, J. Nikal, & V. Simovska (Eds.), Participation and Learning: Perspectives on education and the environment, health and sustainability (pp.19–31). Springer. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6416-6_2</u>
- Isin, E., & Turner, B. (2007). Investigating citizenship: An agenda for citizenship studies. Citizenship Studies, 11(1), 5-17.
- Jans, M. (2004). Children as citizens: Towards a contemporary notion of child participation. *Childhood*, 11(1), 27-44. http://doi.org/10.1177/0907568204040182

Lansdown, G. (2005). Innocenti insight: The evolving capacities of the child. Save the Children and UNICEF.

- Lätsch, D., Quehenberger, J., Portmann, R., & Jud, A. (2023). Children's participation in the child protection system: Are young people from poor families less likely to be heard?. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 145, 106762. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2022.106762</u>
- Leiter, V., McDonald, J., & Jacobson H. (2006). Challenges to children's independent citizenship: Immigration, family and the state.

Child citizenship and participation: Bottom-up level change...

Childhood, 13(1), 11-27. http://doi.org/10.1177/0907568206059978

- Linklater, A. (1992). The question of the next stage in international relations theory: A critical-theoretical point of view. *Millennium*, 21(1), 77–98. http://doi.org/10.1177/03058298920210010601
- Lúcio, J., & I'Anson, J. (2015). Children as members of a community: Citizenship, participation and educational development an introduction to the special issue. *European Educational Research Journal*, 14(2), 129–137. <u>http://doi.org/10.1177/1474904115571794</u>
- Mayall, B. (2000). The sociology of childhood in relation to children's rights. The International Journal of Children's Rights, 8, 243-259.
- Morrow, V. (2013). What's in a number? Unsettling the boundaries of age. *Childhood*, 20(2), 151–155. <u>http://doi.org/10.1177/0907568213484199</u>
- Novella Cámara, A., Crespo Torres, F., & Pose Porto, H. (2022). Meetings between professionals for the inclusion of children in citizen participation: A formative experience. *Social Inclusion*, *10*(2), 19-31. <u>http://doi.org/10.17645/si.v10i2.5018</u>
- Pawson, R. & Tilley, N. (2004). Realist evaluation. British Cabinet Office. Sage Publications
- Pawson, R. (2006). Evidence-based policy a realist perspective. Sage Publications.
- Qvortrup, J. (2011). Childhood as a structural form. In J. Qvortrup, W. A. Corsaro, & M. Honig (Eds.) *The palgrave handbook of childhood studies* (pp. 21-33). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Rafanell, I. (2013). Micro-situational foundations of social structure. Journal of Theory and Social Behavior, 43, 181-204. http://doi.org/10.1111/jtsb.12012
- Rinaldi, C. (2001). The pedagogy of listening: The listening perspective from Reggio Emilia. Innovations in early education: the international Reggio exchange, 8(4), 1-4. <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/526fe9aee4b0c53fa3c845e0/t/540fce31e4b00c94d884e002/1410321969279/Pedagody+of+Listening+-+Rinaldi+-+Fall+2001.pdf</u>
- Scharmer, O. (2018). The essentials of theory U: Core principles and applications. Berrett-Koehler.
- Senge, P., Scharmer, O., Jaworski, J. & Flowers, B. (2005). *Presence: Exploring profound change in people, organizations and society*. London: Nicholas Brealey.
- Shafir, G. & Brysk, A. (2006). The globalization of rights: From citizenship to human rights. Citizenship Studies, 10(3), 275-287.
- Skott-Myhre, H. & Tarulli, D. (2008). Becoming-child: Ontology, immanence, and the production of child and youth rights. In T. O'Neill, D. Zinga (Eds.), *Children's rights: Multidisciplinary approaches to participation and protection* (pp. 69-84). University of Toronto Press. <u>http://doi.org/10.3138/9781442687615-006</u>.
- Smith, K. (2019). Talking circles as a strategy for listening to children's voices in school-age care [Unpublished Masters dissertation]. Griffith University, Australia.
- Theobald, M., Danby, S., & Ailwood, J. (2011). Child participation in the early years: Challenges for education. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 36(3), 19-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/183693911103600304</u>
- Ulvik, O., & Gulbrandsen, L. (2015). Exploring children's everyday life: An examination of professional practices. *Nordic Psychology*, 67(3), 210-224. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/19012276.2015.1062257</u>
- United Nations Children's Fund. (2019). Child participation in local governance: A UNICEF guidance note public finance and local governance (PFLG) social policy. <u>www.unicef.org/sites/default/files/2019-12/UNICEF-Child-Participation-in-Local-Governance.pdf</u>
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2022) Global trend report. www.unhcr.org/global-trends-report-2022.

United Nations. (1989). United nations convention on the rights of the child. www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/crc.pdf.

van Nijnatten, C. (2013). Children's agency, children's welfare: A dialogical approach to child development, policy and practice. Policy Press.

- Walker, D., & Myrick, F. (2006). Grounded theory: An exploration of process and procedure. Qualitative Health Research, 16(4), 547-559. <u>http://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305285972</u>
- Warming, H. (2011). Children's participation and citizenship in a global age. Empowerment, tokenism or discriminatory disciplining? Social Work and Society, 9, 119-134.
- Wessells, M. (2015). Bottom-up approaches to strengthening child protection systems: Placing children, families, and communities at the center. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 43, 8-21. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.04.006</u>
- Wyness, M. (2018). Childhood, culture and society: In a global context. Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (1994). Discovering the future of the case study method in evaluation research. *Evaluation Practice*, 15(3), 283-290. http://doi.org/10.1177/109821409401500309

Engagement of science process skills for teaching science concepts in early childhood

Lintle Maraisane¹, Loyiso Jita², Thuthukile Jita³

Abstract: This study aimed to explore how early childhood teachers engage science process skills for teaching science concepts in early childhood settings. Social constructivist theory was employed as the guiding framework for this study. Four Grade R teachers were purposefully selected and engaged through qualitative research methods. Data generation was informed by semi-structured interviews, classroom observations, and document analysis. Thematic data analysis was used to unpack the aim of the study. Results reveal that the low engagement of science process skills by participants was strongly influenced by their limited knowledge of content and science process skills when teaching the concepts. This finding implies that the training of early childhood teachers needs to improve and be supported with continuous development programs. This finding may inform teacher training programs and curriculum development efforts geared toward improving science education in the crucial early years of a child's academic journey.

Article History Received: 29 January 2024 Accepted: 07 July 2024

Keywords

Early childhood; Science concepts formation; Teaching and learning science; Teaching experiences

Introduction

This research centers on the learning of science in Early Childhood Education (ECE), with a specific focus on the science process skills instilled by Grade R teachers to facilitate learners' understanding of floating and sinking concepts. Grade R is a crucial component of the Foundation Phase, commonly referred to as ECE (South Africa Department of Basic Education [South Africa DBE], 2011). Grade R is shortened from Reception Grade, and its primary objective is to prepare preschool learners for a seamless transition to Grade 1 in primary school (Lesotho Ministry of Education and Training [Lesotho MoET], 2021). During this phase, Grade R learners receive formal instruction in a classroom setting, adhering to structured learning plans aligned with the prescribed curriculum. They are expected to comply with classroom rules for easy facilitation of the implementation of structured lessons. These lessons encompass mathematics, languages, and life skills, incorporating science concepts through play-based activities (South Africa DBE, 2011).

The integration of science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) education has propelled science learning in ECE, emphasizing the consensus that science education should commence as early as preschool (Schmitt et al., 2023). This approach advocates for appropriately structured learning facilitation. In this regard, teachers play a crucial role in supporting children's learning through a combination of content knowledge and pedagogical content knowledge (Shulman, 1986). Nevertheless, Kazeni (2021) highlighted that early primary school teachers may be inadequately prepared to support young children, especially in STEM fields (Schmitt et al., 2023). This inadequacy poses a concern regarding the development of science concepts through the application of science process skills.

The term *science process skills* is defined as a collection of versatile abilities applicable across various

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license.

¹ University of the Free State, Faculty of Education, Department of Childhood Education, Bloemfontein, South Africa, e-mail: <u>MaraisaneMJL@ufs.ac.za</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0002-9878-1652</u>

² University of the Free State, Faculty of Education, The office of the Dean, Bloemfontein, South Africa, e-mail: <u>litaLC@ufs.ac.za</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6871-6820</u>

³ University of the Free State, Faculty of Education, Department of Curriculum Studies in Higher Education, Bloemfontein, South Africa, e-mail: JitaT@ufs.ac.za, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1173-5251

Lintle MARAISANE et al.

science disciplines and reflective of scientists' conduct (Mulyeni et al., 2019). Early primary school teachers leverage these skills to guide learners in making observations; posing questions; utilizing tools for data collection, analysis, and interpretation; formulating tentative conclusions; and sharing and communicating scientific findings effectively (Naudé & Meier, 2020). This approach facilitates the development of learners' science process skills, encompassing basic skills such as communication, observation, classification, prediction, measurement, and inference during science instruction (Karademir et al., 2019; Mostert, 2018; Yildiz & Guler Yildiz, 2021). Young children, characterized by their inherent curiosity, naturally gravitate toward exploring the world around them (Roberts, 2021) using science process skills. When guided by teachers possessing ample science content knowledge and adept science process skills, these young learners emulate the behaviors of genuine scientists (Naudé & Meier, 2020), which is crucial in their education.

Early childhood teachers play a pivotal role in nurturing learners' comprehension of science concepts through science process skills, facilitating the integration of new knowledge, and encouraging the application of these skills when learning. In the observation phase, learners are encouraged to employ their senses to make informed decisions based on analytical thinking (Mulyeni et al., 2019). Additionally, teaching science concepts involves integrating other essential process skills such as estimating, counting, collaborating, recording, making generalizations, and problem-solving (Yildiz & Guler Yildiz, 2021). Stears et al. (2019) expressed concern by highlighting limitations in early primary school teachers' content delivery due to a lack of science process skills. As a result, Yildiz and Guler Yildiz (2021) suggested that many learners appear to rely on their naïve explanation of science concepts, attributed to challenges with teacher preparation or curriculum instruction.

Developing science process skills is essential for societal progress, highlighting the necessity of introducing these skills early in learners' education (Limatahu et al., 2018). The acquisition of these skills through learning experiences empowers learners to master science processes (Kazeni, 2021), equipping them to address everyday challenges (Schmitt et al., 2023). Furthermore, these skills cultivate creativity and instill positive attitudes toward science learning among learners (Limatahu et al., 2018). Engaging in science process skills during the early years emerges as a strong predictor of subsequent academic success in science for learners (Saçkes, 2014). As such, they need to be capacitated with the necessary guidance when embarking on the learning of concepts (Trundle & Saçkes, 2021).

Despite the widespread acknowledgement of the importance of teaching science in the early years, there exists a noticeable gap in the discourse regarding Grade R teachers' employment of science process skills for effective teaching. The prevailing focus tends to concentrate on the science process skills of early primary school teachers (Kazeni, 2021; Stears et al., 2019), with limited attention given to how the teachers engage these skills to facilitate the grasping of content knowledge by the learners. Consequently, it becomes crucial to delve into the experiences of Grade R teachers in developing science process skills in their teaching of science concepts, especially in Lesotho where such a phenomenon has not been explored. The accompanying aim is to contribute valuable insights to the existing body of literature. To guide this study, the following research questions have been expressed:

- a) What is the understanding of science process skills by Grade R teachers?
- b) How do Grade R teachers engage in science process skills when teaching science concepts?

Theoretical Framework

This study engaged social constructive theory developed by Vygotsky (1978) as a lens to explore the experiences of Grade R teachers when engaging science process skills in the teaching of science concepts. Vygotsky (1978) argued that "[e]very function in the child's cultural development appears twice: first, on the social level and, later on, on the individual level" (p. 57). This means that learners construct interpersonal knowledge of concepts through meanings and structures promoted by their peers or teachers. In that way, they are motivated to complete tasks in a meaningful and constructive way. During teaching and learning, teachers' knowledge is transferred to learners when learners first conceptualize what should

be known. They relate new knowledge to the previously acquired knowledge, and then internalize, store, and socially mediate it. They do that through the teacher posing questions or helping them to construct meaning and solve problems. This theory guided us to observe and ask questions that elicited data on the experiences of teachers when engaging science process skills for their learners to understand the concepts of floating and sinking.

Literature

The literature review in this study is organized based on the teaching of science and science process skills taught in ECE.

Development of Science process Skills in Early Childhood

The development of science process skills is essential for understanding science concepts in ECE (Mulyeni et al., 2019). The skills have been demonstrated to be effective in enhancing learners' learning of scientific approaches (Dilek et al., 2020). This suggests that active engagement of learners in science process skills such as observation, classification, and inference contributes significantly to their science understanding. Sutiani (2021) emphasized that when science process skills are effectively taught in a well-prepared science environment, that establishes the groundwork for young learners to acquire scientific knowledge, content, and skills.

Engagement of these science process skills in different contexts of the world has yielded positive results, while some limitations have also been observed in certain areas. For illustration, in Zimbabwe, Pakombwele and Tsakeni (2022) found that Early Childhood Development (ECD) teachers were familiar with science process skills, including observation, classification, communication, measurement, prediction, comparing, and inference. They also concluded that the most effective way to teach science process skills is through child-centered methods, including explorations, play, experiments, and guided discovery. These approaches foster active participation among learners.

In the context of preschool education in Türkiye, Kuru and Akman (2017) indicated that the teaching of science plays a crucial role in imparting to learners science skills that are pertinent for advancing the economic growth of the country. Accordingly, students undergo instruction in science process skills to enable them to proficiently predict, discuss, describe, explain, and evaluate information embedded within science content. Likewise, in Nigeria, science holds a pivotal position as a subject integral to industrial development, and the instruction of science skills serves as a means of providing young learners with pertinent science knowledge, content, and skills essential for the demands of the twenty-first century (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). In addition, in Indonesia, Mulyeni et al. (2019) observed a positive outcome following the implementation of an inquiry-based approach as an intervention to enhance fundamental science process skills among second graders when learning science concepts.

However, South African studies by Stears et al. (2019) and Kazeni (2021) scrutinized the comprehension of science concepts and science process skills among early primary school teachers. The findings indicate that the teachers under investigation demonstrated limited knowledge in these domains. The teaching of science in ECD classrooms is undeniably significant. Therefore, it becomes crucial to explore the engagement of science process skills in the teaching of science concepts in the Grade R classes of Lesotho with a focus on the concepts of floating and sinking, which have not been explored by previous studies.

Science Process Skills in the Early Years of Schooling

Science process skills encompass both physical and mental abilities that involve collecting and organizing information in various ways (Mulyeni et al., 2019). These skills are applied in predicting, explaining phenomena, and solving problems (Naudé & Meier, 2020). They play a crucial role in processing new information during concrete learning, facilitating the construction of new concepts and a deeper understanding of science (Pratamawati, 2022). They mirror the techniques employed by scientists in their research endeavors (Karademir et al., 2019; Naudé & Meier, 2020).

Lintle MARAISANE et al.

There are two distinct categories of science process skills: basic processes and integrated processes (Mulyeni et al., 2019). Basic science process skills include observation, classification, measurement, inference, prediction, and communication (Naudé & Meier, 2020). On the other hand, integrated science process skills involve tasks such as identifying and controlling variables, formulating and testing hypotheses, interpreting data, defining operationally, experimenting, and constructing models (Karademir et al., 2019). The focus of this study is on basic skills only because they form a base for the early learning of science concepts. The approach to teaching science using science process skills to actively involve young learners is important because retention of content and interest to learn will be achieved (Kazeni, 2021). However, it should be kept in mind that skills utilized in embarking on the activities should respond to inquiry-based learning and play-based activities to encourage exploration and discovery.

Method

Based on the case study design, this study followed a qualitative approach to understand Grade R teachers' views and experiences in their engagement of science process skills in teaching the concepts of floating and sinking. This design is supported by the interpretive paradigm because data were generated from participating teachers in their respective schools (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Each participant's explanation of science process skills, the application of the skills in teaching and learning, and the enhancement of learners' understanding helped to explain their understanding and knowledge of skills. Henceforth, the design was adopted.

To address issues of transparency, clarity, and reliability, several strategies were employed. Triangulation, which involves using multiple data collection sources, increased the rigor and trustworthiness of the research findings (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). This included interviews, observations, and lesson plan analysis to ensure consistency and reliability. Another strategy to build credibility was member checking, a powerful tool that validates the accuracy of the data and fosters a collaborative relationship between the researcher and the participants (Cohen et al., 2018). This process allowed participants to clarify or expand on their experiences, enhancing the richness and depth of the data. Peer debriefing was also used to enhance the credibility of this research (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). This study is derived from a larger project and was guided by experts who evaluated the research process and findings to ensure due diligence and rigor.

Participants

The study population comprised early childhood teachers who had obtained a Certificate in Early Childhood Education. Four Grade R teachers from four different schools were purposefully chosen, guided by the notion that their attributes aligned with the desired data (Cohen et al., 2018). To illustrate, these participants actively engaged in teaching Grade R learners within schools situated in the Maseru district of Lesotho. Additionally, the selection criteria included teachers with more than five years of experience, as guided by Teffo (2020), who posited that experienced teachers possess a wealth of content knowledge. Moreover, Barenthien et al. (2020) asserted that a teaching certificate obtained from a teaching college equips educators with the necessary curriculum content for effective teaching. This reinforces the rationale for specifically focusing on Grade R teachers with this qualification, underlining their preparedness to handle the curriculum demands in the context of ECE. Participants' names were not used throughout this research; rather, pseudonyms were used to conceal their identities.

Data Collection

Semi-structured interviews were employed to elicit comprehensive insights from participants. Conducted on a one-on-one basis, these interviews were designed to extract specific information from participants regarding their understanding of science process skills engaged when teaching the concepts of floating and sinking. Each interview had an approximate duration of 30 minutes. Planned interview schedules facilitated focused questioning, enabling the researcher to actively listen to responses and make appropriate field notes. Additionally, permission was obtained to audio record the interviews, aligning

Engagement of science process skills for teaching science concepts...

with ethical considerations (Creswell & Creswell, 2018), thereby capturing participants' perspectives with fidelity.

Observation served as another valuable instrument for data generation. Participants were observed and their lessons were recorded in their respective classrooms while teaching learners the concepts of floating and sinking. Attention was on discerning how participants employed science process skills to convey content effectively. To achieve this, an observation grid was prepared, allowing systematic commentary on each process skill employed during instruction. The use of observation served a dual purpose. Not only did it provide a method for triangulating participants' views, but it also facilitated an examination of their classroom practices in terms of fostering the development of science process skills in teaching the concepts of floating and sinking.

Lesson plans as the third source of were used to enhance the reliability of the study. This was achieved by utilizing Creswell and Creswell's (2018) perspective on documents as a "stable" and manipulable source of information. In conjunction with observation and interviews, the analysis focused on participating Grade R teachers' lesson plans, particularly those covering the concepts of floating and sinking. The examination specifically assessed planned activities to determine the incorporation of science process skills. Permission was sought to photocopy participants' lesson plans for reference during home-based data analysis. This methodological approach enriched the study by offering a holistic perspective that combined participants' insight with their practical application in the teaching environment.

Data Analysis

The analysis of the data commenced with a comprehensive analysis of the audio-recorded interviews, observation grids, and lesson plans. Initially, we immersed ourselves in the data by actively listening to the audio recordings and thoroughly reviewing the written documents. This approach, aligned with Coolican's (2017) guidance, underscores the significance of gaining a profound understanding of participants' statements and actions. Subsequently, the data underwent transcription to facilitate thematic analysis, employing an inductive approach. Multiple readings were conducted to identify recurring themes across data from all participants. These emergent themes were then organized based on conceptual similarities, and each cluster received a distinct code. The manual coding process involved a meticulous review of written documents using highlighters and pens.

After the initial coding, these codes were structured into coherent themes that directly addressed the research questions. A rigorous review and refinement process ensured that these themes aligned seamlessly with the study objectives. This meticulous procedure resulted in a descriptive and narrative synthesis of the data, enabling the formulation of informed conclusions and interpretations.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical considerations were meticulously adhered to throughout the study. Initially, ethical clearance was obtained from the university of the Free State Ethics Committee overseeing the research. Subsequently, approvals were sought from both the Ministry of Education and Training (MoET), Lesotho and the respective school principals, securing the necessary permissions to carry out the study within their educational institutions. In the recruitment process, participants were invited to participate voluntarily, ensuring their informed consent. They were explicitly assured of their right to confidentiality, anonymity, and the freedom to withdraw from the study at any point if they chose to do so. To safeguard participants' identities, pseudonyms were employed, concealing their real names and enhancing the overall confidentiality of the research. This multifaceted approach underscores the commitment to ethical integrity, establishing a foundation of trust and respect for the participants involved in the study.

Results

This section presents the findings on how participants explained and engaged science process skills in their teaching of floating and sinking concepts to their preschool learners. The following responses were gathered from the participants and are presented under the themes that were generated from the research

Lintle MARAISANE et al.

questions.

Theme 1: Understanding of Science Process Skills

Participants were asked to explain their knowledge of skills involved in learning science. From their responses, it was gathered that they had little understanding of science skills. Two of the participants seemed to understand the word *skill*; however, their explanations were not relevant to science skills. Their explanations are captured as follows:

Skills are things that you can do. In language, we talk about reading and writing. As for science process skills – I do not know (laughing). (Pinki)

This participant seemed to know skills related to language, but not science process skills. Another participant, Thando, responded: "*Science process skills are when you are good at science*." She regarded being good at science as science process skills. The other two participants lamented not knowing the skills involved in science. Pula said that she had no idea about skills in science learning, as follows: "*Process skills? I have no idea*!". Sbaby said that she had never heard of science skills.

The researcher had to probe more based on the common concepts dealt with in Grade R, which are floating and sinking. The following question was posed: *If you are to teach floating and sinking concepts, what skills will you engage?* Participants responded as follows:

As they are learning, they will gain communication skills because they will be communicating; maybe they will get new words from that, they are going to observe, they are going to experiment. (Pula)

Oh, they will be observing, right? Then when we are done with their activities, we sit down and discuss things that float and sink. (Pinki)

Pula mentioned communication and observation skills. Pinki mentioned observation skills only. However, it could be said that Pinki knew what she would discuss with learners, which is communication, even though she did not specifically mention it as one of the science process skills. Sbaby did not mention any skill: *"The skill that they will have will be... Eh."*

Thando said this: "I think it will be why things float and why some things will sink. The other one will sink because of its weight or the material it was made of, like metal." Thando's response was not relevant to the skills. This indicates that she had no idea what science skills were. The researcher explained to the participants what skills meant in science learning and provided examples of skills that could be used in the teaching of science.

Theme 2: Engagement of Science Process Skills

This section sought to explore, through lesson plan analysis and classroom observation, how participants in this study engaged in science process skills in their teaching. Figure 1 presents a photograph of Sbaby's lesson activities that show the science process skills she planned to engage with learners.

converties in steps collect materials that are going to float and sink. 2. They will classify the sorveir objects and the floating objects. 3. They will predict what is oping to 4. They will plamake experiment about sinking and floating. The will play a game pretenting to be in , surmning drowning

Figure 1. Sbaby's lesson activities

In Sbaby's planned lesson activities, she wrote that learners would classify objects between those that would float and those that would sink. Prediction is another skill she would expose learners to by

asking them to predict what will happen to the objects. This was followed by classification. Kuru and Akman (2017) suggested, however, that after prediction, learners could be asked to observe and make conclusions, which did not happen in this case. This indicates that Sbaby was not clear on how one skill could add more knowledge to the preceding activity. Figure 2 presents a photograph of Pinki's lesson activities that show the science process skills she planned to cover.



Figure 2. Pinki's lesson activities

Pinki asked learners to share their ideas on the objects that would float and those that would sink. The communication skill was employed in the activity. Having been presented with various objects, the learners were asked to predict which ones would float and sink in water. By identifying floating and sinking objects, the learners utilized the science process skill of observation through their sense of sight, and, lastly, confirmed their predictions. Science process skills, such as observation and communication, are highlighted in this lesson. We can appreciate that the participant knew what to do with learners in the classroom, although the knowledge of how to properly instill skills in learners was not appropriately administered, as the learners were told what to do by the participating teacher. This finding does not align with Sutiani's (2021) view that learners should take an active role in learning science concepts. Figure 3 presents a photograph of Thando's lesson activities.

rescutation he hearners teels or list the names of sinning in steps and floating objects if they know Show the pupils a concret objects. mixed the materials today and osn them to Ask them short question over presentation to differentiate it.

Figure 3. Thando's lesson activities

Thando's lesson presentation does not explicitly show science process skills that are targeted at young learners. This affords an explanation of why she could not provide an answer when asked about the science process skills she wanted to develop in learners. Only the first activity was related to floating and sinking, as learners were expected to list the floating and sinking objects they knew, which, we could relate to communication. Pratamawati (2022) asserts that science process skills contribute to the construction and deeper understanding of science concepts. However, Thando's planning shows activities that do not engage skills that could contribute to a deeper understanding of the concepts. Figure 4 illustrates how Pula planned her lesson activities.

Lintle MARAISANE et al.

Presentation Life Skill Learners tell whether a Stone Sink or float earners tell whether a paper float or shik earners but puctures of objects which Shik in way earners cut pictures of objects which float in water arners paste Sinking objects one sible and object other Sudle loating Count Sikking objects and floating arner 51 objects.

Figure 4. Pula's lesson activities

Pula planned to ask her learners to tell, cut, and paste objects, thus requiring them to communicate by sharing their work with their classmates. In addition, when learners count sinking and floating objects, they also communicate. Even though Pula did not specify and write the science process skills that the learners were to engage with, it seems that they were to use communication (Karademir et al., 2019).

In all the lessons observed, participants arranged tables and materials for the learners to do experiments on objects that would float and sink. Most of the participants facilitated experiments in which learners were asked to predict and classify objects according to those that would float and sink. They asked the learners to observe the phenomenon about which they had made a prediction and to observe the actual results. This corroborates the idea that science process skills are not taught in isolation (Pakombwele & Tsakeni, 2022). For illustration, Pinki asked the learners: "*Come and see which objects float and which ones sink in water.*" Learners moved closer to the experiment table to observe. She added: "*Which one do you think will float and which one will sink?*" The learners responded to her question by indicating the ones that would float and the ones that would sink. Lastly, she said: "*Classify them according to the ones that sink and the ones that float in water.*"

These instructions show that the participating teachers used science process skills in their teaching. However, they did not engage learners in a hands-on way, as is effective in the facilitation of science learning (Mulyeni et al., 2019). Vygotsky (1978) argues that learners construct their knowledge through the guidance of the teacher was minimal. None of the participants engaged learners in measuring and inferring. Instead, they told them that objects float because they are light and sink because they are heavy. In none of the classrooms observed did the learners measure the objects by comparing them even with arbitrary units. Pakombwele and Tsakeni (2022) argued that inference is one of the most fundamental skills taught to ECD learners. When given a chance to do so, learners will use their acquired knowledge to conclude the behavior of the object. Even though communication skills were used in all the classrooms, Sbaby's lesson stood out above the others because she asked learners to draw objects that float and sink and then asked them to interpret their drawings. We could see a lot of communication, active participation, and sharing of knowledge in that class.

Discussion

The key finding of this study indicates that the engagement of science process skills was strongly influenced by the participants' limited understanding of science process skills and floating and sinking concepts. The major finding of the first theme indicates that the participants had minimal or no knowledge of science process skills. This finding is similar to that mentioned by Kazeni (2021) and Stears et al. (2019), even though their studies were not focused on Grade R teachers. It shows that teachers are not familiar with the basic science process skills (Karademir et al., 2019; Mostert, 2018; Yildiz & Guler Yildiz, 2021). Participants were not aware that science process skills are developed in the teaching of science concepts. This is worrying because the sole purpose of Grade R is to prepare learners for subsequent grades. This

finding implies that learners are not active participants in their learning but are rather told facts about the concepts prescribed in their curriculum.

The second theme indicates that participants in this study had inadequate knowledge of how to engage the basic science process skills, as measurement and inference were not mentioned at all. Again, even the skills that were mentioned were not clearly explained as to how they could be engaged in the teaching of science concepts. Learners were not given opportunities by their teachers to observe using **all** their senses, a finding similar to the one indicated by Mulyeni et al. (2018). This could imply that teachers know some of the process skills but do not know how to execute them. Notably, little knowledge of science process skills could account for poor performance and decreased motivation for learners to participate in science subjects.

There are strategies to address the limited knowledge of science process skills among teachers. One effective approach is to organse professional development workshops that focus specifically on these skills and teaching strategies. Teachers can also form learning communities where they can share their expertise in teaching science concepts using science process skills. In these communities, less experienced teachers can benefit from mentorship by seasoned educators who are proficient in science education and process skills. Additionally, the teacher training curriculum should be enhanced to ensure that teachers are equipped with the necessary knowledge and tools to effectively teach these skills. Lastly, the development and distribution of interactive teaching resources, such as lesson plans, activity guides, and visual aids, that focus on science process skills can help teachers engage learners in science concepts through hands-on activities more effectively.

Conclusion

The significance of teachers' expertise and instructional expertise in imparting science process skills to Grade R learners is highlighted by their paramount role in fostering the development of these essential skills. Teachers become key contributors to the overall growth and understanding of science concepts in young minds during their formative years. This role is particularly important in the context of Grade R, where foundational learning experiences lay the groundwork for future academic success. Integrating science process skills at this early stage not only aligns with the objectives of integrating STEM subjects into the ECE curriculum and national educational goals but also recognizes the importance of instilling a scientific mindset from a young age. It prepares children to engage with the world through the lens of inquiry, curiosity, and problem-solving skills that are increasingly vital in an evolving and complex global landscape.

In essence, the conclusion drawn highlights the transformative potential that teachers hold in shaping the trajectory of a child's scientific understanding and engagement. The emphasis on science process skills in ECE is not merely an educational strategy; it is a holistic approach to nurturing well-rounded individuals equipped with the skills needed to navigate an increasingly complex world. As educators continue to play a central role in this developmental journey, the recognition and enhancement of their expertise become paramount for the successful integration of science education in ECD settings. By exploring the practices of early childhood teachers, this research contributes valuable insights into effective pedagogical approaches for teaching foundational science concepts, ultimately enhancing the quality of early science education. When educators design and implement lessons that actively engage students in using these science process skills, they are employing a pedagogical approach that emphasizes hands-on, experiential learning. This approach helps students develop a deeper understanding of scientific concepts and fosters critical thinking and problem-solving abilities. Therefore, integrating science process skills into teaching is indeed a pedagogical strategy aimed at enhancing science education.

Recommendations

This study recommends continuous development programs for early childhood teachers to capacitate them with science process skills and content needed in this setting. Capacitating them can be achieved by focusing on the content covered in the ECE curriculum to ensure a sufficient depth of

Lintle MARAISANE et al.

knowledge for effective instruction. It is important to acknowledge the limited generalizability of the results of this study due to the small sample size, making it suitable as a foundational exploration. Consequently, this study can serve as a valuable starting point for a more extensive investigation. While the findings may not be universally applicable, they contribute valuable insights to the existing literature on science process skills in ECE. In addition, the study was limited in that it involved only four Grade R teachers, which may impede the generalization of the findings. Therefore, we propose that this study be extended to a larger scale by conducting a subsequent quantitative study to further explore the science process skills taught in ECD classes.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: We would like to acknowledge the participants and the language editor who contributed their time and efforts to the development of this research paper.

Authors' contributions: L. Maraisane carried out a research study by organizing, collecting, analyzing, and interpreting data as the principal investigator in her PhD research. L Jita and T. Jita provided critical guidance in writing up the research as well as providing technical guidance for all aspects of writing the article and reviewing and editing it. The final version of the manuscript was approved by all the authors.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: This research paper is derived from a PhD study that was supported by the South African National Road Agency Limited (SANRAL) chair of the University of the Free State.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Ethical clearance to embark on the study was approved by the University of the Free State Ethics Committee. The ethics number is NO.UFS-HSD 2017/1015 and the school principals to conduct the study within their educational institutions. Lastly, participants' consent to be involved in the study was prioritized, with the understanding that they could withdraw whenever they wished. They were also made aware that they would be protected from harm.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Mesut Saçkes through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

Barenthien, J., Oppermann, E., Anders, Y., & Steffensky, M. (2020). Preschool teachers' learning opportunities in their initial teacher education and in-service professional development: Do they have an influence on preschool teachers' science-specific professional knowledge and motivation? *International Journal of Science Education*, 42(5), 744–763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2020.1727586</u>

Cohen, L. M., Manion, L., & Morrison, L. K. (2018). Research methods in education (8th ed.). Routledge

Coolican, H. (2017). Research methods and statistics in psychology. Psychology Press.

Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). Sage

- Dilek, H., Taşdemir, A., Konca, A. S., & Baltaci, S. (2020). Preschool children's science motivation and process skills during inquirybased STEM activities. *Journal of Education in Science Environment and Health*, 6(2), 92–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.21891/jeseh.673901</u>
- Karademir, A., Kartal, A., & Türk, C. (2019). Science education activities in Turkey: A qualitative comparison study in preschool classrooms. Early Childhood Education Journal, 48(3), 285–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-019-00981-1</u>
- Kazeni, M. (2021). Early primary school teachers' perceptions about science and science process skills: A case study in South Africa [Conference session]. International Conference on Education and New Developments (pp. 18–22). <u>https://doi.org/10.36315/2021end004</u>
- Kuru, N., & Akman B. (2017). Examining the science process skills of pre-schoolers with regards to teachers' and children' variables. Education and Science, 42(190), 269–279. <u>https://doi.org/10.15390/EB.2017.6433</u>

Leedy, P., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). The nature and tools of research. Practical research: Planning and design, 1(7), 1–26.

Lesotho MoET. (2021). Curriculum guide. MoET.

Limatahu, I., Suyatno, Wasis, & Prahani, B. K. (2018). The effectiveness of CCDSR learning model to improve skills of creating lesson plan and worksheet science process skill (SPS) for pre-service physics teacher. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 997, 012032. Engagement of science process skills for teaching science concepts...

Mostert, R. (2018). Teachers' awareness of Grade R children's science process skills [Master's dissertation]. University of Johannesburg.

Mulyeni, T., Jamaris, M., & Supriyati, Y. (2019). Improving basic science process skills through inquiry-based approach in learning science for early elementary students. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, *16*(2), 187–201.

Naudé, M., & Meier, C. (Eds.). (2020). Teaching life skills in the Foundation Phase. Van Schaik. Pretoria.

- Pakombwele, A., & Tsakeni, M. (2022). The teaching of science process skills in early childhood development classrooms. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 10(4), 273–280. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2022.100402
- Pratamawati, A. (2022). Early childhood science learning with models learning children learning in science. *Edumaspul: Jurnal Pendidikan*, 6(2), 2435–2444. <u>https://doi.org/10.33487/edumaspul.v6i2.4679</u>
- Roberts, P. (2021). Follow the leader: Child-led inquiries to develop science learning of young children. *Journal of Childhood, Education* & Society, 2(3), 303–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.37291/2717638X.202123120</u>
- Saçkes, M. (2014). How often do early childhood teachers teach science concepts? Determinants of the frequency of science teaching in kindergarten. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 22(2), 169–184. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2012.704305
- Schmitt, L., Weber, A., Venitz, L., & Leuchter, M. (2023). Preschool teachers' pedagogical content knowledge predicts willingness to scaffold early science learning. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93(4), 1034–1052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12618</u>
- Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, 15(2), 4–14. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X015002004
- South Africa DBE. (2011). National curriculum statement (NCS): Life skills for the foundation phase grades R 3. Pretoria: Department of Basic Education.
- Stears, M., James, A. A., & Beni, S. (2019). Teaching science in the foundation phase: Where are the gaps and how are they accounted for? *South African Journal of Childhood Education*, 9(1), a759. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/sajce.v9i1.759</u>
- Sutiani, A. (2021). Implementation of an inquiry learning model with science literacy to improve student critical thinking skills. International Journal of Instruction, 14(2), 117–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2021.1428a</u>
- Teffo, M. P. (2020). The influence of experience on teacher topic-specific PCK (TSPCK) on chemical equilibrium [Master Thesis]. University of Witwatersrand.
- Trundle, K. C., & Sackes, M. (2021). Teaching and learning science during the early years. *Journal of Childhood, Education & Society*, 2(3), 217–219. https://doi.org/10.37291/2717638x.202123159

Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). Mind in society. Harvard University Press.

Yildiz, C., & Guler Yildiz, T. (2021). Exploring the relationship between creative thinking and scientific process skills of preschool children. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 39, 100795. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/[.TSC.2021.100795</u>

From IT to I-It: Digitalization, datafication, automation, and the teacher-student relationship

Pekka Mertala¹

Abstract: This conceptual article theorises the tensioned interplay between digitalization, datafication and automation and subjectness in education by asking what intensifying datafication and automation means for teacher–student relationships and how we understand and approach education. Theoretically, the paper draws on Buber's ideas of the dialogical I–Thou and objectified I–It as the key forms of human relationships. The core argument is that increasing datafication and automation steers the teacher–student relationship towards an objectified I–It relationship instead of the dialogical I–Thou relationship, which Buber (and others such as Biesta, another main influencer of the present paper) saw as the ideal. Literature-informed examples of various forms of education and automation are provided to support and concretise the arguments.

Article History

Received: 06 February 2024 Accepted: 09 April 2024

Keywords

Automation; Datafication; Digitalization; Education; Relationality

Introduction

The development and affordances of predictive analytics may impact how teachers and other educational actors think about and teach students and, more broadly, how society understands education. (Jarke and Magilchrist, 2021, p. 1)

The above citation neatly captures one of the most important educational questions of our era: what intensifying digitalization, datafication, and automation means for teacher–student relationships and the way we understand and approach education. The digitalization (of education) refers to two things: the use of digital resources in teaching and the digitalization of the content and goals of education (e.g., the inclusion of computing education in the curricula) (Mertala, 2020). Datafication, in turn, refers to the transformation of social action (e.g., learning) into (online) quantified data allowing for real-time tracking and predictive analysis (Mayer-Schonberger & Cuckier, 2013). Lastly, by automation, I mean the replacement of human labor with independently operating digital systems (Merriam-Webster, n.d.), one concrete example of which is automatic attendance monitoring (Selwyn, 2022).

These topics have been pondered by others as well. Selwyn et al. (2021) expressed their concern that the data-driven automation of education presumes the eradication of the subject, while Sefton-Green and Pangrazio (2022) have written about the death of the educative subject. The core argument in these writings has been that the logics of datafication and automation are at odds with the idea of subjectness— "the arrival of the 'I' in the world as subject of its own life, not as object of forces or desires from elsewhere" (Biesta, 2022, p. vii). As Selwyn et al. (2021) summarised:

Actual subjects can behave in inconsistent, irrational or even resistant ways that threaten systems of control, management and governance. In contrast, the automated subject is 'perfectly self-identical'—therefore fitting neatly within the constraints of datafied predictability. (2021, n.p.)

This tension appears to be especially extreme in childhood education (preschool, primary school, and secondary school). O'Neill et al. pointed out that simply due to physical growth and development, "the child as an indeterminable figure refuses to be captured in ways desired by the biometric technicians and apparatuses" (2022, p. 8). Pierlejewski (2020), drawing on psychoanalytical theories, expands this view

¹ University of Jyväskylä, Faculty of Education and Psychology, Department of Teacher Education, Jyväskylä, Finland, e-mail: <u>pekka.o.mertala@jyu.fi</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3835-0220</u>

Pekka MERTALA

to children's ways of being, as she argues that under datafication the "chaotic id-driven child must be suppressed and replaced with measurable, ordered, predictable data" (Pierlejewski, 2020, p. 471).

In this article, I theorise the tensioned interplay between digitalization, datafication, automation, and subjectness in education. To complement the works cited above, I draw on the relational view of subjectness, especially Buber's ideas about philosophy of dialogue, which is commonly regarded as a fundamental source within relational theory (Aspelin, 2020).² In his seminal work *I and Thou* (1937), Buber established a taxonomy and typology to describe the kinds of relationships into which a human being can enter. The main ideas in Buber's thinking was that people relate to the world and to each other in two different ways. In the I–Thou relationship, subjects meet one another in their authentic existence, without any objectification of one another. In the I–It relationship, the other is objectified as a mental representation, created and sustained by the individual mind. As Karjalainen summarised, the I–It relationship is "characterized by objectification and categorization, such as classifying things and human beings based on advance information and previous experiences" (2021, p. 37).

Datafication and automation bring new perspectives to Buber's ideas, especially to the I–It relationship. Today, the representation of a student is no longer created and possessed (only) in the mind of an individual (here, the teacher), but also through and as data points that are (automatically) analysed and visualised via different (often interlinked) platforms. Through these processes a "data doppelganger" (Pierlejewski, 2020) is created from/for each student.

My argument is that increasing datafication and automation steers the teacher–student relationship towards an objectified I–It relationship instead of the dialogical I–Thou relationship, which Buber (e.g., 1967) (and others such as Biesta (e.g., 2016), another main influencer of the present paper) saw as the ideal. In the sections below, I will engage in dialogue between the works of Buber and Biesta, critical research on the digitalization, datafication, and automation of education, and material from edtech companies to provide a rich and contextualised account of the risks to relational subjectness that emerge in and through teacher–student relationships caused by the datafication and automation of education. To ensure the article appeals to a broad readership, it focuses on concrete cases involving software applications (e.g., ClassDojo, Eduten Playground, learning management systems) used at various stages of childhood education, including preschool and the early years of primary education.

I approach digitalization, datafication, and automation (in and of education) as being in a nested relationship with each other. The rapid development of digital technologies has enabled intensive data collection in schools, which has further provided the basis for automated practices such as personalised instruction based on predictive learning analytics. A similar nested relationship is present in the images of children/students: Put differently, I will show how the I–It dominant view of children already existed in the pre-datafication and -automation era of the digitalization of education.

I-Thou and I-It in Education

For Buber (1937), I–Thou was an achievable and perceivable relationship. Some Buber-inspired scholars, however, have approached the I–Thou relationship as an "ethical ideal for authentic life with others in the world" (Charme, 1977, p. 171) rather than as a realistic relationship. Additionally, the unique nature of the educational relationship and the educator's desire to influence the educatee challenge the emergence of I–Thou—a paradox whose existence Buber (1937) also explicitly addressed. As put by Aspelin:

Inevitably, teaching has an instrumental function: one party has the task of influencing another party in order to achieve certain goals, by using certain means and certain content. This function, and the relational structure that is attached to it, implies an 'I–It' attitude. (2020, p. 7)

Thus, it is worthwhile to ask whether education is only possible as an objectified I–It relationship, to which my answer would be no. First, it needs to be acknowledged that the relationship between I–It and

² The present paper is by no means a definitive or in-depth account of Buber's educational philosophy. Those interested in looking more deeply at his thinking might find the works by Aspelin (2020) and Karjalainen (2021), alongside Buber's original publications, worth reading.

I–Thou is not necessarily binary. Perhaps the best way to exemplify the shortcomings of a binary view is to think about what would be an absolute form of I–It. One way to approach this question is to conceptualise an absolute I–It as dehumanization (Haslam, 2006), where other people are objectified by denying their humanness. The most extreme examples of dehumanization are the ways in which "Jews in the Holocaust, Bosnians in the Balkan wars, and Tutsis in Rwanda were dehumanized both during the violence by its perpetrators and beforehand through ideologies that likened the victims to vermin" (Haslam, 2006, p. 253). It is fair to argue that I–It relationships produced by digitalization, datafication, and automation are not comparable with the extreme human rights violations mentioned above. Even though there are rather strict predetermined objectives for what students should become, their humanness is not contested or challenged.

On the other hand, reducing students into data points hardly implies the presence of an I–Thou relationship either. To overcome this issue, I suggest that we imagine I–Thou and I–It as a continuum whose ends are marked by the absolute forms of the two relationships. Buber (1967) noted that while I–Thou is an achievable relationship, it is not a permanent stage but happens in fleeting moments (see also Aspelin, 2020; Karjalainen, 2021). As a result, the vast majority of our interactions with other people happen in the "gray area" in which there is always some It in Thou and vice versa.

Formal Education as Instruction and Pedagogy

When we discuss digitalization, datafication, and automation in and of education, it is important to consider what we understand by education. According to Biesta and Miedema (2002), education can be understood as instruction and pedagogy. The instructional view emphasises measurable and testable outcomes, knowledge, skills, and a transmissional approach to education (Biesta and Miedema, 2002), whereas pedagogy refers to the "idea of a special, affectively charged relationship between teacher and child" (Friesen, 2017, pp. 733–734) —a loving attitude from the adult, as pedagogue, directed toward the physical security and social, emotional, and educational wellbeing of the child as student (Hatt, 2005). Indeed, teachers working with students of various ages have argued that their main task is to educate the "whole child," that is, promote the holistic wellbeing of students, including their social, emotional, and physical needs (e.g., Biesta & Miedema, 2002; Lasky, 2005).

Instruction and pedagogy are not mutually exclusive. Instead, formal education typically aims to provide students with observable and measurable skills, competences, and traits, as well as more ambiguous qualities. In more recent work, Biesta (2020) distinguished three dimensions of education: qualification, socialization, and subjectification. Qualification refers to society's need to qualify children for future professions. Socialization, in turn, takes place when young people are introduced to an existing societal order (Biesta, 2020). While these two dimensions have important purposes, to respect students' individuality, they need to be complemented with subjectification, which is about "our freedom as human beings—how I exist as the subject of my own life, not as the object of what other people want from [and of] me" (Biesta, 2020, p. 93).

Figure 1 summarizes my interpretation of the relationship between Biesta's and Buber's ideas. Qualification and socialization are located closer to the I–It end, as they both rely heavily on predetermined objectives of what children should become. Subjectification, in contrast, is placed closer to the I–Thou end of the continuum, emphasizing students' freedom to be and become their unique selves.



Figure 1. I-It and I-Thou as sliding scale

The relationship between pedagogy and instruction is not balanced, but the instructional view is the

Pekka MERTALA

dominant one in the contemporary educational sphere. At the level of educational praxis, education as instruction is present as tests, assessments, and rankings. Traditionally, tests were held periodically, for example at the end of a teaching term. The digitalization of education, however, has inserted the logic of testing into the realm of everyday schooling. One—perhaps the most—profound example is the use of learning analytics. Let us take ViLLE, a learning analytics platform used in roughly half of Finnish schools (Mertala, 2021) as an example. The designers state that the software "automatically recognises students' learning misconceptions in mathematics based on the information collected from their submissions" (Learning Analytics, 2019, n.p.). They also refer to a study which suggests that the algorithms of ViLLE predict learning misconceptions as effectively as a widely-used pen and paper test (Laakso et al., 2018). According to the website, the only difference is that "automatic analytics enables real-time viewing of information without a separate test" (Learning Analytics, 2019, n.p.). In other words, students are unconsciously taking a test every time they use the application

Different views on education also entail different understandings of what and who students are. In the instruction-oriented view, students are seen primarily as adults in the making whose education is largely determined by the needs of working life (qualification) and the existing norms and values of society (socialization). Both Buber (1968) and Biesta (2016) express their dissatisfaction with education which aims to train students to meet certain predefined standards by operating within specific set rules outlined by others. Biesta argues that education "isn't a mechanism and shouldn't be turned into one" (Biesta, 2016, p. 4); nor should it be seen in terms of a single "truth about what the child is and what the child must become" (Winter, 2011, p. 538). Buber, in turn, warns against education in which influencing the lives of others has become "a function and a law" (1968, p. 100). In the pedagogy-oriented view, students are primarily seen as unique subjects with no fixed and predetermined future (subjectification). In Buberian terms, the instructional teacher–student relationship can be approached as an I–It relationship. In the following sections, I present examples of the ways in which data-driven and automated educational practices are built on and work in favor of the I–It-oriented relationality.

The Image of The Child in the Digital Age

The distress about the eradication or slow death of subjectness is mainly seen as the result of datafication and automation of education (see Jarke & Magilchrist, 2021; Sefton-Green & Pangrazio, 2022; Selwyn et al., 2021). However, it is important to acknowledge that the roots of an objectified image of children lie deeper in the digitalization of education. Indeed, children and technology appear to be a combination that evokes rather spectacular and extreme imaginaries. Selwyn (2003) analysed how children and technology were represented in media and political discourses from 1980 to 2001 and identified six themes: 1) the "natural" child computer user; 2) the "successful" child computer user; 3) the "adult" child computer user; 4) the "dangerous" child computer user; 5) the "victimized" child computer user; and 6) the "needy" child computer user, each of which portrayed children in a decontextualized manner, regardless whether the tone was optimistic or pessimistic.

Had the data been collected a little later, the "natural child computer user" would have most likely been the dominant theme. In October 2001, Prensky published an opinion piece entitled "Digital natives, Digital Immigrants," in which he claimed that "our students today are all 'native speakers' of the digital language of computers, video games and the Internet" (2001, p. 1) because digital games, the Internet, and mobile phones had been an integral part of their lives since birth. While there were no data or research studies to back up these claims, Prensky's evocative article became a massive influencer for educational practice, policy, and research (Kirschner & De Bruyckere, 2017; Mertala et al., 2024). The fact that the term "digital native" comes up with more than 3 billion results in a Google search gives an idea of the ubiquity of the concept.

While the idea of children "being naturally adept user[s] of technology" (Selwyn, 2003, p. 355) dates back to the 1980s, Prensky's (2001) article can be seen as a catalyst for establishing the idea of a digital generation. Prensky, for example, argued that due to digitalization, "today's students think and process information fundamentally differently from their predecessors" (2001, p. 1) and therefore called for a major reformation of formal education. Looking back, one major theme in pro-digitalization discourses has been that digitalization builds bridges between formal education and students' lifeworld outside the school: The use of digital technologies makes school more relatable for students and enables them to deploy their technological proficiency for learning curricular content (e.g., Yu & Couldry, 2022; Mertala, 2020).

On a superficial level, the logic would appear to promote I–Thou relationships as the content and methods of education are reformed to meet the needs of the new "digital generation." The problem, however, is that such a generation exists only in our imagination (see Kirschner and De Bruyckere, 2017 and Mertala et al., 2024 for a review of the lack of empirical evidence). To draw on Buber's concepts, a "digital native" (or any other reductive generational label) is an "It" —a categorised and objectified image of the other (see Karjalainen, 2021). As Buber (e.g., 1968) and Biesta (e.g., 2014) noted, such a starting point has undesirable consequences for education and teacher–student relationships—a view supported by research: Mertala (2020) studied digitalization processes in Finnish basic education and found that if the students did not fit the alleged image, their views and feedback regarding the digitalization of school practices were not taken seriously. Instead, students' critical reactions were deemed unintelligible or considered to be caused by unrealistically high expectations.

Paradoxical Promises of Personalization

The implicit message of the digital native myth is that all children are the same. The datafication and automation of education, however, appear to follow a different line of thought. The utility of datafication and automation is often backed up with promises of the personalization of teaching and learning, which revolutionises the traditional classroom where all students are taught the same content, in the same ways, at the same pace (Yu & Couldry ,2022; Watters, 2021): The more data we have about students, the more unique learning pathways we can carve out for them. Indeed, the proponents of learning analytics have argued that to be truly personalised and effective, learning analytics should be allowed to include personal information, including online behavior outside the learning management system (LMS), as "such data includes much potential for understanding and optimizing learning processes" (Ifenthaler & Schumacher, 2016, p. 933).

That said, the correspondence between the promises of personalization and the technical "reality" is far from optimal. Many of the technologies used in schools today draw on behavioristic theories, which are—metaphorically speaking—smoke-screened by their use of concepts that do not carry the undesired behaviorist legacy: instead of conditioning, we are just talking about guidance and nudging (see Watters, 2021). One example is an intelligent system: a computer program in which a scenario of how an individual should ideally interact with a learning task is modeled. After the task is completed, the individual's actual performance is compared to this so-called expert model, and the system locates those points where the individual's mental functions have deviated from the ideal. Based on the comparison, the system provides students with feedback that seeks to align their activities with the ideal model (Selwyn, 2019). Put differently, personalization, in such cases, means that there is variation in the pace and the order of the tasks, but—in the optimal situation—each route would lead to the same predefined outcome.

A similar logic is present in LMS, which predict students' performances. Jarke and Magilchrist described the functionalities of one such software, Brightspace Student Success System, by deploying quotations from the company's website:

The 'simplified, interactive reports make risk patterns easier to see', and a 'success index' shows students' predicted grades [...] Instructors can compare 'a struggling student's content usage, grades, and social engagement' 'at-a-glance' in order to 'find the cause faster', with 'interactive winloss charts' that show 'a student's position relative to course expectations'. (2021, p. 7)

As shown in the excerpt, there are explicit course expectations to which each student's performance is compared. If a student's LMS data indicate actual or potential risk (which the software promises to detect "as early as two weeks into a course (Jarke & Magilchrist, 2021, p. 7)), the teacher is alerted to take actions to get the student back on track—that is, to produce LMS data that indicate they are meeting the course

Pekka MERTALA

expectations.

Williamson's (2016) analyses of children's health apps used in schools offer one more relevant example of how digitalization, datafication, and automation work within the logics of predetermined objectives for (health and physical) education. As in an intelligent system, health apps are built around an ideal model of a child, as "these devices classify the child as normal or aberrant, and then generate pedagogic prompts that are intended to change their bodily behaviours to fit ideals about socially fit biocitizenship" (Williamson, 2016, p. 407).

As shown via the examples above, for a machine/software, the child is always It: a malleable object, which needs to be steered towards a predetermined goal. Therefore, the more datafied and automated education is, the more there is It in Thou, including in teacher-student relationships. The cogency of this argument is partly rooted in the history and present of the automation of work, which, throughout its history, has emphasised and increased standardisation, control, efficiency, and speed (Crawford, 2021). While the teacher-student relationship is hardly comparable with that between the employee and the factory/business owner, it would be naive to claim that socio-technological processes work completely differently in educational contexts. On the contrary, the use of digital technology appears to standardise both teachers' and students' work based on top-down predetermined objectives (Daliri-Ngametua et al., 2022), which reflects the global education policy trend emphasizing performance monitoring and accountability (Hardy & Lewis, 2017).

One concrete example of accountability is the way students' performance data are often used as a straightforward indicator of a teacher's performance. If the performance scores are low, the teacher is the one to blame (Daliri-Ngametua et al., 2022) and may even be dismissed if the grades do not meet expectations (O'Neil, 2016). Thus, teachers are compelled to "teach to the test" instead of "teaching for life," to use the old but representative expression about the steering force of standardised testing. The more the teachers are engaged in education as instruction, the less room remains for pedagogy and approaching the whole child—a topic discussed in more detail in the following sections.

A Machine-Readable Whole Child?

One could, of course, argue that there is no conflict between datafication and the whole child approach for at least two reasons. According to the first argument, students' emotional, social, and physical states and developmental traits can be captured and datafied as well. The rationale here is that data technologies are able to capture and "understand" complex phenomena such as health and emotions and thus provide a robust foundation for I–Thou relationships. IBM, for instance, promotes its Watson Element for Education app by stating that it "enables a new level of engagement for teachers by providing a holistic view of each student at their fingertips" (Yu & Couldry, 2022, p. 132).

A glance at contemporary schools suggests that evocative promises like the one cited above are taken seriously, as they appear to make intensive use of data: Covid-19 and periods of distance education have made learning analytics an integral part of education (Beerwinkle, 2021; Mertala, 2021). At the same time, the use of wearables, such as activity wristbands and sports watches, and smartphone-based health/exercise applications has become more and more frequent in physical education (Lupton, 2021), and modern school buildings are equipped with sensors that can capture and react to classrooms' carbon monoxide levels in order to provide students with the optimal conditions for studying (Mertala, 2021). Additionally, a wide range of technologies is used to identify, monitor, and shape students' behavior, emotions, and social skills (Andrejevic & Selwyn, 2020; Manolev et al., 2019).

The second argument is that automation of some educational processes and practices would allow teachers to put more resources into sensitive interaction with their students (Eynon, 2022) -a view well captured in the following extract from the edtech company Eduten's website:

Eduten Playground's exercises are automatically assessed. Instead of never-ending pop quizzes spend more time on providing personal guidance and support to those of your students who need it right now. (EduTen, 2021, n.p.)

Put differently, the automation of instruction and/or routine work, such as the assessment of tasks,

would provide teachers with more time and opportunities to develop genuine relationships with their students. The logic behind this rationale is that some forms of I–It relationships are acceptable because they provide more opportunities for I–Thou relationships to occur.

While both lines of thought seem logical, they contain some severe problems. Let us begin with the datafication of the so-called soft skills. Biesta and Miedema (2002) identified that in an instructional-dominant zeitgeist, the pedagogical dimension of education also follows the logics of instruction. According to them, in such situations "the pedagogical task [is] [...] conceived in terms of the transmission of specific norms and values and related knowledge and skills in order to bring about 'appropriate' behavior" (Biesta & Miedema, 2002, p. 177). In other words, in an instructional zeitgeist the pedagogical dimensions of education, for instance the teaching and learning of social skills, are standardised in a similar manner to academic subjects. Biesta and Miedema's (2002) words resonate with those of Manolev et al. (2019) in their analysis of the classroom behavior management software ClassDojo.³

According to Manolev et al. (2019), in ClassDojo, student behavior is displayed in the form of numerical data which function as a representation of the student. As a result, students become behavioral data points from which decisions can be made about the teaching and learning of social skills. It is highly questionable whether numerical data are capable of adequately representing the social, as they tend to obscure ambiguities and limit the explanatory possibilities necessary to adequately represent the complexities of social life (Selwyn, 2015). Behavioral data points tell us nothing about the contextual elements behind the behavior. Indeed, technologies such as ClassDojo have been criticised for approaching behavior as an individual psychological phenomenon (Manolev et al., 2019).⁴ In such views, behavior and possible changes in it depend on the individual's own actions, and the application does not take into account that behavior and its evaluation are always phenomena produced in a certain context. Thus, as Manovel et al. (2019) put it:

ClassDojo's numerical representation of students through behavioural data is a form of reductionism, dismantling the complexity of behaviour in order to facilitate the governance of students via classification, rankings, comparison and the like. (2019, p. 45)

The same reductionist logic is present in automated emotion recognition. Let us briefly examine the marketing material of the edtech company Viatech (2018), who claim on their website that classroom performance can be maximised through the use of facial recognition technology (FRT), because it

...can help teachers recognize different student emotions in class, measure their levels of interest, frustration, and comprehension, and use this information to adjust their styles accordingly. With FRT, teachers will be able to change their pace of instruction and tailor their classroom instruction to maximize students' involvement and performance. (2018, n.p.)

There are several issues with these assertions. Firstly, using facial expressions as indicators of emotions is unreliable. Additionally, FRT discriminates based on race, often interpreting faces of people of color as expressing more negative emotions compared to white individuals, marking them as more angry and contemptuous (Crawford, 2021). It's also crucial to recognize that children's faces undergo significant changes throughout their school years: the inherent flexibility and constant evolution of a child's face pose a challenge for its accurate modeling and algorithmic representation, making it especially hard to capture through algorithms (O'Neill et al., 2022). Second, even though the description of the software implies that it enables more sensitive education, it actually intensifies I–It relationships, as teachers relate to students based on the software analyses of the emotional landscape of the class. Put differently, if the software informs the teacher that students are feeling bored, she or he may relate to them as such regardless of whether the software has detected the emotional stage correctly or not.

³ For those not familiar with ClassDojo, a brief description based on Manolev et al. (2019) is offered below. ClassDojo is a software that is compatible with most mobile devices and personal computers with online connectivity. Initially, teachers must create a class list in which each student is represented by a customizable ClassDojo monster avatar. Teachers then choose the behaviors and/or skills they wish to target and develop in students. Teachers can select from a range of default options, or they can customize their own. Once this is done, teachers can begin implementing ClassDojo at its most rudimentary level by rewarding students with points for desired behavior and penalizing them by taking points away. For visual information, see https://www.classdojo.com/

⁴ It should be noted that the criticism that datafication and automation neglect the social and contextual dimensions of education is not restricted to behavioral datafication but, rather, seen as characteristic of all datafication and automation (Jarke & Magilchrist, 2021; Selwyn et al., 2021).

Pekka MERTALA

The second argument—that datafication and automation would save teachers' time for meaningful interactions with students—is contested by empirical research. There is a great deal of hidden human labor behind the automation of different services and practices (Crawford, 2021), and education is no exception. Research in Australia and the UK (e.g., Bradbury & Roberts-Holmes, 2017; Daliri-Ngametua et al., 2022) has shown that generating digital data in schools leads to an increase in human labor. This includes both officially recognized tasks and less noticeable work related to infrastructure maintenance and repair

Additionally, there is evidence that the automation of what are considered time-consuming routine tasks actually diminishes teachers' possibilities to create meaningful interactions with their students. One example of such practice is automated attendance screening/roll calling, which relies on AI-based facial recognition. To put it simply, students' faces are screened at the beginning of the class, and the teacher (and school administration) automatically receives a report of who is present or absent. It is estimated that lesson-based roll calls take two and a half hours per week, which equals over 93 hours per year⁵—more than a month's worth of the "learning time" and "lesson time" described by the FRT companies (Selwyn et al., 2022, pp. 5–6). It should be asked, however, whether roll calls are mere burdensome routine tasks, and the answer from teachers seems to be that they are not.

Australian teachers in Selwyn's (2022; see also Selwyn et al., 2023) study emphasised that roll calls are not just a way to check whether a child is in a classroom, but allow teachers to actually greet the child and welcome them. They also stated that "for a new teacher the roll is a crucial process to get to know who is there. With the repetition, by the end of term you do get to know their names" (Selwyn, 2022, p. 81). In addition, the teachers pointed out that traditional roll calls provide a chance to show a little discretion: "If a kid was having troubles and was persistently late you might opt to delay taking the roll until 10 minutes into the lesson so they don't show up as being late yet again. If the roll is taken automatically in the first minute, then you don't have that leeway" (Selwyn, 2022, p. 81). The extracts strongly suggest that automation of roll calls decreases teachers' possibilities to build dialogical I–Thou relationships with students, as it takes away daily opportunities to greet the children, sense their moods, and create meaningful relationships with them. Additionally, preset rolls narrow teachers' possibilities to express sensitivity to students' challenging life situations as they allow no room for flexibility. To conclude, while automation of roll calls may increase the number of hours spent on learning and lessons—instructional education, in other words—teachers' reports suggest that the very same time is taken away from pedagogy.

Concluding remarks

In this conceptual paper, I have addressed different kinds of pitfalls of intensifying digitalization, datafication, and automation of education for the nature of teacher-student relationships. Theoretically, I have drawn on Buber's (1937) ideas of the dialogical I–Thou and objectified I–It as the key forms of human relationships to complement previous research on the same topic. Instead of treating I–It and I–Thou as mutually exclusive categories, I have suggested that the two could be approached as a continuum, as in our interactions with other people there is always some It in Thou, especially in the context of formal education. Furthermore, I have discussed Biesta's (e.g., 2014) writings on the different forms (instruction and pedagogy) and purposes (qualification, socialization, and subjectification) of education to better contextualise Buber's (e.g., 1937) ideas to formal education.

My core argument was that digitalization, datafication, and automation, in their different forms, works within the logic that steers teacher-student relationships towards the objectified I–It relationship instead of the dialogical I–Thou relationship. During the course of this article, I have demonstrated how the objectified "It" is present in popular images of children and technology as well as in the more quotidian attempts to compress children and their learning and development into data points that enable automated practices.

While my tone has been critical, I do not wish to present myself as a doomster—a writer of tragedy (Bigum & Kenway, 2005) —who sees digital downsides as an inevitable outcome of technology use in
education. However, having a suspicious mind is essential in order to distinguish between the actual capabilities of the technologies and the extensive claims and promotional activity embedded in discourses around digitalization, datafication, and automatization of education, which are certain about events, thus leaving little room for alternate outcomes (Mertala, 2020). Certainty and determinism do not fit well with relationality and subjectification, which both emphasise the openness and unpredictability of education. Neither are they backed up by empirical evidence when it comes to the presumed benefits of technology use. Take learning analytics, a central application of the digitalization, datafication, and automation of education, for example. Learning analytics are often claimed to improve learning practices by transforming learning processes (e.g., Baer & Norris, 2017; Viberg et al., 2018).

However, a review of 252 studies suggests that in only 9% of cases were learning outcomes improved via the use of learning analytics (Viberg et al., 2018). Put differently, while there are situations in which learning analytics may be beneficial, the number of such occasions appears rather limited. Thus, commonly-made bold statements such as "learning analytics holds the potential to transform the way we learn" (Baer & Norris, 2017, p. 309) are plausible only if the undesired I–It relationships are included among the possible forms of transformation.

By the use of the word "possible" in the previous sentence, I wish to be explicit that while the arguments presented in this paper are grounded in a careful reading of the theoretical and empirical research literature, they are inevitably speculative and hypothetical. There is an urgent need for empirical research that aims for a comprehensive understanding of what intensifying datafication and automation means for student-teacher relationships. Contemporary technology- and data-saturated classrooms are not short of suitable and information-rich cases, as the various examples provided throughout this paper have illustrated. For instance, the "student at risk" dashboard stories (Jarke & Magilchrist, 2021) would provide an interesting context in which the theoretical and conceptual ideas presented in this article could be put into action.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: This is a single-authored paper.

Competing interests: The author declares that they have no competing interests.

Funding: This work was supported by the Research Council of Finland. Grant number: 355523.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The paper is conceptual and involves no human participants.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Mehmet Toran through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Andrejevic, M., & Selwyn, N. (2020). Facial recognition technology in schools: Critical questions and concerns. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 45(2), 115–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2020.1686014</u>
- Aspelin, J. (2020). Teaching as a way of bonding: A contribution to the relational theory of teaching. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 53(6), 588–596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2020.1798758</u>
- Baer, L., & Norris, D. (2017). Unleashing the transformative power of learning analytics. In C. Lang, G. Siemens, A. Wise, & D. Gašević (Eds.), *Handbook of Learning Analytics* (pp. 309–318). Society for Learning Analytics Research.
- Beerwinkle, A. L. (2021). The use of learning analytics and the potential risk of harm for K-12 students participating in digital learning environments. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 69(1), 327–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09854-6</u>

Pekka MERTALA

- Biesta, G. (2016). The rediscovery of teaching: On robot vacuum cleaners, non-egological education, and the limits of the hermeneutical worldview. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 48(4), 374–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2015.1041442
- Biesta, G. (2020). Risking ourselves in education: Qualification, socialization, and subjectification revisited. *Educational Theory*, 70(1), 89–104. https://doi.org/10.1111/edth.12411
- Biesta, G. (2022). World-centred education: A view for the present. Routledge.
- Biesta, G. J., & Miedema, S. (2002). Instruction or pedagogy? The need for a transformative conception of education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18(2), 173–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(01)00062-2</u>
- Bigum, C., & Kenway, J. (2005). New information technologies and the ambiguous future of schooling—Some possible scenarios. In A. Hargreaves (Ed.), *Extending Educational Change* (pp. 95–115). Springer.
- Bradbury, A., & Roberts-Holmes, G. (2017). The datafication of primary and early years education: Playing with numbers. Routledge.
- Buber, M. (1937). I and Thou. T. & T. Clark.
- Buber, M. (1968). Between Man and Man. Macmillan.
- Charmé, S. (1977). The two I-Thou relations in Martin Buber's philosophy. Harvard Theological Review, 70(1-2), 161-174.
- Crawford, K. (2021). The Atlas of AI. Yale University Press.
- Daliri-Ngametua, R., Hardy, I., & Creagh, S. (2022). Data performativity and the erosion of trust in teachers. Cambridge Journal of Education, 52(3), 391–407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2021.2002811</u>
- Eduten. (2021). https://www.eduten.com/
- Eynon, R. (2022). Datafication and the role of schooling: Challenging the status quo. In L. Pangrazio & J. Sefton-Green (Eds.), *Learning* to live with datafication (pp. 17–34). Routledge.
- Friesen, N. (2017). The pedagogical relation past and present: Experience, subjectivity, and failure. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 49(6), 743–756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2017.1320427</u>
- Hardy, I., & Lewis, S. (2017). The 'Doublethink' of data: Educational performativity and the field of schooling practices. *British Journal* of Sociology of Education, 38(5), 671–685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2016.1150155</u>
- Haslam, N. (2006). Dehumanization: An integrative review. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 10(3), 252–264. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327957pspr1003_4
- Hatt, B. E. (2005). Pedagogical love in the transactional curriculum. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 37(6), 671–688. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220270500109247
- Ifenthaler, D., & Schumacher, C. (2016). Student perceptions of privacy principles for learning analytics. *Educational Technology* Research and Development, 64(5), 923–938. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-016-9477-y</u>
- Jarke, J., & Macgilchrist, F. (2021). Dashboard stories: How narratives told by predictive analytics reconfigure roles, risk, and sociality in education. *Big Data & Society*, 8(1), 20539517211025561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20539517211025561</u>
- Karjalainen, S. (2021). Doing joy: Performances of joy in children's relations in early childhood and education settings [Doctoral dissertation].

 University
 of

 Oulu.
 <u>https://oulurepo.oulu.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/36647/isbn978-952-62-2974-4.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>
- Kirschner, P. A., & De Bruyckere, P. (2017). The myths of the digital native and the multitasker. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 67, 135–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.06.001</u>
- Laakso, M. J., Kaila, E., & Rajala, T. (2018). ViLLE–Collaborative education tool: Designing and utilizing an exercise-based learning environment. *Education and Information Technologies*, 23(4), 1655–1676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-017-9659-1</u>
- Lasky, S. (2005). A sociocultural approach to understanding teacher identity, agency, and professional vulnerability in a context of secondary school reform. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 21(8), 899–916. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2005.06.003
- Learning Analytics. (2019). Example 5: Automating learning analytics. https://en.learninganalytics.fi/analytics#case 4
- Lupton, D. (2021). 'Honestly, no, I've never looked at it': Teachers' understandings and practices related to students' personal data in digitised health and physical education. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 46(3), 281–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2021.1896541</u>
- Manolev, J., Sullivan, A., & Slee, R. (2019). The datafication of discipline: ClassDojo, surveillance, and a performative classroom culture. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 44(1), 36–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2018.1558237</u>
- Mayer-Schönberger, V., & Cukier, K. (2013). Big data: A revolution that will transform how we live, work, and think. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Merriam-Webster (n.d.). Automation. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/automation

- Mertala, P. (2020). Paradoxes of participation in the digitalization of education: A narrative account. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 45(2), 179–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2020.1696362</u>
- Mertala, P. (2021). Koulutuksen digitaalinen datafik(s)aatio. Kasvatus & Aika, 15(1), 43-61. https://doi.org/10.33350/ka.100161
- Mertala, P., Lopez, S., Vartiainen, H., Saqr, M., & Tedre, M. (2024). Digital natives in the scientific literature A topic modeling based bibliometric analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 108076. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2023.108076</u>
- O'Neill, C., Selwyn, N., Smith, G., Andrejevic, M., & Gu, X. (2022). The two faces of the child in facial recognition industry discourse: Biometric capture between innocence and recalcitrance. *Information, Communication & Society, 25*(6), 725–767. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2022.2044501</u>
- O'Neil, C. (2016). Weapons of math destruction: How big data increases inequality and threatens democracy. Penguin Books.
- Pierlejewski, M. (2020). The data-doppelganger and the cyborg-self: Theorising the datafication of education. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society*, 28(3), 463–475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14681366.2019.1653357</u>
- Prensky, M. (2001). Digital natives, digital immigrants part 2: Do they really think differently? On the Horizon, 9(6), 1-6.
- Sefton-Green, J., & Pangrazio, L. (2022). The death of the educative subject? The limits of criticality under datafication. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 54(12), 2072–2081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2021.1978072</u>
- Selwyn, N. (2003). 'Doing IT for the kids': Re-examining children, computers, and the information society. *Media, Culture & Society,* 25(3), 351–378. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443703025003004
- Selwyn, N. (2015). Data entry: Towards the critical study of digital data and education. *Learning, Media and Technology,* 40(1), 64–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2014.921628
- Selwyn, N. (2019). Should robots replace teachers? AI and the future of education. John Wiley & Sons.
- Selwyn, N. (2022). Less work for teacher? The ironies of automated decision-making in schools. In S. Pink, M. Berg, D. Lupton, & M. Ruckenstein (Eds.), *Everyday automation: Experiencing and anticipating automated decision-making* (pp. 73–86). Routledge.
- Selwyn, N., Campbell, L., & Andrejevic, M. (2023). Autoroll: Scripting the emergence of classroom facial recognition technology. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 48(1), 166–179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2022.2039938</u>
- Selwyn, N., Hillman, T., Bergviken Rensfeldt, A., & Perrotta, C. (2021). Digital technologies and the automation of education—Key questions and concerns. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 5, 15–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-021-00263-3</u>
- Viatech. (2018, August). Maximizing classroom performance with facial recognition technology. https://www.viatech.com/en/2018/08/maximizing-classroom-performance-frt/
- Viberg, O., Hatakka, M., Bälter, O., & Mavroudi, A. (2018). The current landscape of learning analytics in higher education. Computers in Human Behavior, 89, 98–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.07.027</u>
- Watters, A. (2021). Teaching machines: The history of personalized learning. MIT Press.
- Williamson, B. (2016). Coding the biodigital child: The biopolitics and pedagogic strategies of educational data science. *Pedagogy*, *Culture & Society*, 24(3), 401–416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14681366.2016.1175499</u>
- Winter, P. (2011). Coming into the world uniqueness and the beautiful risk of education: An interview with Gert Biesta. *Studies in Philosophy and Education*, 30(5), 537–542.
- Yu, J., & Couldry, N. (2022). Education as a domain of natural data extraction: Analysing corporate discourse about educational tracking. *Information, Communication & Society*, 25(1), 127–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2020.1764604</u>